Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Physics Reports

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/physrep

Heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions

Alexander Rothkopf

Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Stavanger, 4021 Stavanger, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 July 2019 Received in revised form 3 January 2020 Accepted 10 February 2020 Available online 24 February 2020 Editor: A. Schwenk

Keywords: Quarkonium In-medium Lattice QCD Effective field theory Open quantum systems

ABSTRACT

In this report we review recent progress achieved in the understanding of heavy quarkonium under extreme conditions from a theory perspective. Its focus lies both on quarkonium properties in thermal equilibrium, as well as recent developments towards a genuine real-time description, valid also out-of-equilibrium. We will give an overview of the theory tools developed and deployed over the last decade, including effective field theories, lattice field theory simulations, modern methods for spectral reconstructions and the open quantum systems paradigm. The report will discuss in detail the concept of quarkonium melting, providing the reader with a contemporary perspective. In order to judge where future progress is needed we will also discuss recent results from experiments and phenomenological modeling of quarkonium in relativistic heavy-ion collisions.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1. Introduction and intuition building						
2.	Theory	Theory tools				
	2.1. (Non-)equilibrium OFT and quarkonium spectral functions					
	2.2.	Effective field theories of heavy quarkonium	12			
		2.2.1. Non-relativistic QCD	13			
		2.2.2. Potential non-relativistic QCD	15			
	2.3.	Lattice QCD	17			
	2.4.	Reconstruction of spectral functions	26			
		2.4.1. Bayesian spectral reconstruction	26			
		2.4.2. Padé approximation based reconstruction	31			
	2.5.	Open quantum systems	33			
3.	Quarkonium in thermal equilibrium					
	3.1.	3.1. Screening of color fields in thermal QCD				
	3.2. The in-medium static interguark potential					
	3.3.	Quarkonium in-medium properties	60			
		3.3.1. In-medium quarkonium from relativistic lattice QCD	60			
		3.3.2. In-medium quarkonium from lattice NRQCD	65			
		3.3.3. In-medium quarkonium from a lattice vetted potential model	71			
	3.4.	Quarkonium melting	78			
4.	Quarkonium in-medium real-time evolution					
	4.1.	4.1. The Feynman–Vernon influence functional at high temperature				
	4.2.	Decoherence and dynamical quarkonium melting	84			

E-mail address: alexander.rothkopf@uis.no.

URLs: http://www.alexrothkopf.de, http://www.ux.uis.no/~rothkopf.

0370-1573/© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/).





https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2020.02.006

	4.3.	Open quantum systems and pNRQCD	86		
5.	Heavy	quarkonium in relativistic heavy-ion collisions	91		
	5.1.	Preliminaries: quarkonium in $p + p$ collisions	92		
	5.2.	Cold nuclear matter effects	94		
	5.3.	Quarkonium production in A + A collisions	96		
		5.3.1. Charmonium in A + A collisions	96		
		5.3.2. Bottomonium in A + A collisions	102		
	CRediT authorship contribution statement				
	Acknow	Acknowledgments			
	Referen	nces	106		

1. Introduction and intuition building

It is not often to find a single species of particles, whose study has propelled our understanding of the strong interactions as thoroughly as heavy quarkonium did and does. The bound states of a heavy quark and its anti-quark (c and \bar{c} is called charmonium, b and \bar{b} bottomonium), more than 40 years after their first observation, still elicit fascination from both experimentalists and theorists due to their versatile role played in high energy nuclear physics. In this review we will consider one of the central foci in contemporary theoretical quarkonium studies, i.e. their behavior under extreme environmental conditions, which typically refers to energy and baryon densities of the order of mega electron volts and above. It is timely to take account of the status of the field, as over the past decade it has seen a boost in activity, taking on the challenge to go beyond the purely static notion of in-medium quarkonium it has refined over the years and to embark on a quest towards a microscopic understanding of quarkonium real-time dynamics.

Already in vacuum, heavy quarkonium constitutes a versatile laboratory of strongly interacting matter and of the underlying field theory of quantum chromo dynamics (QCD) (for a comprehensive review see [1]). A color singlet state with total spin J = 1 can only decay into three gluons (single gluon decays are prohibited due to energy-momentum conservation and color, two gluon decays due to charge conjugation, for the QED counterpart see e.g Ref. [2]). Each of the gluons carries a (relatively) large fraction of momentum and thus the associated coupling constant is (relatively) small, suppressing the decay probability even further. In that case the quarkonium forms an exceptionally stable bound state with inverse life times or equivalently spectral widths of $\tau_{J/\psi,\Upsilon}^{-1} = \Gamma \sim \mathcal{O}$ (keV). On the other hand a pseudoscalar quarkonium state with J = 0 admits decays already into two gluons, leading to a decay width commensurate with other hadrons of $\tau_{\eta_c,\eta_b}^{-1} = \Gamma \sim \mathcal{O}$ (MeV).

The narrow widths of J = 1 quarkonium in turn lead to a significant fraction of their decays into dileptons e^+e^- and $\mu^+\mu^-$, which act as well accessible channels for their experimental detection. High precision data on heavy quarkonium vacuum properties, including masses and decay widths have been accumulated, as compiled in the PDG in Ref. [3], by a wealth of experiments, such as BELLE (KEK), BARBAR (SLAC), CLEO (FLAB), BESII+III (BEPC) and LHCb (CERN) to name only recent ones. Below the open heavy flavor threshold these states and their production in elementary collisions are well captured by the naive quark model and its quantum numbers for spin and color $[\frac{1}{2} \otimes \frac{1}{2} = 0 \oplus 1$, $3 \otimes \overline{3} = 1 \oplus 8]$. Quarkonium like states above threshold, which exhibit quantum numbers beyond those available in the quark model, so called exotic XYZ states, are a current focus of quarkonium research at T = 0.

The large charm and bottom quark mass compared to the intrinsic scale of quantum fluctuations in QCD, ($\Lambda_{QCD}/m_Q \ll 1$), means that quarkonium in vacuum is amenable to a *non-relativistic* treatment (this fact will be further exploited in Section 2.2). In turn quarkonium states can be classified according to the well known scheme from atomic physics using spin, angular momentum and total spin as labels ${}^{2S+1}L_J$. Examples of so called S-wave states are the ${}^{3}S_{1}\Upsilon$ and J/ψ , the bottomonium and charmonium vector channel ground states. The χ_{c1} and χ_{b1} states on the other hand are classified as P-wave states with ${}^{3}P_{1}$. Thanks to the different values of the charm and bottom mass a variety of states exist, which exhibit a wide range of binding energies and related spatial extents, ranging from the deeply bound Υ with $E_{\text{bind}} = 1.1$ GeV over χ_{b1} and J/ψ with nearly degenerate $E_{\text{bind}} \approx 0.64$ GeV to more weakly bound χ_{c1} with $E_{\text{bind}} \approx 0.2$ GeV. Note that binding energy here is defined as the difference in mass between the quarkonium state in question and the open heavy flavor threshold.

The non-relativistic nature of T = 0 quarkonium makes it possible to capture the properties of these states with good accuracy in a simple potential model, consisting of a Coulombic part at small separation distances and a linearly rising part at large distances, the so called *Cornell potential* (see e.g. the classic Ref. [4]). This model hence exhibits the two hallmarks of QCD, *asymptotic freedom* and *confinement*. In order to accommodate the fact that only a finite number of quarkonium state are stable bound states, the Cornell potential in practice is usually flattened off at a phenomenologically chosen string breaking radius. This flattened part translates into the open heavy-flavor threshold.

The many different quarkonium states accommodated by this simple model, according to their depth of binding, allow us to explore in detail the physics associated with both phenomena. Heavy quarkonium at T = 0 has also been explored using lattice QCD simulations where high precision post- and predictions of bound state masses have been achieved (see e.g. Fig. 20 in Ref. [5]), providing a direct link between the microscopic theory of QCD and experiment.



Fig. 1. (top) Sketch of the different stages of a relativistic heavy-ion collision, featuring the initial stages dominated by coherent color electric and magnetic fields of the glasma and the intermediate QGP phase, which terminates at the crossover transition to the hadronic phase at $T_c = 156.5 \pm 1.5$ MeV. In gray a chain of effective field theories is shown, which provide a dynamical description of the bulk medium physics. (bottom) The tentative life cycle of heavy quarkonium in the context of a relativistic heavy-ion collision.

The motivation to study heavy quarkonium under extreme conditions is intimately related to exploring the physics of strongly interacting matter in the early universe (for an introduction to the topic see e.g. [6]). At around 10^{-20} s after the Big Bang and at correspondingly high temperatures of 100s of MeV the universe is expected to have been filled with nuclear matter in the form of its microscopic building blocks, quarks and gluons, forming a strongly correlated *quark-gluon plasma* (QGP). In order to understand how the strong interactions behave under such extreme conditions, quarkonium can again play an important role. Due to the deep binding of e.g. Υ , this bound state is expected to exist deep into the QGP phase, meaning that it can still act as well defined experimental observable there. At the same time the separation of scales between binding energy and temperature underlying this stability implies that even under such extreme conditions theoretical tools developed originally in vacuum have a chance to be extended to provide meaningful insight. I.e. quarkonium promises to retain its role as well controlled QCD laboratory even in the context of strongly interacting matter in the early universe.

Experimental efforts to recreate the conditions in the early universe have led to the construction of a series of collider facilities and accompanying experiments specialized in relativistic heavy-ion collisions. Starting with SPS at CERN ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} \approx 0.15$ TeV), followed by RHIC at BNL ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 0.2$ TeV) and most recently the LHC, again located at CERN ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76, 5.02$ TeV), higher and higher energy ranges for the collision of heavy nuclei, mainly gold and lead, have been explored. In the near future new accelerator facilities devoted to heavy-ion collisions are going online, among them NICA at JINR and FAIR at GSI, possible also a machine at JPARC. All of them feature experiments that are devoted towards the measurement of quarkonium properties under extreme conditions.

Over the past decade the interplay of experiment, phenomenology and theory has led to an improved understanding of the different stages of a heavy-ion collision as sketched in Fig. 1. In the instant of the collision, the partons within the highly Lorentz contracted nuclear projectiles, which have formed a *color glass condensate* (CGC), are able to interact, leading to the generation of strong coherent color electric and color magnetic fields called the *glasma*. These subsequently fragment into light quarks and gluons, which efficiently exchange energy and momentum, so that after a short prethermalization phase of around 1 fm a locally equilibrated collection of deconfined quarks and gluons emerges. This strongly correlated quark–gluon-plasma expands and cools over a period of 5–10 fm before it reaches the crossover transition at $T_c = 156.5 \pm 1.5$ MeV (see [7–9]), where colored partons have to combine into color neutral hadrons. While the chemical abundances of these hadrons are established at around this temperature in what is called chemical freezeout, the resulting gas of hadrons may still interact and exchange energy and momentum until kinetic freezeout is reached.

How did we end up with this dynamical picture of a heavy-ion collisions? While QCD contains all the physics necessary to describe the evolution of the light bulk matter it has not yet been established how to compute the dynamics of a heavy-ion collision from first principles QCD based on e.g. lattice QCD simulations. The underlying reason is the notorious sign problem. It refers to the fact that the Feynman path integral of a quantum field theory formulated in Minkowski time does not admit a simple probabilistic interpretation due to the complex phase factor $\exp[iS]$ and in turn otherwise well established numerical methods, such as Monte Carlo sampling are not applicable (for a review see e.g. Ref. [10]). In addition, the fact that the QGP in a contemporary heavy-ion collision is created at temperatures of up to just $T \leq 600$ MeV, as deduced from hydrodynamic modeling of the bulk (see e.g. Ref. [11] or [12]), prevents the use of weak-coupling methods, which are the bedrock of theory computations in elementary particle collisions.

Instead of trying to solve QCD in its entirety, it turns out that so called *effective field theories* (EFT) provide an efficient and elegant way to shed light on the physics of interest. An EFT attempts to describe explicitly only a part of the physics, i.e. those degrees of freedom that are relevant (in a sense to be made specific in Section 2.2) at a particular stage of the collision. By focusing on such a subset of degrees of freedom, the problem at hand can be simplified far enough so that a

dynamical description may be directly derived from QCD, often in a non-perturbative manner. If such effective descriptions furthermore share a common range of validity they can be chained together to provide a consistent description of the dynamics. In the context of bulk matter a combination of classical statistical simulations of Yang–Mills fields in the earliest stage, followed by kinetic theory, which in turn smoothly matches onto a relativistic hydrodynamic description of the QGP has proven to be a successful strategy. In this report we will explore several avenues of how effective field theories can also support a comprehensive understanding of quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions.

The life cycle of heavy quarkonium is aligned with the different stages of a contemporary heavy-ion collision. Due to the required energies and virtualities, only in the earliest moments of the collision can $c\bar{c}$ and $b\bar{b}$ pairs be created. At RHIC $\mathcal{O}(10)c\bar{c}$ and $\mathcal{O}(1)b\bar{b}$ pairs are expected to arise in each collision, while at LHC their number already increases to $\mathcal{O}(100)$ and $\mathcal{O}(10)$ respectively. A simple estimate based on the binding energy of individual states and the uncertainty principle suggests that a deeply bound quarkonium can form early on in the pre-thermal stage of the collision. Whether such early formation indeed takes place however remains an active field of research.

A pre-formed state that finds itself immersed in the medium consisting of light bulk matter then interacts with this hot medium during the QGP phase, which will in general weaken its binding. Depending on the energy and time scales present, quarkonium may either survive the medium or its constituents may become decorrelated, i.e. the state melts. The inverse process is also fathomable if enough quark–antiquark pairs are present, i.e. quarkonium states may be regenerated. If the lifetime of the medium is long enough, the heavy quarks may even become kinetically equilibrated with the surrounding medium. They however will remain out of chemical equilibrium as their numbers do not change in a medium at temperatures $T \ll m_Q$. How exactly quarkonium states interact with a deconfined medium and in turn approach equilibrium with their surroundings is one of the central questions theory sets out to answer.

At hadronization most of the decorrelated heavy quarks combine with a light quark to form open heavy flavor particles (D or B mesons). On the other hand if a large enough number of pairs has been created early on, they may now also recombine into quarkonium. If an in-medium bound state exists (primordial or regenerated) it will transition into a vacuum state. Note that the dynamics of hadronization are among the least well understood aspects of quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions. After leaving the QGP a collection of quarkonium states will have formed, some of which may still decay into a lower lying state on the way to the detector. I.e. the final abundances as measured by experiment will come from the dilepton signals of vacuum states long after the QGP has ceased to exist. For theory the challenge consists of translating the knowledge gained about heavy quarkonium in a medium, relevant for the QGP phase, into such vacuum abundances in the end, if a connection to the measured yields is to be made.

As we will argue in this report, only a comprehensive microscopic understanding of all the different stages of the collision will reveal the nature of heavy quarkonium production. I.e. in order to improve our understanding of heavy quarkonium we are incentivized to also gain a better understanding of many other aspects of strongly interacting matter, be it the composition of the incoming nuclei projectiles or the general dynamics of hadronization.

One of the most influential early theory studies regarding heavy quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions is Ref. [13] by Matsui and Satz, which shapes intuition about quarkonium production to this day. In this report we will explore which of these early ideas have stood the test of time and which aspects have been overhauled over the past decade.

Ref. [13] contains two central ideas. The first is based on an analogy with an electromagnetic plasma in thermal equilibrium. There, the presence of freely moving light charges screens static electric fields (Debye screening), i.e. fields generated by heavy test charges inserted into the medium. In turn it was argued that the presence of a quark–gluon plasma will also weaken the binding between heavy quarks and thus destabilize existing quarkonium, as well as prevent the formation from thermal quark–antiquark pairs. As we will discuss in Section 3.1, by now the presence of screening in a hot QCD medium has been thoroughly established and its strength explored using different non-perturbative means.

The picture that Ref. [13] paints and which was made more quantitative in Ref. [14] is one of sequential quarkonium melting. Using a completely static notion of kinetically equilibrated in-medium quarkonium as time independent eigenstates of a hermitean in-medium Hamiltonian, the authors argued that there exist well defined melting temperatures at which quarkonium states instantaneously turn from bound to scattering state. This in turn invited the intuitive picture of quarkonium as a thermometer, indicating the temperature of its environment by what states remain bound and which do not.

Our understanding of quarkonium took a significant step forward, when the study of Ref. [15] revealed that the potential governing the evolution of the quarkonium system contains an imaginary part. This finding, followed up in Refs. [16,17], asks us to abandon the notion of the static in-medium states that Matsui and Satz built their intuition around and embrace the fact that quarkonium constantly experiences kicks by scatterers in the surrounding medium. It also rekindled interest in understanding in detail how the microscopic wavefunction of the quarkonium system evolves in time in the presence of such scattering processes and how they give rise to an imaginary part of the potential dynamically. This highly non-trivial question has led the community to the framework of open quantum systems, discussed in detail in Section 4.

Among others it turns out that in the novel dynamical picture the concept of melting temperature is not uniquely defined and thus plays a less decisive role as originally thought. The intuition that those states, which are more weakly bound in vacuum, are more easily destroyed in a medium of course remains true, as elucidated by direct lattice QCD studies of in-medium quarkonium in Section 3.3. At the same time we will see that the physics of quarkonium melting cannot be cast into a static language and instead requires a genuine dynamical treatment. This dynamical treatment will also unify how we think about the melting of charmonium and bottomonium.



Fig. 2. (left) The legacy picture of heavy quarkonium as static thermometer. After fully kinetically equilibrating the heavy quark state one asks about the probability of its survival in the hot environment. (right) The modern picture of quarkonium melting as a dynamical process, in which the medium acts as a sieve that filters out quarkonium states over time, depending on the strength of their binding.

In order to build intuition of how the static and dynamic descriptions of quarkonium differ, let us consider how even in everyday life there are two ways how to measure temperature. One may either bring into contact with the object of study, say a cup of hot earl gray tea, a second smaller system, a thermometer. This thermometer, after mutual equilibration is removed and its internal state interrogated on the, by that time, common temperature. This form of temperature measurement requires the two systems to be in contact for long enough that full thermalization is achieved. It is this static picture that is promoted by Ref. [13] for the case of quarkonium as thermometer. Note that while equilibration of charm quarks turns out to be realized to some degree at the highest available collider energies today, bottomonium so far does not show significant signs of equilibration.

On the other hand we may use a dynamical process to measure temperature. For our cup of tea it amounts to inserting e.g. a sugar cube and to observe how over time the chemical bonds are dissolved one by one. The speed by which this process happens informs us about the temperature present. The important difference to the static approach is that the measurement here can be performed even without reaching mutual equilibrium between sugar cube and tea. Besides the temperature of the environment it is now the timescales for which the process is allowed to proceed, which determine the fate of the sugar cube. Removing it quickly from a very hot surrounding will leave the bonds relatively intact, while even in a cold environment the sugar cube may melt as long as we wait long enough.

The change in intuition for quarkonium melting we invite the reader to explore in this report, and which is sketched in Fig. 2 is analogous. When a quarkonium vacuum state is immersed in a hot medium, its binding will over time become weakened. It is then the interplay of how strongly the medium interferes with the binding at any instant, as well as the time spent in the medium that determines the survival of the quarkonium state. The hot medium in turn becomes a sieve that dynamically filters out more weakly bound states first while allows more strongly bound state to survive for longer time. One exciting recent development in quarkonium theory is that by using the *open quantum systems* framework, originally developed in the context of condensed matter theory, a dynamical description of such a small quarkonium system immersed in a hot QCD environment can be systematically derived from microscopic QCD. It turns out that quarkonium melting is actually intimately connected with the phenomenon of decoherence.

Let us now come to the second idea of Ref. [13], which took the melting picture and applied it straight forwardly to quarkonium production in heavy-ion collision. In turn it suggested an equally sequential suppression of quarkonium yields in the presence of a hot QGP medium in the collision center. This suppression arises both from the actual destabilization of bound states, as well as diminished feed-down from higher lying states that melt more easily. In turn quarkonium suppression was positioned as a gold plated signal for the creation of a deconfined quark–gluon plasma in heavy-ion collisions. For bottomonium only a small number of quark–antiquark pairs are produced in the initial stages of current heavy-ion. Its production is thus dominated by primordial quarkonium traveling through a QGP in the collision center and indeed clear signs for such sequential suppression are observed.

On the other hand, the system originally discussed by Ref. [13], i.e. charmonium, turns out to be an instructive tale how in general in a heavy-ion collision the physics of all stages need to be considered carefully to arrive at a comprehensive picture of quarkonium production. I.e. the production of $c\bar{c}$ pairs in the initial stages can significantly alter the production mechanism. Indeed, as we understand today, and , was first proposed in Refs. [18,19], quarkonium yields may be replenished by the recombination of quark–antiquark pairs both during the QGP phase as well as at the moment of hadronization. While this mechanism was noted early on by Matsui in Ref. [20] at that time it was not followed up further. With the prospect of the RHIC collider on the horizon, regeneration and recombination were considered in much more detail and have over time become vital ingredients in the explanation of measured charmonium yields at RHIC and most prominently at LHC.

In other words, while the concept of sequential quarkonium melting in its modern dynamical fashion remains a valid guiding principle for the understanding of heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions, quarkonium suppression in heavy ion-collision arises from the subtle interplay of several different mechanisms, requiring insight into all different stages of the collision from heavy quark pair production over the QGP phase to hadronization.

What remains then of the role of quarkonium as probe of the quark–gluon plasma? While not as simple as a static thermometer, charmonium and bottomonium provide vital insight into the hot matter created in a heavy-ion collision. The fact that bottomonium at LHC appears to behave still as a genuine test-particle not equilibrated with its surroundings allows it to sample the full time evolution of the QGP. On the other hand charmonium at LHC shows clear signs of kinetic equilibration with its surroundings. This entails a loss of memory about the initial conditions of its evolution, positioning it as a probe of the late stages of the collision. Again the availability of bound states of different sizes and binding energies allows quarkonium to be a versatile laboratory of the strong interactions even under extreme conditions.

In this report we focus on the theory developments over the last decade that have significantly improved our understanding of the dynamical nature of heavy quarkonium in a hot medium and in turn in heavy-ion collisions. We start out in Section 2 with a review of theory tools that are vital ingredients in contemporary studies of quarkonium in medium. These include a brief recap of (non-)equilibrium quantum field theory and the concept of spectral functions in Section 2.1, effective field theories for heavy quarkonium in Section 2.2, lattice QCD in Section 2.3, modern methods for spectral function reconstruction in Section 2.4, as well as the open quantum systems framework in Section 2.5.

At first we will consider the idealized setting of fully kinetically equilibrated heavy-quarkonium immersed into a static medium in Section 3. Here it is possible to investigate the questions of screening in QCD (Section 3.1), the concept of the complex valued in-medium potential (Section 3.2) and most importantly the in-medium spectral properties of quarkonium (Section 3.3) directly from first principles by utilizing modern concepts of effective field theories and lattice QCD. The concept of quarkonium melting in thermal equilibrium is discussed in Section 3.4 and its dynamical nature is emphasized.

In order to do justice to the dynamical nature of quarkonium even in thermal equilibrium Section 4 sets out to review recent exciting progress made in the theory community in deriving genuine real-time descriptions for heavy quarkonium from first principles QCD. The open quantum systems framework is instrumental in this task and leads to so called *Lindblad equations*. From the recent activities in the community, we will highlight several derivations of quarkonium evolution equations, one that can be expressed in the language of wavefunctions (in Section 4.1) one in the language of distribution functions and a third one that is formulated in terms of transport coefficients (in Section 4.3). The former, for the first time, allows to construct a stochastic non-linear Schrödinger equation for quarkonium from first principles, which previously had been proposed on purely phenomenological grounds. The latter section provides a direct connection between QCD and the Boltzmann equation deployed in many transport models of in-medium quarkonium. Not only has it become possible to better understand the dynamical role played by the imaginary part of the in-medium potential in the evolution of the quarkonium wavefunction but also to connect quarkonium melting to the phenomenon of wavefunction decoherence, as discussed in Section 4.2.

In Section 5 we return to the question of quarkonium production in heavy-ion collisions. In order to showcase the complexities of the task at hand we first discuss the physics of quarkonium production in *pp* collisions in Section 5.1 and briefly touch on cold nuclear matter effects in Section 5.2. The main discussion of quarkonium production in nucleus–nucleus collisions follows in Section 5.3 considering separately charmonium in Section 5.3.1 and bottomonium in Section 5.3.2. Here we will scout for opportunities how progress in the real-time description of heavy quarkonium can help to discriminate between current models and eventually allows us to arrive at a genuine first principles based description of the measured production yields.

This report aims at highlighting the recent progress achieved in the theory community and builds on the cumulative efforts of many research groups (for previous reviews on in-medium quarkonium see e.g. Refs. [21–23]). Therefore the author attempts to provide the appropriate references for each discussed topic, and strongly encourages the citation of that original research.

2. Theory tools

In the following five sections we will give an overview to central theory tools used today in the study of quarkonium in extreme conditions. Their purpose is to provide a reference on concepts, techniques and quantities of interest prevalent in the literature. The included references also provide a starting point for newcomers to the field to embark on a more in-depth exploration.

In general, theoretical studies of quarkonium aim at an understanding of its physics from first principles. I.e. their starting point is a microscopic description of the strong interactions, the quantum field theory quantum-chromo-dynamics, defined with the following gauge invariant classical action

$$S_{\text{QCD}}[A, \psi, \psi, Q, Q] = \int d^3x \Big(-\frac{1}{4} \big([D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] \big)^2 + \sum_j \bar{\psi}_j(x) \big(i\gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} - m_{q_j} \big) \psi_j(x) + \sum_k \bar{Q}_k(x) \big(i\gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} - m_{Q_k} \big) Q_k(x) \Big)$$
(1)

formulated in terms of matrix valued gluon fields $A_{\mu} = A^a_{\mu}T^a$ where T^a refers the generators of SU(3). Their covariant derivative reads $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + igA_{\mu}$ with g the strong coupling. We denote light quarks of different flavor with ψ_j and heavy quarks with Q_k (in the following we will often omit the flavor label for the heavy quarks). This action remains invariant under local rotations $\Lambda(x)$ in SU(3) color space, acting as $\psi'_a(x) = \Lambda_{ab}(x)\psi_b(x)$ and $(A'_{\mu})^{ab}(x) = \Lambda^{ac}(x)A^{cb}_{\mu}(x)(\Lambda^{\dagger})^{db}(x) + i(\partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{ac}(x))(\Lambda^{cb})^{\dagger}(x)$. The distinction between light and heavy quarks will be exploited in the section on effective field



Fig. 3. (left) The general formulation of the quantum initial-value problem on the Schwinger-Keldysh contour for an arbitrary density matrix $\hat{\sigma}$. Fields populate both the forward C_1 and backward C_2 branch. (right) Particular SK contour for a system in thermal equilibrium. The initial conditions $\hat{\sigma} = e^{-\beta \hat{H}}$ may be sampled efficiently as a path integral along a compact imaginary time branch C_E .

theories and open quantum systems. It is from fully quantized QCD that one wishes to deduce quarkonium properties in thermal equilibrium, as well as its real-time evolution in an evolving medium.

2.1. (Non-)equilibrium QFT and quarkonium spectral functions

=

In this section we will summarize how quarkonium can be described in the language of (non-)thermal field theory and introduce the concept of spectral functions. The quark–anti-quark pair shall be immersed in a medium of quarks and gluons, which are not necessarily in thermal equilibrium. Excellent introductions to quantum fields in and out-of thermal equilibrium can be found in reviews [24–26] and textbooks [27–30].

In quantum field theory particles are understood as excitations of quantum fields, which propagate with a well defined *dispersion relation*. I.e. in contrast to quantum mechanics, particles do not appear as individual degrees of freedom and instead emerge from fluctuations of the fields. Thus to describe quarkonium particles, one needs a quantity, which encodes the real-time evolution of fluctuations of a heavy quark $\hat{Q}(x)$ and antiquark field $\hat{Q}(x)$ (here \hat{Q} refers to a Dirac spinor field describing either charm or bottom). The simplest possible candidate is the meson current $\hat{M}(x) = \hat{Q}(x)\hat{Q}(x)$. Two-point correlation functions of such a meson operator, similar to the variance of random variables, provide vital insight into the strength and form of quantum and statistical fluctuations that encode the properties of quarkonium particles. As an example let us consider the time ordered correlator *D*

$$D(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_0, t, t_0) = \langle \mathcal{T}\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t)\hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\hat{\sigma} \mathcal{T}\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t)\hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0)\right] = \sum_n \langle n|\hat{\sigma} \mathcal{T}\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t)\hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0)|n\rangle$$
(2)

$$= \int d[A^+, \ldots] \int d[A^-, \ldots] \langle A^+, \ldots | \hat{\sigma} | A^-, \ldots \rangle \int_{A^+, \ldots}^{A^-, \ldots} \mathcal{D}[A, \psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}] \mathcal{T} M(\mathbf{x}, t) M^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) e^{iS_{\text{QCD}}[A, \psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}]}$$
initial conditions
guantum dynamics

Here $\hat{\sigma}$ denotes the initial density matrix of the system and the trace has been formally rewritten in the eigenstates $|n\rangle$ of the system Hamiltonian \hat{H}_{OCD} .

The path integral formulation in the second line makes explicit that one deals with an initial value problem. It is appropriately formulated along the Schwinger–Keldysh (SK) contour with a forward branch C_1 and backward branch C_2 , as sketched in Fig. 3. The time ordering operator is denoted by T. The fields $A, \psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}$ live on both branches of the contour, whose initial conditions (⁺ fields for the forward and ⁻ fields for the backward contour) are sampled over statistically, weighted by the matrix elements of the density matrix. The presence of the two branches is intimately connected with the fact that one considers here the evolution of an, in general, mixed state in time. To describe it fully we need more than a single unitarily evolving wavefunction but instead propagate a full density matrix flanged between two time evolution operators.

One of the benefits of employing the SK contour lies in its ability to disentangle the classical and quantum components of the interaction of the d.o.f. (i.e. those that vanish in or survive the $\hbar \rightarrow 0$ limit) by introducing a linear combination of the + and - field components. It also provides a straight forward description of open quantum systems (discussed in Section 2.5) and their master equations via the Feynman–Vernon influence functional (discussed in Section 4.1). The use of coherent states to reverse engineer the operator-valued expressions of the master equation from a path integral plays a central role (for a pedagogic exposition of the connection between SK and OQS see e.g. Ref. [31]).

There are several different combinations of the meson operators, which we can consider on the Keldysh contour, all of which provide access to different facets of the field fluctuations. Depending on which part of the real-time contour the meson operator resides on we have

$$D_{11} = D(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_0, t, t_0) = \langle \mathcal{T} \dot{M}(\mathbf{x}, t) \dot{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) \rangle, \tag{3}$$

$$D_{12} = D^{>}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{0}, t, t_{0}) = \langle \tilde{M}(\mathbf{x}, t) \tilde{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{0}, t_{0}) \rangle,$$

$$\tag{4}$$

$$D_{21} = D^{<}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{0}, t, t_{0}) = \langle M^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{0}, t_{0})M(\mathbf{x}, t) \rangle,$$

$$(5)$$

$$D_{22} = D(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_0, t, t_0) = \langle \tilde{\mathcal{T}} M(\mathbf{x}, t) M^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) \rangle.$$
(6)

Table 1

A selection of common vertex operators and their quantum numbers. In addition we list the lowest lying quarkonium states contributing to the corresponding channel.

bouroof naupteu nom [1,51].					
J ^{PC}	$2s+1S_J$	Channel	сē	bĒ	
0-+	${}^{1}S_{0}(n)$	Pseudoscalar	η_c, η'_c	η_b, η_b'	
1	${}^{3}S_{1}(n)$	Vector V _{ii}	$J/\psi, \psi'$	Υ, Υ΄, Υ″	
1+-	${}^{1}P_{0}(n)$	Tensor	h _c	h_b	
0++	${}^{3}P_{0}(n)$	Scalar	χc0	χ _{b0} , χ _{b0}	
1++	${}^{3}P_{1}(n)$	Axial-vector AV _{ii}	Xc1	χ _{b1} , χ _{b1}	
2++	${}^{3}P_{2}(n)$		χc2	χ_{b2} , χ_{b2}'	
	$\begin{array}{c} J^{PC} \\ \hline 0^{-+} \\ 1^{} \\ 1^{+-} \\ 0^{++} \\ 1^{++} \\ 2^{++} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} J^{PC} & 2s+1S_J \\ \hline 0^{-+} & ^1S_0(n) \\ 1^{} & ^3S_1(n) \\ 1^{+-} & ^1P_0(n) \\ 0^{++} & ^3P_0(n) \\ 1^{++} & ^3P_1(n) \\ 2^{++} & ^3P_2(n) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} J^{PC} & 2^{s+1}S_J & \text{Channel} \\ \hline 0^{-+} & {}^1S_0(n) & \text{Pseudoscalar} \\ 1^{} & {}^3S_1(n) & \text{Vector V}_{ii} \\ 1^{+-} & {}^1P_0(n) & \text{Tensor} \\ 0^{++} & {}^3P_0(n) & \text{Scalar} \\ 1^{++} & {}^3P_1(n) & \text{Axial-vector AV}_{ii} \\ 2^{++} & {}^3P_2(n) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} J^{PC} & \frac{2s+1}{S_J} & \text{Channel} & c\bar{c} \\ \hline 0^{-+} & \frac{1}{S_0(n)} & \text{Pseudoscalar} & \eta_c, \eta_c' \\ 1^{} & \frac{3}{S_1(n)} & \text{Vector V}_{ii} & J/\psi, \psi' \\ 1^{+-} & \frac{1}{P_0(n)} & \text{Tensor} & h_c \\ 0^{++} & \frac{3}{P_0(n)} & \text{Scalar} & \chi_{c0} \\ 1^{++} & \frac{3}{P_1(n)} & \text{Axial-vector AV}_{ii} & \chi_{c1} \\ 2^{++} & \frac{3}{P_2(n)} & \chi_{c2} \end{array}$	

 $D^{>}$ and $D^{<}$ are referred to as Wightman functions. In addition it is useful to define the retarded and advanced correlator, which involve the commutator of meson operators $[\hat{A}, \hat{B}] = \hat{A}\hat{B} - \hat{B}\hat{A}$, as

$$D_{\rm R} = \langle [\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t), \hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0)] \rangle \theta(t - t_0), \tag{7}$$

$$D_{\mathbf{A}} = -\langle [M^{\mathsf{T}}(\mathbf{x}, t), M(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0)] \rangle \theta(t_0 - t).$$
(8)

The forward correlator $D^>$ e.g. describes the transition amplitude of finding a state created at the point (\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) by \hat{M}^{\dagger} at a later point in time *t* at the position \mathbf{x} . The symmetric correlator on the other hand can be defined from the anticommutator $\{\hat{A}, \hat{B}\} = \hat{A}\hat{B} + \hat{B}\hat{A}$ as

$$\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{S}} = \langle \{ \hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t), \hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) \} \rangle. \tag{9}$$

The explicit form of \hat{M} encodes, what kind of meson particles we are dealing with. In the study of heavy quarkonium two kinds of meson operators play a central role, local meson currents, as well as point split operators

$$\hat{M}_{\Gamma}(\mathbf{x},t) = \bar{Q}(\mathbf{x},t)\Gamma\hat{Q}(\mathbf{x},t),\tag{10}$$

$$\hat{M}_{\Gamma}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, t) = \bar{Q}(\mathbf{x}, t)\Gamma W(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, t)\hat{Q}(\mathbf{y}, t).$$
(11)

In order for the correlator of point split operators to remain gauge invariant one conventionally inserts a straight *Wilson line* between the quark and antiquark fields, trading gauge dependence for an easier parametrizable path dependence

$$W(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, t) = \exp\left[-ig \int_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{y}} dz^{\mu} A_{\mu}(z)\right].$$
(12)

The correlator of local currents encodes directly the properties of heavy quarkonium mesons, while we will encounter the point split operators in the context of defining a potential acting between the heavy quark and antiquark.

The quantities Γ residing in the meson currents are referred to as vertex operators. They allow us to select the spin and angular momentum properties of the fluctuations contributing to a correlator. Since Eq. (2) involves a path integral, the propagation of the system over time includes all possible field configurations accessible to the system, weighted with the Feynman phase $\exp[iS_{QCD}]$. It follows that all mesons states with quantum numbers compatible to Γ contribute to this quantity and in turn computing *D* will allow us to access the information of what states of a particular quantum number are present in the system.

To be specific, we may select under which representation of the Lorentz group the meson transforms. One example is the vector current with $\Gamma = \gamma_{\mu}$, which eponymously transforms as a Lorentz four-vector. Since we wish to select angular momentum and spin quantum numbers, the focus in the following lies on transformations in the rotation subgroup of the Lorentz group. Hence using for the meson operator the spatial components $\Gamma = \gamma_i$, its correlator receives contributions from all $Q\bar{Q}$ mesons with quantum numbers $J^{PC} = 1^{--}$. In the case of bottomonium in vacuum this would correspond to at least three stable meson states Υ , Υ' and Υ'' . Access to channels with different quantum numbers requires an appropriate choice for Γ , some of which are listed in Table 1. Since local Γ 's give access to only a limited set of quantum numbers, the computation of e.g. χ_{c2} with $J^{PC} = 2^{++}$ requires the use of additional covariant derivative operators D = D - D, as discussed in Refs. [32,33].

In order to access the information about which states contribute to the evolution of the meson operators, let us decompose the time ordered correlator into its commutator and anticommutator

$$D(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_0, t, t_0) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{ \hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t), \hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0) \} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle [\hat{M}(\mathbf{x}, t), \hat{M}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_0, t_0)] \rangle \operatorname{sign}_{\mathcal{C}}(t - t_0)$$
(13)

$$= F(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}_0, t_0) - \frac{1}{2}\rho(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}_0, t_0)\operatorname{sign}_{\mathcal{C}}(t - t_0).$$
(14)

Here sign_C($t - t_0$) tracks the location of t and t_0 on the SK contour. We will see below that the spectral function ρ encodes what states are accessible in the system, whereas the statistical function F encodes how strongly those states are populated.

The most intuitive representation of that information is found when introducing a Wigner transform, i.e. expressing the correlator in terms of relative and center of mass coordinates $r = x - x_0$ and $s = (x + x_0)/2$ and Fourier transforming in the former.

$$D(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{p}, \omega) = \int d^3 r e^{i\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}} \int_{-2t_s}^{2t_s} dt_r e^{i\omega t_r} D(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{r}, t_r).$$
(15)

The Wigner space spectral function $\rho(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{p}, \omega)$ when viewed as a function of \mathbf{p} and ω will represent a particle-like excitation as a narrow shell, located along a strip of $\omega(\mathbf{p})$. This is how the dispersion relation of the particle is read-off. As we are dealing with an initial value problem out of equilibrium, one has to keep in mind that the frequency resolution that can be achieved for the spectral function is limited by how much time t_s has passed, as intuitively expected from the uncertainty principle. As it will come in handy later on, we note that the spectral function may be computed from different combinations of correlators introduced above. I.e. we may either express it in terms of the forward and backward correlator or as the imaginary part of the retarded correlator

$$\rho(\mathbf{s}, t_{s}; \mathbf{p}, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \left(D^{>}(\mathbf{s}, t_{s}; \mathbf{p}, \omega) - D^{<}(\mathbf{s}, t_{s}; \mathbf{p}, \omega) \right), \quad \rho(\mathbf{s}, t_{s}; \mathbf{p}, \omega) = -\mathrm{Im} \left[D_{\mathrm{R}}(\mathbf{s}, t_{s}; \mathbf{p}, \omega) \right]. \tag{16}$$

The Wigner transformed spectral function also allows us to connect directly with its counterpart in thermal equilibrium. Starting out of equilibrium one will observe that the function ρ changes with the center of mass coordinate. As one approaches equilibrium this dependence weakens and eventually the fully thermal system will become independent of it, leaving us with $\rho(\mathbf{p}, \omega)$. Let us also define a generalized occupation number *n*

$$F(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{p}, \omega) = \left(n(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{p}, \omega) + \frac{1}{2}\right)\rho(\mathbf{s}, t_s; \mathbf{p}, \omega),$$
(17)

which reduces to the standard occupation number in thermal equilibrium. This tells us that an enormous simplification of the system takes place in that *n* not only becomes independent of the center-of-mass coordinates but furthermore becomes a function of ω only, leading to the Bose–Einstein distribution for a bosonic correlation function. I.e. in equilibrium, knowledge of the statistical function already implies knowledge of ρ .

In thermal equilibrium the density matrix is given by $\hat{\sigma} = \exp[-\beta \hat{H}]$, with $\beta = 1/T$ the inverse temperature and \hat{H} the Hamiltonian of the system. In that case the initial conditions part of Eq. (2) may be rewritten in the form of a second path integral along a compact imaginary time axis spanning from t = 0 to $t = -i\beta$. The start and end points of that imaginary time axis provide the initial conditions for the forward and backward branch of the Schwinger-Keldysh real-time contour. For operators residing on the imaginary time axis we may consider the Euclidean correlator

$$D_{\mathrm{E}}(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \langle M(\mathbf{x},\tau)M^{\dagger}(\mathbf{0},0)\rangle = D^{>}(\mathbf{x},-i\tau).$$
(18)

This correlator is related to the real-time forward correlator via analytic continuation. Due to the compactness of the imaginary time axis, a theory formulated in Euclidean time, after Fourier transform, only has access to the correlator on discrete imaginary frequencies, the so called Matsubara frequencies $\omega_n = 2\pi nT$

$$D_{\rm M}(\mathbf{x},\omega_n) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\beta d\tau e^{i\omega_n \tau} D_{\rm E}(\mathbf{x},\tau).$$
(19)

In addition the KMS relation tells us that the real-time correlators themselves become related to each other via

$$D^{>}(t, t_{0}) = D^{<}(t + i\beta, t_{0}).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Out of equilibrium we need to determine the off-diagonal correlators $D^> = D_{12}$ and $D^< = D_{21}$ separately to compute ρ . Via KMS we learn that $D^<(\omega) = e^{-\beta\omega}D^>(\omega)$ and already $D^>$ suffices.

We can pin down some of the properties of the spectral function in thermal equilibrium by explicitly computing $D^>$ and $D^<$, suppressing in the following the spatial dependence. Writing the trace as a sum over a complete set of eigenstates of the Hamiltonian $\langle n |$ and inserting a representation of unity we get

$$D^{>}(t) = \frac{1}{\mathrm{Tr}[e^{-\beta\hat{H}}]} \mathrm{Tr}[e^{-\beta\hat{H}}\hat{M}(t)\hat{M}^{\dagger}(t_{0})] = \frac{1}{Z[\beta]} \sum_{n,m} e^{-\beta E_{n}} e^{iE_{n}(t-t_{0})} e^{-iE_{m}(t-t_{0})} |\langle n|\hat{M}(t_{0})|m\rangle|^{2},$$
(21)

which subsequently leads to

$$\rho(\omega) = \frac{1}{Z[\beta]} \sum_{n,m} e^{-\beta E_n} \left[\delta(\omega + E_n - E_m) - \delta(\omega + E_m - E_n) \right] \left| \langle n | \hat{M}(t_0) | m \rangle \right|^2.$$
(22)

This expression first tells us that the spectral function is antisymmetric around the frequency origin $\rho(-\omega) = -\rho(\omega)$. As long as the product/contraction of $\Gamma \Gamma^{\dagger}$ remains positive (e.g. for Γ_i) and we utilize the same meson operator for creation and annihilation, ρ is positive semi-definite for $\omega > 0$.

The vector channel spectral function on the other hand may contain both positive and negative contributions. To see this let us decompose it into its transverse and longitudinal components for general $\Gamma^{\mu}\Gamma^{\nu\dagger}$

$$\rho^{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{p},\omega) = P_{\mathrm{T}}^{\mu\nu}\rho_{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{p},\omega) + P_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mu\nu}\rho_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{p},\omega),\tag{23}$$

where the following projection operators are used

$$P_{\rm T}^{00} = P_{\rm T}^{0i} = P_{\rm T}^{i0} = 0, \quad P_{\rm T}^{ij} = \delta^{ij} - \frac{p^{i}p^{j}}{p^{2}}, \quad P_{\rm L}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{p^{\mu}p^{\nu}}{p^{2}} - g^{\mu\nu} - P_{\rm T}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(24)

For a particular choice of e.g. $\mathbf{p} = (p, 0, 0)$ the following relations are obtained

$$\rho_{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{p},\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\rho^{22}(\mathbf{p},\omega) + \rho^{33}(\mathbf{p},\omega) \right), \quad \rho_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{p},\omega) = \frac{\omega^2 - p^2}{\omega^2} \rho^{11}(\mathbf{p},\omega).$$
(25)

This tells us that while $\rho_T \ge 0$ for positive frequencies, ρ_L can become negative below the light cone.

Based on the canonical dimension of the naively defined composite meson operators dim[M], we can deduce the dimension of ρ . This provides a first guess of how the spectral function behaves at high frequencies, where ω is the dominant scale. I.e.

$$\rho(\mathbf{p},\omega) \stackrel{\omega \gg \mathbf{p}}{\sim} \omega^{\gamma},\tag{26}$$

with $\gamma = \dim[M] + \dim[M^{\dagger}] - 4$, which for quarkonium mesons turns out to be $\gamma = 2$. For very heavy quarks the spectral expression simplifies, since neither quantum fluctuations nor statistical fluctuations are able to spontaneously produce a $Q\bar{Q}$ pair. More concretely one can argue [34], that for $m_Q \gg T$ the large mass of the heavy quarks leads to a suppression of Boltzmann factors with E_n or E_m , whenever the intermediate states $|n\rangle$ or $|m\rangle$ in the spectral decomposition contain heavy quarks

$$\rho(\omega) = (1 - e^{-\beta\omega})\tilde{D}^{>}(\omega) = \frac{1}{Z} \sum_{m,n} \left| \langle m | \hat{M} | n \rangle \right|^2 \left(e^{-\beta E_m} - e^{-\beta E_n} \right) \delta(\omega - (E_n - E_m)).$$
⁽²⁷⁾

In Eq. (22) we have assumed the whole spectrum of the Hamiltonian to be discrete, which is the case when the theory is e.g. regularized on a finite space-time lattice. Then we understand that ρ is simply composed of a sum of delta peaks. A peak exists at a certain frequency if the system Hamiltonian admits an energy level at that value and the matrix element $|\langle M \rangle|^2$ is non-vanishing. At zero temperature therefore one expects there to be a well defined ground state peak, clearly separated from higher lying excited states and eventually followed by densely spaced peaks above the continuum threshold, corresponding to unbound states. In thermal equilibrium, due to the sum over the medium states $|m\rangle$, the delta peaks below the threshold can cluster (i.e. the difference between E_n and E_m can be small) which leads to peak structures whose envelope exhibits a finite thermal width.

Well defined peak structures can be related to (quasi-)particle properties. Depending on the relative momentum **p** the position of a sharp spectral peak traces out the dispersion relation of that particle. At **p** = 0 it is simply the rest mass of that particle. Its binding energy can be read-off from the distance of the bound state peak from the onset of the continuum structure. On the other hand the width of a peak is related to its inverse lifetime, as it translates into a dampening in e.g. the forward correlator $D^>$. At finite temperature a finite thermal width does not necessarily imply that the state decays via annihilation of the constituent quark–antiquark pair. Instead due to energy and momentum exchange with the medium degrees of freedom the particle may be excited into another state within the same color channel (singlet or octet) or even outside of that channel, signaling decoherence over time. The information of which state the particle transitions into however is encoded in higher correlation functions of meson operators and thus cannot be disentangled from an inspection of the two-point correlator spectral function.

If we consider $\Gamma_V = \gamma_{\mu}$, the area under the spectral peaks in the corresponding ρ_V , can be straight forwardly related to experimentally relevant decay processes involving dileptons [35]. It is exactly the vector current $j_{\mu}^{em} = q\bar{Q}\gamma_{\mu}Q$ with electric charge q that couples to the photon field. At T = 0 the prefactor to a spectral delta peak, to first order in QED perturbation theory, encodes the probability of the bound state to decay to a dilepton pair, via annihilation into a virtual photon. I.e. the R-ratio of decay into e^+e^- pairs is given by

$$R(s) = -\frac{4\pi^2}{s}\rho_V(s), \quad s = k_0^2 - \mathbf{k}^2.$$
(28)

In Ref. [36] the decay probability of quarkonium at T = 0 has been connected to a simple picture of a non-relativistic wavefunction determined by a potential, using the concepts of effective field theories discussed in the next section. The strength of spectral features for an individual state is related to the properties of the corresponding radial wavefunction at the origin.

At finite temperature it is the area under an in-medium spectral feature, weighted by the Bose–Einstein distribution, which can be related to the dilepton emission rate from fully thermalized heavy quarkonium [37–39]. In the center of momentum frame of the emitted dileptons $\mathbf{p}_{\ell^-} = -\mathbf{p}_{\ell^+}$ and assuming that the energy of the emitted particles $\omega = E_{\ell^-} + E_{\ell^+}$ is sizably larger than twice their masses one obtains

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\ell^-\ell^+}}{\mathrm{d}^4 x \,\mathrm{d}^4 P} = \frac{2q^2 e^4}{3(2\pi)^5 \omega^2} \left(1 + \frac{2m_\ell^2}{\omega^2}\right) \left(1 - \frac{4m_\ell^2}{\omega^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} n_B(\omega) \left[-\rho_V(\mathbf{p}=0,\omega)\right],\tag{29}$$

where depending on whether charm or bottom quarks are involved the different electric charges $q_c = \frac{2}{3}$ and $q_b = -\frac{1}{3}$ need to be taken into account.

Another interesting property is encoded in the spatial component of the vector channel spectral function (i.e. using $\Gamma = \gamma^i$). The spectral structures in the low frequency regime may be related via linear-response theory [40–42] to the so called Kubo-formula for the heavy quark diffusion coefficient

$$D_{Q} = \frac{1}{6\chi^{00}} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{1}{\omega} \rho_{V_{ii}}(\omega, \mathbf{p} = 0),$$
(30)

with χ^{00} the quark number susceptibility. Note that the order of limits is important here, first we need to take the spatial momentum to zero and then inspect the low frequency regime of the spectral function.

Besides encoding the particle content of a theory, spectral functions serve another important technical role. They allow us to relate the many different correlators introduced above via appropriate integral transformations. In particular it turns out that the correlator formulated in imaginary time is governed by the same spectral function as the real-time correlator. This fact will become essential when trying to extract real-time information from numerical lattice QCD simulations later on.

The first relation we consider is that between the spectral function and the Matsubara correlator

$$D_{M}(\mathbf{p},\omega_{n}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{\rho(\mathbf{p},\omega)}{\omega - i\omega_{n}} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{2\omega\rho(\mathbf{p},\omega)}{\omega_{n}^{2} + \omega^{2}}.$$
(31)

In the second step the antisymmetry of the spectral function has been used. Since the integral kernel here only decays with $1/\omega$, one has to make sure that the correlation function is still well defined, given the canonical dimension of the spectral function. That means that in practice UV divergent contributions to the spectral functions need to be subtracted for Eq. (31) to make sense. Note that this spectral decomposition also tells us that while the Euclidean formulation of thermal field theory does not have access to the values of D_M in between the Matsubara frequencies, they are well defined. Using the analytic continuation of the spectral decomposition we may obtain expressions for the retarded and advanced correlators

$$D_{R/A}(\mathbf{p}, p_0) = \pm i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{\rho(\mathbf{p}, \omega)}{p_0 - \omega \pm i\epsilon} = \mp i D_M(\mathbf{p}, i(p_0 \pm i\epsilon)).$$
(32)

To arrive at the correlator in Euclidean time, the Fourier series over Matsubara frequencies needs to be carried out. Using the relation

$$\frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{e^{i\omega_n \tau}}{\omega - i\omega_n} = \frac{e^{-\omega\tau}}{1 - e^{-\beta\omega}},\tag{33}$$

one obtains the following spectral decomposition

$$D_E(\mathbf{p},\tau) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\tau\omega}}{1 - e^{-\beta\omega}} \rho(\mathbf{p},\omega) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{\cosh(\omega(\tau - \beta/2))}{\sinh(\omega\beta/2)} \rho(\mathbf{p},\omega),$$
(34)

where for the second equality, we have used the antisymmetry of the meson spectral function. The finite temperature kernel diverges as $\omega \rightarrow 0$, which is a manifestation of the fact that the spectral function is antisymmetric and thus has to vanish at the origin. It also reduces to a simple exponential falloff at vanishing temperature. Note that in case of the Matsubara correlator, the functional form of the integral kernel itself is not temperature dependent, it simply gets evaluated at different temperature dependent Matsubara frequencies ω_n . On the other hand the kernel of the Euclidean correlator depends explicitly on β .

Now that we have summarized the formal relations between different correlators and the spectral function, let us consider the non-interacting limit as an analytically accessible example [43,44]. Due to asymptotic freedom in QCD, this limit agrees with the infinite temperature limit. Since at high temperatures binding of quarks into bound states will be impossible, the expectation is that only the *continuum* persists above $\omega > 2m_Q$. Thus contrary to a single-particle spectral functions that exhibit a simple delta peak at the mass of the quantum field, the free meson spectral function shows a non-trivial broad structure at high frequencies. In addition it can also feature a remnant structure at low frequencies related to the *transport peak* in an interacting theory. At vanishing momentum the explicit form reads

$$\rho_{\Gamma}(\omega,T) = \frac{N_c}{8\pi^2} \Theta(\omega^2 - 4m^2)\omega^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\omega}{4T}\right) \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{2m}{\omega}\right)^2} \cdot \left[a_{\Gamma} + \left(\frac{2m}{\omega}\right)^2 b_{\Gamma}\right] + \frac{N_c}{3} \frac{T^2}{2} f_{\Gamma} \omega \,\delta(\omega) \quad , \tag{35}$$

where the coefficients a_{Γ} , b_{Γ} and f_{Γ} take on specific values for different channels. At asymptotically high energies most channels, including the vector and axial vector one show the scaling $\rho(\omega) \sim \omega^2$ expected from dimensional grounds. Only for $\Gamma = \gamma_0$ and $\gamma_0 \gamma_5$ a cancellation occurs and the dependence on ω drops out.

At vanishing frequencies a remnant of the physics below the light cone persists in the form of a delta peak in the vector and axial vector channel, which would correspond to an infinite diffusion constant. At finite coupling it is expected that both channels contain a washed out counterpart of this delta peak close to zero frequencies. This is the transport peak related to heavy quark diffusion. Modeling its shape based on Brownian motion and a Langevin equation [42] predicts a Breit–Wigner form, where the width of the peak is inversely proportional to the diffusion constant *D*. Note that an explicit delta peak at the origin leads to a constant contribution in the Euclidean correlator, which, as we will discuss later may lead to complications in the extraction of spectral functions from lattice QCD simulations. In contrast the constant f_{Γ} vanishes for the scalar and pseudoscalar channel. In turn it is expected that also in the interacting theory these channels do not contain a transport peak.

Summary. Quarkonium particles in quantum field theory are described by local meson current correlators, different combinations of which can be formally constructed. All particles with quantum numbers compatible with those selected by vertex operators Γ contribute to such a meson correlator. We can relate different correlators (retarded, Matsubara, etc.) to a common spectral function ρ via integral transforms. Expressed in relative momentum and relative frequency $\rho(\mathbf{p}, \omega)$ encodes bound state particles as peaked features and in turn allows us to read-off their masses, binding energies and lifetimes. At large frequencies the spectral function exhibits a continuous structure related to unbound pairs, which in most channels diverges with ω^2 in accordance with dimensionality. Some channels, such as the vector channel, at vanishing spatial momentum also contain an additional structure close to $\omega = 0$ related to the diffusion of heavy quarks, the so called transport peak.

2.2. Effective field theories of heavy quarkonium

In this section we review how the separation between energy scales in the quarkonium system allows us to simplify its description with non-relativistic language (for the general concept of an EFT see the classic Ref. [45]). To this end we will consider the two effective field theories Non-relativistic QCD (NRQCD) [46] and potential NRQCD (pNRQCD) [47], which have found various applications in the study of in-medium heavy quarkonium. For a pedagogical introduction to the general concept of EFT's see e.g. [48], to NRQCD at T = 0 in particular e.g. Ref. [49]. A comprehensive review of both NRQCD and pNRQCD can be found in Ref. [50].

Heavy quarkonium is exceptional among mesons, as the masses of charm and bottom quarks arrange ideally so that a hierarchy of well separated scales emerges

$$m_Q \gg m_Q v \gg m_Q v^2$$
, $m_Q \gg \Lambda_{QCD} \sim 0.2-0.5 \text{ GeV}$, $m_Q \gg \epsilon_{\text{medium}}$. (36)

Let us consider the characteristic relative velocity of the heavy quark within a bound state $v = |\mathbf{p}|/m_Q$. Attributing the mass splitting of e.g. the lowest lying bottomonium and charmonium S-wave states of roughly $\Delta \sim 500$ MeV to the average kinetic energy available $\langle m_Q v^2 \rangle$ it follows [51] that $\langle v_b^2 \rangle \approx 0.1$ and $\langle v_c^2 \rangle \approx 0.3$. In turn we find that the so called hard scale m_Q of the rest mass lies well above the soft scale $m_Q v$, which is related to the momentum exchanged between the quark–antiquark pair. For systems that permit a perturbative description, it can be shown that the soft scale is related to the inverse Bohr radius of the bound state. At even lower energies one finds the *ultrasoft scale* $m_Q v^2$ related to the binding energy of the two-body system. In addition, the rest mass is much larger than the intrinsic scale of quantum fluctuations in QCD, Λ_{QCD} . We will later on consider quarkonium in a heavy-ion collision, where at current collider facilities temperatures up to around $T \approx 0.6$ GeV have been achieved. We may thus for the time being assume another separation of scales to hold, i.e. between the heavy quark mass and the characteristic energy density of the environment ϵ_{medium} .

At asymptotically high temperature another scale hierarchy emerges (for a more detailed discussion see e.g. [52]), involving the temperature T and the QCD coupling g

$$T \gg gT \gg g^2 T \gg g^4 T. \tag{37}$$

In this weak-coupling context at the scale gT color electric fields begin to be screened within the thermal medium. Thus $gT \sim m_D$ is related to the concept of the electric or Debye screening mass of gluons. The next lower scale is g^2T , where also color magnetic fields become screened. The physics of magnetic screening even at high temperatures is genuinely non-perturbative. The lowest of the scales g^4T is the scale of the inverse mean free path at which a hydrodynamic long-wavelength description of the thermal medium becomes viable.

When considering effective field theory descriptions for quarkonium in a thermal medium we will have to deal with the confluence of many of the scales listed above. While at high temperatures their separation is often apparent, in the non-perturbative context of quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions they may become entangled and care must be taken to ensure that scale separation arguments hold.

In general, effective field theories exploit hierarchies of scales in a systematic fashion in order to simplify the description of physical processes relevant to the user. In the context of heavy quarkonium we are e.g. interested in learning about whether a quark-antiquark pair immersed into a hot medium can form a bound state or at least temporarily coalesce into a resonance. To understand the binding properties of such a two-body system, we are not concerned with how the heavy quark pair came into being in the first place. This is where EFT's play their strength: instead of having to deal with the whole intricacies of relativistic Dirac spinor fields we will see that the physics of bound state formation, involving energies at the order of the binding energy of such a state can be described instead by non-relativistic Pauli spinors. The physics of heavy quark creation and annihilation at a much higher energy scale in this sense is not relevant and thus not treated explicitly, it is said to be *integrated out*.

In order to set up an EFT description of heavy quarkonium four steps are required:

- A. Identify the energy scale of interest
- B. Identify the degrees of freedom relevant at that energy scale
- C. Construct the most general Lagrangian from these d.o.f. compatible with the symmetries of underlying QCD. Assign each term an in general complex prefactor, a *Wilson coefficient*.
- D. Determine the values of the Wilson coefficients by matching

2.2.1. Non-relativistic QCD

To understand the basic ingredients of the construction of the effective field theory NRQCD, let us start out by considering processes that occur below some energy Λ_{EFT} scale which itself lies firmly below the hard scale m_Q (A). I.e. the energies of the quark and gluon fields involved are smaller than what is necessary to create a heavy quark-anti-quark pair. Since pair creation is a hallmark of relativistic field theory, its absence intuitively tells us that eventually a simpler non-relativistic description should emerge. To proceed one needs to determine what degrees of freedom are relevant in such as scenario (B). The Foldy–Tani–Wouthuysen transform [53,54], known from the derivation of the relativistic corrections of the hydrogen atom, proves helpful in this context. Starting out from the relativistic Dirac Lagrangian

$$\bar{Q}(x)(i\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu} - m)Q(x) \tag{38}$$

with $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + igA_{\mu}$, one introduces a unitary field redefinition

$$Q = \exp\left[-\frac{i}{2m_Q}\gamma^i D_i\right] Q_1(x),\tag{39}$$

in the form of an exponential, which contains a small dimensionless expansion parameter due to m_Q in the denominator. A subsequent second field redefinition of the form

$$Q_1 = \exp\left[\frac{g\gamma_0\gamma_i}{4m_0^2}E_i\right]Q_2,\tag{40}$$

with $E_i = F_{0i}$, the electric field, defined via the temporal components of the field strength tensor $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} + ig[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$, then leads to the following [55] approximate Dirac Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{P} = \bar{Q}_{2}(x) \Big[\left(\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} D_{0} - m \right) + \frac{1}{2m_{Q}} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{i} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{i} \end{pmatrix} B_{i} + \frac{1}{2m_{Q}} D_{i}^{2} \Big] Q_{2}(x) + \mathcal{O}(1/m_{Q}^{2}).$$
(41)

This Lagrangian is the Pauli Lagrangian familiar from non-relativistic quantum mechanics, where to the order in the expansion considered here, the upper and lower components of the original Dirac four spinor $Q = (\psi, \chi)$ are completely decoupled. Since the rest mass only enters as a constant it too can be eliminated by a field redefinition. No pair creation processes are possible at this stage. I.e. we conclude that as long as the rest mass of the quarks is much larger than the characteristic canonical momentum $D_i/m_Q \ll 1$ Pauli spinors should provide us with an appropriate set of degrees of freedom. One is therefore left with constructing the most general Lagrangian of Pauli spinors (C), which requires us to develop a consistent power counting scheme.

For the study of particles containing both heavy and light particles the EFT *heavy-quark effective theory* (HQET) has been devised in Refs. [56–58] (for a review see Refs. [59,60]). It is based on an expansion of the QCD Lagrangian formulated in powers of " $\Lambda_{\text{EFT}}/m_{\text{Q}}$ " and has been successfully used to study the properties of B and D mesons.

On the other hand quarkonium particles only contain heavy constituents and are thus amenable to an EFT that exploits this fact. It is christened NRQCD and is organized around an expansion in the dimensionless small parameter v, the relative heavy quark velocity. A detailed discussion of its construction can be found in Ref. [50]. At the lowest order, the NRQCD Lagrangian agrees with the Foldy–Tani–Wouthuysen result, but allows to systematically extend the series to higher orders, eventually reproducing the QCD Dirac Lagrangian. Its lowest order terms according to Ref. [46] read explicitly for the ψ component

$$\mathcal{L}_{\psi} = \psi^{\dagger} \left\{ i D_0 + \frac{c_k^{(1)}}{2m_1} \mathbf{D}^2 + \frac{c_4^{(1)}}{8m_1^3} \mathbf{D}^4 + \frac{c_F^{(1)}}{2m_1} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot g \mathbf{B} + \frac{c_D^{(1)}}{8m_1^2} \left(\mathbf{D} \cdot g \mathbf{E} - g \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{D} \right) + i \frac{c_S^{(1)}}{8m_1^2} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \left(\mathbf{D} \times g \mathbf{E} - g \mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{D} \right) \right\} \psi.$$
(42)

The NRQCD action for the anti-quark field \mathcal{L}_{χ} is obtained from the charge conjugation of \mathcal{L}_{ψ} with $\psi^{c} = -i\sigma^{2}\chi^{*}$ and $A^{c}_{\mu} = -A^{t}_{\mu}$, as antiquarks transform under the **3** representation of *SU*(3).

Note that each term has been assigned a complex valued prefactor c_i , the so called Wilson coefficients. These play an important conceptual and practical role in the construction of an EFT. Since we include in the EFT only d.o.f. with energies at or below Λ_{EFT} the remnants of the physics of those d.o.f. at higher energies must be able to manifest itself. This is where Wilson coefficients come into play (for the underlying theory of the renormalization group see [61]). For the EFT to reproduce the physics of QCD faithfully below Λ_{EFT} the Wilson coefficients need to be tuned in a procedure called matching (D). I.e. one computes correlation functions of heavy quark fields both in QCD and the EFT and then require that they agree at energies below Λ_{EFT} . In addition the symmetries of the microscopic theory provide apriori constraints on some of them. E.g. Lorentz invariance subtly reappears in NRQCD as the constraints $c_k = c_4 = 1$ and $2c_F - c_S - 1 = 0$ (for a more detailed discussion of Lorentz- and reparametrization invariance see Refs. [62–66]). If $\Lambda_{\text{EFT}} \gg \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$ the matching procedure can be carried out perturbatively, otherwise it requires fully non-perturbative methods, such as lattice QCD simulations, discussed in the following section.

Eq. (42) however is not yet all that contributes to the heavy quark dynamics at order v^2 . Indeed somehow the pair creation processes eventually need to find their way back in, if NRQCD is a systematic approximation of QCD. This is taken care of by the contributions of additional color singlet and color octet four-fermion interaction terms as given in Ref. [36],

$$\mathcal{L}_{\psi\chi} = \frac{f_1({}^1S_0)}{m_0^2} \psi^{\dagger} \chi \chi^{\dagger} \psi + \frac{f_1({}^3S_1)}{m_0^2} \psi^{\dagger} \sigma \chi \chi^{\dagger} \sigma \psi + \frac{f_8({}^1S_0)}{m_0^2} \psi^{\dagger} T^a \chi \chi^{\dagger} T^a \psi + \frac{f_8({}^3S_1)}{m_0^2} \psi^{\dagger} T^a \sigma \chi \chi^{\dagger} T^a \sigma \psi, \tag{43}$$

whose prefactors encode the physics of gluons with energies of the order of the hard scale. Similarly the Fermi constant encodes the explicit physics of the weak gauge bosons. One should keep in mind that to consistently formulate NRQCD also the light degrees of freedom in QCD need to be restricted in their energy below Λ_{EFT} . In turn additional interaction terms appear also for the light quarks and gluons, each with their own Wilson coefficient, which however are suppressed by inverse powers of the EFT cutoff scale.

At least for bottom quarks, a perturbative determination of the Wilson coefficients is often possible, which tells us that the c_i 's within Eq. (42) start at unity and the first correction goes linearly in the strong coupling $c = 1 + O(\alpha_S)$ including, as expected, logarithmic dependencies on the EFT cutoff. Most of the *f*'s in Eq. (43) start out at $O(\alpha_S^2)$ except for the octet $f_8(^3S_1)$, which goes as $O(\alpha_S)$.

When speaking about NRQCD one always refers to a specific cutoff Λ_{QCD} . Once we change its value, in principle, all Wilson coefficients need to be reevaluated to produce a consistent effective description.

In QCD, quarkonium particles are described by correlation functions of meson operators as discussed in Section 2.1. Using a similar strategy as the Foldy–Tani–Wouthuysen transform in the Lagrangian, the form of the NRQCD counterparts of these operators can be derived. In the spirit of EFTs each term in the expansion is assigned a Wilson coefficient. For the vector and axial vector channel the explicit expressions given in Ref. [67] read

$$M_{k}^{\mathsf{V}} = b_{1}^{\mathsf{V}} \left(\psi^{\dagger} \sigma_{k} \chi \right) - \frac{b_{2}^{\mathsf{V}}}{6m_{Q}^{2}} \left[\psi^{\dagger} \sigma_{k} \left(-\frac{i}{2} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{D}} \right)^{2} \chi \right] + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{D^{4}}{m_{Q}^{4}} \right), \quad M_{k}^{\mathsf{AV}} = \frac{b_{1}^{\mathsf{AV}}}{m_{Q}} \left[\psi^{\dagger} \left(-\frac{i}{2} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{D}} \times \sigma \right)_{k} \chi \right] + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{D^{3}}{m_{Q}^{3}} \right), \tag{44}$$

where the symmetric covariant derivative is expressed as $\psi^{\dagger} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{D}} \chi \equiv \psi^{\dagger}(\mathbf{D}\chi) - (\mathbf{D}\psi)^{\dagger}\chi$.

How does the behavior of non-relativistic correlators differ from that of their QCD counterparts and in consequence what are the corresponding differences in the underlying spectral functions? Intuitively what we have done in setting up NRQCD is to separate the forward and backward propagating contributions to the spectral function in Eq. (22). I.e. similar to what happens when one introduces a large chemical potential for the heavy quark fields, only spectral structures at positive frequencies contribute. In addition we introduced a field redefinition with a phase $\exp[-im_Q t]$ to get rid of the rest mass term in the NRQCD Lagrangian. This in turn leads to a frequency shift of $2m_Q$ in the NRQCD quarkonium spectral function. I.e. the frequency origin of the NRQCD spectral function lies at the former threshold $2m_Q$ and a spectrum of bound states can now in principle extend to negative frequencies in this new coordinate system. The transport peak itself is not encoded anymore in these spectra. This leads to a simplification in the spectral representation, in particular when considering the in-medium Euclidean correlator, which is now connected to the equilibrium spectral function by a temperature independent integral kernel

$$D_{E}^{\text{NRQCD}}(\tau) = \int_{0>\omega_{\min}\gg-2m_{Q}}^{\Lambda_{\text{EFT}}} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-\omega\tau} \rho(\omega).$$
(45)

Note that even though this correlator does not feature the periodicity usually associated with thermal relativistic correlators, it encodes the physics of a quarkonium particle fully kinetically equilibrated with its surroundings.

Let us have a look at the explicit form of the S-wave and P-wave quarkonium correlators in the non-interacting theory, first computed in Ref. [68], followed up by Ref. [16]. They differ in that the vertex operator of the latter introduces additional factors of the momentum operator

$$D_{\text{S-wave}}^{\text{free NRQCD}}(\tau, \mathbf{p}) = 2N_c \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-(E_{\mathbf{q}} + E_{\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{q}})\tau} = \frac{N_c}{4\pi^{3/2}} e^{-\tau p^2/4M} \left(\frac{M}{\tau}\right)^{3/2},\tag{46}$$

$$D_{\rm P-wave}^{\rm free \, NRQCD}(\tau, \mathbf{p}) = 2N_c \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} (\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{p}/2)^2 e^{-(E_{\mathbf{q}} + E_{\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{q}})\tau} = \frac{3N_c}{8\pi^{3/2}} e^{-\tau p^2/4M} \left(\frac{M}{\tau}\right)^{5/2}.$$
(47)

This translates [69] into the non-interacting spectral functions

$$\rho_{\text{S-wave}}^{\text{free NRQCD}}(\omega, \mathbf{p} = 0) = 4\pi N_c \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \delta(\omega' - 2E_{\mathbf{q}}) = \frac{N_c}{\pi} M^{3/2} (\omega')^{1/2} \Theta(\omega'),$$
(48)

$$\rho_{\text{P-wave}}^{\text{free NRQCD}}(\omega, \mathbf{p} = 0) = 4\pi N_c \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3} \mathbf{p}^2 \delta(\omega' - 2E_{\mathbf{q}}) = \frac{N_c}{\pi} M^{5/2}(\omega')^{3/2} \Theta(\omega'), \tag{49}$$

where the finite momentum simply induces a shift of the threshold $\omega' = \omega - \mathbf{p}^2/4M$. In contrast to the relativistic spectral functions the high frequency behavior now differs between the S-wave and the P-wave, the latter containing a much stronger contribution at high frequencies. Note also that the free spectra start off from $\omega = 0$, which corresponds to the threshold $2m_0$ in the original unshifted frequency axis of QCD.

The specific properties of the medium so far did not occur in the discussion of the setup of NRQCD. As long as $\Lambda_{\text{FFT}} \geq T$, which is the case in current studies of heavy quarkonium, this is fine, since only the separation of scale $m_0 \gg \Lambda_{\rm FFT}$ has been exploited in setting up the EFT.

2.2.2. Potential non-relativistic QCD

If quarkonium binding properties determined by the physics at the ultrasoft scale are our only concern, then NRQCD still contains more explicit d.o.f. than necessary. As has been first considered in Ref. [47] we can set the energy cutoff below the characteristic momentum $m_0 v \sim |\mathbf{p}| > \Lambda_{\text{EFT}}$ and wish to integrate out those d.o.f. that cannot be excited spontaneously above $E \sim m_0 v^2$. The resulting EFT is called potential NRQCD, where the term potential formally refers to non-local Wilson coefficients, which are a hallmark of how pNRQCD describes heavy quarkonium physics.

The characteristic scale of quantum fluctuations in QCD $\Lambda_{\rm OCD}$ lies in between the various values of binding energies of different vacuum quarkonium states. At the same time the temperatures created in relativistic heavy-ion collisions can also easily reach the same magnitude. Therefore both selecting the relevant degrees of freedom and the matching of the corresponding Wilson coefficients differs, depending on the exact hierarchy of scales present. In case that $m_0 v \gg \Lambda_{\text{OCD}}$ where a perturbative approach to integrating out the soft scale is applicable, the setup of pNRQCD has been thoroughly established. In the non-perturbative regime an equally robust understanding is still outstanding and remains an active field of research.

Let us briefly summarize the most important ingredients to weakly coupled pNRQCD. In contrast to NRQCD, one now consider two cutoffs, one for the relative spatial momentum $m_Q > \Lambda_{\rm EFT}^{[p]} > m_Q v$, which is the same as in NRQCD and one for the energy of the heavy quarks which is now restricted to $m_Q v > \Lambda_{\rm EFT}^E$. One further assumes that the relevant d.o.f. are again quarks and gluons, i.e. the actual particle content remains the same between NRQCD and weakly coupled pNRQCD.

While one could stay with the field ψ and χ , it turns out that in order to write the pNRQCD Lagrangian in an intuitive fashion and to establish a systematic power counting, it is helpful to go over to what in this context is called a quarkonium wavefunction

$$\Psi(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, t)_{ab} \sim \psi(\mathbf{x}_1, t)_a \chi^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_2, t)_b, \tag{50}$$

given by a point split product of NRQCD fields. Both the color structure and the spatial dependencies of this object may now be decomposed leading to an expression depending on a color singlet $S(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t)$ and color octet wavefunction $O(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t)$ in terms of the relative $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2$ and center coordinates $\mathbf{R} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{x}_1 + \mathbf{x}_2)$

$$\Psi(\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}, t) = \Psi(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t) = \mathcal{P}\left[\exp\left\{ig\int_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\mathbf{x}_{2}}\mathbf{A}d\mathbf{z}\right\}\right]S(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t) + \mathcal{P}\left[\exp\left\{ig\int_{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathbf{x}_{1}}\mathbf{A}d\mathbf{z}\right\}\right]O(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t)\mathcal{P}\left[\exp\left\{ig\int_{\mathbf{x}_{2}}^{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{A}d\mathbf{z}\right\}\right].$$
(51)

The appropriate choice of quark mass to use in these expressions is an active research topic, having led to the definition of the renormalon subtracted mass [70]. This form of $\Psi(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}, t)$ is advantageous, since the different transformation properties of S and O under color rotations induced by ultrasoft gluons are explicit. At the same time $\Lambda_{\text{EFT}}^p > \Lambda_{\text{EFT}}^E$ translates into the fact that relative distances **r** are always smaller than the typical length scales of the light degrees of freedom. In turn the gauge fields that remain active as explicit degrees of freedom in pNRQCD enter the Lagrangian via a multipole expansion.

In the case considered here, where the ultrasoft scale lies sufficiently above the confinement scale, i.e. $m_0 v^2 \gtrsim \Lambda_{
m OCD}$ quarks and gluons remain the relevant degrees of freedom. The most general combination of color singlet and color octet heavy quark wavefunctions in the presence of ultrasoft light degrees of freedom, appropriate for this scale separation, has been derived in Ref. [47] to be

$$L_{pNRQCD} = \int d^{3}\mathbf{r} \text{Tr} \left[S^{\dagger} \left[i\partial_{0} - \left(\frac{1}{2} \left\{ c_{1}^{S}(r), \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{2\mu} \right\} + c_{2}^{S}(r) \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{2M} + V_{S}^{(0)} + \frac{V_{S}^{(0)}}{m_{Q}} + \frac{V_{S}^{(1)}}{m_{Q}^{2}} \right) \right] S + O^{\dagger} \left[iD_{0} - \left(\frac{1}{2} \left\{ c_{1}^{0}(r), \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{2\mu} \right\} + c_{2}^{0}(r) \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{2M} + V_{0}^{(0)} + \frac{V_{S}^{(0)}}{m_{Q}} + \frac{V_{S}^{(1)}}{m_{Q}^{2}} \right) \right] O \right] + V_{A}(r) \text{Tr} \left[O^{\dagger} \mathbf{rg} \mathbf{E}S + S^{\dagger} \mathbf{rg} \mathbf{E}O \right] + V_{B}(r) \text{Tr} \left[O^{\dagger} \mathbf{rg} \mathbf{E}O + O^{\dagger} O \mathbf{rg} \mathbf{E} \right] + \mathcal{O} \left(r^{2}, \frac{1}{M^{3}} \right),$$
(52)

with $\mu = m_0/2$ the reduced mass and $M = 2m_0$ the total mass of the two heavy quarks. The nonlocal Wilson coefficients V can carry a dependence on both the relative distance \mathbf{r} the corresponding relative momentum \mathbf{p} , the center of mass momentum **P**, as well as the spin operators of both quark and antiquark S_1 and S_2 . The constraints imposed by Lorentz invariance in addition force the terms $c_{1,2}^{S,0}$ to take on the same values and were shown in Ref. [64] to reduce to unity. Let us have a look at the form of this Lagrangian. On the one hand Eq. (52) exhibits the simple form of a Schrödinger

Lagrangian in the first two lines, telling us that the evolution of the singlet and octet wavefunctions is governed by

a potential. The terms $V_{S,O}^{(0)}$ refer to static potentials, which act even in the case of static quarks. The other terms are momentum and spin dependent corrections to these static potentials. On the other hand we are dealing with a genuine field theory here in which ultrasoft gluons are still contributing. Their influence is seen in the third line, inducing dipole-like transitions between the color singlet and color octet states and also within the color octet states. I.e. in pNRQCD even for static quarks, singlet and octet quarkonium states do not automatically evolve separately with a simple Schrödinger equation. As we will see later, we may however find situations where the effects of the dipole exchange can be summarized by a time independent contribution to the in-medium potential.

What changes in the case where the ultrasoft scale lies at or below the confinement scale $m_Q v^2 \leq \Lambda_{QCD}$, the so called strongly coupled scenario? At T = 0 the relevant ultrasoft degrees of freedom are the goldstone bosons of QCD, i.e. pions, while both the much heavier glueballs are integrated out. Since only color neutral states remain to scatter with quarkonium, one only needs to consider the color singlet sector. If one disregards the effects of scattering with the Goldstone bosons the physics of strongly coupled pNRQCD is governed thus solely by time independent potential terms. One should keep in mind however that this description is robust only for states far below the open heavy-flavor threshold. Close to it, the energy difference between a quarkonium state and two D or B mesons is small enough so that transitions between the channels need to be explicitly treated, which requires the inclusion of the open-heavy flavor states as additional coupled channels, as discussed early on e.g. in Refs. [4,71]. The question of how to rigorously construct a strongly coupled variant of pNRQCD at finite temperature around the crossover transition, where both hadronic and partonic degrees of freedom are active, remains an active field of research.

Let us return to the question of how to determine the values of the potential terms. For the implementation of direct perturbative matching of pNRQCD using resummed hard-thermal loop perturbation theory see Ref. [17]. One versatile strategy for matching is to relate the potential terms to expressions involving the real-time QCD *Wilson loop*

$$W_{\Box}(r,t) = \mathcal{P} \exp\left[ig \oint_{r \times t} A^{\mu} dz_{\mu}\right],\tag{53}$$

where the gauge field is integrated over a rectangular path with spatial extent r and temporal extent t. As discussed originally in Ref. [55] and more rigorously in Ref. [50], the starting point is to consider the correlator of point split meson operators, the NRQCD counterpart to the pNRQCD correlator of singlet wavefunctions

$$\left(\int \mathcal{D}[S, O]S(x_1, x_2)S^{\dagger}(y_1, y_2)e^{iS_{\text{pNRQCD}}}\right)_{\text{medium}}$$
(54)

$$= \left\langle \int \mathcal{D}[\psi, \chi] \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathrm{color}} \left[\psi^{\dagger}(x_1) U(x_1, x_2) \chi(x_2) \chi^{\dagger}(y_2) U(y_2, y_1) \psi(y_1) \right] e^{i S_{\mathrm{NRQCD}}} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{medium}}$$
(55)

$$= \left\langle G_{\psi}(y_1, x_1) U(x_1, x_2) G_{\chi}(x_2, y_2) U(y_2, y_1) \right\rangle_{\text{medium}}.$$
(56)

Since the NRQCD Lagrangian is quadratic in the heavy quark fields, the path integral has been performed in the second line and one ends up with expressions in terms of heavy quark and antiquark propagators.

The propagator $G_{\psi}(x, y) = \langle \psi^{\dagger}(x)\psi(y) \rangle$ is defined using the NRQCD Lagrangian in the standard way. If $\mathcal{L}_{\psi} = \int dx \int dy \psi^{\dagger}(x) K(x, y)\psi(y)$ then

$$\int dz K(x, y) G_{\psi}(y, z) = \delta^4(x - y)$$
(57)

and vice versa for G_{χ} . The form of G can be determined explicitly in the static case

$$(i\partial_0 - gA^0(x))G_{\psi}(x, y) = \delta^{(4)}(x - y), \quad \Rightarrow \quad G(x, y) = \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y})\theta(t_x - t_y)\exp\left\{ig\int_{t_x}^{t_y} A^0(s)ds\right\},\tag{58}$$

where it reduces to a temporal *Wilson line* and in turn Eq. (56) reduces to the Wilson loop. At the same time in pNRQCD at zeroth order in the multipole expansion one obtains a simple exponential in the static limit. Singling out the ultrasoft energy regime by considering late times, we may formally write

$$\left\langle \int \mathcal{D}[S, O]S(x_1, x_2)S^{\dagger}(y_1, y_2)e^{iS_{\text{pNRQCD}}} \right\rangle_{\text{medium}} = Z_s^0(r)\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{y}_1)\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}_2 - \mathbf{y}_2)\exp\left[-itV_s^{(0)}(r)\right]$$
(59)

$$\stackrel{\gg 1/A_{\rm EFT}^{4}}{=} \left\langle \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{y}_{1})\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{y}_{2})\mathrm{Tr}[W_{\Box}]\right\rangle_{\rm medium}.$$
(60)

In turn we may connect the late time behavior of the real-time Wilson loop with the values of the static heavy quark potential

$$V_{S}^{(0)}(r) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{i\partial_{t} W_{\Box}(r, t)}{W_{\Box}(r, t)}.$$
(61)

Before we turn our attention to the evaluation of this expression a few remarks are in order. First of all, for Eq. (61) to make sense, the non-potential effects encoded in Eq. (52) for weakly coupled pNRQCD via the dipole transition terms



Fig. 4. Overview of the different scales and corresponding EFT constructions used in the study of heavy quarkonium. The underlying theory of QCD is valid at any energy scale, its regularization on a lattice introduces an infrared and UV cutoff given by the physical lattice volume and the lattice spacing respectively. In NRQCD both medium d.o.f. and heavy quarks are integrated out down to momenta below m_Q . The active d.o.f. freedom are thus soft gluons and Pauli spinors. The lattice implementation is formulated also in Pauli spinors with appropriate Wilson coefficients capturing the physics of the medium d.o.f. and heavy quarks are energy cutoff now reaches down below $m_Q v$, below which wavefunctions and ultrasoft medium d.o.f. are active. Note that depending on the exact location of $m_Q v^2$ with respect to Λ_{QCD} and T different incarnations of pNRQCD need to be considered. In the current lattice implementation no active medium d.o.f. remain above Λ_{IR} and the gluons and light quarks on the lattice are used to compute the non-local Wilson coefficients.

need to reduce to a time independent contribution to the Wilson loop time evolution. I.e. the transitions between the color singlet and octet sector must be captured by an effective transition rate within the singlet sector alone. A scenario where this indeed takes place is considered in e.g. Ref. [17]. In particular in a strongly coupled scenario it is not a priori clear whether such a simplification occurs and its validity has to be ascertained depending on e.g. the energy density of the medium surrounding the heavy quark fields. A discussion of how to disentangle potential from non-potential effects through the spectral functions of the Wilson loops is given below Eq. (174) in Section 3.2.

In contrast to the definition of the heavy quark potential often encountered in the lattice QCD literature Eq. (61) is formulated in Minkowski time and not in imaginary time. I.e. the Wilson loops are oscillatory functions with a real and an imaginary part and thus the value of the potential V_S can be in general complex.

Up to this point we have only considered the static potential for the singlet. Note that matching of the octet potential, as well as momentum dependent and spin dependent corrections is in principle possible. The first spin dependent corrections were computed in Ref. [72] and the full $O(v^2)$ result presented in Ref. [73]. To connect to the functional language introduced in Section 2.1 one may follow Ref. [55] where corrections are obtained by rewriting the propagator *G* in terms of a non-relativistic quantum mechanical path integral. In vacuum several finite mass correction terms to the singlet potential have already been determined in lattice QCD in Refs. [74,75] and a non-perturbative definition of a color adjoint potential has been discussed in Ref. [76]. Similar results at finite temperature are however still outstanding.

In the following section we will turn our attention to lattice QCD simulations, which will provide us with the means to compute the potential and meson correlation functions in general in a genuinely non-perturbative fashion.

Summary. The natural hierarchy of scales within quarkonium $m_Q \gg m_Q v \gg m_Q v^2$ as well as the fact that $m_Q \gg \Lambda_{QCD}$ and in practice $m_Q \gg \epsilon_{medium}$ allow us to simplify the description of quarkonium using non-relativistic language. In the EFT NRQCD the hard scale is integrated out and the relevant d.o.f. are Pauli spinors. In pNRQCD also the soft scale is integrated out. As long as the same relevant d.o.f. can be identified as in NRQCD, one may straightforwardly go over to a description in terms of color singlet and octet wavefunctions whose Lagrangian contains non-local Wilson coefficients called potentials. The propagation of these wavefunctions is determined by both potential and non-potential contributions. If the former dominate we can match the values of the static potential to the late time evolution of the real-time Wilson loop in QCD. The different energy scales, as well as the corresponding EFT setups are sketched in Fig. 4.

2.3. Lattice QCD

In this section we summarize relevant ingredients to non-perturbative numerical simulations of quarkonium physics, based on lattice regularized QCD. Several excellent textbooks provide a comprehensive introduction to this field [77–79]. The need for genuine non-perturbative methods in the study of quarkonium in extreme conditions is twofold. On the one hand, already at T = 0 the binding energies of several of the quarkonium states are close to or even less than Λ_{QCD} . This entails that results in perturbation theory will receive large non-perturbative corrections. While $\Upsilon(1S)$ is considered safe for the application of perturbation theory, such corrections already play a role for J/ψ . On the other hand when we wish to understand heavy quark binding in a heavy-ion collision, the temperatures encountered at today's colliders are so close to the QCD crossover transition that a non-perturbative approach to the quark and gluon d.o.f. in the quarkonium

environment is warranted. One indication is the large value of the trace anomaly, also called the interaction measure, in that temperature region [8,80].

The starting point for lattice QCD is the discovery of Wilson [81] that QCD can be regularized in a gauge invariant manner by placing its d.o.f. on a compact four dimensional spacetime grid $N_x \times N_y \times N_z \times N_t$ with lattice spacing a_{μ} . Most often isotropic $a_{\mu} = a$ lattices are considered, but also anisotropies in temporal direction are used in practice with $a_0 = a_t$ and $a_i = a_s$. Discretized fermion fields $\psi^{a,\alpha}(\mathbf{x})$ reside on the nodes of the grid. The role of gauge fields as parallel transporters for the quarks d.o.f. is made explicit and they are placed on the links of the lattice in the form of so called link variables $U^{\mu}(\mathbf{x}) = \exp[igA_c^{\mu}(\mathbf{x})T_c a_{\mu}]$ where no summation over μ is implied. These take on values in the group of SU(3), while the gauge fields $A_c^{\mu}(\mathbf{x})T_c$ are elements of the generator algebra spanned by the Gell-Mann matrices $\lambda_c/2 = T_c$. The finite lattice spacing introduces a UV cutoff, the finite box size an IR cutoff in the available momenta. The eigenvalues of the momentum operator corresponding to the central finite difference hence become

$$\tilde{p}_i = \frac{2}{a_s} \sin\left(\frac{\pi n_j}{N_s}\right), \quad -N_s/2 < n_i \le N_s/2.$$
(62)

As the number of degrees of freedom is finite, the corresponding Feynman path integral is well defined. In turn correlation functions that exhibit divergences in continuum computations also come out finite. In particular, the quarkonium spectral functions defined in Section 2.1 consist of only a finite number of delta peaks. The challenge of course lies in eventually having to take the continuum limit $a \rightarrow 0$ and the thermodynamics limit $V \rightarrow \infty$ to recover the continuum theory of QCD. It is at latest at this point where a careful consideration of the renormalization of lattice regularized operators becomes essential.

In the coordinate space regularization it is possible to set up a numerical simulation prescription, which approximates Feynman's path integral in a non-perturbative fashion. There however exists an important restriction. While we wish to compute real-time correlation functions and the associated spectral functions on the real-time branches C_1 and C_2 of the SK contour, conventional lattice QCD simulations have access only to the compact imaginary time branch C_E . On it, bosonic fields, according to the KMS relation, have to obey periodic boundary conditions in τ , fermionic fields anti-periodic ones. I.e. while the finite extent of the box in spatial direction is a discretization artifact, the finite extent in imaginary time direction encodes vital physics, i.e. the inverse temperature of the system under consideration. Since the box extent in a numerical simulation is always finite, lattice QCD simulations are always performed at a finite temperature. In what is called a T = 0 simulation, the Euclidean time extent is made large enough that the induced temperature is negligible.

Analytically continuing real-time t to Euclidean time τ we may express the partition function of the theory as

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}[U] \int \mathcal{D}[\psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}] e^{-S_E},$$
(63)

where S_E denotes the Euclidean QCD action and *DU* represents the Haar measure integrating over the link variables in SU(3) group space. The reason for restricting to C_E lies in the fact that only on the imaginary time axis the Feynman weight exp[*iS*] becomes purely real and bounded. In turn exp[$-S_E$] may be interpreted as an unnormalized probability distribution, opening up the toolbox of stochastic Monte-Carlo simulations. This provides a practical path to evaluate the quantum statistical expectation values of operators

$$\langle O(\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots) \rangle = \frac{1}{Z} \operatorname{Tr}[e^{-\beta H} \hat{O}(\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots)] = \frac{1}{Z} \int \mathcal{D}[U] \int \mathcal{D}[\psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}] O(U, \psi, \bar{\psi}, Q, \bar{Q}; \tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots) e^{-S_E}.$$
 (64)

The efforts related to simulating directly in real-time, as well as at finite Baryon density, both of which leads to a complex Feynman weight, are summarized under the label *sign problem* (see e.g. Ref. [10]).

The Euclidean action contains a term for the gauge fields and for the fermion degrees of freedom $S_E = S_E^g + S_E^f$. Many different implementations are possible in the discretized theory, all of which lead to the same continuum limit. The choice of discretization however determines how efficiently this limit is approached as the lattice spacing is reduced. Better convergence usually requires adding further terms to so called improved actions, increasing the numerical cost for their evaluation. The most naive choice for the gluons is the Wilson plaquette action, which for anisotropic lattices [82] reads

$$S_{E}^{g} = \frac{\beta}{N_{c}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \sum_{j < i} \left(\frac{1}{\xi_{0}} \operatorname{ReTr}[1 - U_{ij}(\mathbf{n})] + \xi_{0} \operatorname{ReTr}[1 - U_{0i}(\mathbf{n})] \right).$$
(65)

The vectors $\mathbf{n} = (x/a_s, y/a_s, z/a_s, \tau/a_\tau)$ and \mathbf{m} denote the position on the four dimensional grid, the vectors $\mathbf{h} = (x/a_s, y/a_s, z/a_s)$ and \mathbf{l} the spatial part. The central quantities $U_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) = U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n})U_{\nu}(\mathbf{x}+\hat{\mu})U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\nu})U_{\nu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n})$ are called plaquettes, the closed products of links around the unit loop. The unit vector in μ direction is denoted with $\hat{\mu}$. Here $\beta = 2N_c/g^2$ does not refer to the inverse temperature but stands for the inverse bare coupling, as is convention in the lattice community. The bare anisotropy parameter reads ξ_0 . The Wilson action is invariant under local gauge transformations $G(\mathbf{n}) \in SU(3)$, which act on the link variables as $U'_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}) = G(\mathbf{n})U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n})G^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n} + \hat{\mu})$. Different improved actions for the gauge sector, such as the Iwasaki action [83], have been developed, following the Szymanzik improvement program introduced in Refs. [84–86].

In general the gauge invariant fermionic part of the Euclidean action can be expressed as a bilinear in terms of Grassmann valued quark fields. Since explicit matrix representations of Grassmann numbers in terms of complex numbers are numerically too costly, one instead carries out the Gaussian integral a priori and ends up with a fermion determinant. Most efficient simulation prescriptions exploit further that such a determinant can be expressed as a path integral over auxiliary bosonic fields.

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}[U] \int \mathcal{D}[\bar{\psi}, \psi] \exp\left\{-\int dx \bar{\psi} K \psi\right\} e^{-S_E^g} = \int \mathcal{D}[U] \det K[U] e^{-S_E^g} = \int \mathcal{D}[U] \frac{1}{\det K^{-1}[U]} e^{-S_E^g}$$
(66)
$$= \int \mathcal{D}[U] \int \mathcal{D}[\phi] e^{-S_E^g - \phi^* K^{-1}[U]\phi}.$$
(67)

The so called pseudofermion field ϕ can be straight forwardly accommodated in numerical simulations. Note that while the matrix *K* usually has a sparse banded structure its inverse is generally dense.

The treatment of light fermionic d.o.f. on the lattice, i.e. quarks of the thermal QCD medium, is complicated by the so called doubler problem. The deformed dispersion relation from the discretized Dirac equation leads to artificially light modes within the first Brillouin zone. This issue is intimately related to the question of how to implement a discretized form of chiral symmetry on the lattice. In this context the discretization of the light fermions also leads to an artificially large mass m_{π} of the pion degrees of freedom. In order to keep the numerical cost of simulations under control the largest lattice QCD collaborations working at finite temperature have chosen the staggered quark discretization, e.g. the highly-improved staggered quarks (HISQ) [87] or the so called stout action [88]. As staggered quarks preserve a remnant of chiral symmetry one also has to deal with the issue of doublers. Other collaboration have opted for the more costly but formally advantageous Wilson fermions (see e.g. [89]) or the Wilson fermion derived twisted mass formulation [90].

For the treatment of the heavy quark degrees of freedom chiral symmetry does not play an equally important role. Instead it is the fact that since discretization artifacts in the most naive formulation scale with $m_Q a$ that a very fine lattice spacing is required. Improved actions that allow for a more advantageous scaling are therefore often deployed [91]. Based on the staggered formulation, the $O(a^2)$ Szymanzik improved HISQ fermions have been introduced in Ref. [87] with heavy quarks at T = 0 in mind. In finite temperature studies a popular relativistic action for quarkonium is the clover improved Wilson action (also known as the Shekholeslami–Wohlert action and starting point for the Fermilab action [92]), which for anisotropic lattices [93] reads

$$S_{F}^{\xi} = a_{\tau} a_{s}^{3} \sum_{\mathbf{n}} \bar{Q}(\mathbf{n}) \left[m_{0} + \nu_{\tau} [\gamma_{\tau} \nabla_{\tau} - \frac{a_{\tau}}{2} \nabla_{\tau}^{2}] + \nu_{s} \sum_{s} [\gamma_{s} \nabla_{s} - \frac{a_{s}}{2} \nabla_{s}^{2}] - \frac{a_{s}}{2} [C_{sw}^{\tau} \sum_{s} \sigma_{\tau s} F_{\tau s} + C_{sw}^{s} \sum_{s < s'} \sigma_{s s'} F_{s s'}] \right] Q(\mathbf{n})$$

$$(68)$$

where D^{Wilson} denotes the original Wilson Dirac operator. The covariant lattice derivatives are

-

$$\nabla_{\mu}Q(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{1}{2a_{\mu}} \left[U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n})Q(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\mu}) - U_{-\mu}(\mathbf{n})Q(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}) \right],\tag{70}$$

$$\Delta_{\mu}Q(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{1}{a_{\mu}^{2}} \left[U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n})Q(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\mu}) + U_{-\mu}(\mathbf{n})Q(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}) - 2Q(\mathbf{n}) \right],$$
(71)

writing concisely $U_{-\mu}(\mathbf{n}) \equiv U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{\mu})^{\dagger}$. The additional contribution that implements the improvement is called the clover term which contains the field strength tensor, discretized by four plaquette terms

$$4S_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) = U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n})U_{\nu}(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\mu})U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\nu})U_{\nu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}) + U_{\nu}(\mathbf{n})U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}+\hat{\nu})U_{\nu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu})U(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}) +$$
(72)

$$U^{\dagger}_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu})U^{\dagger}_{\nu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}-\hat{\nu})U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\mu}-\hat{\nu})U_{\nu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\nu}) + U^{\dagger}_{\nu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\nu})U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{\nu})U_{\nu}(\mathbf{n}+\hat{\mu}-\hat{\nu})U^{\dagger}_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}), \tag{73}$$

$$F_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{-i}{2a^2} [S_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) - S^{\dagger}_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n})].$$
(74)

By appropriate tuning of the parameters v_i and C_{SW} the O(a) lattice artifacts can be made to vanish on the level of the classical action, in turn suppressing the discretization artifacts in the full quantum theory. An empirical but well established non-perturbative procedure to tuning the action parameters is so called tadpole improvement, in which the mean value of link variables is used to improve the convergence of the simulation results to the continuum limit.

In practice the path integral in Eq. (64) is approximated stochastically (see e.g. [94]). I.e. one designs a stochastic process in computer time t_{MC} also called Monte Carlo time, which generates successive sets of 4-dimensional field configurations with a probability distribution according to the Euclidean Feynman weight. In order to obtain an ensemble of gauge configurations that accurately represents the quantum probability distribution, the space of configurations must be efficiently traversed. To this end hybrid Monte Carlo algorithms are currently deployed, where a stochastic update is combined with a classical evolution of Hamilton's equation of motion for gluon and pseudofermion fields. The necessity to solve a large dense system of linear equation at each computer time step constitutes the main numerical cost.

To keep costs manageable, often it is only the light quarks u, d and s that are treated fully dynamically, with some collaborations starting to include c quarks. The dynamical fermion content is indicated in lattice simulations conventionally by a code such as $N_f = 2 + 1$ indicating in that case two mass degenerate u and d quarks and a more massive s quark to be present. At low enough temperatures top and bottom quarks do not significantly contribute to virtual processes and their determinant can be approximated to be unity, they are said to be *quenched*.

The quantum statistical expectation value of an observable $\langle O \rangle$, i.e. of a gauge invariant (composite) operator, is approximated by computing the value of *O* on each field realization within one ensemble. Since one can often use volume averaging in determining the value of *O* on each lattice configuration, the outcome constitutes a subaverage. If the variance of the these sub-averages O^k , what the lattice community often calls a measurement, is finite, then thanks to the central limit theorem their distribution will become approximately Gaussian if enough configurations are available. In that case the mean is taken as simple estimator for the expectation value

$$\langle O \rangle = \frac{1}{N_{\rm conf}} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{\rm conf}} O^k + (\epsilon_{\rm MC} / \sqrt{N_{\rm conf}}).$$
(75)

If there are no residual *autocorrelations* between the generated configurations the statistical error in the end result decreases with $1/\sqrt{N_{\text{conf}}}$.

Note that at no step above a particular gauge had to be chosen in the process of simulating $\langle 0 \rangle$. There can however arise situations in the study of quarkonium where an evaluation of gauge dependent quantities is of interest. By now there exist standard iterative methods (see e.g. Ref. [95]) to generate appropriate sets of gauge transformation matrices $G(\mathbf{x})$ in order to approximate the (local) extremum of the gauge fixing functional $F[A^{\mu}] = 0$ that encodes a discretized variant of a gauge condition, such as Landau $\partial_{\mu}A_{\mu} = 0$ or Coulomb gauge $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$.

At this point some remarks are in order on how to judge the reliability of a lattice QCD computation result. The outcome of a simulation is an estimate of an imaginary time correlation function with a certain statistical uncertainty, which depending on the computation resources available can be made arbitrary small. At the same time the discretization related artifacts need to be kept in mind according to the following checklist inspired by the FLAG criteria [96]:

- For the temperature range considered, are all relevant quarks d.o.f. dynamically included?
- Is the pion mass at the physical point $m_{\pi} = 140$ MeV and related, is the crossover temperature at $T_c \approx 156$ MeV?
- Has the continuum limit $a \rightarrow 0$ been taken?
- Has the thermodynamic limit $V \rightarrow \infty$ been taken?

The first item in current simulations is usually satisfied. On the other hand the second to fourth item still require considerable resources, often preventing these conditions from being fulfilled. If e.g. the limits are not taken one has to make sure that the relevant energy scales are located reasonably far away from the corresponding IR and UV cutoffs. In essence this also tells us that only if all criteria are met, two lattice simulations can be expected to agree within their statistical uncertainties.

As discussed in Section 2.1 we wish to compute quarkonium current correlators according to fixed quantum numbers. Inspecting their spectral functions allows us to identify possible bound states and their in-medium properties. The evaluation of these correlators requires additional care on the lattice. One reason is that the introduction of the hypercubic grid breaks the rotational symmetry of the continuum theory and reduces it to the octahedral symmetry group O_h [97]. Instead of the good quantum number spin J^{PC} labeling one of the infinite numbers of irreducible representations of rotations, we have to deal with Λ^{PC} which refers to a finite number of lattice irreducible representations of O_h . For integer spin there exist exactly five irreducible representations A_1 , T_1 , T_2 , E, A_2 . The identification of particles with physical J > 1, such as e.g. χ_2 , which appear as admixtures in different channels set by Λ^{PC} requires particular care as described e.g. in Ref. [98].

To evaluate a quarkonium current correlator on the lattice we have to consider the lattice counterpart of the continuum expression

$$M_{\Gamma}^{\text{cont}} = Z_{\Gamma}(a, m_{Q}, \mu = 1/a)a_{s}^{-3}M_{\Gamma}^{\text{lat}} = Z_{\Gamma}a_{s}^{-3}\bar{\psi}\,\Gamma W\psi.$$
(76)

The renormalization factor Z_{Γ} can be computed in lattice perturbation theory [99], where μ denotes the scale at which the strong coupling is evaluated in such a computation.

The Euclidean correlator for a general meson operator is obtained after one carries out the heavy quark Graßmann integrals

$$\langle M_{\Gamma}(\tau) M_{\Gamma}^{\dagger}(0) \rangle \tag{77}$$

$$= \int \mathcal{D}[U, \bar{\psi}, \psi] \int \mathcal{D}[\bar{Q}, Q] \{ \bar{Q}(\mathbf{h}_1, 0) \Gamma W(\mathbf{h}_1, \mathbf{l}_1, 0) Q(\mathbf{l}_1, 0) \bar{Q}(\mathbf{l}_2, \tau) \Gamma^{\dagger} W^{\dagger}(\mathbf{l}_2, \mathbf{h}_2, \tau) Q(\mathbf{h}_2, \tau) \} e^{-S_E}$$
(78)

$$= \int \mathcal{D}[U, \bar{\psi}, \psi] \left\{ \operatorname{Tr} \left[K_{Q}^{-1}(\mathbf{h}_{2}, \tau, \mathbf{h}_{1}, 0) \Gamma W(\mathbf{h}_{1}, \mathbf{l}_{1}, 0) K_{Q}^{-1}(\mathbf{l}_{1}, 0, \mathbf{h}_{2}, \tau) \Gamma^{\dagger} W^{\dagger}(\mathbf{h}_{2}, \mathbf{l}_{2}, \tau) \right]$$
(79)

$$- \operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{Q}^{-1}(\mathbf{l}_{1}, 0, \mathbf{h}_{1}, 0)\Gamma W(\mathbf{h}_{1}, \mathbf{l}_{1}, 0)\right]\operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{Q}^{-1}(\mathbf{h}_{2}, \tau, \mathbf{l}_{2}, \tau)\Gamma^{\dagger}W^{\dagger}(\mathbf{h}_{2}, \mathbf{l}_{2}, \tau)\right] \right\} \operatorname{det}\left[K_{Q}\right]e^{-S_{E}\left[U, \bar{\psi}, \psi\right]}.$$
(80)



Fig. 5. The non-interacting spectral function on isotropic lattices, normalized to the continuum asymptotic behavior in the pseudoscalar channel for finite mass m/T = 4.8. Note both the approach to the continuum limit for increasing resolution with N_r as well as the presence of discretization artifacts at high momentum. *Source:* Adapted from [43].

Since the mass of the heavy fermion suppresses its contributions to virtual processes we neglect $\det[K_Q] \approx 1$. The contributions with an overall trace on the outside are referred to as connected diagrams, the ones including two individual traces as disconnected ones. The latter are often neglected for heavy quarks since they are suppressed due to the OZI rule and as their contribution has been found to be small in practice (see e.g. [100]). The computation of the quark propagators K^{-1} constitutes a boundary value problem and involves solving the defining equation

$$\sum_{z,\gamma,c} K_{xz,\alpha\gamma,ac} K_{zy,\gamma\beta,cb}^{-1} = \delta_{xy} \delta_{\alpha\beta} \delta_{ab}, \tag{81}$$

which corresponds to a large system of linear equations.

We can learn about some of the effects of the lattice discretization by considering the meson correlator in terms of Wilson fermions in the non-interacting limit. In that case explicit expressions for the Euclidean correlator and the spectral function have been computed in Refs. [43,44]. The differences to the continuum theory are cleanly illustrated for the $\mathbf{p} = 0$ correlator in Fig. 5.

For small frequencies the free lattice spectral function lies close to the functional form of its continuum counterpart. On the other hand the UV part is severely distorted and the spectral function vanishes above a finite frequency ω_{max} . On isotropic lattices it is given by $\omega_{\text{max}}^{\text{iso}}a = 2 \ln 7$, corresponding to the largest energy available to a meson with lattice momentum $\mathbf{p} = (\pi/a, \pi/a, \pi/a)$. Whenever the lattice momentum reaches a corner of the Brillouin zone, i.e. at $\mathbf{p} = (\pi/a, 0, 0)$ and $\mathbf{p} = (\pi/a, \pi/a, 0)$, corresponding to $\omega_1 a = 2 \ln 3$ and $\omega_2 a = 2 \ln 5$ kinks appear in the spectral function, the lowest one often exhibiting an amplitude above the continuum result.

It is useful at this point to consider briefly the analysis of interacting quarkonium correlation functions in T = 0 lattice QCD and discuss differences to the T > 0 case. Summing over all spatial lattice points of $\langle \hat{M}_{\Gamma}(\mathbf{n}, \tau) \hat{M}_{\Gamma}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{0}, 0) \rangle$, the $\mathbf{p} = 0$ correlator is obtained. Since for quarkonium the vacuum ground states are expected to be well separated from excited states and the underlying spectral function is simply a sum of delta peaks, the correlator will exhibit a well pronounced single exponential falloff close to $\tau = \beta/2$ (for periodic boundary condition the correlator is still symmetric). The exponent is simply the rest mass of the heavy quarkonium particle. It is either determined via an exponential fit to the $\tau < \beta/2$ correlator or by considering the so called *effective mass*

$$m_{\rm eff}(\tau) = \log \left[\frac{D(\tau + a_{\tau})}{D(\tau)} \right],\tag{82}$$

which will approach a plateau with the value of the ground state rest mass M_0 at large enough τ . For positive definite spectra m_{eff} will be convex and monotonous. Using correlators at different momenta $m_{\text{eff}}(\tau \rightarrow \infty)$ traces out the dispersion relation $E(\mathbf{p})$. At T > 0 the peak structures are not as well separated and the resulting correlator will not exhibit clear exponential falloffs. This induces curvature in the effective mass and a similarly straight forward interpretation in terms of spectral features is unavailable.

Already at T = 0 spectral contributions from excited states induce curvature in $m_{\text{eff}}(\tau)$ at early τ 's. The stronger the effect, the later $m_{\text{eff}}(\tau)$ reaches a plateau. Since the signal to noise ratio decreases with τ this complicates the determination of M_0 . At T = 0 we are only interested in the mass and the ground state is a single delta function. Thus we may improve the signal to noise by increasing the amplitude of that peak structure. This requires modifying the *overlap*, i.e. the magnitude of the ground state matrix element of the meson operator in the spectral decomposition. There are many different strategies to do so on the market, among them so called *smearing*. It either refers to replacing the delta function on the r.h.s of Eq. (81) by an extended object and/or a smoothing prescription of the gauge fields in spatial direction. In the latter the UV modes of the gauge fields are successively damped away. In turn the excited state and continuum contributions to the spectral function diminish and the ground state peak is relatively more pronounced. Since a bound state at T = 0 is represented by a single delta peak, this procedure often achieves its goal. However at finite temperature where clusters of peaks populate the spectral function and their envelope encodes vital properties, such as thermal widths, the application of smearing requires additional care. It is not a priori clear how the amplitude of individual peaks is affected by smearing and in turn the envelope may be distorted, leading to uncontrolled changes in its position and width. To avoid these additional systematic uncertainties smearing is largely avoided in studies of spectral structures at T > 0.

The last item we have not touched so far is the subject of how to select the bare values of the parameters in the lattice action (strong coupling, quark masses, anisotropies). The quantum fluctuations present in the discretized path integral lead to a renormalization of the bare parameters and the values of the physical parameters need to be determined by comparison with a physical measurement a posteriori. One important part is the setting of the absolute energy scale in a lattice simulation [101], most often quoted as a lattice spacing in units of fm. Since a lattice QCD simulation is formulated in dimensionless fields, indeed external input is needed to assign such a physical scale.

The most direct approach would be to measure the mass of a stable Baryon but this often is prohibitively expensive, numerically. Instead until recently it has been customary to use the so called Sommer scales r_0 and r_1 to set the scale. These quantities are derived from a phenomenological Cornell type model of heavy quarkonium, fixing in essence the slope of the string like part of the potential extracted from a T = 0 lattice simulations to a model dependent physical value. While easy to implement, the disadvantage of this approach is that it prevents an independent determination of the heavy quark potential on the same lattice. More recently a different high precision scale setting approach [102] has been developed based on the Gradient flow technique [103]. It provides a scale ω_0 derived from smoothed correlators of the field strength tensor, which, if once determined to high precision on a lattice using e.g. a Baryon mass, can function as straight forwardly evaluable standard in other lattice simulations.

In a simulation without dynamical quarks only the strong coupling β needs to be adjusted to select a particular lattice spacing. In dynamical simulations also the light quark parameters have to be tuned. This requires as additional inputs e.g. the pion decay constant [104] and the physical mass ratio between s and u/d quarks. Instead of trying to reproduce the pion mass, one enforces that the so called partially conserved axial current (PCAC) mass vanishes. At that point the residual Ward identity for the remnant chiral symmetry on the lattice is fulfilled. In turn the pion mass emerges as a dynamical property of the simulation and not as external input.

For the heavy quarks the mass and anisotropy parameters in the action can be tuned independently from those of the dynamical quarks and gluons. On the one hand, we have to make sure that the ground state mass M_0 of one chosen meson channel agrees with its PDG value and at the same time that the relativistic dispersion relation is fulfilled

$$E^{2}(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}) = M_{0}^{2} + \frac{M_{1}}{M_{0}}\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{4}), \quad \frac{1}{M_{1}} = \left. \frac{\partial^{2}E}{\partial\tilde{p}_{i}^{2}} \right|_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}=0},$$
(83)

i.e. the kinetic mass M_1 needs to equal the rest mass M_0 . Here the PDG quarkonium mass is the actual external input.

The temperature in a simulation depends on the extent of the imaginary time axis. It can be varied either by changing the lattice coupling β , i.e. the physical lattice spacing (*fixed box* approach) or by changing the number of grid points (*fixed scale* approach). Since varying the coupling modifies the renormalization scale of the simulation, accompanying T = 0 simulations need to be carried out for scale setting and the subtraction of temperature independent UV divergent terms. The fixed scale approach requires just one T = 0 simulation but temperatures can only be varied in integer steps of N_{τ} and the number of Euclidean time steps at which the correlator can be computed diminishes as one increases temperature.

Lattice NRQCD

The effective field theory NRQCD provides an alternative discretization prescription for heavy quarks on the lattice [51,105]. The NRQCD expansion on the lattice is formulated in terms of increasing powers of $v \sim \mathbf{p}/(m_Q a)$, in contrast to an expansion directly in $(m_Q a)^{-1}$, as in the EFT called heavy quark effective theory [58,106]. Lattice NRQCD has been successfully used for precision spectroscopy at T = 0 (see e.g. [5]) and found application to in-medium quarkonium, as will be discussed in detail in later sections. Instead of populating the spacetime grid with both heavy and light degrees of freedom, which requires very fine lattice spacings, the quarks and gluons of the QCD medium will be treated separately in a simulation without heavy d.o.f. at a coarser spacing. The evolution of the heavy quarks is implemented in terms of Pauli spinors propagating in the background of the light quarks and gluons.

On the one hand this strategy provides three clear practical advantages. First, the NRQCD correlator is not periodic in Euclidean time and thus in contrast to a relativistic formulation provides additional independent information at $\tau > 1/2T$. I.e. access to the ground state properties dominant at large τ is improved. Secondly, the absence of a transport peak contribution simplifies the extraction of spectra from Euclidean correlators. Third, the computational cost of the Euclidean heavy quark propagator is significantly reduced. Instead of having to solve a 4d boundary value problem as in Eq. (81), one instead faces an initial value problem in Euclidean time and evolves the propagator step by step.

On the other hand there are some caveats that require additional care. The process of integrating out the hard scale by shifting the frequency origin on the lattice becomes lattice spacing dependent. I.e. while scale setting fixes the relative frequency scale, an additional comparison with experimental data is needed to fix its absolute scale. Due a steeper rise of the free spectral functions at intermediate frequencies in NRQCD compared to the relativistic computation, the contribution of the continuum may manifest itself more strongly also in the interacting correlator, thus requiring a high signal to noise ratio for e.g. the P-wave channels.

A conceptually distinct aspect of a lattice EFT is that as a non-renormalizable theory no naive continuum limit exists. Naively, as the continuum limit $a \rightarrow 0$ is approached, more and more terms in the expansion need to be taken into account and for each a Wilson coefficient has to be determined. I.e. eventually predictability is lost. What allows EFTs to nevertheless be an important tool of precision physics is that we are usually interested in results only up to a finite accuracy. This can be achieved by working to a certain finite order n in the expansion v^n . The set of Wilson coefficients for a given order and given lattice spacing need to be computed via lattice perturbation theory and eventually compared to experimentally measured quantities. Long term efforts to compute radiative corrections to Wilson coefficients, starting with Ref. [107], have led to the development of automated tools for lattice perturbation theory (see e.g. Ref. [108]), which are today able to provide a matching that reproduces the continuum dispersion relation with less than percent deviation as shown in Ref. [109].

Following [105] the lattice Hamiltonian that governs the heavy quark fields to $\mathcal{O}(v^6)$ is given by

$$H = H_0 + H^{(4)} + H^{(6)}, \quad H_0 = -\frac{\Delta^{(2)}}{2m_Q},$$
(84)

with the naive kinetic term given by H_0 being of order $\mathcal{O}(v^2)$ and

$$\Delta^{(2)} = \sum_{i} \Delta^{(2)}_{i}, \quad a^{2} \Delta^{(2)}_{i} \psi(\mathbf{n}) = U_{i}(\mathbf{n})\psi(\mathbf{n}+\hat{i}) + U_{i}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}-\hat{i})\psi(\mathbf{n}-\hat{i}) - 2\psi(\mathbf{n}).$$
(85)

The contributions to $\mathcal{O}(v^4)$ read

$$\delta H^{(4)} = -c_1 \frac{\left(\Delta^{(2)}\right)^2}{8M_b^3} + c_2 \frac{ig}{8M_b^2} \left(\Delta \cdot E - E \cdot \Delta\right) - c_3 \frac{g}{8M_b^2} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \left(\tilde{\Delta} \times \tilde{\mathbf{E}} - \tilde{\mathbf{E}} \times \tilde{\Delta}\right) - c_4 \frac{g}{2M_b} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{B}}$$
(86)

$$+ c_5 \frac{a^2 \Delta^{(4)}}{24M_b} - c_6 \frac{a \left(\Delta^{(2)}\right)^2}{16nM_b^2}.$$
(87)

Some studies include the effects of spin dependent corrections up to order $\mathcal{O}(v^6)$

$$\delta H^{(6)} = -c_7 \frac{g}{8M_b^3} \{ \Delta^{(2)}, \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{B} \} - c_8 \frac{3g}{64M_b^4} \{ \Delta^{(2)}, \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot (\Delta \times \mathbf{E} - \mathbf{E} \times \Delta) \} - c_9 \frac{ig^2}{8M_b^3} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{E},$$
(88)

which play an important role in the precision study of the hyperfine splitting of quarkonium states at T = 0. To define the color *E* and *B* fields the clover discretized field strength tensor is used

$$F_{\mu\nu}(x) = -\frac{1}{4} \sum_{\Box} \left(\frac{U_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) - U^{\dagger}_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n})}{2i} - \frac{1}{3} \text{Tr}(\text{Im}U_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n})) \right), \quad E^{i} = F^{i0}, \quad B^{i} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ijk} F^{jk}.$$
(89)

In the above definition of the Hamiltonian several corrections terms have already been included that remove $O(a^2v^4)$ discretization errors. This has been achieved by using a higher order implementation of the field strength tensor in the c_3 and c_4 terms

$$\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{5}{3} F_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n}) - \frac{1}{6} \left(U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n}) F_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n} + \hat{\mu}) U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n}) + U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{\mu}) F_{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{\mu}) U_{\mu}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{\mu}) - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu) \right),$$
(90)

as well as a higher order derivative in c_3

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{i} = \Delta_{i} - \frac{a^{2}}{6} \Delta_{i}^{(+)} \Delta_{i} \Delta_{i}^{(-)}, \quad a \Delta_{i}^{(+)} G(\mathbf{n}) = U_{i}(\mathbf{n}) G(\mathbf{n} + \hat{i}) - G(\mathbf{n}),$$

$$a \Delta_{i}^{(-)} G(\mathbf{n}) = G(\mathbf{n}) - U_{i}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{i}) G(\mathbf{n} - \hat{i}), \quad a \Delta_{i} G(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(U_{i}(x) G(\mathbf{n} + \hat{i}) - U_{i}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{n} - \hat{i}) G(\mathbf{n} - \hat{i}) \right).$$
(91)

Additional discretization corrections are included as the last two terms in $\delta H^{(4)}$, where $\Delta^{(4)} = \sum_i \left(\Delta_i^{(2)}\right)^2$. In order to improve agreement with the continuum theory, tadpole improvement is often implemented on the level of the Hamiltonian. In this empirical approach to matching, laid out in detail in Ref. [110], all links entering the Hamiltonian are divided by the fourth root of the single plaquette $u_0 = \langle \frac{1}{3} \text{Tr} U_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{\frac{1}{4}}$ and at the same time the Wilson coefficients c_i are set to unity.

Since to this order in NRQCD the propagation of quark and antiquark fields is decoupled G_{ψ} is computed by solving an initial value problem. It is common to deploy the naive Euler scheme for its discretization which in Euclidean time leads to

$$G(\tau+1) = \left(1 - \frac{aH_0}{2n}\right)^n U_4^{\dagger} \left(1 - \frac{aH_0}{2n}\right)^n (1 - a\delta H) G(\tau), \quad G(0) = S(\mathbf{h}, 0).$$
(92)

Table 2

A selection of common meson operators in NRQCD, their quantum numbers and corresponding lattice irreducible representations adapted from [51]. In addition we list the approximate relation of the ground state overlap $A_0^2 = |\langle 0|MM^{\dagger}|0\rangle_{\mathbf{p}=0}|^2$ with the continuum radial wavefunction.

$^{2s+1}S_J$	lattice irrep.	$\sqrt{2N_c}M$	\approx cont. A_0
${}^{1}S_{0}$	A_1^{-+}	$\chi^{\dagger}\psi$	$R(0)/\sqrt{4\pi}$
${}^{3}S_{1}$	$T_{1}^{}$	$\chi^{\dagger}\sigma_{i}\psi$	$R(0)/\sqrt{4\pi}$
${}^{1}P_{1}$	T_{1}^{+-}	$\chi^{\dagger} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_i} \psi$	$aR'(0)/\sqrt{4\pi/3}$
${}^{3}P_{0}$	A_{1}^{++}	$\chi^{\dagger} \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_{i}} \psi$	$aR'(0)/\sqrt{4\pi/9}$
${}^{3}P_{1}$	T_{1}^{++}	$\chi^{\dagger}(\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_j}\sigma_i-\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_i}\sigma_j)\psi$	$aR'(0)/\sqrt{2\pi/3}$
${}^{3}P_{2}$	E^{++}	$\chi^{\dagger}(\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\varDelta_i}\sigma_i-\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\varDelta_j}\sigma_j)\psi$	$aR'(0)/\sqrt{2\pi/3}$
	T^{++}	$\chi^{\dagger}(\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_{j}}\sigma_{i}+\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\Delta_{i}}\sigma_{j})\psi$	$aR'(0)/\sqrt{2\pi/3}$

As the simple forward discretization does not possess favorable stability properties it is customary to stabilize it by artificially reducing the temporal step size via the so called Lepage parameter *n*. It was shown [111] that on isotropic lattices ($\xi = 1$) a value of n = 1 leads to a well defined UV behavior of the evolution if $a_s m_Q > 3$ or $a_s m_Q > 1.5$ if n = 2. There are efforts underway to implement higher order stable solvers for the evolution of *G* based on e.g. the Crank–Nicholson scheme [112].

The initial source can be a point source $S = \delta_{\mathbf{x},0}$, or for an improved signal to noise ratio a complex valued stochastic source

$$S^{\gamma}(\mathbf{h}, 0) = \eta(\mathbf{h}, 0), \quad \langle \eta^{\dagger}(\mathbf{h}, 0)\eta(\mathbf{l}, 0) \rangle = \delta_{\mathbf{h}\mathbf{l}}, \tag{93}$$

diagonal in spin and color. Note that the explicit choice of the source determines the normalization of D_E on the lattice and thus the normalization of the underlying spectral function.

The quarkonium correlation function is composed of heavy quark propagators and quantum numbers are chosen by NRQCD vertex operators

$$D_E(\mathbf{p},\tau) = \sum_{\mathbf{h}} e^{i\mathbf{p}\mathbf{h}} \mathrm{Tr} \Big[G_{\psi}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{h},\tau) \Gamma_{\mathrm{NRQCD}} G_{\psi}(\mathbf{h},\tau) \Gamma_{\mathrm{NRQCD}} \Big].$$
(94)

We have listed common vertex operators for S-wave and P-wave states in Table 2, where the following definition of the symmetric derivative has been used $\chi^{\dagger} \Delta_i \psi = -\left[\frac{1}{4}(\Delta_i^+ + \Delta_i^-)\chi\right]^{\dagger} \psi + \chi^{\dagger}\left[\frac{1}{4}(\Delta_i^+ + \Delta_i^-)\psi\right]$. Note that Euclidean NRQCD is simpler than its Minkowski time counterpart in that only the propagator of one field needs to be computed to construct D_E .

The calibration of NRQCD simulations first requires selecting an appropriate mass parameter $m_Q a$. The state-of-the art prescription [5] involves fixing the spin averaged kinetic mass $M_2(\overline{1S}) = (M_2(\eta_b) + 3M_2(\Upsilon))/4$ from the dispersion relation

$$a_{\tau}E(\tilde{p}^{2}) = a_{\tau}\Delta E(0) + \frac{a_{s}^{2}\tilde{p}^{2}}{2\xi^{2}a_{\tau}M_{2}}$$
(95)

The scale setting in the simulation of the light d.o.f. allows us to assign to the quantity $\Delta E(0)$ physical units. However, as indicated by writing $\Delta E(0)$ instead of E(0), the mass of the ground state in NRQCD does not coincide with the physical rest mass of the quarkonium state. Removing the $2m_Q$ term in constructing NRQCD introduces a scale dependent energy shift, which needs to be accounted for by using one of the experimentally known quarkonium masses as additional input.

As for the continuum theory let us also inspect the free spectral functions on the lattice. Using the non-interacting NRQCD Hamiltonian one obtains the following dispersion relation

$$a_{\tau}E_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} = 2n\text{Log}\Big[1 - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^2}{2n\xi a_s M_b}\Big] + \text{Log}\Big[1 + \frac{(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^2)^2}{16n\xi(a_s M_b)^2} + \frac{(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^2)^2}{8\xi(a_s M_b)^3} - \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}^4}{24\xi(a_s M_b)}\Big]$$
(96)

and the spectral functions

$$\rho_{S}(\omega) = \frac{4\pi N_{c}}{N_{s}^{3}} \sum_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \delta(\omega - 2E_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}}), \, \rho_{P}(\omega) = \frac{4\pi N_{c}}{N_{s}^{3}} \sum_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}} \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{2} \delta(\omega - 2E_{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}})$$
(97)

can be evaluated numerically (see e.g. [113]). Note that the summation runs over all accessible lattice momenta $\tilde{\mathbf{p}}$. As the spectral functions are composed out of a large number of infinitely thin delta peaks, binning is required for their numerical evaluation. $\rho_{S,P}$ are independent of temperature and are fully specified by the mass parameter $\hat{M} = a_s m_Q$, the physical anisotropy ξ , the Lepage parameter n and the lattice volume. a_s denotes the physical spatial lattice spacing. Often the free spectral function in the thermodynamic limit is quoted in the literature, examples of which we plot in the left panel of Fig. 6. The normalization of this spectral function differs from that naively computed on a lattice with unit links, due to differences in the choice of initial sources in the propagator evolution.



Fig. 6. A selection of noninteracting NRQCD spectral functions in the thermodynamic limit, zoomed in region around the origin on the right. The smaller the lattice spacing, the better the continuum spectral function is reproduced at small frequencies but at the same time the lattice artifacts extent to higher and higher frequencies.



Fig. 7. A selection of noninteracting NRQCD spectral functions at a realistic finite volume 48^3 , zoomed in region around the origin on the right. The binning resolution is chosen as $\Delta \omega = 30$ MeV to illustrate the individual delta peak character of ρ . Note the sparseness in the available peaks at small momenta, indicating that also in the interacting theory broad peak structures will be coarsely resolved.

We find that in contrast to the relativistic formulations the free spectral function does not have a UV cutoff that is fixed by the inverse lattice spacing. The smaller the lattice spacing, the stronger NRQCD approximation artifacts contribute at high frequencies. On the other hand the right panel shows that decreasing the lattice spacing allows lattice NRQCD to better reproduce the continuum spectral function at small frequencies. Due to the Euler discretization there exists a smallest value of \hat{M} beyond which the time evolution becomes unstable and the spectrum is artificially populated up to infinity.

The effects of finite volume are displayed in Fig. 7 for a realistic scenario on a 48^3 grid using a binning resolution of $\Delta \omega = 30$ MeV. This visualization clearly reflects the peaked character of the spectral function. In particular the zoom-in on the right emphasizes that the sparsity of available peaks at small momenta needs to be kept in mind when attempting to interpret how coarsely the broad peak structures of the thermodynamic limit are approximated in a finite box simulation. This closes our discussion of the lattice NRQCD approach.

Summary. Monte-Carlo simulations of QCD on a hypercubic lattice with an imaginary time direction offer nonperturbative access to Euclidean meson correlation functions in QCD. There exist different discretization prescription for heavy quarkonium correlators either based on relativistic or non-relativistic formalisms. While the former offer direct access to the continuum limit they are numerically costly and due to the KMS relation provide only $N_{\tau}/2$ independent correlator points along τ from which to extract spectral information. On the other hand the NRQCD prescription offer reduced numerical cost and N_{τ} independent correlator points. To connect to continuum QCD is more involved as it requires precision matching of the different Wilson coefficients of the EFT. In general when comparing results from different lattice computations it is important to establish, whether the continuum and thermodynamic limits have been reached, as otherwise differences in the results may reflect differences in discretization and not differences in the physics.

2.4. Reconstruction of spectral functions

...

In the previous section we have seen how lattice QCD simulations provide non-perturbative access to correlation functions in Euclidean time $D_E(\tau)$. In this section we will explore how to access the physical information encoded in these quantities by extracting the underlying spectral function.

In a zero temperature lattice simulation the low lying structures of the spectral function, as a sum of well separated delta function peaks, are relatively simple. In turn it is possible to extract the position and amplitude of such peaks straight forwardly by exponential fits to the Euclidean correlator. I.e. we use domain knowledge of QCD, which strongly restricts the possible structures present in the spectrum to reduce the difficulty in determining the relevant spectral properties.

At finite temperature the presence of light degrees of freedom in the heat bath makes it possible for the delta peaks in the spectral function to cluster. This leads to structures, which in the infinite volume limit, approach a continuous broad peak with a finite width. While still required to be positive definite, their actual functional form may be quite involved.

At T = 0, peak position and height are the only relevant spectral peak properties. At T > 0 we have to distinguish between central position, width, enclosed spectral area and possibly skewness. QCD domain knowledge in general does not allow us to reduce the determination of these properties to a similarly simple fit ansatz as the exponentials in vacuum. Thus we require more flexible schemes to extract the spectral features from in-medium Euclidean correlators. This however leads us towards an inherently ill-posed inverse problem, which needs to be solved.

Indeed, the difficulty is directly visible if the general linear relation between correlator and spectral function found in QCD (Eq. (31), Eq. (34) and Eq. (45)) is written in its discretized form

$$D_j = \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\omega}} \Delta \omega_l K_{jl} \rho_l, \quad j \in [1, N_{\tau}], \ \Delta D_j / D_j > 0.$$
(98)

A lattice QCD simulation provides at most N_{τ} discrete averaged values for the correlator $D(\tau_j) = D_j$ along a compact imaginary times axis $\tau_j = a_{\tau} \cdot j$. As the result of the stochastic Monte-Carlo based simulation algorithm, each D_j carries a finite statistical error ΔD_j . On the other hand in anticipation of the intricate features present in the spectral function the function $\rho(\omega)$ is discretized along N_{ω} frequency bins $\Delta \omega$ with $N_{\omega} \gg N_{\tau}$. To discretize divergent kernels, such as cosh/sinh at T > 0, one can e.g. go over to consider instead $\rho' = \rho/\omega$ and $K' = K\omega$, both of which in turn are well behaved [114].

The confluence of two issues make the inversion of the above relation ill-posed. On the one hand the number of available correlator input points D_i in today's simulations lies between 10–200, while it is not uncommon that a frequency discretization with $N_{\omega} \sim O(1000)$ is required. I.e. there are more parameters to fix than input data points. Discretizing the kernel K_{ij} over a finite range of Euclidean times and frequencies usually leads to a strong decay of the singular values of the corresponding matrix. In addition, in QCD already the form of the continuum kernel contains an exponential decay, leading also to an intrinsic decay of the singular values. This makes the inversion task ill-conditioned. On the other hand the finite uncertainty in the input data means that many different combinations of the parameters ρ_l are able to reproduce the input data within one standard deviation. Therefore at first sight an infinite number of degenerate solutions exist for the inverse problem, making it genuinely ill-posed. I.e. a naive χ^2 fit of the ρ_l 's is meaningless.

In order to give meaning to this inverse problem, i.e. to select a unique answer, requires to incorporate additional domain knowledge, often called prior information. This prior information may be provided by QCD, at least it should be motivated by general physical arguments. This also means that the answer will in part be determined by the simulation input and in part by the prior information. It is therefore paramount to quantify, how robust the extracted spectral information is with respect to uncertainty both in the data and the choice of prior information that has been included.

In the following we will discuss in detail two different approaches, which have found application to the extraction of spectral properties in the quarkonium community.

2.4.1. Bayesian spectral reconstruction

The Bayesian approach to spectral function extraction utilizes methods of Bayesian inference to regularize the ill-posed nature of the task at hand. This is achieved by providing a systematic prescription on how to incorporate prior information, i.e. domain knowledge, into the inversion task. By formulating statements of confidence in the language of probabilities, Bayesian statistics provides a versatile language to formulate and solve the ill-posed problem (see e.g. Ref. [115]). For an excellent introduction to Bayesian statistics see e.g. Refs. [116,117], for statistical inference see e.g. Refs. [118,119]. We will discuss below both the general ingredients to the Bayesian approach, as well as the particular strengths and weaknesses of three implementations that have found application in the literature on in-medium quarkonium. Particular attention will be placed on an understanding of reconstruction artifacts, which is mandatory for Bayesian methods to fulfill their potential as quantitative precision tools for the investigation of spectral functions.

The central quantity of Bayesian statistics relevant for spectral reconstruction is the posterior probability $P[\rho|D, I]$, which denotes the probability for a test function ρ to be the correct spectral function, given the simulation data D and any further prior information I. Starting from the joint probability distribution $P[\rho, D, I]$ and using the rules of conditional probabilities, the posterior can be expressed in terms of three quantities, a relation known as *Bayes theorem*

$$P[\rho|D,I] = \frac{P[D|\rho,I]P[\rho|I]}{P[D|I]}.$$
(99)

The Bayesian strategy answers the inversion problem by interrogating the posterior for which function ρ is most probable, given simulation data and domain knowledge.

The first term on the right $P[D|\rho, I]$ is called the *likelihood* probability and encodes all information about how the simulation data has been obtained. This distribution describes how the values of the individual (often sub-averaged) D_j 's vary among the different lattice configurations. Thanks to the central limit theorem, one often finds that a Gaussian distribution emerges. In that case $P[D|\rho, I]$, the probability for the data given a known value of the mean and variance, can be written as

$$P[D|\rho, I] = \mathcal{N}_L \exp[-L], \quad L = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{jk} (D_j - D_j^{\rho}) C_{jk}^{-1} (D_k - D_k^{\rho}), \quad \mathcal{N}_L = (2\pi)^{-N_{\text{data}}/2} (\det[C])^{-1/2}.$$
(100)

Here D_j^{ρ} denotes the correlator values obtained from inserting the test function ρ into Eq. (98) and the indices *i* and *j* refer to the imaginary times that are included in the reconstruction $\tau_{\min}/a \le i, j \le \tau_{\max}/a$, the total number of supplied input points is denoted by N_{data} . *C*, the covariance matrix of the data average with respect to the true value, in the absence of autocorrelations among lattice configurations reads

$$C_{jk} = \frac{1}{N_{\text{conf}}(N_{\text{conf}} - 1)} \sum_{m=1}^{N_{\text{conf}}} (D_j^m - D_j) (D_k^m - D_k),$$
(101)

where D_k^m refers to the *m*th realization of the *k*th correlator point and $D_k = \sum_{m=1}^{N_{conf}} D_k^m / N_{conf}$ their average. Note that in case of finite autocorrelations in Monte-Carlo time, *C* needs to be multiplied with the product of autocorrelation times for D_i and D_k .

Besides possible autocorrelations in Monte-Carlo time, there exist correlations between the D_j 's at different imaginary times. These correlations manifest themselves as off-diagonal entries in C. One has to keep in mind that in order for these off-diagonal elements to be robustly estimated, one requires significantly more realizations $N_{\text{conf}} \gg N_{\text{data}}$ than the number of points along imaginary time considered. Is the number of realizations smaller than N_{data} , then C^{-1} even becomes singular due to exactly vanishing eigenvalues.

In order to accelerate the evaluation of the likelihood probability, one transforms the data and the kernel into a basis, in which the correlation matrix is diagonal $C = R \operatorname{diag}[c_k] R^{-1}$. This reduced the likelihood to

$$L = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} (\tilde{D}_{k} - \tilde{D}_{k}^{\rho})^{2} / c_{k}, \quad \tilde{D}_{k} = \sum_{j} R_{kj}^{-1} D_{j}, \quad \tilde{K}_{jl} = \sum_{k} R_{jk}^{-1} K_{kl},$$
(102)

and correspondingly the kernel K in Eq. (98) is replaced by \tilde{K} . Note that in case of correlators with highly constrained values, such as the trace of the Wilson loop, the Gaussian distribution may not be an adequate description of the likelihood and the histogram of the input data needs to be consulted.

There exists prior information already about the data generation process that has been used in the literature to modify the likelihood. E.g. some studies use the fact that if Euclidean data from a known spectral function is sampled along N_{τ} points with Gaussian noise, then on average the likelihood, evaluated for the true underlying spectral function will take on the value $L = N_{\tau}$.

The second and decisive term in Bayes theorem is the prior probability

$$P[\rho|D, I] = \mathcal{N}_{S} \exp[\alpha S], \tag{103}$$

which encodes how compatible the test function ρ is to the available prior information. The choice of this distribution is the central ingredient in setting up a Bayesian analysis and differs among the multiple implementations found in the literature. Commonly the parameters of the prior are encoded in terms of the so called default model $m(\omega)$, which denotes the extremum $\delta S/\delta \rho|_{\rho=m} = 0$. For a convex prior functional this is the only extremum. The hyperparameter α on the other hand encodes the overall uncertainty present in the values of the default model. This historic way of parametrizing the prior arose from choosing originally as prior a Gaussian distribution for each frequency bin ρ_l with individual mean and one overall variance (Tikhonov regularization). In a modern Bayesian analysis, domain knowledge with appropriately quantified uncertainties will provide the mean and variance (and possibly higher nontrivial moments) for the prior distribution individually for each of the discretized ρ_l .

In the study of heavy quarkonium one most often encounters spectral functions that are positive definite. Positivity is a form of prior information obtained from the QCD spectral decomposition of hadronic correlators based on identical source and sink operators. Thus in the following we will focus on implementations of the prior probability that explicitly incorporate this fact (for Bayesian methods applicable to non-positive spectra see e.g. [120] and references therein. For the Backus–Gilbert method see e.g. [121,122]).

The most well known implementation of the Bayesian approach is the *Maximum Entropy Method* (MEM) [123–125], which was developed originally for inverse problems in the context of two-dimensional image restoration in astronomy. It has been introduced in the context of lattice QCD simulations for the first time in Ref. [126] and subsequently been used in a variety of studies of quarkonium properties. Its application to continuum QCD was first considered in [127]. The MEM is based on four theorems: locality, coordinate invariance, system independence and the Bayesian requirement that



Fig. 8. Comparison of different regulators and their response to wiggly structures.

the default model describes the extremum of the prior. The combination of the second and third theorem constrains the function ρ to be positive definite. Taken together the Shannon–Jaynes entropy emerges

$$S_{\rm SJ} = \int_{\omega_{\rm min}}^{\omega_{\rm max}} d\omega \left(\rho(\omega) - m(\omega) - \rho(\omega) \log \left[\frac{\rho(\omega)}{m(\omega)} \right] \right) < 0, \quad \mathcal{N}_{\rm S} \approx \prod_{l=1}^{N_{\omega}} (\alpha \, \Delta \omega_l)^{1/2} / (2\pi)^{-1/2}. \tag{104}$$

In a more recently developed implementation of the Bayesian strategy, simply christened *Bayesian Reconstruction* (BR) [128], the prior is constructed specifically for the one-dimensional inversion problem of Eq. (98). While it shares with the MEM the first and last axiom it replaces the two others by a smoothness and a scale invariance axiom. The former requires that the output is a smooth function, where data has not introduced sharp peaked structures. The latter, in contrast to the axioms of the MEM, guarantees that the units assigned to the correlator do not affect the end result. This is achieved as only ratios of ρ and m enter, both of which have to be assigned the same units. Another consequence is that the spectral function must be positive definite. The corresponding regulator functional reads

$$S_{\rm BR} = \int_{\omega_{\rm min}}^{\omega_{\rm max}} d\omega \left(1 - \frac{\rho(\omega)}{m(\omega)} + \log \left[\frac{\rho(\omega)}{m(\omega)} \right] \right) < 0, \quad \mathcal{N}_{\rm S} = \prod_{l=1}^{N_{\omega}} \exp[\alpha \Delta \omega_l] (\alpha \Delta \omega_l)^{-\alpha \Delta \omega_l} m_l \Gamma(\alpha \Delta \omega_l), \tag{105}$$

which corresponds to $P[\rho|I]$ taking on the form of a gamma distribution.

Even though both the MEM and the BR method have been designed in a way that intuitively suggests that they favor smooth functions over wiggly functions, it turns out (see e.g. Ref. [129]) that this is not the case in general.

In Fig. 8 we provide an explicit example of the penalties assigned to a function with (blue solid) and without wiggles (red dashed) in case of a constant default model. The two curves enclose the same area. Both the Shannon–Jaynes entropy and the BR regulator lead to a higher probability for the wiggly structure (since they are negative, a ratio larger than one means that the wiggly line is favored). This is an issue affecting purely local regulator functionals and may lead to the appearance of artificial ringing in reconstructed spectral functions. Remember that already in well conditioned inverse problems, such as the inverse Fourier series, so called Gibbs ringing occurs. Reconstructing a sharp feature with compact support from a finite number of exactly known Fourier coefficients will lead to a result, which oscillates even where the original input is exactly zero, only converging to the correct result for an increasing number of datapoints. In order to accurately determine the physics content of a reconstructed spectral functions, ringing needs to be reliably controlled.

In order to overcome this shortcoming, the state-of-the art implementation of the MEM by Bryan [123] proposes to limit the functional space from which to choose the function ρ to a low dimensional subspace of smooth functions around the default model. In that case the strength of the smoothing is directly related to the number of available input datapoints. For the BR method a different strategy has been proposed that implements smoothing explicitly in the prior functional *S*, keeping in line with the Bayesian philosophy. I.e. one adds to the standard BR prior an additional term that penalizes the arc length of the function ρ , one possible criterion to quantify the wiggliness of the spectrum. A naive way of constructing the corresponding regulator has been proposed in Ref. [129] leading to

$$S_{BR}^{\text{smooth}} = \int_{\omega_{\min}}^{\omega_{\max}} d\omega \left(-\kappa \left[\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial \omega} - \frac{\partial m}{\partial \omega} \right]^2 + 1 - \frac{\rho(\omega)}{m(\omega)} + \frac{\rho(\omega)}{m(\omega)} \right) < 0.$$
(106)

The strength of smoothing in the end result is now made explicit by the additional hyperparameter κ . The value it takes on depends on the problem at hand and needs to be set in a self consistent manner. In practice prior information is used to do so, with one pertinent example being the use of analytically known free spectral functions. In Fig. 9 the procedure for the example of quarkonium in lattice NRQCD is sketched. The black curve denotes the free P-wave spectral function in the thermodynamic limit, which contains no peak structures and extends over a relatively large frequency range. After computing the Euclidean correlator of this spectrum, discretized with a small number of $N_{\tau} = 12$ points along a realistic Euclidean range of $\beta = 1.4$ fm the reconstruction outcomes of different methods can be compared.



Fig. 9. Example of tuning of the smoothing hyperparameter κ in the smooth BR method based on prior information in the form of the analytically known free P-wave spectral function in lattice NRQCD (black). The reconstruction of this structure from $N_r = 12$ datapoints along a Euclidean extent of $\beta = 1.4$ fm via the standard BR method with $\kappa = 0$ (blue dashed), the MEM (green solid) and the smoothed BR method (red solid) with $\kappa = 1$ are plotted.

Using $\kappa = 0$, i.e. the standard BR method, one finds significant ringing to be present (dashed blue), due to the small number of input points. The MEM (solid green) already shows much less ringing. Increasing the value of κ in the smooth BR method one will arrive at intermediate values at a reconstruction result, which is quite similar to the MEM. Eventually when (in this case) one reaches $\kappa = 1$ (red solid) no more remnants of ringing are present and the range of frequencies up to 3 GeV is faithfully reproduced. In all reconstructions a default model with unit value is used, which all reconstruction eventually approach at high frequencies.

Returning to the general discussion, we see that prior information enters Bayes theorem in multiple ways. Not only does one need to choose the functional form of the prior probability depending on which sets of axioms appear more appropriate. One also has to set the parameters governing that distribution, i.e. the default model using QCD domain knowledge. Note that already selecting the frequency range along which to discretize $\rho(\omega)$ constitutes prior information.

The third term in Bayes theorem P[D|I] historically christened the *evidence* corresponds to the ρ independent normalization of the numerator of Eq. (103). While often neglected in practice it can play a role in the self consistent determination of the hyperparameter α in the MEM.

With all the ingredients on the r.h.s. of Bayes theorem defined, we are ready to solve the inverse problem in a Bayesian fashion, i.e. by interrogating the resulting posterior. The modern form to do so is to deploy Monte-Carlo methods (e.g. the MC-STAN [130] library https://mc-stan.org/) to sample the full distribution $P[\rho|D, I]$ through which we may define the most probable spectral function via the expectation value

$$\rho_l^{\text{Bayes}} = \int d\rho \,\rho \,P[\rho|D,I] \tag{107}$$

An important feature of the Bayesian approach is that it is very easy to incorporate new input data once a higher quality in the lattice simulations has been achieved. We may then use the posterior distribution of a previous analysis as the prior for the next analysis, incrementally improving the accuracy of the inversion.

In the past, due to the computational cost involved in sampling the posterior it has been common to simply compute the value of ρ at the extremum of the posterior. This *maximum a posteriori* solution ρ^{MAP} satisfies

$$\frac{\delta P[\rho|D,I]}{\delta \rho}\Big|_{\rho=\rho^{MAP}} = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \frac{\delta}{\delta \rho} \left(-L + \alpha S\right)\Big|_{\rho=\rho^{MAP}} = 0 \tag{108}$$

and is found by carrying out a numerical optimization procedure. Since most optimization algorithms are designed to find minima, one often considers $L - \alpha S$ instead. (For the stochastic analytic inference approach see e.g. [131].)

Since the MAP is still the most common approach to Bayesian reconstruction in the study of heavy quarkonium, let us briefly discuss some of its aspects. The extremum ρ^{MAP} results from a competition between a likelihood with many degenerate local minima and the prior. As long as the prior is convex it can be shown that if an extremum of the posterior exists it is unique (for a proof see [126]). This is the case for both the MEM and the standard BR method. Note that the derivative term in the smooth BR method can lead to the appearance of additional local extrema and thus more sophisticated optimization, such as simulated annealing is in general called for. Note also that for the same choice of *m*, the curvature of *S*_{BR} is weaker than that of *S*_{SJ}, meaning that in a MAP procedure the BR method will imprint the prior information more weakly on the end result than the MEM.

Let us remark on the fact that it is possible to obtain a unique result for the $N_{\omega} \gg N_{\tau}$ parameters ρ_l here. The reason is that we have provided not just the N_{τ} pieces of information via the simulated correlator but in addition N_{ω} pieces of information via the default model, as well as information due to the shape of the regulator functional. Contrary to statements previously made in the literature, there is more information present than free parameters in the inverse problem. I.e. determining the Bayesian answer is well posed in terms of the N_{ω} d.o.f. ρ_l .

The hyperparameter α is handled differently in the MEM and BR method. In the *historic MEM* prescription the extremum of the posterior is obtained with alpha chosen such that for ρ_{hist}^{MAP} the likelihood takes on the value $L = N_{\tau}$. This choice reflects the fact that on average the correct spectral function sampled with Gaussian noise would lead to exactly this value. On the other hand in the so called *modern MEM*, several ρ^{MAP} 's are computed for a range of different α value and subsequently averaged, weighted according to which α leads to an extremal evidence. Since the evidence cannot be computed analytically this is conventionally implemented by using a simple Gaussian approximation of P[D|I]. In the BR method on the other hand one assumes complete ignorance of the value of α and marginalizes α a priori. In practice this step is implemented semi-analytically or fully numerically. In addition the BR method also enforces $L = N_{\tau}$ as part of the prior information entering the likelihood.

Note that removing the prior information by setting $P[\rho|I] = 1$ above, one returns to an underdetermined maximum likelihood problem, equivalent to a naive χ^2 fit. On the other hand, since the prior is defined to have a global extremum at $\rho = m$, the function $m(\omega)$ by definition is the Bayesian answer to the inverse problem in the absence of simulation data.

As long as the input data is finite in number and carries a non-vanishing uncertainty, ρ^{Bayes} the solution of the Bayesian extraction will in general depend on the prior information included in $P[\rho|I]$. On the other hand Bayes theorem assures us that in the *Bayesian continuum limit* of concurrently increasing the number of input data $N_{\tau} \rightarrow \infty$ and reducing the uncertainty $dD/D \rightarrow 0$ one converges to a unique result in which the influence of the prior information becomes negligible.

As we will see in the investigation of heavy quarkonium spectra, for a given quality of input data, some features in the reconstruction may already be stably reproduced (e.g. the position of the ground state peak), while others are not (e.g. excited state peaks and ground state width). The choice of $P[\rho|I]$ determines in what way we will approach the true result, as the input data quality is improved. I.e. it is imperative to understand what artifacts are present and how they are related to the regularization. The use of mock input data, i.e. correlators computed from known input spectra play an important role in doing so.

Both MEM and BR feature a convex prior, leading in principle to a unique extremum of the posterior. For the MEM, when studying spectra with sharp peaks and otherwise vanishing spectral weight, the convergence to the global extremum is impeded by the fact that the Shannon–Jaynes entropy takes on a finite value -m as $\rho \rightarrow 0$, leading effectively to a flat direction, where numerical optimization algorithms are not efficiently pulled towards the global extremum. In the BR method the prior diverges as $\rho \rightarrow 0$, avoiding this issue.

Since in quarkonium studies from lattice QCD we are faced with the problem that only a relatively small number of datapoints will be available in the near future $N_{\tau} \sim O(10 - 40)$ the most relevant artifact in the BR method and the MEM is the presence of ringing. The appearance of unphysical wiggly structures interferes with the identification of the relevant physical structures, which also come in the form of peaks. Different strategies exist on how to mitigate the effects of ringing.

Let us first discuss the BR method. Due to its weak curvature the BR prior is more susceptible to ringing than the Shannon–Jaynes entropy. In order to obtain meaningful results in the presence of only a small number of datapoints, the smooth BR prior has been proposed. The strategy will be to tune the smoothing hyperparameter κ based on a mock-data analysis involving realistic and analytically known input spectral functions. In practice these will often be the non-interacting spectral functions. Reconstructing such spectra featuring broad structures from correlator data that is discretized in the same fashion as the actual simulation data, one finds a minimum value for κ at which it effectively suppresses ringing, while still allowing us to pick up peaked structures that are actually encoded in the input data.

Let us now discuss the MEM. Dealing with ringing in the MEM has traditionally been avoided by incorporating an additional smoothing in the MAP procedure. There are two independent proposals in the literature on how to do so. Both propose that the global extremum of the posterior is located in a subspace spanned by a collection of smooth functions related to the transpose Kernel K^t .

In the state-of-the-art implementation by Bryan [123], the spectral function is parametrized in terms of deviations from the default model $\rho_l = m_l \exp[a_l]$. It is then argued that the parameters a_l are restricted to a functional space corresponding to the first N_{τ} columns of the matrix U arising from the singular value decomposition of the transpose kernel $K^t = U \Sigma V^t$. Here U refers to an $N_{\omega} \times N_{\omega}$ matrix containing the orthonormal basis of eigenvectors of $K^t K$, Σ is a $N_{\omega} \times N_{\tau}$ diagonal matrix containing the N_{τ} finite singular values. V^t denotes an orthonormal $N_{\tau} \times N_{\tau}$ matrix. The more recent proposal by Jakovac [132] implicitly solves for the MAP solution leading to a restricted search space for the a_l 's spanned directly by the columns of K^t . If the reconstruction problem were purely linear (the forward problem obviously is) then the two formulations are equivalent. I.e. the columns of K^t span the same image space as the first N_{τ} columns of the matrix U obtained by the SVD. In both cases the smoothness of the solution is directly related to the number of input datapoints provided.

Jakovac already observed that the two prescriptions lead to different results in practice (see Fig. 28 in [132]), indicating that they are actually not equivalent. In turn the question arises whether the global extremum in general is contained within the image space of K^t . This question is further emphasized by a counterexample to the SVD restriction, which has been put forward in Ref. [133].

Since it will help us understand the systematics of the MEM more clearly, let us discuss the counterexample in more detail by considering the historic MEM. The SVD search space is fully specified once the range and discretization of τ and ω

have been selected. For N_{τ} input data the search space is parametrized by the first N_{τ} columns of *U*. This statement is made independently of the input data and independently from the recipe of how to choose the value α .

Now let us choose instead the $N_{\tau+1}$ st column of U as mock spectrum ρ and compute from it the corresponding Euclidean data. Then, by construction, this data cannot be reproduced within one sigma from within the SVD search space, while it is still possible to reproduce it in the full search space. Taking the errors on that mock input data to zero, the minimal value of L in the SVD subspace can be made arbitrarily large. And since the Shannon–Jaynes entropy is negative definite it cannot compensate the large values of L. In turn the posterior probability of that ρ in the SVD subspace can be made smaller than in the full search space, disproving the general claim that the extremum of the posterior always lies in the SVD subspace.

Thus the claim of the counterexample is that the smoothing introduced by restricting the search space to the image of K^t is ad-hoc and may lead to artificially smoothed results. In practice it turns out that the SVD prescription works well for problems where accurate prior information is already available. This corresponds to cases where the true global extremum indeed lies within the SVD subspace, as the default model is located close enough to it in parameter space a priori. However in situations where both only a relatively small number of input data is available (e.g. O(10)) and the prior information is limited, the SVD search space may not provide the Bayesian answer to the inversion task. Of course, since the global extremum of the MEM posterior is unique if it exists, we can still solve for it in the full search space. Systematically extending the search space has been considered in [133,134].

The last point to consider is how to estimate the uncertainties in the spectral reconstruction. Bayes theorem makes explicit that the posterior depends on two ingredients, data and prior information. If one samples the posterior using Monte-Carlo methods, the spread in that distribution encodes the combined uncertainty arising from spread in both the likelihood and prior. If on the other hand one only computes a point estimate, such as the MAP, the uncertainty must be estimated in addition. One proposal in the literature [126] is to evaluate how pronounced the maximum of the posterior is, taking its curvature as a measure for the robustness of the solution. While intuitive, it has been found in practice that this criterion may underestimate the full uncertainty budget.

In general to estimate the statistical uncertainties of the result, one of the many different bootstrapping methods can be deployed. E.g. the blocked *Jackknife* procedure remains a simple and computationally cheap option [77]. Instead of using all available lattice realizations of the correlator *D* for the reconstruction, one forms N_J so called Jackknife averages D^j , where for each *j* a consecutive subset of N_{conf}/N_J realizations of the correlator have been excluded from the average. This leads to N_J reconstructions of the spectral function ρ^j . The variance of the spectral function computed from the full statistics average is then estimated as

$$\sigma_{\rho}^{2} = \frac{N_{j} - 1}{N_{j}} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{j}} (\rho^{j} - \rho)^{2}.$$
(109)

Quantifying the systematic uncertainties arising from prior information is less formalized. E.g. one often does not possess a reliable estimate of the uncertainty of the values of the default model. However since Bayes theorem makes the influence of the prior information explicit, it may also be varied in a straight forward fashion. I.e. one should repeat the reconstruction using default models, which possess different functional forms in those regions, where accurate information on ρ is absent. In addition deploying different prior distributions that are applicable to the problem at hand provides additional insight on how the regularization affects the end result. The variation among the reconstructions from different default models and priors is then summarized into a systematic error bar. The prescription on how to do so differs between studies in the literature, some taking the maximum deviation, others the quadratic mean.

2.4.2. Padé approximation based reconstruction

The second class of reconstruction prescriptions that find application in quarkonium studies falls into the category of projection based methods. I.e. in these methods the simulation data in Euclidean time τ is first Fourier transformed into imaginary frequencies q^0 before being projected onto a set of analytically known functions. In essence one is expanding the data in a particular basis set. The basis functions can then be analytically continued in an appropriate fashion to yield the retarded propagator $D^R(\omega)$ in real-time frequencies, whose imaginary part is directly related to the spectral function $\text{Im}[D^R(\omega)] \propto \rho(\omega)$.

Carrying out a projection does not require prior information. On the other hand, the fact that one is projecting not only the true Euclidean data but also noise means that these methods suffer strongly from statistical uncertainties in the input. The ill-conditioned-ness of the analytic continuation can be understood intuitively. While the basis functions in Euclidean time are mostly monotonously damped functions, in real-time they behave oscillatory, often with strongly growing amplitudes. Thus to linearly combine these basis functions into a finite and damped real-time correlator the coefficients obtained from the projection need to be computed with extremely high precision.

In the case of relativistic Euclidean correlators, which exhibit periodic behavior along Euclidean time, a projection method based on the so called Pollaczek polynomials has been proposed in Ref. [135]. The prescription is straight forward, i.e. the expansion parameters can be explicitly computed from the input data, as can be the analytically continued approximant in terms of Laguerre polynomials. Unfortunately it turned out that in practice the fact that only a finite

number of input datapoints are available and that statistical errors are present, leads to a significant deterioration of the reconstruction results [136]. Hence this method has so far not been applied at a large scale.

A more general approach, also applicable to Euclidean correlators without specific symmetry properties, is the Padé approximation. It expresses the correlator of interest in terms of a rational function. Depending on the choice of the highest monomial contributing to the numerator n or denominator m one refers to a (n, m) Padé approximation $R_{(n,m)}$. The (n, 0) approximation corresponds to the simple Taylor series to order n. Interest in this method has recently been rekindled by studies of spectral reconstructions from approximate non-perturbative analytic computations [122,137] and the arrival of very high statistics lattice QCD ensembles.

In the context of spectral function reconstruction the close relation between Padé approximants and continued fractions is exploited in the following way. In order for the analytic continuation of the approximant to be stable, one wishes to construct expressions with either the same highest monomial power in the numerator and denominator (n, n) or even better, with one power less in the numerator (n - 1, n). For N_{data} input data points D_j along imaginary frequencies q_j^0 , one can construct the approximant

$$\tilde{D}_{N_{\text{data}}}(q^0) = \frac{D_M(q_0^0)}{1+} \frac{a_0(q^0 - q_0^0)}{1+} \frac{a_1(q^0 - q_1^0)}{1+} \dots \frac{a_{N_{\text{data}}-1}(q^0 - q_{N_{\text{data}}-1}^0)}{1+},$$
(110)

which corresponds to the $((N_{data} - 1)/2, (N_{data} - 1)/2)$ approximation in case that N_{data} is odd and to $(N_{data}/2 - 1, N_{data}/2)$ if N_{data} is even. The expansion coefficients a_i can be determined recursively [138] by the Schlessinger method

$$a_{l}(q_{l+1}^{0} - q_{l}^{0}) = -\left\{1 + \frac{a_{l-1}(q_{l+1}^{0} - q_{l-1}^{0})}{1+} + \frac{a_{l-2}(q_{l+1}^{0} - q_{l-2}^{0})}{1+} \cdots \frac{a_{0}(q_{l+1}^{0} - q_{0}^{0})}{1 - [D_{M}(q_{0}^{0}) - D_{M}(q_{l+1}^{0})]}\right\}.$$
(111)

The resulting interpolation $\tilde{D}_{N_{data}}(i\omega)$ exactly reproduces the input data D_M at the imaginary frequencies q_l^0 provided. The retarded correlator needed to compute the spectral function may now be obtained by Wick rotating the imaginary frequency argument of the approximant $D^R(\omega) \approx -\tilde{D}_{N_{data}}(q^0 \rightarrow \omega - i\epsilon)$ approaching $\epsilon \rightarrow 0^+$ from above. As in any direct projection method, cancellations occur in the evaluation of the continued fraction, in particularly if

As in any direct projection method, cancellations occur in the evaluation of the continued fraction, in particularly if there are symmetries in the input data. This requires the evaluation of the intermediate steps in the computation to be carried out with high precision arithmetic. As we will show in the explicit application of the Padé approximation to the determination of the in-medium heavy quark potential, currently available lattice QCD data is of high enough quality for this direct projection method to be of use.

While the Padé reconstruction does not presuppose explicit prior information, analyticity of the approximant is required for meaningful results. I.e. if the correlator contains divergences or otherwise non-analytic features the accuracy of the Padé based reconstruction may suffer. In the context of studying the spectral functions of gluons it has been found [139] that the Padé reconstruction often violates the spectral decomposition of the correlator. I.e. plugging the reconstructed spectrum back into Eq. (98) will produce a Euclidean correlator deviating from the input data by significantly more than one standard deviation. In addition, since positive definiteness never entered the analysis, the Padé reconstruction may lead to artificial excursions into negative values. The stability of reconstructed spectral features needs to be ascertained with a Jackknife analysis, as well as by testing how the removal of input datapoints affects the end result.

These artifact however do not spell doom for the method, if our goal is to study only subsets of the spectral features. As will be discussed, the position of e.g. the ground state peak may be well captured by the Padé reconstructed spectral function, while its width and the higher lying structures are not accurately reproduced. It is therefore paramount to test in each individual reconstruction scenario whether the Padé method is able to capture the spectral features of interest, given a certain quality of input data.

Summary. Bayesian inference of spectral functions provides a systematic prescription of how to incorporate prior domain knowledge into the regularization of the otherwise ill-posed inversion task. By interrogating the posterior $P[\rho|D, I]$ expressed in terms of the likelihood $P[D|\rho, I]$ and prior $P[\rho|I]$, the most probable spectral function, given simulation data and prior information, may be found. Prior information on the data generation may enter the likelihood, most prior information however resides in the prior probability itself. The MEM and BR method provide two different implementations of $P[\rho|I]$, based on different underlying axioms. They have in common that positivity of ρ is enforced. While for a finite number of datapoints with finite uncertainty the most probable spectral function may differ between the methods, they will converge to a unique answer in the Bayesian continuum limit. For reconstructions based on a small number of $\mathcal{O}(10 - 40)$ datapoints, similar to what is often encountered in T > 0 quarkonium studies, ringing constitutes an important numerical artifact. In the MEM it is suppressed by restricting the solution ad-hoc to a smooth functional subspace while in the smooth BR method it is treated by self-consistently tuning an additional hyperparameter κ . Since prior information is made explicit, its role in the total uncertainty budget can be straight forwardly estimated by comparing results based on different default models and prior probabilities. In case of high precision input data also direct projection based methods become viable. The Padé approximation e.g. exploits the analyticity of the correlator and does not require further prior information. Its sensitivity to statistical fluctuations however also requires careful error estimation.

2.5. Open quantum systems

In the preceding sections we have discussed how the presence of a separation of energy scales allows us to simplify the description of heavy quarkonium using a non-relativistic language. So far we restricted ourselves to a fully equilibrated scenario, since lattice QCD simulations are limited to Euclidean time. Extracting spectral functions and e.g. thermal widths from these simulations gave first insight into the real-time dynamics of heavy quarkonium in equilibrium with its environment. In the context of a heavy-ion collision however we need to go beyond equilibrium to understand the physics of heavy quarkonium. Indeed insight is required on how a heavy quarkonium state reacts to a QCD environment with which it initially is not equilibrated at all.

One of the exciting developments of the past decade is the realization that heavy quarkonium is an ideal example of an open quantum system (OQS) and we may understand many aspects of its real-time properties in and out-of equilibrium from this viewpoint. One example is the concept of decoherence that provides a new perspective on the dynamics of quarkonium melting. The framework of OQS has a long history (see e.g. [140–143]) in particular in condensed matter physics and we thus benefit from many established results in that field. For an excellent introduction to OQS see e.g. Ref. [144]. On the other hand, the strongly coupled nature of QCD and the particular physics of the color quantum number introduce additional complexities, leading to rich phenomenology not present in other OQS. While considerations of a separation in energy scales forms the basis for deriving effective descriptions in thermal equilibrium, it is the separation of timescales that will allow us to come up with effective descriptions of the quarkonium real-time dynamics. Bridging the language of the effective field theories NRQCD and pNRQCD and the OQS framework is a central focus of current research on in-medium quarkonium dynamics.

A system is well suited to the open quantum systems approach if its d.o.f. can be separated into an environment *E* and a small subsystem *S* coupled via common interactions. In case that *E* consists of an infinite number of degrees of freedom it is usually referred to as a reservoir, if in addition it is in thermal equilibrium we may call it a heat bath. It is the presence of a continuous distribution of modes in a reservoir and the fact that its dynamics do not show recurrence that will lead to the emergence of dissipative effects when considering the dynamics of the small subsystem. In our case the environment is represented by a thermal QCD medium and the small subsystem is formed by the quarkonium two-body system.

In the following we will give an introduction to the aspects of OQS relevant for the treatment of quarkonium, following closely the exposition in Ref. [144]. As the concept of the open system is not commonly treated in high energy physics contexts, we will discuss in detail the derivation of two equations of motion arising from two different time scale hierarchies: the quantum optical and quantum Brownian motion limit.

The overall system consisting of medium and heavy quark d.o.f. is of course closed and possesses a hermitean Hamiltonian. It can be decomposed in terms of a Hamiltonian acting only on the environment d.o.f. H_E , one only in the subsystem H_S and an interaction term H_{int} that connects both

$$H_{\text{tot}} = H_{\text{S}} \otimes I_{\text{E}} + I_{\text{S}} \otimes H_{\text{E}} + H_{\text{int}}.$$
(112)

The density matrix of the full system σ_{tot} initialized using state vectors $|\psi_k(t_0)\rangle$ of the full system

$$\sigma_{\text{tot}}(t_0) = \sum_k p_k |\psi_k(t_0)\rangle \langle \psi_k(t_0)|, \quad \frac{d}{dt} \sigma_{\text{tot}}(t) = -i[H_{\text{tot}}(t), \sigma_{\text{tot}}(t)], \quad \sigma_{\text{tot}}(t) = U(t, 0)\sigma_{\text{tot}}(t_0)U^{\dagger}(t, 0), \tag{113}$$

evolves according to the well known von-Neumann equation, captured in a unitary time evolution operator $U(t, 0) = \mathcal{T} \exp[-i \int dt H_{int}(t)]$. While solving the dynamics of the whole system may be too demanding it is also not our goal. Instead we wish to focus on the evolution of the quarkonium system only, which we may formally achieve by tracing out all medium degrees of freedom. This leads to the reduced density matrix

$$\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\rm E}[\sigma_{\rm tot}(t)], \quad \sigma_{\rm S}(t) = V(t)\sigma_{\rm S}(0). \tag{114}$$

The quantity σ_S is the central focus in the open quantum systems approach and we will set out to formulate its explicit equation of motion, the so called master equation. Time evolution of σ_S is formally implemented via the so called dynamical map *V*. While V(t) can in general be a very complicated operator there is a class of systems, where its form simplifies to that of a semi-group, i.e. $V(t_1)V(t_2) = V(t_1 + t_2)$. This is the case when the dynamics of the system is Markovian, i.e. if the next infinitesimal step in the system evolution only depends on the current state of the system. Neglecting memory effects is admissible if a separation of timescales exists between the fast damping of correlations in the environment τ_E and the relaxation scale of the subsystem τ_{rel} . In that case the linear map may be written in terms of a generator of the dynamical semi-group \mathcal{L} and a linear evolution for σ_S emerges

$$V(t) = \exp[\mathcal{L}t], \quad \frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = \mathcal{L}\sigma_{\rm S}.$$
(115)

The most general form of such a Markovian master equation has been derived independently by two groups [145,146] and is known as the GKS or Lindblad equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S} = -i[\tilde{H}_{\rm S},\sigma_{\rm S}] + \sum_{k} \gamma_k \Big(L_k \sigma_{\rm S} L_k^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} L_k^{\dagger} L_k \sigma_{\rm S} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\rm S} L_k^{\dagger} L_k \Big).$$
(116)



Fig. 10. Sketch of the two formulations of the time evolution of the quarkonium system. The top row operates on the level of the total system including both medium and subsystem d.o.f., which leads to reversible unitary time evolution. The bottom row follows from integrating out the environment and leads to irreversible dynamics, formulated in terms of the reduced density matrix.

The quantities *L* are called Lindblad operators and encode the coupling of the system to its environment. They can always be chosen to be traceless. The Hamiltonian \tilde{H}_S not necessarily agrees with the Hamiltonian H_S in Eq. (112). If the *L*'s are made dimensionless, the quantities $\gamma_k > 0$ take on the dimensions of 1/time and represent relaxation rates for modes that decay over time in *S*. In practice the γ 's are given by correlation functions of the environment degrees of freedom. Special care needs to be taken if strong external fields are present (for oscillatory fields e.g. Floquet theory is invoked). Note that the time evolution implemented by Eq. (116) is irreversible, as sketched in Fig. 10 and we will show explicitly that entropy increases with time inside the small subsystem.

Formulating the dynamics of an OQS in terms of a Lindblad equation is of particular interest as it can be proven that the resulting time evolution preserves the fundamental properties of the reduced density matrix, i.e. positivity, Hermiticity and unitarity

$$\langle n|\sigma_{\rm S}|n\rangle > 0, \forall n, \quad \sigma_{\rm S}' = \sigma_{\rm S}, \quad {\rm Tr}[\sigma_{\rm S}] = 1. \tag{117}$$

If the Lindblad operators *L* do not explicitly depend on time, the time evolution of a Heisenberg operator O(t) can be formulated by simply replacing σ_s by O(t) in Eq. (116).

To understand the different types of approximations often invoked in the derivations of master equations in practice, it is instructive to consider a simple weakly coupled example. We will encounter three different timescales, whose hierarchy determines what kind of dynamics emerges. Considering $H_{\text{int}} = \sum_m \Sigma_m \otimes \Xi_m$ in terms of operators in the environment Ξ_m and the subsystem Σ_m we have:

• $\tau_{\rm E}$: the timescale along which correlations in the medium $\langle \Xi_m(t)\Xi_n(0)\rangle$ decay.

4

- $\tau_{\rm S}$: intrinsic timescale of the evolution in the subsystem, defined by a typical value of neighboring frequencies contributing in the spectral decomposition $\tau_{\rm S} = |\omega \omega'|^{-1}$.
- τ_{rel} : the subsystem relaxation time, which e.g. for a single heavy particle subsystem is defined from the randomization timescale of its momentum $\langle p \rangle(t) \propto e^{-t/\tau_{rel}} \langle p \rangle(0)$

In the interaction picture, where Heisenberg operators evolve via the interaction Hamiltonian, let us consider the full density matrix written in integral form

$$\sigma_{\text{tot}}(t) = \sigma_{\text{tot}}(0) - i \int_0^t ds [H_{\text{int}}(s), \sigma_{\text{tot}}(s)], \tag{118}$$

from which, assuming $\text{Tr}_{\text{E}}[[H_{\text{int}}(t), \sigma_{\text{tot}}(0)]] = 0$, the evolution of the reduced density matrix follows as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -\int_0^t ds {\rm Tr}_{\rm E} \big[[H_{\rm int}(t), [H_{\rm int}(s), \sigma_{\rm tot}(s)]] \big].$$
(119)

The first approximation made to simplify the equation of motion is the *Born* approximation, which amounts to a weak-coupling assumption between the system and environment leading to $\sigma_{tot}(t) \approx \sigma_{S}(t) \otimes \sigma_{E}$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -\int_0^t ds {\rm Tr}_{\rm E} \Big[[H_I(t), [H_I(s), \sigma_{\rm S}(s) \otimes \sigma_{\rm E}]] \Big].$$
(120)

Note that this approximation is less strict as may seem at first sight, since it does not automatically require that the d.o.f. of the environment or the medium themselves are weakly interacting. The next simplification, the *Markovian* approximation invokes a separation of timescales. If excitations of the environment decay much faster than what the dynamics of the subsystem resolves, we may replace $\sigma_S(s)$ by $\sigma_S(t)$. In addition, if the integrand decays appreciably for times $s \gg \tau_E$ we may also extend the integral boundary to infinity after taking $s \rightarrow t - s$. This leads to a master equation coarse grained in time of the form

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -\int_0^\infty ds {\rm Tr}_{\rm E} \Big[[H_l(t), [H_l(t-s), \sigma_{\rm S}(t) \otimes \sigma_{\rm E}]] \Big].$$
(121)

In order to arrive at a Lindblad equation one often invokes another approximation, which involves the intrinsic time scale τ_s . In order to see its role, one can introduce a spectral decomposition in terms of the system Hamiltonian H_s , so that $H_{int}(t) = \sum_{m,\omega} e^{-i\omega t} \Sigma_m(\omega) \otimes \Xi_m(\omega)$. The resulting e.o.m. reads

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = \sum_{\omega,\omega'} \sum_{m,n} e^{i(\omega'-\omega)t} \Gamma_{mn}(\omega) \Big(\Sigma_n(\omega)\sigma_{\rm S}(t)\Sigma_m(\omega') - \Sigma_m^{\dagger}(\omega')\Sigma_n(\omega)\sigma_{\rm S}(t) \Big),$$
(122)

where

$$\Gamma_{mn}(\omega) = \int_0^\infty ds e^{is\omega} \langle \Xi_m^{\dagger}(t) \Xi_n(t-s) \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma_{mn}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{mn} + iS_{mn}(\omega).$$
(123)

If $\tau_{rel} \gg \tau_E$ only the diagonal terms with $\omega = \omega'$ contribute. This is called the *rotating wave approximation*. Further, decomposing Γ_{mn} into a hermitean part $S_{mn} = (\Gamma_{mn} - \Gamma_{mn}^*)/2i$ and the positive matrix $\gamma_{mn} = (\Gamma_{mn} + \Gamma_{mn}^*)$, the following master equation is obtained

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -i[\tilde{H}_{\rm S},\sigma_{\rm S}(t)] + \sum_{\omega}\sum_{m,n}\gamma_{mn}(\omega)\Big(\Sigma_n(\omega)\sigma_{\rm S}(t)\Sigma_m^{\dagger}(\omega) - \frac{1}{2}\big\{\Sigma_m^{\dagger}(\omega)\Sigma_n(\omega),\sigma_{\rm S}(t)\big\}\Big),\tag{124}$$

where $\tilde{H}_{S} = \sum_{\omega} \sum_{mn} S_{mn}(\omega) \Sigma_{m}^{\dagger}(\omega) \Sigma_{n}(\omega)$. Eq. (124) goes over into Lindblad form, if the matrix γ_{mn} is diagonalized. This master equation is based on the separation of scales

$$\tau_{\rm S} \ll \tau_{\rm rel}, \quad \tau_{\rm E} \ll \tau_{\rm rel} \quad \text{the quantum optical limit.}$$
 (125)

As a consistency check one can convince oneself that the late time limit of the above master equation is indeed the thermal distribution $\sigma_{\rm S}^{\rm therm} = \exp[-\beta \tilde{H}_{\rm S}]/\mathrm{Tr}_{\rm S}[e^{-\beta \tilde{H}_{\rm S}}]$.

While the above discussion provided an easily accessible example of the derivation of a microscopic master equation the underlying separation of timescales did not apply to quarkonium. Indeed, due to the large rest mass of the constituent quarks we expect that the intrinsic dynamics of the subsystem are actually slow compared to that of the medium. In this case the Markovian approximation may hold but the following separation of scales is considered

$$\tau_{\rm E} \ll \tau_{\rm S}, \quad \tau_{\rm E} \ll \tau_{\rm rel}$$
 the quantum Brownian motion limit, (126)

i.e. the rotating wave approximation may not apply.

A well known model of Markovian quantum Brownian motion is the Caldeira–Leggett model at high temperature. In this model a (heavy) point particle is coupled to a bath consisting of a large number (eventually infinitely many) of light harmonic oscillators. It thus represents a very crude but intuitive analogy for a heavy quark. The model Hamiltonian reads

$$H_{\rm S} = \frac{p^2}{2m} + V_c(x), \quad H_{\rm E} = \sum_n \hbar v_n (b_m^{\dagger} b_n + \frac{1}{2}), \quad H_{\rm int} = -x \sum_n \kappa_n x_n = -x \sum_n \kappa_n \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2m_n v_n}} (b_n + b_n^{\dagger}) = -x \Xi. \quad (127)$$

Here the creation and annihilation operators of the harmonic oscillators with mass m_n and frequency ν_n are denoted by b_n and b_n^{\dagger} . A linear interaction term between the point particle and the environment is used. If continuous reservoir modes are considered, the interactions lead to a renormalization of the potential. This effect is compensated by adding to the heavy particle potential V(x) a correction $V_c(x) = V(x) + x^2 \sum_n \kappa_n / (2m_n \nu_n^2) = V(x) + H_c(x)$.

The derivation of the master equation at first proceeds very similarly, invoking the Born and Markov approximations. In this model we assume that the particle is immersed in a heat bath of temperature $\beta = 1/k_B T$ so that $\sigma_E = \exp[-\beta H_E]/\text{Tr}_E \exp[-\beta H_E]$. We had seen that correlation functions of the medium d.o.f. play an important role, which motivates introducing the following thermally averaged commutator and anti-commutator

$$D(s) = i\langle [\Xi, \Xi(-s)] \rangle = 2\hbar \int_0^\infty d\omega J(\omega) \sin(\omega s),$$
(128)

$$D_1(s) = \langle \{\Xi, \Xi(-s)\} \rangle = 2\hbar \int_0^\infty d\omega J(\omega) \coth[\hbar\omega/2k_B T] \cos(\omega s),$$
(129)

which are known as the dissipation and noise kernel respectively. All the information about the medium in this model is encoded in the two kernel functions, which may be written in terms of the bath spectral density

$$J(\omega) = \sum_{n} \frac{\kappa_n}{2m_n \nu_n} \delta(\omega - \nu_n).$$
(130)

The equation of motion so far takes the form

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -\frac{i}{\hbar}[H_{\rm S} + H_{\rm c}, \sigma_{\rm S}(t)] + \frac{1}{\hbar^2} \int_0^\infty ds \Big(\frac{i}{2}D(s)[x, \{x(-s), \sigma_{\rm S}(t)\}] - \frac{1}{2}D_1(s)[x, [x(-s), \sigma_{\rm S}(t)]]\Big).$$
(131)

We are interested in a reservoir with infinitely many d.o.f. in order to observe genuine damping of modes. Thus we will consider the continuous counterpart of $J(\omega)$, whose ω dependence is determined from the particular form of the interactions κ_n . An analytically solvable case is obtained with the following model ansatz

$$J(\omega) = \frac{2m\gamma}{\pi} \omega \frac{\Omega}{\Omega^2 + \omega^2}.$$
(132)

Here the small frequency regime behaves linear, modeling an Ohmic damping of modes in the subsystem with damping constant γ . The high frequency regime on the other hand is regularized by a cutoff function. Let us push the analogy with QCD a bit further at this point. Since the coupling of the heavy quark to the bath occurs via gluons, the spectral density considered above will be linked to a gluon spectral function, while the kernels *D* and *D*₁ are the corresponding gluon correlators. In case of quarkonium it will turn out that since the gluon correlators at high temperature are also the building blocks to describe the real- and imaginary part of the in-medium heavy quark potential, *D* and *D*₁ are intimately related to Im[*V*].

The master equation Eq. (131) can be further simplified by invoking the time scale separation of Brownian motion. In case of the model spectral density $J(\omega)$ the decay of the kernel functions contains contributions from all finite Matsubara frequencies $\omega_n = 2\pi nT$ with n > 0 up to the UV cutoff Λ_{UV} . I.e. the medium relaxation scale is given by $\tau_E = \max[\Lambda_{UV}^{-1}, \hbar/\omega_1]$. Instead of the rotating wave approximation, we consider here the case that the typical timescale of the system is much larger than that of the medium.

Carefully evaluating all expressions in Eq. (131) under $\tau_{\rm E} \ll \tau_{\rm S}$ one arrives at the Caldeira–Leggett master equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -\frac{i}{\hbar}[H_{\rm S},\sigma_{\rm S}(t)] - \frac{i\gamma}{\hbar}[x,\{p,\sigma_{\rm S}(t)\}] - \frac{2m\gamma k_{\rm B}T}{\hbar^2}[x,[x,\sigma_{\rm S}(t)]].$$
(133)

The von-Neumann like term describes the coherent dynamics of the subsystem similar to when no environment is present. The second term arises from the contributions associated with the function D and encodes dissipation of energy from the system to the medium. Its strength is governed by the damping rate γ that enters J. The effects of thermal fluctuations on the other hand are encoded in the third term related to D_1 . At this stage the master equation is not in Lindblad form but it can be made such by adding a term that is parametrically small at high temperatures $-\frac{\gamma}{8mk_{\beta}T}[p, [p, \sigma_S]]$. In order for fluctuations and dissipation to work in tandem it makes sense that γ will appear also in the noise related terms. This yields a Lindblad master equation with a single relaxation rate γ and the Lindblad operator

$$L = \sqrt{\frac{4mk_BT}{\hbar^2}} x + i\sqrt{\frac{1}{4mk_BT}}p.$$
(134)

We will find Lindblad operators of similar form when considering heavy quarks and heavy quarkonium in QCD. Note that in the open quantum systems literature one will often consider instead the so called *collapse operators* $C_n = \sqrt{\gamma_n}L_n$, which incorporate the relaxation rate.

Let us briefly list the Ehrenfest equations of motion for position and momentum of the heavy particle in this model

$$\frac{d}{dt}\langle x\rangle = \frac{1}{m}\langle p\rangle, \quad \frac{d}{dt}\langle p\rangle = -\langle V'(x)\rangle - 2\gamma\langle p\rangle.$$
(135)

For a free particle we find

$$\langle \mathbf{x}(t)\rangle = \langle \mathbf{x}(0)\rangle + \frac{1}{2m\gamma} (1 - e^{-2\gamma t})\langle \mathbf{p}(0)\rangle, \quad \langle \mathbf{p}(t)\rangle = e^{-2\gamma t} \langle \mathbf{p}(0)\rangle, \tag{136}$$

so that the average momentum relaxes to zero exponentially with a rate of 2γ and the average position at late times is displaced by the value $\langle \dot{x}(0) \rangle / 2\gamma$.

While already much closer to the case of quarkonium, the Caldeira–Leggett model also does not in general accommodate its physics, since the above derivation assumes that the extent of the heavy particle is always smaller than the correlation length of the medium. Since quarkonium possesses an internal structure, its radius can however easily be of the same order or larger than the medium correlation length in practice.

In practice we will often encounter the situation where the medium d.o.f. are formulated in terms of a path integral. Feynman and Vernon [147] developed a systematic treatment of how to derive the system-medium interactions in such a case. Consider the expression for the density matrix evolution on the Schwinger–Keldysh contour, where we denote the d.o.f. in the environment with capital letters, those in the subsystem with lowercase letters

$$\sigma_{\text{tot}}(x, y, X, Y, t) = \int d[x_0, y_0] \int d[X_0, Y_0] \langle x_0, X_0| \hat{\sigma}_{\text{tot}}(0) | y_0, Y_0 \rangle \int_{x_0}^{y_0} \mathcal{D}[x, y] \int_{X_0}^{Y_0} \mathcal{D}[X, Y] e^{iS[x, X] - iS[y, Y]}.$$
(137)

The forward path houses the *x*, *X* d.o.f., while the backward path contains *y*, *Y*. The trace operation over the environment in the language of functional integrals is implemented by integrating over *X* and *Y* and inserting a delta function, assuming $\sigma_{\text{tot}}(0) = \sigma_{\text{S}} \otimes \sigma_{\text{E}}$ we find

$$\sigma_{\rm S}(x,y) = \int \mathcal{D}[X,Y]\delta(X-Y)\sigma_{\rm tot}(x,y,X,Y,t) = \int d[x_0,y_0]\langle x_0|\hat{\sigma}_{\rm S}(0)|y_0\rangle \int_{x_0}^{y_0} \mathcal{D}[x,y]e^{iS_{\rm S}[x]-iS_{\rm S}[y]}F[x,y].$$
(138)
The Feynman–Vernon influence functional F[x, y] together with the subsystem action S_5 encodes all the information on the subsystem and its interaction with the medium, required to construct a master equation. It can equally well be written as an effective action contribution in the path integral weight $S_{FV}[x, y] = \log[F[x, y]]$. When expressing the time evolution of the reduced density matrix in terms of its Greens function K_{σ}

$$\sigma_{\rm S}(x_f, y_f, t) = \int dx_i \int dx'_i K_\sigma(x_f, y_f, t_f, x_i, y_i, t_i) \sigma_{\rm S}(x_i, y_i, t_i),$$
(139)

we can read off its path integral representation. The challenge in practice then lies in reverse engineering the operator expressions for the corresponding equation of motion for $\sigma_{\rm S}$ starting from the c-number valued path integral. It is the inverse operation to the original construction of the path integral starting from the Greens function for an individual wavefunction. A similar task exists in lattice QCD studies, where the Hamilton operator for a lattice discretized path integral is constructed via the so called transfer matrix. For the Caldeira-Leggett model, the Feynman-Vernon influence functional has been considered in [148].

After having gained some insight into the description of open quantum systems via Lindblad type master equations we turn our attention to one of the characteristic phenomena occurring in open quantum systems: Decoherence. Whenever our subsystem evolves in contact with its environment, correlations among the d.o.f. arise. Very often this leads to a particular behavior in the subsystem, once the environment is traced out. I.e. certain sets of states in S are singled out by the interaction, the so called preferred basis, which in turn remain stable under time evolution. Any superpositions of these states on the other hand are damped away. The timescale of this damping τ_D is often much shorter than the intrinsic timescales of the subsystem. Decoherence in the context of heavy quarkonium will often be found to be accompanied by a decay of populations of states but in general such decay is not necessarily a byproduct of decoherence.

The dynamics of decoherence is often characterized by the so-called decoherence function Γ , which describes the decay of the off-diagonal entries of the reduced density matrix, expressed in the preferred basis. Let us consider the particularly chosen interaction $H_{\text{int}} = \sum_m \Sigma_m \otimes \Xi_m = \sum_m |m\rangle \langle m| \otimes \Phi_n$, where the states $|m\rangle$ are eigenstates of the subsystem Hamiltonian H_{S} and Φ_n are arbitrary operators acting in the environment. Starting out from an initial state given by $|\psi(0)\rangle = \sum_m c_m |m\rangle \otimes |\phi_m\rangle$ the system will evolve into

$$\psi(t)\rangle = \sum_{m} c_{m}|m\rangle \otimes |\phi_{m}(t)\rangle, \quad \sigma_{S}(t) = \operatorname{Tr}[|\psi(t)\rangle\langle\psi(t)|] = \sum_{m,n} c_{m}c_{n}^{*}|m\rangle\langle n|\langle\phi_{n}(t)|\phi_{m}(t)\rangle.$$
(140)

Due to unitarity, the norm of $\langle \phi_m(t) | \phi_m(t) \rangle = 1$ is preserved and the diagonal entries of σ_s remain constant. I.e. only the off-diagonal terms are affected by the evolution and we may define the decoherence function Γ_{mn} via

$$|\langle \phi_n(t)|\phi_m(t)\rangle| = \exp[\Gamma_{mn}(t)], \quad n \neq m, \quad \Gamma_{mn}(t) \le 0,$$
(141)

whose values are of course highly dependent on the system parameters and also the choice of initial state. The typical timescale over which the overlap $\langle \phi_n(t) | \phi_m(t) \rangle$ decreases is denoted by τ_D the *decoherence time*. If the overlap approaches zero, the reduced density matrix takes on the form of an incoherent mixture of the states $|m\rangle$. We can consider the linear entropy $S_l[\sigma] = 1 - \text{Tr}[\sigma^2]$ in the subsystem, which starts out as $S_l[\sigma_s(0)] = 0$ but evolves to

$$S_{l}[\sigma_{S}(t)] = 1 - \sum_{mn} |c_{m}|^{2} |c_{n}|^{2} \exp[2\Gamma_{mn}(t)], \qquad (142)$$

approaching at late times $S_l[\rho_S(t \to \infty)] = 1 - \sum_m |c_m|^4$. One interesting effect of decoherence is the localization of the states in position space, which occurs e.g. in quantum Brownian motion at high temperature. Neglecting the effects of dissipation, i.e. taking the recoilless limit, let us consider the master equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}\sigma_{\rm S}(t) = -i[H_{\rm S},\sigma_{\rm S}(t)] - \frac{2m\gamma k_{\rm B}T}{\hbar^2} [\mathbf{x}, [\mathbf{x},\sigma_{\rm S}(t)]]$$
(143)

with a simple $H_{\rm S} = {\bf p}^2/2m$. It turns out that the decay of the off-diagonals occurs much faster than the evolution of the diagonals and the free part, hence we may neglect the $H_{\rm S}$ contribution and solve approximately

$$\sigma_{\rm S}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x}',t) \approx \exp\left[-\frac{2m\gamma k_{\rm B}T}{\hbar^2}(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')^2 t\right] \sigma_{\rm S}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x}',0).$$
(144)

The resulting decoherence function, which damps away off-diagonal terms in position space, is linear in time and we can read off the corresponding decoherence time

$$\Gamma(t) = -\frac{2m\gamma k_{\rm B}T}{\hbar^2} \Delta x^2 t, \quad \tau_{\rm D} = \frac{\hbar^2}{2m\gamma k_{\rm B}T \Delta x^2}.$$
(145)

It remains to get an impression of how the decoherence time relates to the relaxation time of the subsystem. The latter is defined from the relaxation of the square of the momentum, which from the Ehrenfest e.o.m. is $\tau_{rel} = 1/4\gamma$. Expressed in the *thermal wavelength* of the medium $\lambda_{th} = \hbar/\sqrt{2mk_BT}$ we then find

$$\frac{\tau_D}{\tau_{\rm rel}} = 4 \left(\frac{\lambda_{\rm th}}{\Delta x}\right)^2,\tag{146}$$

which especially for macroscopic objects can be an extremely small ratio.

In order to observe the phenomenon of decoherence and its consequences in practice, i.e. in realistic systems such as quarkonium, a numerical implementation of the Lindblad equation is required. On the one hand one could attack the problem head on and setup a simulation of $\langle x | \sigma_S | y \rangle$ in coordinate space and discretize the resulting partial differential equation. In three dimensions this leads to a six dimensional matrix equation which is computationally very demanding. On the other hand one can *unravel* Eq. (116) into the stochastic evolution of an ensemble of wavefunctions $|\psi(t)\rangle$ whose fluctuations allow us to reconstruct the density matrix

$$\sigma_{\rm S} = \langle |\psi(t)\rangle \langle \psi(t)|\rangle_{\rm ensemble}.$$
(147)

In that case one has to deal with the evolution of three-dimensional wavefunctions only. It is important to note that the time evolution described by Eq. (116) in general cannot be unraveled in terms of a deterministic Schrödinger equation. Introducing a gradient expansion it may be possible to unravel it into unitary and linear time evolution of a wavefunction with stochastic noise contributions. For the full dynamics, the Quantum State Diffusion (QSD) approach has proven to be an important tool [149]. It tells us that in general to unravel any Lindblad master equation the following non-linear stochastic Schrödinger equation can be considered

$$|d\psi\rangle = -i\tilde{H}_{\rm S} + \sum_{m} \left(2\langle L_m^{\dagger} \rangle_{\psi} L_m - L_m^{\dagger} L_m - \langle L_m^{\dagger} \rangle_{\psi} \langle L_m \rangle_{\psi} \right) |\psi(t)\rangle dt + \sum_{m} \left(L_m - \langle L_m \rangle_{\psi} \right) |\psi(t)\rangle d\xi_i.$$
(148)

The stochastic nature of the evolution is implemented via complex valued Gaussian noise of the form

$$\langle d\xi_i \rangle_{\text{ensemble}} = \langle \text{Re}(d\xi_i) \rangle_{\text{ensemble}} = \langle \text{Im}(d\xi_j) \rangle_{\text{ensemble}} = 0, \tag{149}$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(d\xi_{i})\operatorname{Re}(d\xi_{j})\big|_{\operatorname{ensemble}} = \left\langle \operatorname{Im}(d\xi_{i})\operatorname{Im}(d\xi_{j})\right\rangle_{\operatorname{ensemble}} = \delta_{ij}dt.$$
(150)

The non-linearity on the other hand arises from the fact that in terms such as $\langle L_m \rangle_{\psi}$ the expectation value with respect to the wavefunction is computed. Once the Lindblad operators are specified the above prescription offers a straight forward recipe for implementation of numerical simulations.

Summary. The open quantum systems approach considers systems, which can be decomposed in a small subsystem *S* and a large environment *E* and thus naturally accommodates in-medium quarkonium. By tracing out the medium degrees of freedom a simplified description of the irreversible dynamics of the subsystem is developed, formulated as a master equation for the reduced density matrix σ_S . Interactions between *S* and *E* induce correlations in their d.o.f. which leads to the phenomenon of decoherence in the subsystem. A set of preferred basis states remains stable but superpositions are damped away. Exploiting a separation of time scales between the subsystem and the medium $\tau_E \ll \tau_{rel}$ Markovian master equations in the Lindblad form can be derived, which preserve the positivity and Hermiticity of the reduced density matrix. Simulating the time evolution often involves unraveling of the master equation in terms of the stochastic evolution of an ensemble of wavefunctions. The quantum state diffusion method provides a straight forward implementation.

3. Quarkonium in thermal equilibrium

Our exploration of heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions begins with its physics in thermal equilibrium. Here the quark–anti-quark pair is immersed into an infinitely extended QCD medium at a constant temperature *T* (and in this report we restrict to vanishing Baryo-chemical potential $\mu_B = 0$). The advantage of investigating such an idealized scenario is that quantum field theoretical methods, such as lattice QCD, are capable of providing direct non-perturbative insight from first principles. I.e. no modeling assumptions need to be made. We may learn about various aspects of in-medium heavy quarkonium, which will support the analysis of its physics in more complicated and experimentally relevant scenarios, such as in relativistic heavy ion collisions.

In the following we will assume that enough time has passed so that the momentum distribution of the individual quarks has fully equilibrated, becoming Fermi–Dirac distributed. At very high energies $T \gg 2m_Q$ heavy quark pairs may be spontaneously created from thermal fluctuations, i.e. their occupation number also follows the thermal distribution. The system is said to be chemically equilibrated. Since $E_{\text{bind}} < m_Q$ for quarkonium, one does not expect stable bound states to exist in this regime. On the other hand at lower temperatures $E_{\text{bind}} > T$ where quarkonium may survive, the thermal occupancy for heavy quarks is very low. If we consider a $Q\bar{Q}$ in this regime, some other process must have produced it and placed it in the medium. I.e. the system is kinetically but not chemically equilibrated. Such settings are commonly considered today, as they are the idealized counterpart to a heavy-ion collision, where it is the hard partonic processes in the early stages that create a quark–antiquark pair, which subsequently finds itself surrounded by the hot bulk matter.

The central goal will be to understand how the binding properties of quarkonium vacuum states are altered in the presence of a thermal medium. We will explore this question from several angles: screening of color fields in thermal QCD, the modification of binding in terms of an in-medium potential and the manifestation of binding in the spectral properties of quarkonium states. On the way we will learn to connect the weakening of interquark binding to the concept of a Debye mass and eventually consider what the insight of the past decade tells us about the dynamical process of quarkonium melting.

3.1. Screening of color fields in thermal QCD

Heavy quarkonium bound states in vacuum are sustained by an exchange of gluons among the constituent charm or bottom quarks. Since the heavy quark velocities are small, it is expected that color electric interactions dominate over color magnetic ones. If immersed into a thermal QCD medium, the exchanged gluons will interact with the medium d.o.f. and their properties become modified. In analogy with electromagnetically interacting media (see e.g. Debye–Hückel theory [150]) it is furthermore expected that this leads to a weakening of the strength of binding. Our goal in this section is thus to gain an understanding of how the medium influences the propagation of QCD color fields. Note that at this point we are asking about a property of the medium and not yet one of the quarkonium system.

Consideration of limiting cases, whether physical or not, is a central tool of the physicist toolbox to explore the logical consequences of hypotheses. In classical electrodynamics the idealized concept of a test charge plays an important role to shed light on field configurations and their modification in medium. In the study of QCD a similar role is taken up by considering infinitely heavy quarks. We have already seen in Eq. (58) that in this *static limit* the propagation of a quark in time reduces simply to a change in its SU(3) color, given by a temporal Wilson line. The spatial position of the quark is obviously fixed.

In QED, screening properties of static electric and magnetic fields are well understood in a gauge invariant manner. The gluons responsible for sustaining the electric field acquire a mass from interactions with the medium. For a medium of fermions with charge *e* this leads to an electric photon self energy

$$\lim_{\mathbf{p}\to 0} \Pi_{00}^{\text{QED}}(\omega=0,\mathbf{p}) = m_D, \quad m_D = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}e^T + \mathcal{O}(e^2T^2)$$
(151)

and in turn the electric field becomes short ranged. Correlation functions between static electric fields are damped exponentially $\langle \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{x})\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{y})\rangle \sim \exp[-m_D|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|]$ at large distances with the in medium mass m_D , christened the *Debye mass*. It is possible to compute the QED Debye mass perturbatively, with the lowest order being proportional to *eT*. Magnetic fields on the other hand remain unscreened $\lim_{\mathbf{p}\to 0} \Pi_{ij}^{\text{QED}}(\omega = 0, \mathbf{p}) = 0$ and remain effective on large distance scales.

In QCD on the other hand screening is more involved, as is discussed in detail in Ref. [151]. The first stumbling block is that the concept of color electric and magnetic fields is not gauge invariant anymore. So a simple inspection of gluon self energies does not lead to an unambiguous concept of electric or magnetic screening, as one component can be rotated into another. Instead one has to define adequate gauge invariant quantities, whose symmetry properties agree with the symmetries associated with an electric and magnetic field.

It turns out that at asymptotically high temperatures, where QCD is weakly coupled, color electric fields are screened at a scale gT, where g is the strong coupling. I.e. there exists a QCD counterpart to the Debye mass, which at leading order scales as $m_D \sim gT$. In contrast to QED, magnetic fields also become screened at a lower energy scale $m_M \sim g^2 T$ but the physics of this magnetic screening is fully non-perturbative even at high temperatures. The underlying reason is the so called perturbative infrared catastrophe affecting non-Abelian Gauge theories, discovered in Ref. [152] and beautifully resolved through the construction of the dimensionally reduced effective field theories electric QCD (EQCD) and the fully non-perturbative magnetic QCD (MQCD) in Ref. [153]. Not only is m_M not accessible via perturbative means but also m_D receives non-perturbative contributions beyond the first logarithmic correction that itself can be evaluated in perturbation theory. The general result for $SU(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f active fermion flavors in the medium given in Ref. [154,155] reads

$$m_D = \sqrt{\frac{N_c}{3} + \frac{N_f}{6}}gT + \frac{1}{4\pi}N_c g^2 T \log\left[\sqrt{\frac{N_c}{3} + \frac{N_f}{6}}\frac{1}{g}\right] + \kappa g^2 T + \mathcal{O}(g^3 T),$$
(152)

where κ already escapes perturbative evaluation.

There are currently two main approaches found in the literature to define and determine screening masses in QCD nonperturbatively. Both rely on considering static quarks as test color charges and deploy specifically constructed correlation functions between such a static quark and antiquark pair to reveal how their interactions are damped when the spatial distance between them is increased. Interestingly the intimate relation between Euclidean QFT at finite temperature and statistical physics allows us to connect the evolution of static quarks in imaginary time to a thermodynamic property of the system, its free energy. One may ask how a genuinely gauge dependent concept, such as a color phase rotation can lead to a gauge invariant thermodynamic quantity. As it turns out the compactness of the imaginary time axis plays a key role.

Let us recall how the free energy is connected to static quark propagation, as first discussed in Ref. [156]. The free energies $F(\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_n, \mathbf{x}_{n+1}, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_{n+m})$ of a system with *n* static quarks and *m* antiquarks present, located at positions \mathbf{x}_i may be related to the partition function via

$$\exp[-\beta F] = \frac{1}{N_c^{n+m}} \sum_{s} \langle s|e^{-\beta H}|s\rangle = \frac{1}{N_c^{n,m}} \sum_{q} \langle q|Q(\mathbf{x}_1, 0) \dots Q(\mathbf{x}_n, 0)e^{-\beta H} \bar{Q}(\mathbf{x}_{n+1}, 0) \dots \bar{Q}(\mathbf{x}_{n_m}, 0)|q\rangle.$$
(153)

Here the states $|s\rangle$ are those that contain both the medium degrees of freedom and the static quarks and $|q\rangle$ only refer to the medium. Using the fact that $e^{-\beta H}$ is the generator of imaginary time translations and that these time translations

only change the affected fields by a color rotation, we may write

$$\exp[-\beta F_{n,m}] = \frac{1}{N_c^{n+m}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathrm{medium}} \Big[\operatorname{Tr}_c \big[L(\mathbf{x}_1) \big] \dots \operatorname{Tr}_c \big[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_n) \big] \operatorname{Tr}_c \big[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{n+1}) \big] \dots \operatorname{Tr}_c \big[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{nm}) \big] \Big].$$
(154)

The above expression is written in terms of the color trace of the Polyakov loop

$$L(\mathbf{x}) = \mathcal{T} \exp\left[i \int_0^\beta d\tau A_4(\mathbf{x}, \tau)\right] = \prod_{i=1}^{N_\tau} U_4(\mathbf{I}, i),$$
(155)

which on the lattice is given by a product of links in imaginary time direction closing around the compact Euclidean domain. Note that if the color trace is taken $\text{Tr}_c L$ is indeed is gauge invariant. The Polyakov loop is hence related to the free energy of a single quark in the medium. It is furthermore the order parameter of the SU(3) center symmetry and in the absence of light quark degrees of freedom $\langle L \rangle$ in turn takes the role of an order parameter for the, in that case well defined, confinement–deconfinement phase transition. In QCD with dynamical fermions the change of the Polyakov loop with temperature still provides a clear signal for the crossover transition from hadrons to the quark–gluon–plasma.

In order to get access to the free energies on the lattice, we need to rewrite Eq. (154) in terms of an actual expectation value, i.e. we need to normalize by the partition function of the medium without quarks present. Hence we compute the difference $\Delta F_{n,m} = F_{n,m} - F_{0,0}$ in the free energy between a system with and without the static quarks present

$$\exp[-\beta \Delta F_{n,m}] = \frac{1}{N_c^{n+m}} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c[L(\mathbf{x}_1)], \dots, \operatorname{Tr}_c[L(\mathbf{x}_n)] \operatorname{Tr}_c[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{n+1})] \dots \operatorname{Tr}_c[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}_{n_m})] \rangle.$$
(156)

The main interest in this section lies in the interactions between one static quark and one antiquark, i.e. we consider the spatial correlations of a Polyakov loop and its complex conjugated counterpart

$$P_2(r = |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = \exp[-\beta \Delta F_{1,1}] = \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c[L(\mathbf{x})]\operatorname{Tr}_c[L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y})] \rangle, \qquad \lim_{r \to \infty} P_2(r) = |\langle \operatorname{Tr}_c[L(0)] \rangle|^2.$$
(157)

We may understand the corresponding free energy as encoding (after proper renormalization) the amount of work that is required to pull apart the quark–anti-quark pair to a distance r. At very large distances the correlator P_2 will go over into a constant, given by the expectation value of a single Polyakov loop squared. In pure gauge theory at low temperatures this quantity diverges as color confinement prevents the separation of the two static quarks. In QCD with dynamical fermions the phenomenon of string breaking occurs even in vacuum, where the energy stored in the color field between the static quarks is transformed into a light quark–antiquark pair, which in turn forms a color neutral state with the static color sources.

Screening masses from electric and magnetic correlators

Let us consider the first strategy for defining and extracting the QCD screening masses. It relies on the work of Ref. [151], where it has been shown that transformation properties under Euclidean time reversal \mathcal{R} and charge conjugation \mathcal{C} allow one to make the distinction between color electric and magnetic operators in a non-perturbative fashion. In short, an operator even (odd) under \mathcal{R} is considered to be magnetic (electric). The large distance spatial decay of correlators of such operators are expected to reveal the corresponding magnetic (electric) *screening masses*. This concept has already been used to study QCD at very high temperature (remember that even there magnetic screening is nonperturbative) using the dimensionally reduced effective field theory EQCD in Ref. [157]. We will now discuss how it can be used in the study of screening in fully dynamical lattice QCD.

Ref. [151] first pointed out that since the Polyakov loop as written in Eq. (155) does not have well defined transformation properties under Euclidean time reversal $\mathcal{R}L = L^{\dagger}$ and charge conjugation $\mathcal{C}L = L^*$ it mixes both color electric and color magnetic contributions. If its correlator, i.e. the free energy difference $\Delta F_{1,1}(r)$ shows exponential decay at large distances it is most probably dominated by the magnetic screening mass $m_M < m_E$, as electric contributions have already died out before. Note that if we wish to connect the electric screening mass obtained in that fashion to the perturbatively defined concept of Debye mass we will have to divide with a factor two. The reason is that at small distances perturbation theory tells us [158] that $\Delta F_{1,1}(r)$ is dominated by two-gluon exchange. In turn a $-\alpha_S^2 \exp(-2m_D r)/r^2$ behavior arises, from which we take it that the screening masses found from such traced out Polyakov loop correlators will represent twice the value of the corresponding gluon mass.

As proposed first in the lattice study of Ref. [159] (WHOT collaboration) we can instead consider

$$L_{M} = \frac{1}{2}(L + L^{\dagger}), \quad L_{E} = \frac{1}{2}(L - L^{\dagger}), \quad L_{M\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(L_{M} \pm L_{M}^{*}), \quad L_{E\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(L_{E} \pm E_{M}^{*}), \quad (158)$$

where the only two non-vanishing contributions $Tr[L_{M+}]$ and $Tr[L_{E-}]$ represent the real and imaginary parts of the Polyakov loop respectively. The corresponding magnetic and electric correlation functions are written as

$$C_{M+}(r) = \left\langle \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \operatorname{Tr}_{c} \left[L_{M+}(\mathbf{x}) \right] \operatorname{Tr}_{c} \left[L_{M+}(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r}) \right] \right\rangle - \left| \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \operatorname{Tr}_{c} \left[L(\mathbf{x}) \right] \right|^{2},$$
(159)



Fig. 11. (left) The continuum extrapolated and renormalized free energy difference for a system with and without a static $Q\bar{Q}$ pair inserted. (right) The continuum extrapolated values for the electric (blue, top) and magnetic (red, bottom) screening masses from Yukawa fits to the large distance decay of the electric and magnetic correlation functions. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [161].

$$C_{E-}(r) = \langle \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \operatorname{Tr}_{c} [L_{E-}(\mathbf{x})] \operatorname{Tr}_{c} [L_{E-}(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r})] \rangle.$$
(160)

If the above defined correlators show a large distance exponential decay, we may use them to extract the magnetic and electric screening masses in a non-perturbative fashion. The high temperature effective field theory of dimensionally reduced QCD, called EQCD, suggests [160] that the correlator takes on the asymptotic form

$$C_{M+}(r \to \infty) \sim \gamma_M \frac{e^{-m_M r}}{rT}, \quad C_{E-}(r \to \infty) \sim \gamma_E \frac{e^{-m_D r}}{rT},$$
(161)

which has been found to describe lattice QCD simulations well even at temperatures around the crossover transition.

While several studies have considered correlators of Polyakov loops in lattice QCD over the past two decades, it is only recently that fully continuum extrapolated results with dynamical quarks, close to the physical pion mass have been obtained in the temperature range up to T = 350 MeV in Ref. [161] and up to T = 1451 MeV in Ref. [162]. The electric and magnetic correlators have been investigated previously only in Ref. [159].

Let us consider the electric and magnetic screening masses obtained in Ref. [161] (Budapest–Wuppertal collaboration). The simulations in that study are based on a Symanzik improved gauge action and a stout smearing improved staggered quark action tuned to reproduce physical quark masses. Scale setting along the line of constant physics has been implemented using the gradient flow scale ω_0 . The continuum limit is taken on lattices with different imaginary time extent from $N_{\tau} = 6...16$, where the physical volume is kept approximately constant with a ratio of $N_s/N_{\tau} \approx 5...6$. As a fixed box approach, temperature is varied by changing the lattice spacing.

Since the naive Polyakov loop diverges in the continuum limit, so does its correlator at large separation distances and hence the free energies. I.e. to take the continuum limit in a meaningful way this divergence needs to be subtracted. One possibility (for a detailed discussion see [161]) is to define the renormalized quantity

$$\Delta F_{1,1}^{\text{ren}} = \Delta F_{1,1}(r,T) - \Delta F_{1,1}(r \to \infty, T_0)$$
(162)

at a fixed reference temperature T_0 . Since the divergence is UV dominated it is the same at any temperature and by choosing one fixed T_0 the renormalization procedure remains temperature independent, as required. In the left plot of Fig. 11 the continuum extrapolated results for $\Delta F_{1,1}^{\text{ren}}$ from Ref. [161] are presented. At every

In the left plot of Fig. 11 the continuum extrapolated results for $\Delta F_{1,1}^{\text{ren}}$ from Ref. [161] are presented. At every temperature considered, the values approach a common low temperature form for small enough distances, where the influence of the thermal medium becomes insignificant. At large distances and high temperatures on the other hand we find that the free energy difference asymptotes to a constant value, which indicates that indeed screening is present. It manifests itself also as an exponential decay in the underlying correlation function of Polyakov loops. It is clear that screening weakens as the temperature is reduced. At lower temperatures around and below the crossover transition $T_c = 155$ MeV the effects of screening will eventually become mixed with those arising from string breaking. A recent analysis of string breaking effects in T = 0 lattice QCD (yet without continuum extrapolation) in Ref. [163] indicates a string breaking distance of $r_c = 1.224(15)$ fm, so that the flattening off in the T = 150 MeV result shown here up to r = 0.7 fm is most likely still an indication of the onset of screening.

In order to extract the electric and magnetic screening masses, the Yukawa like decay of the corresponding correlators $C_{E-}(r)$ and $C_{M+}(r)$ is fitted and the results are given in the right plot of Fig. 11 as ratios with the temperature. The values of the magnetic mass m_M/T together with the full error budget including statistical and continuum extrapolation uncertainty are plotted as the red band, the electric mass m_D/T as blue band. One finds that the separation of $m_E > m_M$ holds with $m_E/m_M(T = 300 \text{ MeV}) = 1.63(8)$, even in the regime just above the crossover temperature. While not shown in Fig. 11,

the value of the magnetic screening mass obtained from $C_{M+}(r)$ is expected to agree with that from $\Delta F_{1,1}$, as had been observed previously in Ref. [159].

Within the errorbars the results do not show a significant dependence on temperature, which suggests that the masses indeed scale linearly with temperature. The results obtained in this analysis are consistent with previous studies using EQCD, keeping in mind that applying EQCD at such low temperatures pushes the envelope of its range of validity. EQCD with both $N_f = 2$ and $N_f = 3$ massless quarks in the medium predicts $m_E/m_M(T = 300 \text{ MeV}) = 1.8(2)$ as noted in Ref. [161] and originally computed in Ref. [157].

As we argued that the electric screening mass extracted here non-perturbatively relates to the Debye mass as $m_E = 2m_D$, we can compare its values to the predictions of NLO perturbation theory in Eq. (152). One finds that the lattice values are systematically larger than the weak-coupling results by a factor between 1.8 and 2.0.

Screening masses from color singlet and averaged free energies

The second approach followed in the literature considers the transformation properties of the Polyakov loops under color rotations instead of Euclidean time reversal. In the non-interacting theory a product of two color matrices indeed can be unambiguously decomposed according to $3 \otimes \overline{3} = 1 \oplus 8$ into a color singlet and a color octet (adjoint) contribution

$$\exp[-\beta\Delta F_1] = \frac{1}{N_c} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c \left[L(\mathbf{x}) L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y}) \right] \rangle, \tag{163}$$

$$\exp[-\beta \Delta F_a] = \frac{1}{N_c^2 - 1} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c \left[L(\mathbf{x}) T^a L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y}) T^a \right] \rangle$$
(164)

$$= \frac{1}{N_c^2 - 1} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c [L(\mathbf{x})] \operatorname{Tr} [L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y})] \rangle - \frac{1}{N_c (N_c^2 - 1)} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_c [L(\mathbf{x}) L^{\dagger}(\mathbf{y})] \rangle.$$
(165)

The quantities, where the trace is on the outside of the product of loops are by themselves not gauge invariant. One conventionally chooses Coulomb gauge when determining their values on the lattice. The physical free energy thus contains both singlet and adjoint contributions

$$\exp[-\beta \Delta F_{1,1}] = \frac{1}{N_c^2} \exp[-\beta F_1] + \frac{N_c^2 - 1}{N_c^2} \exp[-\beta F_a].$$
(166)

In the interacting theory the above decomposition may become modified. Following the discussion of Ref. [162], which originated in Refs. [164,165], there exist two linear combinations of the color singlet and adjoint contributions that renormalize multiplicatively. Since each comes with their own renormalization constant, distilling the renormalized singlet contribution from the differently traced Polyakov loop correlators in principle requires knowledge of both of them. I.e. depending on the scale, the naively defined singlet correlator of Eq. (163) may in principle receive admixtures from the adjoint sector, even if these are in practice small over the phenomenologically relevant distance scales.

The temperature dependence of these quantities has been studied in various lattice QCD scenarios in the literature. Starting with SU(2) gauge theory in Refs. [166–171] in SU(3) pure gauge in [172–178] and dynamical QCD with $N_f = 2$ in [179–185] and $N_f = 3$ in [186]. Continuum extrapolated results with $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical flavors have been presented in [161,162].

The underlying idea to extract electric screening masses from F_1 is to realize that at T = 0 the color singlet contribution agrees with the real-valued interquark potential $\Delta F_1(r, T = 0) = V_S^{(0)}(r, T = 0)$, which represents color electric field interactions among the constituent quarks. Hence by investigating the finite temperature counterpart $\Delta F_1(r, T > 0)$ and how it asymptotes to a constant at large distances (manifest as an exponential decay in the corresponding correlation function), one expects to extract the electric screening mass. Considering $\Delta F_{1,1}$ itself, as argued before will reveal the magnetic screening mass.

Let us consider the latest results from Ref. [162] (TUMQCD and HotQCD collaboration) where the color singlet free energies F_1 and the gauge invariant $\Delta F_{1,1}$ have been investigated using a Symanzik improved gauge action and the highly improved staggered (HISQ) action to describe $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical light quark flavors. The scale along the line of constant physics has been set using the Sommer scale r_1 and light quark parameters are tuned to lead to a physical strange quark mass $m_s = 20m_l$ and a pion mass that is close to its physical value $m_\pi \approx 160$ MeV. Using a fixed box approach, i.e. changing temperature with the lattice spacing, the study covers a temperature range between 116 < T < 5814 MeV. Some ensembles at temperatures above T > 400 MeV use larger pion mass $m_\pi \approx 320$ MeV to speed up the simulations, the effects of which has been checked to be insignificant. The continuum limit is taken on lattices with temporal extent between $N_\tau = 4 \dots 16$ keeping an aspect ratio of $N_s/N_\tau = 4$ and 6.

The free energies are renormalized by first subtracting from their bare value twice the bare value of free energy of a single quark and then adding twice the value of the renormalized single quark free energy obtained from the renormalized Polyakov loop. This procedure leads to a well defined continuum limit for the color singlet free energy F_1 if performed in Coulomb gauge, while other gauge choices leave remnant divergencies in place [187].

In the left plot of Fig. 12 the continuum extrapolated values of the renormalized color singlet free energies F_1 are shown at different temperatures. At small distances rT < 0.3 this quantity agrees well with the predictions of perturbation theory provided in Ref. [165]. Note that the observed behavior in this regime is not of a simple Debye screened form, which



Fig. 12. (left) The continuum extrapolated and renormalized color singlet free energies F_1 . (right) The continuum extrapolated values of the screening masses from Yukawa fits to the large distance decay of the color singlet free energies in Coulomb gauge. The solid lines correspond to the predictions of the NLO Debye mass multiplied by factors 2.0 and 1.6 respectively. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [162].

emerges only for $rT \gtrsim 0.3$, the eponymous screening regime. The difference in functional form between F_1 and $\Delta F_{1,1}$ is clearly visible, as is the fact that at small distances all simulation points fall on top of the T = 0 curve. If considered in terms of rescaled distances rT in-medium effects only become significant for rT > 0.3. At large distances also F_1 shows screening, as it asymptotes to a constant value, indicated by the horizontal solid lines.

One of the goals of Ref. [162] is to elucidate in which region of distances and temperatures the lattice results for the different free energies become amenable to a perturbative description. It was shown that for $rT \ll 1$ the perturbatively matched EFT pNRQCD provides a good description, while for intermediate distances $rT \lesssim 1$ the effective theory EQCD agrees with the lattice data within its scale uncertainty. At the asymptotic large distances, where the screening masses are defined, however neither EQCD not perturbation theory can be deployed and the previously discussed Yukawa fits were used.

The screening mass m_1 obtained from the color singlet free energies divided by temperature is plotted in the right panel of Fig. 12. The values at several different lattice spacings are shown and it is found that for $N_{\tau} > 8$ no more cutoff effects remain, providing the result essentially in the continuum limit. Here a much larger temperature range is considered as in the study of C_{E-} . It appears that the ratio shows a tendency to decrease as temperature is increased, while the relatively large uncertainty at $N_{\tau} = 12$ does not yet allow to make a definite statement.

Since the color singlet free energies perturbatively are dominated by single gluon exchange, the screening mass m_1 is expected to agree with the Debye screening mass itself at high temperatures. Hence its values may be directly compared to the NLO prediction of Eq. (152). Interestingly, as shown by the dotted and dashed curve, the temperature dependence of the lattice quantities appears to resemble qualitatively the NLO prediction at the scale $\mu > \pi T$ but is systematically larger by a factor of 1.6–2.0. The screening masses obtained here from the renormalized ΔF_1 are compatible with the values of Ref. [161] for temperatures above T = 300 MeV.

The study of asymptotic screening masses at temperatures below T = 200 MeV is challenging due to the low signal to noise ratio in the Polyakov loop correlators in that regime. Thus the errorbars of the extracted screening masses also increases as temperature is lowered. On the other hand the region around the phase transition and below is of particular interest in order to understand the fate of screening in the hadronic phase. In pure gauge theory, where there exists a genuine phase transition, one would expect that below T_C screening is strongly suppressed, as it is only glueballs that may interfere with the binding of the (by now) confined static color charges. I.e. the expectation is that m_D quite abruptly takes on very small values, probably even vanishes, as e.g. indicated by the results of Ref. [173]. In full QCD without a genuine transition this change in m_D will proceed more gently but eventually at T = 0 it also has to vanish. Therefore it will be interesting to see how the lattice results, which down to T = 160 MeV show either a flat or even an increasing ratio of m_D/T will behave at temperatures below T_c . A first indication of a downward trend in the ratio has been observed in m_M in Ref. [162] however only at the lowest temperatures where a continuum limit is not yet available.

We have seen that two independent approaches to electric screening masses $m_E \equiv 2m_D$ and $m_1 \equiv m_D$ provide consistent results on the values of the corresponding Debye mass in the QGP phase. In addition different lattice QCD setups agree within uncertainty on the values of the magnetic screening mass extracted from $\Delta F_{1,1}$ in the continuum limit. Quantitatively the Debye masses obtained from the lattice in the QGP phase, characterizing electric screening, turn out to be up to a factor 2 larger than what is predicted by NLO perturbation theory. This is pertinent information when it comes to understanding heavy quarkonium binding, as it tells us that the (color electric) interactions that sustain the bound states will receive significant modification in the deconfined medium.



Fig. 13. (left) Dispersion relation according to the position of the magnetic gluon quasiparticle peak (colored symbols) identified in the transversal gluon spectral function in Landau gauge. Shown are the lowest and highest temperature results at T = 151 MeV (violet) and T = 381 MeV (green). Solid lines denote best fit with $\omega(|\mathbf{q}|) = A\sqrt{B^2 + |\mathbf{q}|^2}$. The dashed red line shows the value of (right) Same quantities shown for the electric gluon from the longitudinal gluon spectral function. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [192].

There are efforts ongoing in the lattice community to extend the computation of screening masses to a medium with finite Baryo-chemical potential μ_B , via the Taylor expansion method [183] or analytic continuation from imaginary chemical potential [188,189]. In the latter case charge conjugation symmetry is broken explicitly and the standard prescription discussed here to separate color electric and magnetic contributions is inapplicable. With a refined strategy it is found that at finite lattice spacing the presence of a small but finite μ_B increases both electric and magnetic screening masses. The change is of the same order of magnitude as expected for the Debye mass from lowest order perturbation theory.

Screening masses from parton properties

In contrast to using gauge invariant correlators of static test charges, the screening properties of QCD may also be elucidated by investigating the in-medium behavior of gluons themselves (for studies of in-medium quark properties see e.g. Refs. [129,190,191]). This line of research is pursued using both non-perturbative lattice QCD, as well as analytic methods, such as the functional renormalization group and Dyson–Schwinger equations.

A study of gluon properties necessarily involves gauge fixing (usually to Landau gauge), where transverse (magnetic) and longitudinal (electric) contributions to the gauge fields can be separated by adequate projection. In high temperature QCD, gluons are understood as actual propagating quasiparticle d.o.f. and their interaction with the environment endows them with a dynamically generated mass. This picture underlies the perturbative definition of the Debye mass. Now if a quasiparticle-like structure can be identified in gluon spectral functions, obtained non-perturbatively e.g. from lattice QCD, changes in its position with temperature may substantiate the presence of such a thermal mass.

Extracting gluon spectral functions is extremely challenging due to the additional technical complication that it is possible for them to contain non-positive regions. This is in particular relevant in both the small frequency regime, as has been recently pointed out in Ref. [139] and as is known from perturbative arguments at very large frequencies. Hence so far only a few studies of in-medium gluon spectral functions on the lattice have been carried out (for two recent ones see e.g. Refs. [192,193]).

Using simulations of the QCD medium by the tmft collaboration, which implements $N_f = 2 + 1 + 1$ dynamical quark flavors in the twisted mass formalism, gluon correlators and spectral functions in Landau gauge have been investigated in Ref. [192]. The study focused on a set of lattices with relatively small lattice spacing a = 0.0646 fm but with a still unphysically high pion mass of $m_{\pi} = 369$ MeV. A fixed box approach allowed investigating a temperature range between T = 152-381 MeV changing the number of Euclidean points between $N_{\tau} = 20 - 8$. The deconfinement crossover temperature on these lattices is $T_C = 193$ MeV. Spectral reconstructions were performed using the generalized BR method [120]. One needs to be aware that due to the KMS relation only half of the input points provide independent information so that the reconstructions are based on a relatively small number of input data. This drawback was partially compensated for by the very good signal to noise ratio in the underlying gluon correlators. A well defined lowest lying spectral feature was observed at all temperatures in both the longitudinal and transversal spectral functions, which in the QGP phase has been interpreted as representing a gluon quasi-particle.

In Fig. 13 the dispersion relation for the magnetic (left) and electric (right) gluon quasiparticle is plotted normalized by temperature. The lattice values (colored symbols) are obtained from fitting the position of the dominant low lying spectral peak in the corresponding gluon spectral function. The lowest temperature T = 151 MeV (violet) and the highest temperature results T = 381 MeV (green) are shown together with fits (solid lines) based on the simple

ansatz $\omega(|\mathbf{q}|) = A\sqrt{B^2 + |\mathbf{q}|^2}$. The good agreement with the lattice values shows that while a linear dispersion relation is recovered at large momenta close to the origin the behavior is cut-off, leading to a finite intercept with the y-axis. Evaluating the fit at $T > T_c$ for $|\mathbf{q}| \rightarrow 0$ provides an estimate for the corresponding screening masses in the QGP. One finds that even in this still non-perturbative regime the magnetic screening mass m_T takes on significantly lower values than the electric screening mass m_I

$$m_T/T(T = 381 \text{ MeV}) = 1.68 \pm 0.156, \quad m_L/T(T = 381 \text{ MeV}) = 2.97 \pm 0.159,$$
 (167)

which itself is larger at that temperature than the prediction from NLO perturbation theory. A result that is qualitatively compatible with those obtained from the gauge invariant correlation functions discussed previously.

Summary. The phenomenon of screening in a QCD medium can be investigated by considering the correlations among test color charges in the form of infinitely heavy quarks evolving in Euclidean time. In contrast to QED not only electric fields become screened but also magnetic ones, i.e. at large enough distances all gluons acquire a thermal mass. Expressed as Polyakov loops, the static quark correlation functions are intimately related to the free energy of static pairs in the medium. Electric and magnetic screening masses can be extracted from appropriately constructed Polyakov loop correlators. In the literature three independent approached are considered. The first two construct gauge invariant quantities with definite transformation properties w.r.t. Euclidean time reversal or w.r.t. color rotations. Corresponding screening masses have been computed in lattice QCD in the continuum limit and it has been found that the perturbative prediction of $m_E > m_M$, as well as $m_E/T \approx \text{const.}$ and $m_M/T \approx \text{const.}$ holds approximately even in the non-perturbative regime close to the crossover transition. Quantitatively it has been established on the lattice that electric screening, most relevant for the binding of quarkonium states is more efficient than predicted by NLO perturbation theory by a factor of 1.6 to 2.0 in terms of the Debye mass. Alternatively screening may be investigated directly from the in-medium modification of gluon spectral functions, which yields qualitatively consistent behavior of electric and magnetic screening masses.

3.2. The in-medium static interquark potential

In the previous section we have discussed the phenomenon of screening of static color fields in the OGP and found that in the relevant temperature range for current heavy ion collisions, electric screening is not only present but it is stronger than predicted by NLO perturbation theory. This finding begs the question, how the medium affects the binding of actual heavy quarkonium. Due to the separation of scales between the heavy quark rest mass, as well as temperature $T/m_0 \ll 1$ and $\Lambda_{\rm OCD}/m_0 \ll 1$ we have seen in Section 2.2.2 that significant aspects of the physics of quarkonium can be captured in a real-time potential, which corresponds to a non-local Wilson coefficient in the effective field theory pNRQCD. The leading order contribution to the color singlet potential in the heavy quark velocity expansion is given by the static interquark potential $V_s^{(0)}(r)$, which is independent of the heavy quark velocity v. In this section we will consider evaluating this proper real-time potential $V_s^{(0)}$ in QCD at finite temperature according

to the defining relation based on the real-time Wilson loop

$$V_{\mathsf{S}}^{(0)}(r) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{i\partial_t W_{\Box}(r, t)}{W_{\Box}(r, t)}.$$
(168)

Perturbative determination of the in-medium potential

The real-time definition of the static potential has been evaluated in thermal equilibrium for the first time in Ref. [15] using hard thermal loop perturbation theory [194] followed by Ref. [17], which extended the computation to different scale hierarchies. For a pedagogical treatment see [16]. The setting chosen in Ref. [15] corresponds to the particular scale hierarchy where $mv \sim gT$ [195] or in order to accommodate the static limit $1/r \sim gT$, where r denotes the characteristic extent of the bound state [17]. Unexpected at that time, it turns out that the real-time potential besides its real-part also features a finite imaginary part, the explicit expressions of which are given by

$$\operatorname{Re}[V_{S,HTL}^{(0)}](r) = -\frac{g^2 C_F}{4\pi} \left[m_D + \frac{\exp(-m_D r)}{r} \right] = -\alpha_S \left[m_D + \frac{\exp(-m_D r)}{r} \right],$$
(169)

$$Im[V_{S,HTL}^{(0)}](r) = -\alpha_S T \phi(m_D r), \quad \phi(x) = 2 \int_0^\infty \frac{dzz}{(z^2 + 1)^2} \left[1 - \frac{\sin(zx)}{zx} \right].$$
(170)

where $\alpha_S = g^2 C_F / 4\pi$ is used as definition of the strong coupling constant, similar to the convention in the quarkonium phenomenology literature. At intermediate distances, where the running of the strong coupling is not pronounced, the temperature dependence of the real part is solely determined by the value of m_D , while the imaginary part carries an explicit dependence on the temperature *T*. We plot the values for $\text{Re}[V_{S,HTL}^{(0)}]$ in the left panel of Fig. 14 and the values of the function $\phi(m_D r)$ on the right, spanning a range of Debye mass values from $m_D = 0 \dots 1$ GeV. The smallest value of m_D corresponds to the dark blue lines, the largest value to the red line.

As expected from the discussion of screening in QCD, one finds that the real-part of the potential shows a Debye screened behavior. It asymptotes at large distances to a constant that represents twice the heavy quark in-medium mass shift [196]. Interestingly to this lowest order in the HTL approximation the expression for $\text{Re}[V_{S,\text{HTL}}^{(0)}]$ coincides with the



Fig. 14. (left) The real part of the real-time static interquark potential from HTL perturbation theory. We plot its values for a selection of Debye masses $m_D = 0 \dots 1$ GeV, lowest values are denoted by the dark blue line, the largest value by the red line. (right) The function $\phi(m_D r)$ that governs the non-trivial separation dependence of the imaginary part of the static potential.

color singlet free energies $F_{1,HTL}(r)$ in Coulomb gauge as noted e.g. in Ref. [197]. The agreement however is believed to be only coincidental and it is expected that from the next higher order in the perturbative approximation, the two quantities are not exactly equal anymore. As we will see, current lattice QCD results for the in-medium heavy quark potential suggest that the difference between the color singlet free energies and Re[V] remains relatively small.

The imaginary part of Eq. (170) starts out quadratically and eventually asymptotes to a finite value, twice that of the heavy quark thermal width [16]. It had been already understood in [15] that in this scale hierarchy $Im[V_{S,HTL}^{(0)}]$ arises from the phenomenon of Landau damping, which corresponds to the low-frequency gluon mediating the binding between the heavy quarks loosing energy to a medium parton with a higher energy $\sim T$. In the literature this imaginary part has been discussed independently in the context of so called quarkonium dissociation by parton scattering e.g. in Refs. [198,199], which has been treated more recently in a consistent EFT setting in Ref. [200].

In other scale hierarchies, the values for Re[V] and Im[V] can take on significantly different values [17,201,202]. The imaginary part may receive additional contributions from the phenomenon of gluo-dissociation (see e.g. the classic Ref. [203] and [204]), where a singlet state absorbs a colored gluon from the medium, changing into an octet and subsequently dissolves. Note that this is a particular case where the interaction with the remaining dynamical gluons in the effective theory can still be recast in the form of a time independent potential. At small distances, where the heavy quarks effectively do not see the thermal medium it turns out that Im[V] becomes exponentially suppressed.

It is important to stress at this point that the potential we have discussed so far governs the time evolution of the medium averaged color singlet correlator of point split meson operators. In particular it does not describe the evolution of the microscopic wavefunction of a heavy quarkonium state. This distinction is important in order to avoid misinterpretations of the imaginary part of the potential.

Im[V] has been derived in the static limit, where the heavy quarks are fixed to their spatial positions and never meet to annihilate. I.e. the probability to find the two heavy quarks in the system remains constant and Im[V] cannot tell us that the amplitude of the wavefunction of the two-body system decays exponentially. Instead if understood as implementing the damping of the unequal time correlator of singlet fields, the role of the imaginary part becomes clear. It encodes the loss of coherence between the state of the heavy quarkonium particle at initial time (when it was just inserted into the medium) and its state at later time after interacting with the medium. Intuitively, one expects the medium fluctuations to perturb the wavefunction of the quarkonium stochastically until it has equilibrated with its surroundings. Decoherence represented via Im[V] is an aspect of the thermalization of the quarkonium system. In the context of open quantum systems we will return to the question of how to implement the microscopic dynamics for the wavefunction of heavy quarkonium based on the knowledge of the complex static potential from pNRQCD.

While a lot has been learned about the potential acting between static quarks from perturbative studies, the question remains how quarkonium states behave in the non-perturbative regime just above the crossover transition, where perturbative methods are inapplicable. I.e. to approach an understanding of quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions we need to evaluate Eq. (168) using lattice QCD.

Lattice QCD determination of the in-medium potential

The real-time definition of the static in-medium potential in Eq. (168) is formulated in Minkowski time and thus not directly amenable to an evaluation in lattice QCD. Bridging the real- and imaginary-time domain is however possible by resorting to the technical concept of spectral functions. We saw that all different types of meson correlation functions are ultimately governed by a single positive definite function, i.e. the correlator can be expressed in terms of a convolution of the spectral function with an appropriate kernel function.

Since the Wilson loop corresponds to the infinite mass limit of the forward correlator of point split meson operators, its spectral decomposition in Euclidean time, as shown in Ref. [34], leads to the simple relation

$$W_{\Box}(r,\tau) = \int_{-2m_Q}^{\Lambda_{\rm UV}} d\omega e^{-\omega\tau} \rho_{\Box}(r,\omega), \quad \rho_{\Box}(r,\omega) = \sum_{n,m} P_n(T) |M_{n,m}(r)|^2 \delta(\omega - E_m^{Q\bar{Q}}(r) + E_n).$$
(171)

The spectral function (in a finite volume) is composed of a finite number of delta peaks. Here E_n denotes the energy of an eigenstate $|n\rangle$ of the system without a $Q\bar{Q}$ pair and $E_m^{Q\bar{Q}}(r)$ the energy of a state with a static $Q\bar{Q}$ pair present at a distance r. The matrix element $M_{n,m} = \langle n|M(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{x}, t = 0)|m\rangle$ also carries an r dependence, while the Boltzmann factor $P_n(T) = e^{-E_n/T} / [\sum_n e^{-E_n/T}]$ only depends on temperature T. Note that the positions of the peaks in ρ_{\Box} are T independent but their amplitude surely is, due to $P_n(T)$. In the infinite volume limit, the delta peaks bunch and their envelope will form a continuous function along real-time frequencies ω .

Analytic continuation of the Wilson loop to Minkowski time changes the Laplace-type kernel of Eq. (171) into nothing but a Fourier transform over the spectral function

$$W_{\Box}(r,t) = \int_{-2m_Q}^{\Lambda_{\rm UV}} d\omega e^{-i\omega t} \rho_{\Box}(r,\omega).$$
(172)

In case that we have access to the spectral function we may then straight forwardly relate the value of the potential to $\rho_{\Box}(\omega)$ by plugging Eq. (172) back into Eq. (168)

$$V_{S}^{(0)}(r) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\int d\omega \omega e^{-i\omega t} \rho_{\Box}(r,\omega)}{\int d\omega e^{-i\omega t} \rho_{\Box}(r,\omega)}.$$
(173)

This relation forms the basis for lattice studies of the proper static interquark potential.

The fact that a late time limit is taken, indicates that only spectral features at small frequencies are relevant for the potential. I.e. at T = 0 where there exists a single well separated lowest lying delta peak in ρ_{\Box} , it alone determines the value of $V_S^{(0)}(r)$. If we plug a single delta peak at position ω_0 into Eq. (173) we obtain a purely real Re[V] = ω_0 and Im[V] = 0 as expected. The single delta peak present in ρ_{\Box} at T = 0 makes it possible to rewrite the real-time definition of the potential in terms of Euclidean quantities, recovering the conventional definition of the vacuum heavy quark potential $V_S^{(0)}(r, T = 0) = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \log[W_{\Box}(r, \tau)]$. I.e. the single delta peak in ρ_{\Box} leads to single exponential decay of the Euclidean Wilson loop at late imaginary times and its decay constant may be extracted by considering the logarithm of the Wilson loop. It is often customary to this end to compute the *effective potential*, which is just the effective mass (see Eq. (82)) of the Euclidean Wilson loop. Note that at finite temperature, due to the compact Euclidean domain we cannot take the $\tau \to \infty$ limit anymore. Furthermore it turns out that the Wilson loop at the latest available time $\tau = \beta$ is not related directly to the proper in-medium potential.

At finite but not too high temperature the single delta peak starts to broaden, while still being well separated from any higher lying spectral structures. In the simplest case we may expect a Breit–Wigner like shape to emerge in ρ_{\Box} at low frequencies. Inserting such a shape into Eq. (173) it tells us that the position of the peak provides the real- and the width of the peak the imaginary part of the potential. Note that finding in $\rho_{\Box}(\omega)$ only a single Breit–Wigner would indicate that the evolution of the Wilson loop at any time is governed by a time independent potential.

Having derived the relation between the Wilson loop and the static potential at timescales, much longer than the characteristic scales of the medium, based on the lowest order of the multipole expansion, it has to be checked whether also non-potential effects can affect the time evolution of W_{\Box} in practice. Since early and late times both contribute to the Fourier transform it is important to disentangle them in order to identify the relevant spectral structures encoding the potential. This has been achieved in Ref. [205]. Consider the general time evolution of the Wilson loop, which follows from its spectral decomposition

$$i\partial_t W_{\Box}(r,t) = \Phi(r,t) W_{\Box}(r,t).$$
(174)

It contains a complex valued and time dependent function $\Phi(r, t)$. If the potential picture is valid $\Phi(r, t)$ will asymptote to a time independent quantity, we identify with the potential

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \Phi(r, t) = V(r).$$
(175)

We wish to understand how the time dependence in $\Phi(r, t)$ affects the shape of the lowest lying peak, which encodes the potential. To this end let us decompose $\Phi(r, t) = V(r) + \phi(r, t)$ into a time dependent part $\phi(r, t)$ which vanishes after a characteristic time $t_{Q\bar{Q}}$ has passed. Only after $t_{Q\bar{Q}}$ have enough gluon exchanges taken place that the retarded field theoretical interaction may be viewed through the coarse grained lens of an instantaneous exchange potential.

We can formally solve Eq. (174) at positive times t > 0. For the solution to be convergent at late times the imaginary part of the potential needs to be negative Im[V](r) < 0. One obtains

$$W_{\Box}(r,t) = \exp\left[-i\left(\operatorname{Re}[V](t)t + \operatorname{Re}[\sigma](r,t)\right) - |\operatorname{Im}[V](r)|t + \operatorname{Im}[\sigma](r,t)\right].$$

where the function $\sigma(r, t) = \int_0^t \phi(r, t) dt$ is defined from integrating over the time dependent contribution to Φ , and $\sigma_{\infty}(r) = \sigma(r, |t| > t_{Q\bar{Q}}) = \int_0^\infty \phi(r, t) dt$ denotes its asymptotic value. The solution of the Wilson loop at negative times can be directly obtained from the symmetry condition $W_{\Box}(r, -t) = W_{\Box}^*(r, t)$. Now we are ready to solve for the corresponding spectral function, which reads

$$\rho_{\Box}(r,\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \exp\left[i\left(\omega - \operatorname{Re}[V](r)\right)t - i\operatorname{Re}[\sigma](r,|t|)\operatorname{sign}(t) - |\operatorname{Im}[V](r)||t| + \operatorname{Im}[\sigma](r,|t|)\right].$$

We can distinguish two contributions here, one from within the time range $-t_{Q\bar{Q}} < t < t_{Q\bar{Q}}$ and those beyond

$$\rho_{\Box}(r,\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} e^{\operatorname{Im}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \exp\left[i\left(\omega - \operatorname{Re}[V](r)\right)t - |\operatorname{Im}[V](r)||t| - i\operatorname{Re}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)\operatorname{sign}(t)\right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-t_{Q\bar{Q}}}^{t_{Q\bar{Q}}} dt \exp\left[i\left(\omega - \operatorname{Re}[V](r)\right)t - |\operatorname{Im}[V](r)||t|\right] \left(e^{-i\operatorname{Re}[\sigma](r,|t|)\operatorname{sign}(t) + \operatorname{Im}[\sigma](r,|t|)} - e^{-i\operatorname{Re}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)\operatorname{sign}(t) + \operatorname{Im}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)}\right).$$

$$(176)$$

It is possible to solve the integral in the first line analytically, as it extends over the whole time axis. The result corresponds to a well defined peak structure, which encodes the values of the potential. It is this peak structure, which we wish to identify in actual lattice QCD spectral functions and fit the shape around its maximum in the region $(\omega - \text{ReV}(r))t_{Q\bar{Q}} \ll 1$. The integral in the second line will produce a spectral structure, which acts as background to the potential peak. In order to capture its effect we expand the first exponential in the second integral exp $[i(\omega - \text{Re}[V](r))t]$ around the peak frequency. This leads to the following final expression

$$\rho_{\Box}(r,\omega) = \frac{1}{\pi} e^{\operatorname{Im}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)} \frac{|\operatorname{Im}[V](r)| \cos[\operatorname{Re}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)] - (\operatorname{Re}[V](r) - \omega) \sin[\operatorname{Re}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)]}{\operatorname{Im}[V](r)^{2} + (\operatorname{Re}[V](r) - \omega)^{2}} + c_{0}(r) + c_{1}(r)t_{Q\bar{Q}}(\operatorname{Re}[V](r) - \omega) + c_{2}(r)t_{Q\bar{Q}}^{2}(\operatorname{Re}[V](r) - \omega)^{2} + \cdots$$
(177)

The first term, related to the potential, takes the form of a skewed Breit–Wigner and reduces to a naive Breit–Wigner peak only in case that non-potential effects are absent $\partial_t \Phi(r, t) = 0$. In addition to the phase σ_{∞} , when fitting the potential peak structure one needs to be aware of the background terms $c_i(r)$, also arising from the early time dependence of $\Phi(r, t)$. I.e. even in the region close to the tip of the peak, where all $c_i(r)$ with i > 0 can be ignored, the influence of the early time physics influences the spectral shape through c_0 and $\text{Re}[\sigma_{\infty}](r)$, which implies that these two coefficients have to be included no matter what fitting range is chosen. In early attempts of extracting the potential e.g. in Ref. [206] the authors were not aware of this fact, which led to results overestimating the values of the real part of the potential.

While at first sight it is not clear what kind of potential results from inserting Eq. (177) into Eq. (173) it turns out that thanks to the late time limit, none of the coefficients $c_i(r)$, nor the terms with σ_{∞} contribute and a time independent potential emerges. In essence, only the principal part from the skewed Lorentzian, i.e. the term with one negative power of ω survives.

Let us benchmark the extraction of the in-medium potential from Wilson loop spectral functions within HTL perturbation theory, where both the values of the potential and the spectral function are known analytically. To this end in Ref. [197] the authors computed ρ_{\Box} at $T = 2.33T_{C} = 630$ MeV using a UV cutoff of $\Lambda_{UV} = 5\pi$ GeV to mimic the effects of a lattice regularization, the outcome of which is plotted for different spatial separation distances r = 0.066-0.466 fm in the left panel of Fig. 15. At this temperature deep in the QGP phase one finds a clear signal for a lowest lying spectral peak, which however is immersed in a large background structure. If one now tries to extract the peak position and width from the spectrum to read out the values of Re[V] and Im[V] one finds that a naive Breit–Wigner ansatz will systematically overestimate the real part, as seen in the blue circles in the center panel of Fig. 15. Once the skewing and constant background term are included the actual values are reproduced excellently. Here one should compare to the solid line, which represents the HTL result for Re[V] in the presence of the UV cutoff. The same holds for the extraction of the imaginary part, which, as shown in the left panel, clearly requires the inclusion of the constant background term to yields an accurate result.

On the one hand this analysis in principle bodes well for performing a potential reconstruction in lattice QCD. On the other hand the behavior of the Wilson loop spectrum tells us that the large UV spectral weight will lead to a strong suppression of the Euclidean Wilson loop and in turn it will be very difficult to obtain a good signal to noise ratio at intermediate τ values, where the potential peak signal dominates. The reason for the large (unphysical) background structures in ρ_{\Box} is a class of UV divergences, called cusp divergencies [207–210], which arise from the 90 degree corners of the Wilson loop. The authors of Ref. [197] therefore explored another quantity, the *Wilson line correlator* in Coulomb gauge W_{\parallel} , which corresponds to the Wilson loop with its spatial Wilson lines removed. This in general gauge dependent quantity goes over into the Wilson loop when axial gauge $A_0 = 0$ is chosen. It was found that this quantity at leading order in HTL perturbation theory encodes exactly the same potential peak as the Wilson loop but exhibits a significantly reduced background, as shown in Fig. 16. It is this quantity which currently forms the basis for the extraction of the proper in-medium potential on the lattice. (At T = 0 it has been established [211] that the Wilson line correlator and the Wilson loop encode the same potential also non-perturbatively.)



Fig. 15. (left) The Wilson loop spectral functions evaluated in Hard thermal loop perturbation theory at $T = 2.33T_c$. One can clearly identify a well defined lowest lying peak, which is embedded in a significant background structure. (center) The real-part of the potential obtained from fitting the peak structure in the Wilson loop spectrum using different sets of fitting functions (filled symbols). The solid line corresponds to Re[V] for the same IR and UV regulator used in the perturbative computation. (left) The imaginary part of the potential fitted from the spectral peak (solid symbols). *Source:* Figure reproduced from Ref. [197].



Fig. 16. Spectral function of the Wilson line correlator in Coulomb gauge computed in HTL perturbation theory at $T = 2.33T_{C}$. *Source:* Figure reproduced from Ref. [197].



Fig. 17. Sketch of the extraction strategy for the proper real-time heavy quark potential from lattice QCD Wilson loop correlators. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [212].

We have established that if a potential picture is valid its values can be extracted from spectral functions using appropriate fits to the lowest lying spectral structure. In practice we will turn this argument around and take the presence of a well defined lowest lying peak structure as indication that the late time behavior of the Wilson loop is indeed governed by a simple potential.

The central challenge in lattice QCD based studies of the in-medium potential lies in the reconstruction of the spectral function of the Wilson loop or Wilson lines from the Euclidean time observables. As a simple spectral decomposition of the Wilson loop exists (see Eq. (171)) this task is but one example of the inverse problem discussed in Section 2.4 amenable to both Bayesian spectral reconstruction and the Padé method. The full recipe is sketched in Fig. 17.

The first attempts of extracting spectral functions for the determination of the potential were based on the standard implementation of the MEM by Bryan. Since generally only a small number of simulation datapoints O(10-40) are available, it was found that the restricted SVD search space of the MEM was unable to accurately recover the narrow and strongly peaked spectral feature encoding the potential. Its position was systematically overestimated. The situation improved after an MEM implementation with an extended search space had been developed in Refs. [133,134]. As has been benchmarked with HTL correlator data in Ref. [197] this leads to more accurate values for Re[V]. On the other hand even with an extended search space the MEM was found to produce spectral features, which resemble Gaussian peaks [206], even if the underlying spectral function contains a Breit–Wigner like structure. This is a serious drawback, since a Gaussian peak inserted into Eq. (173) will lead to the incorrect conclusion that the imaginary part of the potential



Fig. 18. (top row) Reconstructed spectral functions from anisotropic *SU*(3) simulations of Wilson lines in Coulomb gauge at (left) low temperatures $T_c > T = 113$ MeV in the confined phase and (right) at high temperatures $T_c < T = 406$ MeV in the deconfined phase. In both cases a well defined lowest lying peak structure is visible at all separation distances $r/a \in [1, 17]$. (bottom row) The corresponding values of the (left) real part and (right) imaginary part of the potential. For better readability the former has been shifted by hand in y- the latter in x-direction for different temperatures. Errorbars denote statistical uncertainty, while gray errorbands represent systematic uncertainties such as default model dependence. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [217].

grows with time. It took the development of a completely redesigned reconstruction approach, the BR method, to achieve reconstructions that faithfully reproduce not only the overall functional form, but also quantitatively the position and the width of the encoded peaks (see Ref. [128]). Note that, as is common for all spectral reconstruction approaches, the robust determination of the peak width requires input data of a much higher quality than the determination of the peak position.

The first extraction of the potential from Wilson line correlators using both the BR method and the appropriate fitting strategy was presented in Ref. [213]. This study on the one hand investigated lattice Wilson correlators from pure gauge SU(3) fixed scale simulations on $N_s = 32$ lattices with the naive anisotropic Wilson action. A relatively fine lattice spacing a = 0.039 fm at $\beta = 7$ and renormalized anisotropy $\xi_r = 4$ was chosen as originally introduced in Ref. [214]. On the other hand the study used fixed box simulations on isotropic $N_s = 48$ grids with $N_f = 2 + 1$ flavors of light quarks ($m_\pi \approx 300$ Mev) described by the asqtad action originally deployed in Ref. [215] (HotQCD collaboration). Updated results for quenched QCD on lattices with significantly larger physical volume using the parameter set $\beta = 6.1$, a = 0.097 and $\xi_b = 4$ originally tuned in Ref. [216] were subsequently discussed in [217], clarifying the effect of finite volume artifacts in the previous studies.

In Fig. 18 we show in the top row concrete examples of reconstructed spectral functions from quenched lattice simulations of Wilson line correlators in Coulomb gauge from Ref. [217]. In order to avoid possible divergent terms, as well as to reduce the influence of lattice artifacts, the reconstruction is carried out by excluding the first $\tau = 0$ and last correlator point $\tau = 1/T$ along imaginary time. The effects of regularization are checked by carrying out the reconstruction not just with a constant default model but also deploying polynomials $m(\omega) = m_0(\omega_{\min} - 1)^{\gamma}$ in frequency with positive and negative powers γ , as well as different amplitudes m_0 .

The left panel corresponds to a temperature of T = 113 MeV deep in the confined phase, while the right panel contains the results at T = 406 MeV, where the gluonic medium is already deconfined ($T_c^{\beta=6.1} = 290$ MeV). The curves of different shades correspond to different spatial separation distances between $r/a = 1 \dots 17$, from darkest to lightest. One clearly sees that in all cases a well defined lowest lying peak is recovered, which has the form of a skewed Breit–Wigner. In turn the spectral reconstruction indicates that indeed a potential description emerges at sufficiently late Minkowski times. Note that due to the fixed scale approach there are much less datapoints $N_{\tau} = 20$ vs. $N_{\tau} = 72$ available at high temperatures but the BR method is still able to identify a well defined lowest lying peak, as well as indications of the shoulder structures

Dependence of W_{II} on Gauge Fixing Tolerance Δ (8 smpl. avg.)



Fig. 19. The Wilson line correlator at spatial separation distance $r/a_s = 2$ in quenched QCD ($\beta = 7, \chi = 3.5, N_s = 32, N_\tau = 24$) at T = 839 MeV. The different datasets correspond to different deviations Δ from the Coulomb gauge fixing condition (colored points). The slope of the correlator, corresponding to the real-part of the potential is fitted by a single exponential in the range given in the legend and shown as solid line. One finds that while the color singlet free energies, defined from the correlator at $\tau = \beta$ depend on the position in gauge space beyond statistical errors, the slope remains unchanged.

at higher frequencies akin to what was found in the HTL computations in Fig. 16. Using the fit ansatz of Eq. (177) the real and imaginary parts can be estimated, as shown in the left and right panel of the bottom row respectively. The datapoints of Re[V] are shifted by hand in y-direction for better readability. Correctly renormalized they take on the same values at small distances, recovering the T = 0 behavior there. The Im[V] values on the other hand are shifted by hand in x-direction, they originally all vanish at distance r = 0. The errorbars denote statistical uncertainties based on a Jackknife resampling, while the gray errorbands encode systematic uncertainty, among others the dependence on the choice of default model.

At this point let us focus on the qualitative behavior seen in the real- and imaginary parts. In the confined phase the potential exhibits a Cornell like behavior with a Coulombic part at small distances r < 0.3 fm and a linearly rising part at larger distances. In the absence of dynamical quarks no string breaking occurs. Interestingly the lattice results indicate that below T_c in the absence of deconfined color charges no significant screening occurs. The heavy mass of the glueball excitations suppresses their interference with the binding of static quarks. Once the deconfined phase is reached at T = 295 MeV a very different behavior emerges, the real part starts to flatten off and approaches a constant at large distances, indicative of screening. Such a rather abrupt change in behavior is interpreted as a manifestation of the phase transition that emerges in the infinite volume limit.

Another interesting finding is that Re[V] lies quite close to the color singlet free energies extracted on the same lattices (not shown). This is a nontrivial finding, as the data point $W_{\parallel}(r, \tau = \beta)$, which encodes the free energies, is not even included in the reconstruction of the spectral function. There exists however a clear difference in behavior between F_1 and Re[V] in the confined phase of quenched QCD. As illustrated in Ref. [218] the former shows a clear overshoot of its T = 0 value. Since it is expected that for a microscopic interaction thermal effects lead at most to a weakening of the potential, it is reassuring that Re[V](T > 0) indeed does not show a similar overshoot.

The extraction of the imaginary part is much less robust. Below T_c an artificial width is present in the reconstructed spectra, which changes with the choice of default model. I.e. no significant signal for a finite imaginary part is found below T < 290 MeV. On the other hand in the deconfined phase, the spectral width grows significantly and Ref. [217] concludes that indeed a finite Im[V] has been observed. Note that these results are obtained at a finite lattice spacing and volume and that so far no continuum limit extrapolation for the proper potential in quenched QCD exists.

The use of the Wilson line correlator to extract the potential begs the question of how the choice of gauge influences the analysis outcome. To shed light on this issue we present in Fig. 19 the Wilson line correlator in quenched QCD from an anisotropic $32^3 \times 24$ lattice at $\beta = 7$ and $\xi_r = 4$. The colored points correspond to a spatial separation of $r/a_s = 2$. After iteratively fixing to Coulomb gauge down to a tolerance of $\Delta = 10^{-15}$ (blue squares) we act with a random gauge transformation and again step towards Coulomb gauge computing the Wilson line correlator on the way for different tolerances $\Delta = 10^{-1}$, 10^{-2} , 10^{-6} . One clearly sees that the absolute value of the correlator changes as the gauge is changed. This e.g. affects the value of the color singlet free energies, which are defined from the logarithm of the correlator at the latest available Euclidean time. Their values change beyond the statistical errorbars. At the same time, an inspection of the behavior of the correlator in the intermediate τ region, which is where the low lying spectral peak dominates, reveals that its slope remains unaffected by the deviation from Coulomb gauge. In turn the real-part of the potential in this example is equally unaffected. The picture that emerges is that the Wilson line correlator contains



Fig. 20. Estimates for the real (left) and imaginary parts (right) of the real-time potential from dynamical QCD. The values of Re[*V*] are shifted manually in *y*-direction, those of Im[*V*] in *x*-direction for better readability. The top two datasets in the left panel correspond to two T = 0 results at different lattice spacing. Since only $N_{\tau} = 12$ datapoints underly the necessary spectral reconstruction the values of Im[*V*] are considered to be tentative only. Errorbars encode both the statistical, as well as estimates of the systematic uncertainty. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [219].

both gauge dependent and gauge independent information. The position of its lowest lying spectral peak appears to be insensitive to a change of gauge, while its tails at low frequencies (dominating the $\tau = \beta$ regime) as well as the spectral structures at high frequencies (dominating at small τ) are modified significantly. This crosscheck, while far from a proof, is at least an indication that the extraction of the real part of the potential from Wilson line correlators in Coulomb gauge is fathomable.

First estimates for the real and imaginary parts of the real-time potential in full QCD have been presented in Ref. [213,219]. The results for the real part are shown in the left panel of Fig. 20 with the values at different temperatures shifted by hand in *y*-direction for better readability. The two topmost datasets correspond to T = 0 simulations at different lattice spacings. As only $N_{\tau} = 12$ Euclidean time points were available in that study the extracted values for Im[V] are taken to be tentative only and are plotted in the right panel. Those values are shifted by hand in *x*-direction for different temperatures, as they all start out as zero at the origin.

At very low temperatures a Cornell-like behavior is found but no indications of string breaking up to r = 1.2 fm. The relatively heavy pion mass pushes the string breaking radius to higher values in this case. The in-medium behavior of Re[V] in the presence of dynamical fermions shows differences compared to quenched QCD, as expected. I.e. instead of an abrupt onset of screening one finds a smooth decrease of the string like part from the hadronic to the QGP regime. At the highest temperature $T = 1.66T_c = 286$ MeV the values show a clear trend towards a constant at large distances, indicative of Debye screening. Again it is found that the values of Re[V] lie close to those of the color singlet free energies, without however matching exactly. In the presence of dynamical fermions F_1 also does not show an overshoot of its T = 0 values anymore, behaving more in line with Re[V]. There are signs of a finite imaginary part above T_c , however the uncertainties, as indicated by the sizable errorbars, are still large.

The analysis of the real-time potential in full QCD is currently ongoing on realistic high statistic lattices from the HotQCD and TUMQCD collaboration, a status update has been presented at the 2018 Quark Matter conference in Ref. [220]. Using the HISQ action to implement $N_f = 2+1$ light quarks flavors with almost physical pion mass $m_{\pi} = 160$ MeV on $N_s = 48$ and $N_{\tau} = 12$ (see [8]), as well as $N_{\tau} = 16$ grids (see [221]), a large number of configurations ($N_{conf} = 4 - 9 \times 10^3$) has been generated. Deploying a fixed box approach, the ensembles span a temperature range between T = 150-1451 MeV, much further than previous studies. In the regime T > 198 MeV spectral structures become extended enough that the BR method starts to exhibit ringing artifacts, as it tries to reconstruct these features from a very small number of input datapoints. Since Bayesian methods only improve as both the number of datapoints is increased and the errors on the input is reduced, the available high statistics alone cannot remedy this situation. However with sub percent errors in the correlators one may expect the Padé reconstruction approach of Section 2.4.2 to be a viable alternative.

The feasibility of the Padé approach is tested by using the HTL Wilson line correlators corresponding to the spectral functions at $T = 2.33T_C$ given in Fig. 16. Discretized with the same $N_r = 12$ points available on the lattice and distorted with Gaussian noise that leads to constant relative errors $\Delta W/W = 10^{-2}$, the real- and imaginary part of the HTL potential have been estimated in the left and right panel of Fig. 21 respectively. Surprisingly even with uncertainties much larger than in the actual lattice data, the Padé method manages to capture Re[V] within its errorbars. The average value slightly overestimates the potential though. On the other hand the spectral width, i.e. the imaginary part of the potential is not captured well at all by the Padé with $N_r = 12$. Further tests have revealed that if the number of input points is increased to $N_\tau = 48$ an acceptable reconstruction of Im[V] can be achieved up to $r \approx 0.4$ fm.

Deploying the Padé reconstruction to the actual lattice data one obtains the values for Re[V] shown as colored symbols in the left panel of Fig. 22. Again the values are shifted manually in *y*-direction for better readability. The smooth transition, observed already in simulations with higher pion masses, from a Cornell behavior at small temperatures (upper



Fig. 21. Feasibility tests of the Padé reconstruction method based on Euclidean Wilson line correlators computed from HTL perturbation theory. The right panel shows the successfully reconstructed real-part from input data with $\Delta W/W = 10^{-2}$ relative error (an error much worse than present in the actual lattice data). The right panel on the other hand shows that the Padé method is unable to capture the imaginary part from $N_{\tau} = 12$ datapoints.

Source: Figures adapted from Ref. [220].



Fig. 22. The current best estimates of the real-time potential from realistic HISQ lattices. The real part (left) as obtained from the Padé reconstruction (colored symbols) together with the color singlet free energies (gray circles). The tentative estimates of the imaginary part (right) are obtained with the BR method, at $T \le 198$ MeV where it is free from ringing artifacts. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [220].

datasets) to a Debye screened behavior at high temperatures (lower datasets) persists. In the absence of a default model dependence, the errorbars here correspond to the combined statistical uncertainty from a Jackknife resampling, as well as from removing one or two datapoints from the large ω region of the Matsubara correlator used in the Padé method. Within those still sizable errorbars the values of Re[V] are compatible with the color singlet free energies shown as gray filled circles. Since the Padé approach at $N_{\tau} = 12$, 16 does not allow us to capture the imaginary part in a meaningful fashion, we deploy the BR method at those temperatures, which are free of ringing artifacts, i.e. up to T = 198 MeV. The tentative values obtained after subtracting the artificial spectral width, induced by the spectral reconstruction method at T = 0, are shown in the right panel of Fig. 22, indicating the presence of a finite Im[V] in the QGP phase.

The values of the real-time potential on HISQ lattices so far have not been published, as the full uncertainty budget of the computation has not been established. In particular the question remains whether the spectral reconstruction from a discrete set of delta peaks leads to artifacts as of yet unaccounted for. This analysis is currently work in progress.

The spectral reconstruction presents an ill-posed inverse problem and both the Bayesian as well as the Padé reconstruction can introduce methods artifacts into the extracted potential values that may not have been spotted by mock data analyses so far. Thus there are ongoing efforts to devise extraction strategies that operate directly on the Euclidean correlator or its moments, denoted here as μ_n . The first moment is nothing but the effective potential, the second moment is defined as $\mu_2 = -\partial_{\tau}\mu_1$. A first study has been presented at the Hard Probes conference 2013 as Ref. [222], where the Wilson line correlator in the QGP phase was fitted using the HTL functional form of the spectral function with modified

frequency arguments $\rho_{\parallel}^{\text{HTL}}(\lambda(\omega - E))$. λ and *E* are taken as fit parameters. At high temperatures, where QCD becomes weakly coupled and on very fine lattices, where the cutoff is far from the relevant spectral structures, this approach is promising. On the other hand around the crossover transition the question remains whether such an ansatz is well justified. In a follow up study presented at Quark Matter 2017 as Ref. [223], a Breit–Wigner fit without skewing has been performed in order to reproduce the first and second moments. In both studies the values for Re[V] that have been obtained are significantly larger than those from the direct spectral reconstruction and lie close to the T = 0 results. On the one hand the use of a Breit–Wigner without skewing may partially contribute such a larger value. On the other hand these result pose the question whether in general fits of a discrete spectral function composed of delta peaks using a continuous ansatz suffer from sparseness in frequency. At the Lattice 2019 conference an interesting alternative proposal has been put forward [224,225], which by combining Euclidean Wilson correlators in the forward $W(\tau)$ and backward $W(\beta - \tau)$ direction proposes to single out the real- and imaginary parts from a plateau fit of the corresponding Euclidean data itself. Progress in direct methods would indeed be highly appreciated to reduce the systematic uncertainties arising from the spectral reconstructions.

Analytic parametrization of the in-medium potential

At first sight the advent of a first principles definition of a proper real-time in-medium interquark potential and its extraction from lattice QCD appears to render *potential models* irrelevant. On closer inspection however it turns out that only their role has shifted. Lattice QCD results come in the form of discrete datapoints for Re[V] and Im[V] which cannot be directly used for solving e.g. a Schrödinger equation for the forward quarkonium correlator $D^>$. I.e. the first role of potential models today is to provide an *analytic parametrization* of lattice QCD results, best described by as small as possible a number of parameters. The main parameter responsible for the in-medium modification is often called the Debye mass, in analogy with the original works of Debye and Hückel [150]. If secondly the construction of the potential model provides an intuitive physical picture to explain the temperature dependence of the lattice potential, it may help us interpret the otherwise "black box" results arising from the numerical simulation. The third role for model potentials can lie in opening up avenues to explore the values of the potential in parameter ranges, where lattice QCD simulations are currently unavailable, be it at finite Baryo-chemical potential or finite center of mass velocity.

Over the past two decades several studies have put forward proposals on how to construct appropriate analytic parameterizations of the interquark potential at finite temperature. Before the 2007 discovery that the potential is complex valued, the focus lay on capturing its real part. The starting point of all these models is the realization that the T = 0 potential is very well described by the Cornell form

$$V^{\text{vac}}(r) = -\frac{\alpha_s}{r} + \sigma r + c, \tag{178}$$

with $\alpha_S = C_F g^2/4\pi$ the (running) strong coupling constant defined in accord with the phenomenology literature. σ denotes the string-tension and *c* is an additive constant. These three parameters will have to be determined using T = 0 lattice QCD simulations.

The first work in this context is the study by Karsch, Mehr and Satz [226]. Using arguments based on the twodimensional Schwinger model, an exponential screening of both the Coulombic and string like part was proposed

$$V^{\rm KMS}(r) = \frac{\sigma}{m_D} \left(1 - e^{-m_D r} \right) - \frac{\alpha_S}{r} e^{-m_D r},$$
(179)

which depends on a single temperature dependent parameter m_D and reduces to the Cornell form as $m_D \rightarrow 0$. The in-medium string part of the KMS potential has also been argued to arise from a non vanishing gluon condensate as proposed in [227].

The KMS expression for the string real part may be obtained by modeling the quark–antiquark interactions as being effectively one-dimensional and string like as proposed in version 1 of Ref. [228]. In addition Ref. [229] suggests that an entropic force may influence the interquark binding. Using an ad-hoc identification of the real part of the potential with thermodynamic quantities such an entropic term may be added and as shown in Ref. [228] leads to

$$\operatorname{Re}V^{\operatorname{SB}}(r) = \frac{2\sigma}{m_D} \left(1 - e^{-m_D r}\right) - \sigma r e^{-m_D r}.$$
(180)

Compared to the KMS result this expression shows a weaker dependence on m_D . I.e. using the same value for m_D KMS shows a stronger deviation from the $m_D = 0$ behavior. The same form of the potential had been proposed by Bazow and Strickland in Ref. [230] using a different line of reasoning. They start from the KMS potential and subtract an entropy related term, arriving at the expression in Eq. (180).

Another set of studies have exploited the fact that the concept of Gauss-law, well known from the study of classical electrodynamics, can be extended (for a derivation see Ref. [231]) to potentials with arbitrary monomial powers in the separation distance. In Ref. [232] for the first time the Gauss-law was combined with Debye–Hückel theory to describe the in-medium screening of the Cornell potential. The resulting functional form did not yet allow to capture the behavior of the color singlet free energy in lattice QCD, which at that time was taken as a proxy for Re[*V*]. Introducing an additional free fit parameter κ improved the agreement with numerical data, but its relation to m_D remained unclear.

The first step towards consistently parametrizing a complex valued potential was taken in Ref. [233]. It is based on linear response theory where the in-medium electric field is computed by dividing the vacuum potential by the static dielectric constant of the medium in momentum space (see e.g. Ref. [41])

$$V(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{V^{\text{vac}}(\mathbf{p})}{\varepsilon(\mathbf{p}, m_D)}.$$
(181)

The authors propose to use the permittivity of a weakly coupled QGP obtained from HTL perturbation theory

$$\varepsilon^{-1}(p, m_D) = \frac{p^2}{p^2 + m_D^2} - i\pi T \frac{p m_D^2}{\left(p^2 + m_D^2\right)^2}.$$
(182)

In this expression all medium effects are governed by a single temperature dependent parameter, the Debye mass m_D . Since ε is complex valued, so will be the in-medium potential. Computing the inverse Fourier transform separately for the Coulombic and string like part and subsequently adding the two contributions leads to

$$\operatorname{Re}V^{\mathrm{TKP}}(r) = -\alpha_{\mathrm{S}}m_{D}\left(\frac{e^{-m_{D}r}}{r} + 1\right) + \frac{2\sigma}{m_{D}}\left(\frac{e^{-m_{D}r} - 1}{r} + 1\right),$$
(183)

$$\mathrm{Im}V^{\mathrm{TKP}}(r) = -\alpha_{\mathrm{S}}T\phi(m_{\mathrm{D}}r) + \frac{2\sigma T}{m_{\mathrm{D}}^{2}}\chi_{0}(m_{\mathrm{D}}r).$$
(184)

 ϕ is the same function that appears in the HTL result in Eq. (170) and χ_0 is given by

$$\chi_0(x) = 2 \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z \left(z^2 + 1\right)^2} \left(1 - \frac{\sin(xz)}{xz}\right).$$
(185)

This potential model suffers from two drawbacks. The first and most critical is the fact that the in-medium real part arising from the string-like contribution of the Cornell potential exhibits an unscreened 1/r term, which is both counter intuitive and also does not reflect the actual behavior found in the lattice QCD potential. It appears that the linear response relation alone does not yet self consistently implement screening. The second issue is related to the fact that the imaginary part arising from the vacuum string diverges logarithmically. As we will discuss below this can be remedied by implementing string breaking.

Another proposal using direct Fourier transforms was put forward in version 2 of [228]. The authors add a term to the perturbative gluon propagator, which at T = 0 behaves as $\propto p^{-4}$. At T > 0 it is washed out in momentum space by appropriately placed factors of m_D . In vacuum this implements the Cornell potential ansatz. At finite temperature it represents an independent way of incorporating medium effects into the string part of the potential. In practice this setup recovers the KMS real-part and leads in addition to a modified imaginary part, which remains finite in the large distance limit.

In order to implement screening based on the HTL permittivity in a self consistent fashion Ref. [234] proposed to return to the generalized Gauss law, combining the ideas of the Debye–Hückel theory from [232] with the use of the HTL permittivity from [233]. At that time the authors however were not able to solve the resulting differential equations without introducing an ad-hoc assumption about the form of the string part at finite temperature. Only recently Ref. [235] succeeded in that respect, starting from the generalized Gauss law

$$\nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\mathbf{E}^{\text{vac}}}{r^{a+1}}\right) = 4\pi q \delta(\mathbf{r}) \,, \tag{186}$$

applicable to electric fields $\mathbf{E}^{\text{vac}}(r) = -\nabla V^{\text{vac}}(r) = qr^{a-1}\hat{r}$. For a = -1, $q = \alpha_s$ it reduces to the standard Gauss law for the Coulomb potential, but also accommodates a linearly rinsing potential via a = 1, $q = \sigma$. The expression for general powers of the separation distance a in terms of the Gauss-law operator \mathcal{G}_a reads

$$\mathcal{G}_{a}^{\text{vac}}[V] = -\frac{1}{r^{a+1}} \nabla^2 V^{\text{vac}}(r) + \frac{1+a}{r^{a+2}} \nabla V^{\text{vac}}(r) = 4\pi q \delta(\mathbf{r}) \,. \tag{187}$$

The decisive step is to apply the Gauss law operator to the linear response relation of Eq. (181)

$$\mathcal{G}_a[V(r)] = \mathcal{G}_a \int d^3 y \left(V^{\text{vac}}(r-y)\varepsilon^{-1}(y) \right) = 4\pi q \left(\delta * \varepsilon^{-1} \right)(r) = 4\pi q \varepsilon^{-1}(r, m_D).$$
(188)

The second equal sign follow from the fact that the convolution commutes with G_a . Considering the Coulombic and string part separately one thus obtains two sets of differential equations for the in-medium potential

$$-\nabla^2 V_C(r) = 4\pi \alpha_S \varepsilon^{-1}(r, m_D), \tag{189}$$

$$-\frac{1}{r^2}\frac{d^2V_S(r)}{dr^2} = 4\pi\sigma \ \varepsilon^{-1}(r, m_D).$$
(190)

At this point the coordinate space expression for the HTL permittivity is needed, which may be computed from the explicit expression Eq. (182)

Re
$$\varepsilon^{-1}(r, m_D) = -\frac{m_D^2 e^{-m_D r}}{4\pi r},$$
 (191)

$$\operatorname{Im} \varepsilon^{-1}(r, m_D) = -\frac{m_D T}{4r\sqrt{\pi}} G_{1,3}^{2,1} \left(\begin{array}{c} -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, 0 \end{array} \middle| \frac{1}{4} m_D^2 r^2 \right).$$
(192)

Using Eqs. (191) and (192) in Eq. (189) reproduces the original HTL result [15]

$$\operatorname{Re}V_{C}(r) = -\alpha_{S}\left[m_{D} + \frac{e^{-m_{D}r}}{r}\right],$$
(193)

$$ImV_{C}(r) = -\alpha_{S} \left[iT\phi(m_{D}r) \right], \quad \phi(x) = 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} dz \, \frac{z}{\left(z^{2} + 1\right)^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{\sin(xz)}{xz} \right), \tag{194}$$

while for the string part one obtains

$$\operatorname{Re}V_{S}(r) = \frac{2\sigma}{m_{D}} - \frac{e^{-m_{D}r} \left(2 + m_{D}r\right)\sigma}{m_{D}},$$
(195)

$$\operatorname{Im} V_{S}(r) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4} m_{D} T \sigma \ r^{3} \ G_{2,4}^{2,2} \left(\begin{array}{c} -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{3}{2}, -1 \end{array} \middle| \ \frac{1}{4} m_{D}^{2} r^{2} \right).$$
(196)

Note that the string in-medium real part obtained here, takes on the same form as Eq. (180). Interestingly this means that a contribution similar to an entropic force terms arises naturally in this model setup.

Added together we arrive at the Gauss-law expression for the complex in-medium potential.

$$\operatorname{Re} V = \operatorname{Re} V_{C} + \operatorname{Re} V_{S} + c, \quad \operatorname{Im} V = \operatorname{Im} V_{C} + \operatorname{Im} V_{S}, \tag{197}$$

in which the values of both Re[V] and Im[V] are governed by a single temperature dependent parameter m_D .

A first inspection of the real-part of the Gauss-law parametrization shows that it smoothly recovers the Cornell potential as $m_D \rightarrow 0$. At short distances, where temperature effects are small it also recovers the T = 0 form. Screening at large distances is reflected in an exponential flattening of $\text{Re}[V] \sim e^{-m_D r}$ governed by m_D . Consistent with expectations, the string contribution to the real part becomes increasingly suppressed at high temperatures and large values of m_D , as it carries an additional factor of $1/m_D$. I.e. eventually the pure HTL result will dominate at high *T*. For the Coulombic Im[*V*], consistent with Landau damping, we find that it asymptotes to a constant at large distances.

Similar to what we had seen in previous attempts of constructing parameterizations of the in-medium potential, also here the naively evaluated string contribution to Im[V] diverges at large distances. Ref. [235] proposed that this behavior is connected with the unphysical and unregulated rise in the Cornell potential at T = 0 and can be remedied by modeling the phenomenon of string breaking. After identifying the IR divergence which underlies the unphysical behavior, it is regularized by introducing the term $\Delta_D = \Delta/m_D$ that effectively cuts off very small momenta, where the Debye mass not already does so

$$ImV_{S}(r, \Delta_{D}) = \frac{\sigma T}{m_{D}^{2}} \chi(m_{D}r, \Delta_{D}), \quad \chi(x) = 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} dp \; \frac{2 - 2\cos(px) - px\sin(px)}{\sqrt{p^{2} + \Delta_{D}^{2}} \left(p^{2} + 1\right)^{2}}.$$
(198)

The expression for Im[V] above has been rewritten in a very similar form to the Coulombic contribution, i.e. as a temperature dependent prefactor with dimensions of energy, which is multiplied by a dimensionless momentum integral. The regularization condition is simply that this dimensionless integral shall asymptote to unity for $r \to \infty$, as does the Coulombic one. This leads to the temperature independent value of

$$\Delta_D = \Delta/m_D \simeq 3.0369. \tag{199}$$

Consistent with expectation, based on this regularization, the imaginary part goes over to the pure HTL result, as temperature is increased.

Up to this point the running of the strong coupling in the T = 0 Cornell potential has not yet been considered. Upcoming lattice QCD results on grids with very fine lattice spacing however will require to take this effect into account, as already indicated by the study of color singlet free energies in [236]. I.e. the parameter α_S needs to be elevated to a function of distance $\alpha_S(r)$, which for the purposes of the Gauss-law model is written as a power series

$$V^{\text{vac}}(r) = -\frac{\alpha_{S}(r)}{r} + c + \sigma r = \dots - \frac{\alpha_{S}^{(-1)}}{r^{2}} - \frac{\alpha_{S}^{(0)}}{r} + \left(c - \alpha_{S}^{(1)}\right) + \left(\sigma - \alpha_{S}^{(2)}\right)r + \dots ,$$
(200)

where contributions from $\alpha_s^{(1)}$ and $\alpha_s^{(2)}$ can be absorbed into the already present vacuum parameters. To accommodate the terms besides a = -1, 1 the corresponding Gauss law operator \mathcal{G}_a needs to be considered, which leads to the following



Fig. 23. (left) The Gauss law fit of the real-part of the proper real-time interquark potential in the temperature range of $T = 0.85...1.64T_c = 148...286$ MeV (colored solid lines). Combined uncertainty from T = 0 and T > 0 fits shown as errorbands. The T = 0 calibration (gray solid lines) is based on the two dataset depicted by gray symbols. (right) The corresponding best fit values of the Debye mass parameter m_D . Note that the crossover transition $T_c \approx 174$ MeV occurs at higher than physical values on these lattices. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [235].

closed expression for the in-medium Re[V] and Im[V]

$$\operatorname{Re}V_{a}(r) = c_{0} + c_{a}\frac{r^{a}}{a} - \frac{q}{(m_{D})^{a}}\left[\Gamma(a, m_{D}r) + \Gamma(1 + a, m_{D}r)\right], \qquad \Gamma(s, x) = \int_{x}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}t \ t^{s-1}e^{-t}, \tag{201}$$

$$\operatorname{Im}V_{a}(r) = c_{0} + \frac{1}{m_{D}} \left[c_{a} \frac{m_{D}r^{a}}{a} - \sqrt{\pi} q r^{a} T G_{2,4}^{2,2} \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{2}, 1 - \frac{a}{2} \\ \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 0, -\frac{a}{2} \end{array} \middle| \frac{1}{4} m_{D}^{2} r^{2} \right) \right].$$
(202)

The divergence of the in-medium imaginary part for $a \ge 1$ requires a similar regularization strategy as discussed above for the string like part.

The main benchmark for any potential parametrization is whether it is able to faithfully reproduce the non-perturbative lattice QCD data. Since the model presented here operates with a single temperature dependent parameter m_D this is non-trivial. Based on the published data from [213,219], plotted in Fig. 20, the Gauss-law parametrization presented here has shown to succeed better in this task than the proposals of Ref. [233] and Ref. [234]. For the determination of the vacuum parameters α_S , σ and c of the Cornell potential, two low temperature ensembles were utilized. It was found that at the distance scales 0.1 < r < 1.2 fm available on these lattices and within the uncertainties of the reconstruction the running of the coupling is negligible. I.e. as shown in the left panel of Fig. 23 the naive Cornell ansatz reproduces the two T = 0 datasets (gray) very well. Since the results here are not continuum extrapolated a small lattice spacing dependence of the vacuum parameters is observed.

Once the values of α_S , σ and c are set, a fit of the single temperature dependent parameter m_D allows one to reproduce the values of Re[V] equally well (solid lines). The errorbands include both the uncertainty of the T = 0 and T > 0 fits. interestingly Eqs. (193) and (195) describe the functional form of the real-part not only at asymptotically large distances but also in the intermediate regime, where a remnant of the confining behavior persists even above T_C . An inspection by eye previously revealed a smooth transition of Re[V] from Cornell to Debye screened behavior in Fig. 20. Consistently a finite value of m_D is observed even in the hadronic phase. The best fit values are plotted in the right panel of Fig. 23. Note that on the lattices considered here the critical temperature lies at around $T_C \approx 174$ MeV.

The m_D parameter introduced in the Gauss-law parametrization is of phenomenological origin and not equally rigorously related to the concept of screening, as e.g. the screening mass m_E defined in Section 3.1. It simply attempts to summarize the in-medium modification as observed in the numerically determined lattice potential but should reduce to the perturbatively defined Debye mass at high temperatures (where the Gauss-law parametrization goes over into the HTL potential). Bearing these differences, as well as the fact that the results are not continuum extrapolated in mind, we may compare m_D to the NLO prediction from perturbation theory, as well as the values extracted from both singlet free energies and the electric correlator C_{E-} . What we find is that approaching T_C from above, the Gauss-law parameter m_D/T takes on smaller and smaller values, consistent with the fact that Re[V] eventually approaches the Cornell form within the hadronic phase. A similar downward trend is not observed in neither m_S or m_E so far. At temperatures well above T_C the ratio here takes on slightly smaller values than those arising in m_S or m_E but still is larger than the NLO perturbative prediction.

Since both Re[V] as well as Im[V] are controlled by m_D , the Gauss-law parametrization enables an additional sanity check. Once the values of the real-part have been fitted by tuning m_D we can compute a prediction for the imaginary part.



Fig. 24. The Gauss-law prediction for Im[V] (solid lines) from fits of the m_D parameter to Re[V]. The tentative values of the imaginary part from lattice QCD simulations with the asqtad action are given as colored symbols. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [235].

As shown in Fig. 24, a (surprisingly) good agreement between the prediction of Eqs. (194) and (198) (solid lines) and the tentative values of the imaginary part from the lattice (colored symbols) down to temperatures well within the hadronic phase is indeed found.

After all it appears that the Gauss-law parametrization provides a efficient prescription to summarize the in-medium behavior of the non-perturbative in-medium heavy quark potential based on three vacuum parameters, as well as the temperature dependent Debye mass m_D .

Non effective field theory definitions of the potential

So far we have focused on the heavy quark potential defined in the context of non-relativistic effective field theories of QCD. As discussed in Section 2.2 the appeal of using such EFTs lies in their systematic power counting, which allows well controlled matching to QCD using expansions in the heavy quark mass (HQET) or heavy quark velocity (NRQCD). The static potential $V_s^{(0)}$ represents the lowest order Wilson coefficient in this sense for pNRQCD.

On the other hand there are two other types of potentials found in the literature, which we will briefly discuss in the following. The first utilizes a relativistic notion of a potential based on the concept of the Bethe–Salpeter (BS) equation and the corresponding BS wavefunction. The second class defines the potential from the propagation of the time evolution of an analogue of heavy quarks using the AdS/CFT conjecture.

The Bethe–Salpeter equation has been developed to treat the scattering, as well as bound state formation of two particles in a manifest relativistic fashion (for a review see e.g. [237]). The starting point is the time ordered four-point function $D = \langle \Omega | \phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_4 | \Omega \rangle$ of the involved fields in vacuum $| \Omega \rangle$. It represents the transition amplitude of going from two asymptotic incoming particles with relative four-momentum *p* and total four momentum *P* to two asymptotic outgoing ones with relative momentum *q*. Rearranging its perturbative expansion yields an implicit relation

$$D(p,q;P) = G(\frac{1}{2}P+p)G(\frac{1}{2}P-p)\delta^{(4)}(p-q) + \int d^4k V(p,k;P)D(k,q;P)G(\frac{1}{2}P+p)G(\frac{1}{2}P-p),$$
(203)

where the sum of all irreducible two-particle diagrams has already been suggestively assigned the letter V. G(k, P) denotes the propagator of the involved fields. In order to describe the formation of a bound state ψ from the particles of ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 the BS wavefunction $\Phi = \langle \Omega | \phi_1 \phi_2 | \psi \rangle$ is considered instead, for which a similar recursive definition as in Eq. (203) can be derived. It then acts as the relativistic generalization of the wavefunction of the Schrödinger equation.

Since it is not possible to include all diagrams in *V* in practice, a truncation needs to be employed. The ladder approximation is the most common one. There the G(k, P) are taken to be the free field Feynman propagators of the underlying fields and only single particle interactions are included in *V*. In general the notion of a potential emerges if the diagrams resummed in the interaction Kernel *V* lead to a time independent and local quantity in position space. Note that for heavy quarks such a potential would contain not only the contributions from static interactions of the $m \to \infty$ limit but also correction due to finite velocity, spin etc. that are absent in $V_s^{(0)}$.

The BS wavefunction has been used to extract potential-like interaction kernels from non-perturbative T = 0 lattice QCD simulations, a procedure that involves two steps of reasoning. First, if the time evolution of the BS wavefunction in an interacting theory proceeds according to a Schrödinger equation with interaction potential then this potential can be

reverse engineered from the computed values of Φ . Secondly, at T = 0 the evolution in Minkowski time and in Euclidean time are governed by the same potential, i.e. V may be read off from an appropriate imaginary time correlation function. Both in the study of nucleon–nucleon interactions [238] (HAL-QCD collaboration) and for charmonium in vacuum this strategy has been deployed [239–243].

At finite temperature the so called T-matrix approach has been developed to describe both quarkonium and open heavy flavor particles (for a recent overview see [244]). It starts from the fact that the Bethe–Salpeter transition amplitude is related to the scattering S-matrix, whose nontrivial part is christened the T-matrix. The ladder approximation is deployed for both light and heavy degrees of freedom in the system. The interaction diagrams for the T-matrix are expressed by using the free finite temperature quark and gluon propagators *G*. In this approach the interaction kernel for both light and heavy quarks is modeled by a real-valued two-body potential that implements screening with different screening masses for the Coulombic m_D and string like part m'_D , as well as a third parameter c_s to take into account string breaking effects

$$V^{\rm RL} = -\alpha_S \frac{e^{-m_D r}}{r} - \frac{\sigma}{m'_D} e^{-m'_D r - (c_S m'_D r)^2}$$
(204)

Note that starting with a real-valued microscopic potential here does not preclude the self energies computed via the T-matrix from becoming complex. In turn scattering effects are included in the evolution of meson-meson correlators and one may still find an imaginary part in the potential governing the evolution of the medium averaged quantities.

To determine the values of V^{RL} the authors of Ref. [244] computed several quantities, such as the free energy differences in the presence of heavy quark pairs in the T-matrix approach and compared those to first-principle simulations on the lattice. In addition they compared their computations to open-heavy flavor [245] and bottomonium observables [246]. While the output of the iterative procedure to obtain V^{RL} depended on the initialization according to a weak- or strongcoupling potential ansatz, it shows consistently larger values than those found for $V_S^{(0)}$ directly on the lattice. Since V^{RL} in the T-matrix approach governs not only the interactions of heavy quarks but also those of the light d.o.f. it is actually surprising that not larger differences compared to the static EFT potential are observed.

There have been proposals put forward in Refs. [247,248] to utilize the Euclidean time BS wavefunction at finite temperature to reverse engineer a potential for in-medium quarkonium. While straight forward in implementation, this strategy suffers from the absence of an equally rigorous theoretical connection between the imaginary time and real-time BS wavefunction as at T = 0.

For completeness let us also mention another more exploratory proposal to determine the static interquark potential non-perturbatively. In a two step process first the real-time gluon propagator is determined from the lattice in Landau gauge and subsequently Fourier transformed to obtain the in-medium potential. A first implementation at T = 0 has been presented in Ref. [249] and a finite temperature generalization could make use of gluon spectral function results presented e.g. in [192].

Instead of staying within QCD and being limited to the Euclidean domain for first principles computations, one may go over to QCD-like systems, where strong-coupling computations can be carried out directly in real-time. One such strategy to approximate the physics of QCD at finite temperature and density is based on the AdS/CFT conjecture (for a review see [250]). Roughly speaking, a pair of static test charges propagating in four-dimensional space–time is interacting via a string, which spans between the constituents and which extends into a fifth dimensions, called the bulk. Finite temperature fluctuations are implemented via the presence of a Hawking-radiating black-hole in that extra dimension. At small t'Hooft coupling quarkonium in AdS/CFT is expected to be hydrogen-like as discussed in Ref. [251], so the potential at small distances will be dominated by a Coulombic behavior. At large coupling on the other hand the behavior is more involved. It is found in Ref. [252] that even though the Wilson loop does not exhibit an area law, i.e. confinement is absent in the traditional sense, the asymptotic states of the theory are color neutral with the color charge being screened. The latter fact is understood from a process in analogy with string breaking. Separating two quarks analogues far enough apart breaks the string between them and leads to the generation of a light quark analogue pair, which then compensates for the color charge of the heavy color sources.

The propagation of the static pair of test charges can be described on the one hand by the real-time Wilson loop and on the other hand may be related to the Nambu–Goto action for the connecting string (the first works in this regard being Refs. [253,254]). The further the charges are spatially separated the deeper the string extends into the bulk, approaching the horizon of the black hole. Following e.g. Refs. [255–257], one finds that the finite temperature potential remains purely real until at a threshold distance, an imaginary part abruptly sets in. At this point the string has not yet touched the black hole horizon. Once it does, the computations as of yet cannot be meaningfully continued to further separation distances. For details on the involved difficulties related to identifying the appropriate string configurations contributing to the evolution of the Wilson loop see [257] and references therein.

The decisive advantage of the AdS/CFT computations is that they are carried out directly in a real-time setting in the four-dimensional gauge theory. This gives access to the values of the AdS/CFT counterpart of the QCD static potential defined from the late-time behavior of the real-time Wilson loop. Comparing the definition of the proper real-time potential $V_5^{(0)}$ and the free energies F_1 it has to be stated that what is computed in e.g. Ref. [257] and previous studies is not the free energies but the real-time potential itself. This fact is not correctly reflected in the title of these studies. An important contribution to the field was made in Ref. [257] as the correct renormalization of the potential has been addressed. It leads to a Re[V], which, as physically expected, reduces to the T = 0 result at small separation distances

at any temperature of the thermal medium. Prior to this study a temperature dependent renormalization scheme had been deployed. One current challenge lies in extending the results for the potential in the original AdS/CFT framework to geometries, in which the conformal symmetry is broken, in order to accommodate more realistically the behavior of QCD.

Summary. The proper real-time potential between static quarks at finite temperature in general takes on complex values and its Re[V] shows Debye screening at high temperature. The potential can be extracted non-perturbatively from imaginary time simulations by inspecting the spectral functions ρ_{\Box} of the Wilson loop W_{\Box} . If a well defined lowest lying spectral feature is present and takes on the shape of a skewed Breit-Wigner, its position and width encode the real- and imaginary part of $V_{S}^{(0)}$ respectively. Using improved Bayesian spectral reconstruction methods (BR method) as well as the Padé approximation on Wilson line correlators in Coulomb gauge, first estimates of Re[V] and Im[V] in quenched and dynamical OCD with $N_f = 2 + 1$ light flavors have been obtained. In both cases well defined spectral peaks have been observed at all temperatures investigated. A transition from a Cornell to a Debye screened behavior is found in Re[V] and as expected it proceeds relatively abruptly in the quenched and smoothly in the dynamical case. All studies so far report indications of a finite imaginary part for $T > T_c$. The in-medium behavior of the potential can be well reproduced by means of simple potential models. One successful example is the Gauss-law parametrization. Combining self consistently the Cornell ansatz at T = 0 with the HTL medium permittivity it reproduces the T and r dependence of the lattice data using a single temperature dependent fit parameter m_D , identified with the Debye mass in the high temperature limit. m_D/T on the lattice is found to approach zero shortly below T_C and at $T > T_C$ takes on larger values than predicted by NLO perturbation theory. Alternative non-EFT potentials based on the Bethe-Salpeter equation, the T-matrix approach and the AdS/CFT correspondence have been studied in detail in the literature.

3.3. Quarkonium in-medium properties

Up to this point we have investigated quark binding and screening of color fields in the context of static color sources. With these preparations at hand, we take the next step in this section, and shed light on the in-medium properties of realistic quarkonium with finite mass. To this end we will investigate quarkonium spectral functions, comparing those at T = 0 with those at T > 0 so that changes in their peak structures reveal the influence that the medium exerts. This section is divided into four subsections presenting computations of heavy quarkonium spectral functions according to the involved compromise between accuracy and precision.

We will start out with quarkonium formulated fully relativistically in lattice QCD. This approach does not entail any truncations and in principle is able to reproduce in-medium quarkonium properties highly accurately. We will see however that the numerical effort required to extract spectral functions is extremely high and has so far limited the quantitative insight into in-medium spectral properties of individual states. To obtain an understanding of the overall in-medium modification among quarkonium states with the same quantum numbers, the Euclidean time correlation functions will also be studied.

The second approach we consider is the effective field theory NRQCD discretized on the lattice. While still challenging, the extraction of spectral functions from its meson current correlation functions is less demanding than in full QCD and first quantitatively robust determinations of in-medium ground state properties indeed have been achieved. The price to pay is that the physics of the heavy quarks is only captured up to the order in which the NRQCD expansion is implemented numerically.

The third approach uses the static in-medium potential defined from the effective field theory pNRQCD evaluated non-perturbatively on the lattice. Combining the static potential with a kinetic term with a finite mass, the Schrödinger equation governing the real-time point split forward meson correlator is computed. Taking the imaginary part of its Fourier transform after removing the spatial splitting yields an approximation of the meson spectral function. This approach provides the most precise determination of in-medium spectral functions but misses so far any corrections of the in-medium potential according to finite velocity and spin.

In the fourth subsection we will briefly survey results on quarkonium in-medium spectral functions that are not based on lattice QCD or effective field theory. These include QCD sum rules, the T-matrix approach and the AdS/CFT correspondence.

3.3.1. In-medium quarkonium from relativistic lattice QCD

Relativistic meson current correlators in Euclidean time¹ that can be simulated in lattice QCD at finite temperature in principle contain a wealth of vital information on in-medium heavy quarks. On the one hand they encode the in-medium

¹ Some works also consider spatial correlation functions along a single axis. These are related to the spectral function via a Fourier transform

$$D_{M}^{s}(x_{3}, \mathbf{p}_{\perp}, \omega_{n}) = \sum_{x_{1}, x_{2}, \tau} \exp[-i\mathbf{p}_{\perp}(x_{1}, x_{2}) - i\omega_{n}\tau] D_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$$
(205)

and their exponential decay at large spatial separation distances is connected to the concept of spatial *hadronic screening mass*, which is helpful in investigations of symmetry properties of finite temperature QCD (see e.g. Refs. [258,259]). We will not consider these correlators further here.

quarkonium spectral functions, whose peak structures inform us about the changes in mass and lifetime of each individual state. On the other hand, whenever a correlator is related to a conserved charge, in addition, the spectral function may contain a so called transport peak, describing the propagation of that conserved charge over large distance scales. This is the case for the vector, scalar and axial vector channel. While the vector channel $\Gamma = \gamma_i$ is related to the approximately conserved heavy flavor quark number, the scalar channel with $\Gamma = 1$ is related to the fermionic contribution to the trace anomaly.

The challenge for lattice QCD lies in the fact that the discretization artifacts for heavy quarks go in powers of $a_s m_Q$, requiring extremely finely spaced grids for the study of bottomonium. So far, most dynamical QCD studies have thus focused on charmonium, while bottomonium is treated mainly in the quenched approximation, where large enough lattices can be efficiently simulated (exploratory steps towards fully relativistic bottomonium spectroscopy at T = 0 have been presented at the 2019 lattice conference [260]). A wealth of studies has scrutinized correlation functions and spectra over the past two decades. The first spectral reconstructions in this context have been pioneered in Ref. [214]. On the one hand there are those works that remain in the quenched approximation (see e.g. Refs. [132,261–264]), which allows them to deploy large grids and recently even perform continuum extrapolations (see Ref. [265]). On the other hand heavy quarkonium correlators and spectra have been investigated using isotropic and anisotropic dynamical QCD scenarios in Refs. [266–268]. All studies at T > 0 so far deploy a form of improved Wilson fermions to discretize the heavy d.o.f. The extraction of spectral functions from relativistic correlators is particularly challenging, since the input data are symmetric around $\tau = 1/2T$ and thus only half the points simulated on the lattice provide independent information. The presence of a transport contributions leads to an additional challenge. As was first pointed out by Ref. [269], the physics of the transport peak and the in-medium modification of the bound state spectra become intertwined in the correlator and particular care is needed to disentangle them.

To gain insight into the in-medium properties without having to deal with the additional uncertainty from a spectral reconstruction one starts with an inspection of the imaginary time correlators themselves. Naively one might expect that the ratio of the in-medium correlation function and the vacuum correlation function is a good quantity in this regard. In the relativistic formulation however the current correlator according to Eq. (34) contains two sources of temperature dependence. One arises from the kernel and is not informative, the other is from changes in the spectral function which is our main focus. To eliminate the effect of the temperature dependence of the kernel in ratios of correlators, according to Ref. [262,263] one may construct the so called *reconstructed correlator*

$$D_{\rm rec}(\tau, T, T') = \sum_{\tau'/a = \tau/a, \, \Delta \tau'/a = N_{\tau}}^{N'_{\tau} - N_{\tau} + \tau/a} D_E(\tau', T').$$
(206)

Here T', τ' and N'_{τ} denote the temperature, imaginary time and Euclidean extent for the simulated correlator D_E . The quantity D_{rec} now represents the Euclidean correlator where the same spectral function underlying D_E is encoded with a kernel at T and correspondingly N_{τ} . A ratio of unity between the in-medium correlator $D_E(\tau, T > T_C)$ and $D_{rec}(\tau, T, T' < T_C)$ indicates that no medium modification is present. It has to be kept in mind however that changes in the underlying spectral function in different frequency regimes may cancel out, once the convolution with the in-medium kernel is taken. This is a manifestation of the inherent exponential information loss induced by the convolution.

Another quantity that is considered in the literature is the midpoint subtracted correlators $D_{sub}(\tau) = D_E(\tau) - D(\tau = 1/2T)$. If the transport contribution is of the free theory form of Eq. (35), i.e. $\rho_{transp}(\omega) = \omega \delta(\omega)$ only, then subtracting the midpoint $D(\tau = 1/2T)$ from the Euclidean correlator (or taking its derivative) will remove it completely. On the other hand in an interacting theory the transport peak is expected to be of Breit–Wigner type [42] and subtractions will only remove part of its contribution.

In Fig. 25 the results for the ratio of the in-medium and a low temperature reconstructed correlator from two representative studies of charmonium on isotropic lattices are shown. In both cases the particles are considered at rest, i.e. the correlators are summed over all spatial positions. The left column shows data from Ref. [263] on large quenched QCD lattices $N_s = 128$ with a fine spacing of a = 0.01 fm, where the low reference temperature is $T' = 0.73T_c$. On the right hand side the plots were obtained in Ref. [267] in simulations with $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical Wilson fermions with still relatively large pion masses of $m_{\pi} = 545$ MeV on $N_s = 64$ lattices. The reference temperature is $T' = 0.6T_c$. The top row shows the pseudoscalar channel, containing the two particles $\eta_c(1S)$ and $\eta_c(2S)$ below the $D\bar{D}$ threshold. The bottom row on the other hand corresponds to the vector channel, which houses J/ψ and ψ' below threshold. We have to keep in mind that even though the η_c and J/ψ have significantly different decay widths [3], the latter being of keV magnitude, while in the former being on the MeV level, the spectral function underlying the correlators shown here only relate to electromagnetic decays [36]. I.e. dilepton decay $J/\psi \rightarrow \ell^- \ell^+$ and diphoton decay $\eta_s \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$, which are of the same order of keV the latter smaller than the former. Since the mass difference between the J/ψ and η_c can be understood as hyperfine splitting, it is only a few tens of MeV with η_c being a bit more strongly bound. The excited states η'_c and ψ' both lie less than 100 MeV away from the $D\bar{D}$ threshold, i.e. their vacuum binding energies are similarly small and should be similarly affected by medium effects.

We find that the two studies show very similar behavior, which due to the large pion masses may not be surprising. For the pseudoscalars the ratios at small τ is consistent with unity and then shows a downward trend, which becomes stronger and sets in at earlier imaginary time as temperature increases. The vector channel shows the opposite behavior, i.e. while



Fig. 25. The in-medium correlator divided by the low temperature reconstructed correlator for the pseudoscalar channel (top row) and the vector channel (bottom row). (left column) results from a quenched QCD simulation on large isotropic $N_s = 128$ lattices with a = 0.01 fm. The comparison temperature for G_{rec} is $T' = 0.73T_c$. (right column) results from isotropic lattices with $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical Wilson fermions on $N_s = 64$ lattices. The pion mass is relatively heavy $m_{\pi} = 545$ MeV and $T' \approx 0.6T_c$. *Source:* Figures adapted from Refs. [263,267].

starting out at unity for small τ it bends upward. The full QCD result indicates that the bending up actually becomes stronger as temperature rises. The deviations from unity in both cases are between 10–20% at the highest temperature with those for η_c being smaller than those for J/ψ . Note that both computations use a fixed scale approach, which means that the UV behavior of the underlying spectral functions is the same at all temperatures.

From the point of view of the vacuum bound state content alone, such a different behavior is not expected. On the other hand only the pseudoscalar channel is expected to be free from the transport contribution. This has led to attempts to remove the related transport peak from the correlator in order to showcase only the modification of the bound states. In Fig. 26 we thus show on the left the values of the in-medium correlator with the reconstructed correlator at a lower reference temperature subtracted in quenched QCD from Ref. [263]. On the right the ratio of the midpoint subtracted correlator with the correspondingly subtracted reconstructed correlator is shown in $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical QCD from Ref. [267].

Roughly speaking: the increasing magnitude, combined with being negative, of the difference $D_E - D_{rec}$ in the pseudoscalar channel (top left) is interpreted as indicating that the amplitudes in the underlying spectral function of D_E decreases. This is in agreement with expectations for a weakening bound state content. On the other hand in the vector channel the upward movement is indicative of parts of the spectrum amplitude increasing, which is interpreted as arising from an increasing transport peak. This interpretation is supported by the ratio of the midpoint subtracted correlators on the right, which shows that the difference in the η_c channel do not change significantly compared to the unsubtracted ratio, while in the vector channel the deviation from unity is markedly reduced.

While these above arguments are consistent, it turns out that the upward behavior observed here in the vector channel, which is attributed mainly to the transport peak will be present also in ratios of NRQCD correlators, which are free from transport contributions. In addition in a recent computation [268,270] of charmonium correlators on anisotropic lattices with $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical Wilson fermions with a lighter pion mass $m_{\pi} = 380$ MeV a much more similar behavior between pseudoscalar and vector channel ratios has been observed. It will be highly interesting to compute these ratios in the future on lattices much closer to the physical pion mass to further elucidate the question of the transport contribution.

Another way of understanding the physics encoded in a correlation function is to compare to those from a model of the underlying spectral function. For the pseudoscalar correlator of both charmonium and bottomonium this has been achieved using continuum resummed perturbation theory for the high energy region and a pNRQCD computation at the threshold. These analytic results are then compared to continuum extrapolated correlators in the quenched approximation. As discussed in detail in Ref. [265] the behavior of the pseudoscalar charmonium channel already at $T = 1.1T_C$ can be reproduced using a (slightly rescaled) spectrum that does not show any peak structure besides an enhanced onset of



Fig. 26. Additional comparison of correlators to disentangle the transport contribution and in-medium modification of bound states. (left) The difference between in-medium correlator and the reconstructed correlator divided by T^3 for the pseudoscalar (top) and vector channel (bottom) in quenched QCD. (right) The ratio between the midpoint-subtracted in-medium correlator and the midpoint subtracted reconstructed correlator for the pseudoscalar (top) and vector channel (bottom) in $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical QCD. *Source:* Figures adapted from Refs. [263,267].



Fig. 27. Vector channel charmonium correlator in quenched QCD at finite momentum divided by the p = 0 correlator. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [264].

the threshold. At the same time for bottomonium the correlator at $T = 1.1T_c$ is compatible with the presence of a well distinguishable in-medium remnant peak. At $T = 2.25T_c$ neither for η_b nor η_c a peak is required to reproduce the correlator within errors. A similar analysis of the vector channel is currently work in progress.

Let us also consider the scalar and axial-vector channel encoding the P-wave states. When computed in the quenched approximation and even more so in the dynamical theory the ratios show an upward bend whose deviation from unity is much larger than in the S-wave channels. It easily reaches 50% and more, indicating that sizable in-medium changes already occur for these channels just above T_c .

Up to this point we have only discussed quarkonium at zero momentum but also the finite momentum situation has been considered, e.g. in the quenched approximation in Ref. [264] on anisotropic $N_s = 64$ lattices with $a_s/a_t = 4$ and $a_\tau = 0.00975$ fm (see also Ref. [258]). If a quarkonium bound state peak exists, it will follow a dispersion relation, in which the peak position will move to higher frequencies for larger values of p. The stronger decay in the corresponding Euclidean correlator is expected to lead to a lower than unity ratio to the p = 0 case. As shown in Fig. 27 this is exactly what is



Fig. 28. Pseudoscalar spectral function from quenched QCD reconstructed via the Maximum Entropy Method. (left) the results from isotropic $N_s = 128$ lattices with a = 0.01 fm and (right) results from anisotropic $N_s = 64$ lattices with $a_s = 0.039$. *Source:* Figures adapted from Refs. [263,264].

observed in practice. Note that two sets of curves are shown representing the longitudinal and transversal components defined in Eq. (25).

Let us next consider the spectral functions themselves. All the studies quoted above have used the in-medium correlation functions to extract the underlying spectral functions deploying mostly the MEM, one also used the BR method. These computations are particularly challenging since only $N_{\tau}/2$ individual datapoints exist and in addition the physical Euclidean range reduces as temperature increases. In the MEM, as discussed in Section 2.4.1 the smoothing induced through the restricted SVD subspace becomes stronger, as the number of datapoint is reduced. At the same time the amount of information on the ground state decreases as the imaginary time extend decreases. In the BR method there is no additional smoothing present which in case of a small number of datapoints may lead to numerical ringing. I.e. besides the actual in-medium effects manifesting themselves in the spectral function, the reconstruction efficiency of the deployed methods changes at different temperatures. Those effects need to be disentangled. The clearest comparison is obtained when taking the low temperature reference correlator and use it to compute a reconstructed correlator at high temperature. Subsequently the spectral reconstruction is performed both on that D_{rec} , as well as the actual high temperature correlator and compared, as suggested and for the first time deployed in Ref. [268].

It is currently still difficult to arrive at a quantitative interpretation of the reconstructed spectra due to the involved reconstruction uncertainties. As presented in Fig. 28, on the one hand Ref. [264] shows clear peaks for the pseudoscalar channel charmonium at $T = 1.62T_c$, while Ref. [263] already at $T = 1.46T_c$ shows a very washed out lowest lying feature. In both studies the in-medium spectral feature appears to move to higher frequencies above T_c . Note that both studies use a similar MEM reconstruction and that the authors of Ref. [264] also carried out the reconstruction based on the reconstructed correlator in Ref. [271] indicating that the shift in the peak position may not simply be a methods artifact. The difference between the two results lies in that the former is carried out on anisotropic lattices with roughly twice the spatial volume compared to the latter. On the other hand the UV cutoff is located at a lower energy in the former. Especially in light of the results from modeling the pseudoscalar correlator in the continuum limit, it is paramount to clarify the situation further. Let us note that in Ref. [264] no significant difference between the longitudinal and transversal reconstructed spectral functions was observed even though at finite temperature these two components need not agree. In the case of dynamical QCD on anisotropic lattices, as shown e.g. in Fig. 29 from Ref. [268] (a continuation of the FASTSUM results presented in Ref. [266]), the comparison between the actual high temperature reconstructed spectrum and the one reconstructed from the low temperature reconstructed correlator show only very small differences around T_{C} . At $T = 1.9T_{\rm C}$ indications for in-medium modification are visible. While there are hints for the in-medium ground state peak moving to higher frequencies (similar to what was found in the quenched approximation in Ref. [264]), it will require more robust reconstructions in dynamical QCD to draw a final conclusion on this point.

The P-wave states in the scalar and axial vector channels, shown in Fig. 30 due to the smaller signal to noise ratio exhibit larger uncertainties. Again we plot both the reconstruction of the actual in-medium spectrum, as well as the reconstructions from the low-temperature reference reconstructed correlator. The sizable in-medium modification of the correlator translates into significant changes of the spectra already around T_c , with no discernible peak structure remaining at $T = 0.95T_c$. This is in stark contrast to the S-wave states, which are much less affected. It will be important to improve the signal to noise ratio in the P-wave channels to more robustly ascertain the full extend of the in-medium effects.

The study of the effect of finite momentum in the spectral functions suffers from less systematics, since for a fixed temperature the Euclidean extend stays the same among different momenta. Ref. [264] confirmed that the less than



Fig. 29. (left) pseudoscalar and (right) vector channel charmonium spectral function extracted from $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical QCD on anisotropic lattices with the BR method. Comparison between the reconstructed high temperature spectrum and the low temperature spectrum encoded via the reconstructed correlator at the same Euclidean extend reveals little signs of in-medium modification. Errorbands denote both Jackknife statistical uncertainty, as well as systematic one due to default model dependence. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [268].



Fig. 30. (left) scalar and (right) axial vector channel charmonium spectral function extracted from $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical QCD on anisotropic lattices with the BR method. Comparison between the reconstructed high temperature spectrum and the low temperature spectrum encoded via the reconstructed correlator at the same Euclidean extend reveals signs of large in-medium modification already close to T_c . Errorbands denote both Jackknife statistical uncertainty, as well as systematic one due to default model dependence. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [268].

unit ratio between the p > 0 and p = 0 correlator indeed translates into an in-medium peak, which moves to higher frequencies. Extracting the dispersion relation of this peak structure, it was observed that it differed only minutely from the vacuum form, both indicating that this peak actually encodes a particle d.o.f. and that its in-medium modification is apparently weak.

Summary. A concerted effort is undertaken to elucidate the in-medium properties of quarkonium, based on the relativistic formulation in lattice QCD. It is now understood that an investigation of the pseudoscalar sector allows to disentangle transport from bound state physics. Modeling its physics content using perturbation theory and pNRQCD indicates a fast disappearance of any peak structures for charmonium around T_c , while the lattice data indicates the presence of a bottomonium remnant peak up to around $T \approx 2T_c$. On the other hand it remains highly challenging to quantitatively extract the in-medium effects on individual states via reconstructed spectral functions. There are clear signs of an in-medium modification in the P-wave states, whose peak structures seem to disappear quickly around T_c , while for the S-wave states the final word has not yet been spoken, up to which temperature their features persist. Indications are found that above T_c the in-medium peak structures tend towards higher frequencies. Further progress will depend on improving the spectral reconstructions significantly, which is currently work in progress both based on continuum extrapolated correlators (Bielefeld-CCNU collaboration), as well as improved anisotropic lattices closer to the continuum in full QCD (FASTSUM collaboration).

3.3.2. In-medium quarkonium from lattice NRQCD

In order to progress with currently available lattice simulations one may decide to leave the relativistic formulation and instead deploy the lattice regularized version of the effective field theory NRQCD. As a theory of non-relativistic Pauli spinors, valid at energies of the order $m_Q v$ and below it offers several advantages over the direct relativistic formulation as discussed in [51,105]. On the other hand it has to be kept in mind that the EFT is only an approximation to QCD and that effects, such as accurately capturing the hyperfine splitting of the S-wave states requires high order expansions in the quark velocity and beyond leading order radiative corrections. As the uncertainties in the spectral decomposition outweigh those systematics, most studies so far deploy the $O(v^4)$ NRQCD Hamiltonian and leading order Wilson coefficients with tadpole improvements. There have been exploratory studies of in-medium quarkonium in NRQCD presented early on in Ref. [272]. The first comprehensive study on in-medium Bottomonium in lattice NRQCD has been undertaken in a series of papers by the FASTSUM collaboration in Refs. [69,113,273–275]. A complementary lattice effort has been started with the papers of Refs. [276,277], the latter of which extended the use of NRQCD to a study of charmonium properties.

Lattice setups and spectral reconstruction methods differ between the two recent sets of papers. The groups have focused on achieving good accuracy either in the heavy quark or the medium sector. Since in both cases NRQCD matching has not been performed beyond leading order, the result of the different studies do not necessarily have to agree within their statistical errors.

The latest FASTSUM studies (see e.g. [113]) are carried out in a fixed box approach on $N_s = 24$ anisotropic lattices of $a_s/a_\tau = 3.5$ with $N_f = 2 + 1$ light flavors of clover improved Wilson fermions at a = 0.1227 fm. Using temporal grids $N_\tau = 40 \dots 16$ a temperature range between $T = 141 \dots 352 = 0.76T_C \dots 1.90T_C$ is covered. For calibration a $N_\tau = 128$ ensemble has been obtained. Between 500 and 1000 realizations of the current correlators on the individual lattices are computed. The values of the heavy quark mass parameter are fixed using the dispersion relation of quarkonium S-wave states, maintaining a spin averaged 1S kinetic mass close to the PDG value [3].

The benefit of this approach is that the anisotropy allows the NRQCD expansion to be very robust, i.e. a Lepage parameter of n = 1 has been deployed in the time evolution throughout. The drawback of this approach on the other hand is that the pion mass is rather heavy with $M_{\pi} \approx 400$ MeV so that e.g. the crossover temperature $T_{C}^{\text{lat}} = 185$ MeV lies above the physical value.

The second set of works uses lattice ensembles from the HotQCD collaboration originally intended for the study of the crossover transition in Refs. [8,221], where $N_f = 2 + 1$ light quarks are discretized with the HISQ action on $48^3 \times 12$ isotropic grids in a fixed box approach. For each of the different lattice spacings that implement a temperature range between $T = 140 \dots 407$ MeV a $T \approx 0$ ensemble with $N_\tau = 32 \dots 64$ is present for scale setting and calibration purposes. Using a naively set heavy quark mass of $m_b = 4.65$ GeV and $m_c = 1.275$ GeV at $T \approx 0$, 400 realizations of the current correlators have been computed, while at high temperatures up to 4000 have been obtained.

Here the benefit of the approach lies in realistically capturing the physics of the medium d.o.f. with a pion mass of $m_{\pi} = 161$ MeV and a corresponding crossover temperature of $T_c^{\text{lat}} = 159$ MeV. On the other hand its drawback lies in the fact that these lattices were not designed originally with NRQCD in mind. Thus the naive expansion parameter $1/m_Q a$ takes on relatively large values making the NRQCD expansion less robust. Hence the study limits its use of charm quarks to temperatures up to T = 251 MeV and needs to apply Lepage parameters of n = 4 for bottom and n = 8 for charm.

Previously there have been tensions reported between Ref. [113] (using MEM) and Ref. [276] (using BR) in the inmedium modification of P-wave states that went beyond what was expected to arise simply from the different lattice setups. From a much improved understanding of the uncertainties in the spectral reconstruction, especially the role of ringing and smoothing, these differences have recently been sorted out. The P-wave disappearance is found to occur closer to the earlier results of Ref. [113]. In addition improved quantitative results on the in-medium masses, for the first time consistent with the behavior of the in-medium correlator ratios, have been obtained in Ref. [276].

Since the results for the correlation functions are quite similar among the different studies in the bottomonium sector, we showcase here the recent data from Ref. [277] where also the charm d.o.f. were computed. In NRQCD the integral Kernel of the spectral representation is temperature independent and therefore the in-medium changes in the spectral function may be investigated from the naive ratio of the in-medium correlator to the T = 0 correlator, i.e. without having to construct a reference reconstructed correlator. For completeness the ratios for all available channels are shown in Fig. 31. There are four panels on the left corresponding to bottomonium for temperatures between $T = 140 \dots 407$ MeV. The channels starting from the top left panel and going counterclockwise are the ${}^{1}S_{0}(\eta_{b})$, ${}^{3}S_{1}(\Upsilon)$, ${}^{3}P_{1}(\chi_{b1})$ and ${}^{1}P_{0}(h_{b})$ respectively. The charmonium results in the restricted temperature range of $T = 140 \dots 251$ MeV are arranged also counterclockwise from the top left as the ${}^{1}S_{0}(\eta_{c})$, ${}^{3}S_{1}(J/\psi)$, ${}^{3}P_{1}(\chi_{c1})$ and ${}^{1}P_{0}(h_{c})$ channels.

As first qualitative difference to the relativistic case we find that all channels, in particular also the pseudoscalar channel of the η particles show the same characteristic upward bending as temperature increases. The difference in the underlying spectral function is two-fold: no transport peak is present at small frequencies and the UV continuum behavior differs due to different powers dominating at large ω . A full understanding of these differences remains to be established.

For the S-wave bottomonium states there are virtually no medium effects visible at around T_c , while both bottomonium P-waves and charmonium S-waves show deviations from unity at T = 140 MeV beyond statistical error bars. This is a first hint that the overall strength of the in-medium modification is connected with the vacuum binding energies of the encoded states. The higher temperature results confirm this impression. We compare the maximum deviation at T = 407 MeV between the Υ channel (bottom left panel) and the χ_{b1} channel (bottom right panel). The ground state of the former is very strongly bound with $E_{bind}^{\Upsilon}(T = 0) \approx 1.1$ GeV the one of the latter with $E_{bind}^{\chi_{b1}}(T = 0) \approx 0.64$ GeV. And indeed while the ${}^{3}S_{1}$ channel shows below 2% deviations in the ratio, the ${}^{3}P_{1}$ channel already shows 6.5%. We continue the comparison with charmonium, where the S-wave channel (bottom left panel) with ground state $J/\psi E_{bind}^{J/\psi}(T = 0) \approx 0.64$ GeV features a very similar vacuum binding as χ_{b1} . To compare apples to apples, let us take the highest temperature where both bottom and charm are available, i.e. at T = 251 MeV. And indeed both the χ_{b1} channel, as well as the J/ψ



Fig. 31. Ratios of the in-medium NRQCD quarkonium correlator to its T = 0 counterpart. In the left block of four panels, we show the bottomonium ratios for temperatures between T = 140...407 MeV. Counterclockwise from the top left the ${}^{1}S_{0}(\eta_{b})$, ${}^{3}S_{1}(\gamma)$, ${}^{3}P_{1}(\chi_{b1})$ and ${}^{1}P_{0}(h_{b})$ channel is shown. In the right block of four panels, we show the charmonium ratios for T = 140...251 MeV. Counterclockwise from the top left the ${}^{1}S_{0}(\eta_{c})$, ${}^{3}S_{1}(\gamma)$, ${}^{3}P_{1}(\chi_{b1})$ and ${}^{1}P_{0}(h_{c})$, ${}^{3}S_{1}(J/\psi)$, ${}^{3}P_{1}(\chi_{c1})$ and ${}^{1}P_{0}(h_{c})$ channel is plotted. Note that no transport contribution is expected to contribute to any of these NRQCD correlators. *Source:* Figures partially reproduced from Ref. [277].



Fig. 32. (left) the ratio of the Euclidean in-medium T > 0 correlator and the T = 0 correlator obtained from a pNRQCD model computation of the bottomonium spectral function (right). A shift of the ground state peak to lower frequencies induces the upward bend in the correlator. *Source:* Figures reproduced from Ref. [277].

channel show a very similar 5% deviation there. On the other hand the χ_{c1} channel (bottom right) with a much lower ground state binding energy of $E_{\text{bind}}^{\chi_{01}}(T=0) \approx 0.2$ GeV already exhibits a deviation of 12.5% at that temperature. These results clearly establish an ordering of the overall in-medium modification with the vacuum binding energy. This is in agreement with our intuition, as a more strongly bound state also features a smaller spatial extent, which in turn makes it more difficult for the medium d.o.f. to interfere with the binding.

Since in NRQCD the change in the correlator is expected to be dominated by bound state modification, we may attempt to reverse engineer the underlying behavior of the quarkonium spectral function. To this end one can construct non-relativistic model spectral functions based on e.g. the lattice static interquark potential (see next subsection) and compute from these the corresponding Euclidean correlator. Having done so in Ref. [277] with the results for bottomonium shown in Fig. 32, the authors concluded that the upward behavior can be understood from the vacuum peaks starting to broaden and moving to lower frequencies. Due to the difficulty of modeling e.g. the lattice cutoff in such an approach this result should be understood as qualitative, i.e. the magnitude of the deviation from unity is not captured accurately as of yet.

Let us continue with considering the spectral functions as extracted by the MEM in Ref. [113] on anisotropic $N_f = 2+1$ lattices and shown in Fig. 33. The left panel contains the S-wave results, the right panel those for the P-wave. One can clearly see that at low temperatures the ground state peak agrees with the T = 0 result indicated by gray vertical lines. The second bump structure summarizes both the first and possible higher excited states, which is why it is shifted above the T = 0 excited state position. With increasing temperature the ground state amplitude monotonously reduces and only one washed out continuum feature remains at high frequencies. A well defined ground state peak structure at $T = 1.9T_C$ is still observed.

The P-wave results, as expected, show a much weaker ground state signal at small temperatures. There are several reasons responsible for this difference to the S-wave. On the one hand the signal to noise ratio in the P-wave is lower, due to the larger mass of the ground state. Secondly while the amplitude of the S-wave ground state peak at T = 0 is related to the radial S-wave wavefunction at the origin squared, the strength of the P-wave state is related to the first derivative



Fig. 33. (left) S-wave and (right) P-wave in-medium spectral function for bottomonium from anisotropic $N_f = 2 + 1$ dynamical QCD simulations by the FASTSUM collaboration obtained by the MEM. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [113].

of the wavefunction and suppressed by the square of the heavy quark mass. The third issue is related to the different scaling of the continuum which in the S-wave goes as $\omega^{1/2}$, while it is much more dominant in the P-wave with $\omega^{3/2}$. Nevertheless around T_C a ground state feature is visible, which however vanishes into the continuum above $T = 1.09T_C$. At the highest temperatures only a shoulder-like feature persists.

On the one hand several crosschecks of the systematic uncertainties, such as dependence on the number of used input datapoints and the shape of the default model, have been carried out in Ref. [113]. These indicate that within the MEM the results are robust. On the other hand these checks did not include a comparison to a different Bayesian reconstruction approach. I.e. while the default model has been varied, the influence of the functional form of the prior probability and the limitation of the search space was not assessed.

Ref. [276] contrasted the MEM to the standard BR method when reconstructing the in-medium spectral functions. A very similar presence of the S-wave ground state peak feature deep in the QGP phase has been observed, while for the P-wave a stronger ground state signal beyond $T = 1.09T_c$ has been obtained. During this study it became clear that while the BR method is able to reproduce sharp peak with higher accuracy than the MEM, it may introduce numerical ringing when reconstructing extended structures from a small number of datapoints. Systematic crosschecks were carried out to identify ringing but questions on the strength of the P-wave signal remained.

In the follow up Ref. [277] an improved understanding of the role of ringing and smoothing has been achieved. To this end the newly developed smooth BR method was deployed. In it the strength of smoothing is implemented in the prior probability with an explicit hyperparameter and thus decoupled from the number of datapoints, contrary to the case in the MEM. The tuning of the smoothing parameter as discussed in Section 2.4.1, is carried out using the analytically known free NRQCD spectral functions. It has been checked that the choice of $\kappa = 1$ both removes ringing artifacts and at the same time still allows to accurately identify the ground state features present at T = 0. In practice it is then deployed in tandem with the standard BR method. After ascertaining with the smooth method, whether a genuine in-medium peak has been found, the standard BR method is used to extract its peak position.

To interpret the in-medium results particular care was taken to understand the effect of the finite Euclidean extent available on the lattice. In Fig. 34 we show comparisons between the T = 0 reconstructions (colored solid) both on the full Euclidean correlator, i.e. with input data extending over the full imaginary time extend, as well as using a truncated input dataset with the same Euclidean extent as is available at finite temperature. Obviously the underlying spectral function is the same. On the lattices with coarser lattice spacing e.g. $\beta = 6.664$ the differences are not significant. On the other hand for the finely spaced lattices $\beta = 7.925$ a clear artificial shift and broadening is observed. These methods artifacts need to be kept in mind when interpreting the in-medium reconstructions.

Let us discuss the in-medium results from Ref. [277]. When pitting the standard BR method, the MEM and the smooth BR method against each other it is found that for bottomonium the results of the smooth BR and the MEM agree, in that the Upsilon ground state peak survives up to the highest T = 407 MeV and that χ_{b1} disappears at around T = 185-210 MeV. These temperatures are similar to those found earlier in Ref. [113], keeping in mind that the underlying medium description still differs between the two studies. Looking at the charmonium spectral functions shown in Fig. 35, we find that in the S-wave channel the MEM and the standard BR method both seem to be affected by ringing, while the smooth BR method recovers a smooth continuum regime. The J/ψ peak becomes insignificant between T = 200-210 MeV. For the η_c the MEM and the smooth BR show rather similar behavior for the ground state, while only the smooth BR manages to avoid ringing in the continuum regime. Here no peak structures are discernible at around T = 185 MeV.

The main quantitative finding of Ref. [277] is an improved determination of the in-medium mass shifts of the ground state quarkonium particles. In the top row of Fig. 36 the raw masses entering the analysis are shown for bottomonium



Fig. 34. The T = 0 reconstruction of the bottomonium Υ channel spectral function using the Euclidean correlator over the whole imaginary time extend available (colored solid) compared to the reconstruction based on truncated input data with the same extent as is available at finite temperature. Note the artificial shift and broadening. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [277].



Fig. 35. Reconstructions of in-medium charmonium spectral functions in the (top two rows) J/ψ channel and the (bottom two rows) χ_c channel. BR method results are given as colored solid lines, smooth BR results as solid gray lines and MEM as dashed light gray lines. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [277].



Fig. 36. (top row) The masses of the Υ (left) and J/ψ (left) ground state particles from the full T = 0 correlator (blue crosses), from the truncated T = 0 dataset (gray squares) and from the finite temperature correlator (colored symbols). (bottom row) The corresponding negative in-medium mass shifts. Source: Figures adapted from Ref. [277].

(left) and charmonium (right) S-wave channels. Errorbars include both statistical and systematic uncertainties from the Bayesian spectral reconstruction and the ground state peak fit. The blue crosses denote the ground state mass obtained from reconstructing the full T = 0 datasets, while the gray boxes are obtained from the truncated T = 0 datasets, which feature the same imaginary time extent as the data at T > 0. The actual T > 0 mass estimates are given by the colored symbols. A first naive comparison by eye of the blue crosses and colored symbols would lead to the (premature) conclusion that the in-medium masses lies above the vacuum ones. Since at T > 0 not only the spectral function changes but also the Euclidean time extend is significantly reduced the authors of Ref. [277] argue that instead the gray boxes should be taken as correct reference point. This changes the conclusion significantly leading to negative mass shifts, which are plotted in the bottom row. As we will see in the next section the values obtained here are compatible with the results obtained from non-relativistic spectral functions computed using model potentials. Note that for bottomonium at T = 140 MeV virtually no difference between the colored triangle and the gray box is found, consistent with no in-medium modification seen in the correlator ratio. For charmonium on the other hand one finds a difference beyond the uncertainties, which again corresponds qualitatively with the changes present in the correlator ratios. The fact that the mass shift is negative agrees with the upward bend observed in the correlator ratios.

With several consistent arguments presented here for the mass shifts in NRQCD to be negative it has to be understood how this stack up to the results in the relativistic formulation. Crosschecks with the reconstructed correlator performed in Ref. [271] e.g. seem to indicate that a positive mass shift is obtained instead. Whether this difference is related to a deficiency of the lattice NRQCD implementation (e.g. due to radiative corrections) or whether it is a reconstruction artifact of the MEM used in the relativistic study, remains to be seen.

Up to this point only ground state properties have been discussed in finite temperature NRQCD, since the excited state contributions already at T = 0 are difficult to pin down in spectral reconstructions. To quantify the challenge ahead one can take a look at the mock data tests shown in Fig. 37. The left panel shows the BR method reconstructions (colored solid) of a T = 0 bottomonium spectrum, as expected to be present in an NRQCD setting. To focus on the bound state reconstruction, no continuum has been added in the mock input spectrum. Discretized with $N_{\tau} = 32$ and a realistic a = 0.117 fm one finds that sub-percent precision in the input data is required to get hold of the second peak. In the right panel we show the same mock spectrum now reconstructed with double the number of input points at half the lattice spacing. The bad news is that no significant improvement in the bound state reconstruction is obtained. On the other hand if a continuum structure is added to the mock spectrum it is seen that a smaller lattice spacing does improve the reconstruction of the UV part of the spectral function. One might think that by improving the quality of the



Fig. 37. (left) mock data test of reconstructing a NRQCD bottomonium S-wave like spectrum without a continuum contribution using $N_{\tau} = 32$ points at a realistic coarse lattice spacing of a = 0.117 fm. (right) Reconstruction of the same mock spectrum using double the number of Euclidean input datapoints and half the lattice spacing. Source: Figures adapted from Ref. [277].

reconstruction algorithm the problem might be solved. That this also is not the magic bullet has been shown by tests of the information content of the correlators performed in Ref. [277]. After subtracting from the T = 0 correlator the ground state peak contribution, as well as the second exponential falloff, usually associated with the first excited state, only a very small number of convex points remain from which all the intricate structure of the higher lying states, as well as the continuum need to be determined. Even with a perfect reconstruction algorithm this will remain challenging². One possibility is to consequently deploy anisotropic lattices (as is done by the FASTSUM collaboration and in planning at the HotQCD collaboration), to have the UV part of the spectrum better resolved. In the long run it appears that improvements in simulation algorithms, e.g. an extension of the multilevel algorithm to dynamical QCD would be required for substantial progress in the reconstruction of the bound state features.

Summary. Lattice NRQCD provides an alternative discretization of heavy quarks on the lattice, which has been applied to the study of both bottomonium and charmonium at finite temperature. Due to the absence of transport contributions and full N_{τ} individual correlator datapoints available, a robust picture of ground state in-medium modification has emerged. Correlator ratios show a hierarchical ordering of the overall in-medium modification with the vacuum binding energy of the states in that channel. Their temperature dependence also hints at the in-medium particles to become lighter as temperature increases. Spectral reconstructions have been carried out using a range of different Bayesian methods, which has significantly improved the understanding of the involved methods uncertainties. In addition the effects of diminishing access to Euclidean time have been elucidated. In turn very similar patterns for the disappearance of bound state features in the bottomonium spectral functions show negative values, consistent with the findings of the correlator ratios, as well as with spectral functions computed with potential models in the next section. Improvements of the spectral reconstruction results obtained so far, especially for excited states will require substantial efforts by the whole lattice community.

3.3.3. In-medium quarkonium from a lattice vetted potential model

While the use of the effective field theory NRQCD on the lattice has already led to significantly improved understanding of the ground state in-medium properties in both bottomonium and charmonium, we have seen that so far excited states, as well as the continuum are not well captured. To progress in this direction we can turn to the effective field theory pNRQCD, which allows us to derive the proper real-time in-medium potential systematically from QCD.

The study of quarkonium in-medium properties based on potentials has a long history. Until recently however only model potential were utilized, starting with works that used purely real potential models (for an overview see e.g. Ref. [279]), such as the color singlet free energies (see e.g. Ref. [280]) or internal energies. With the realization that the proper real-time potential is complex, first computations of the in-medium spectral functions using the perturbatively evaluated real-time potential were carried out in Ref. [68], followed by models combining a lattice inspired real part with the perturbative imaginary part [22]. Shortly after the first non-perturbative lattice determination of the proper real-time potential had been achieved, it became a vital ingredient in spectral function computations in Refs. [219,281].

² During the review process of this manuscript a new study appeared that sets out to extract the mass shifts and spectral width of both ground and excited states of in-medium quarkonium. It does so by combining interpolating operators optimized via T = 0 quarkonium wavefunctions with a simple model of the spectral function used to fit the resulting Euclidean correlator. As presented in Ref. [278] no significant sign of a mass shift is found in this approach, adding further urgency to the resolution of the in-medium mass shift question.

There are several generic features of in-medium spectral functions, which can be directly related to the form of the potential. At T = 0 the energy at which string breaking sets in Re[V] indicates the position of the open-heavy flavor threshold. Generically finite temperature effects lead to a weakening of the real part. For very small Debye masses, string breaking dominates the asymptotic flattening off, while at some point the inverse of the Debye mass becomes smaller than the string breaking radius and screening takes over. Note that contrary to a purely Coulombic term that always asymptotes to zero, the asymptotic value of Re[V] reduces monotonously from the T = 0 value, indicating that the continuum threshold moves to lower and lower energies. As the binding energy of a state, defined via spectral functions, is computed from the energy distance between the continuum threshold and the position of the bound-state peak, a weakening of the in-medium binding is thus expected to occur. While for a purely real potential genuine bound state peaks remain at finite temperature, the presence of an imaginary part leads to a finite width (and essentially no additional shift) in the spectral function, indicating the dynamical nature of the $Q\bar{Q}$ pair in the medium.

The computation of spectral functions proceeds via solving the Schrödinger equation for the unequal time and point split meson correlator $D^{>}(t; \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}')$. In the vector channel it reads

$$i\partial_t D^>(t; \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}') = \left[\hat{H} \mp i |\mathrm{Im}V(r)|\right] D^>(t; \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}'); \quad t \ge 0.$$
(207)

Transforming time to Fourier space and expanding the angular dependencies of **r** and **r**' into spherical harmonics with the ansatz $D(\omega, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}') = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \frac{u_{l}(\omega, r, r')}{rr'} Y_{lm}(\theta, \varphi) Y_{lm}^{*}(\theta', \varphi')$ leads to the radial Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = 2m_Q - \frac{1}{m_Q}\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + \frac{l(l+1)}{m_Q r^2} + \text{ReV}(r).$$
(208)

Note that the in-medium potential which we will use to implement this time evolution was defined in the static limit in Eq. (61), i.e. it denotes the leading order contribution in a systematic expansion in the finite heavy quark velocity. This entails that at this point no finite velocity, e.g. spin dependent, corrections have been included. In the following we will use the static potential to approximately describe the evolution of quarkonium with a finite mass. After evolving to late enough Minkowski time the Fourier transform can be reliably computed

$$\tilde{D}(\omega, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}') = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}t \ e^{i\omega t} D^{>}(t; \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}').$$
(209)

The vector channel spectral function follows from considering its imaginary part and taking the limit of vanishing quark-antiquark separation, which recovers the appropriate frequency space current correlator

$$\rho^{V}(\omega) = \lim_{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'| \to 0} \frac{1}{2} \tilde{D}(\omega; \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}').$$
(210)

In the Appendix A of Ref. [68] an efficient implementation of the above prescription has been worked out for both vector channel (S-wave) and scalar channel (P-wave) spectral functions. It is directly formulated in frequency space and carefully considers the involved limiting procedure. The reference provides a readily implementable prescription for practical use. Since to low order in the heavy quark velocity expansion it can be argued that

$$\rho^{P} \simeq -\frac{1}{3}\rho^{V}; \quad \rho^{A^{0}} \simeq -\frac{1}{3}\rho^{V}; \quad \rho^{A} \simeq 2\rho^{S}, \tag{211}$$

all relevant spectra can be obtained. In case of a purely Coulombic potential, due to its additional symmetries, it may happen that the vector and scalar channel mix with a numerically small contribution.

To achieve an accurate description of the in-medium properties of quarkonium, all input parameters of the above Schrödinger equation need to be evaluated in a realistic setting. For the potential this means that we require continuum extrapolated lattice data, as well as an appropriately renormalized quark mass. While there are ongoing efforts to extract the static interquark potential on ensembles close to the continuum (see e.g. Ref. [220]) no genuine continuum extrapolation has been computed so far. This necessitates manual continuum corrections and we discuss here the strategy introduced in Ref. [219].

As it was found that the Gauss-law parametrization successfully reproduces the real part of the lattice potential and shows good agreement with the tentatively extracted values of the imaginary part, it has been used in the literature to implement the in-medium effects. In a first step its vacuum parameters are tuned in a phenomenological fashion. I.e. they are varied until the solution of the corresponding S-wave and P-wave Schrödinger equation reproduces the PDG values of the different ground state masses. The finite temperature physics is then introduced by using appropriately rescaled values of the Debye mass found on the lattice.

For the quark mass parameter we consider first the bottomonium system, as here pNRQCD is expected to work reliably. In addition the matching to QCD can be implemented perturbatively, since the bottom mass is much larger than Λ_{QCD} . As has been suggested in Ref. [70] one consistent and elegant way to define an appropriate mass to be used in the Schrödinger equation is the renormalon subtracted mass. It provides a prescription that reshuffles the ambiguities in the perturbative definition of the pole mass into the definition of the constant part of the potential, which contains the same ambiguity,
Vacuum properties of relevant bottomonium particles based on the best fit parameters of Eq. (213) and the renormalon subtracted mass of Eq. (212).

	$\Upsilon(1S)$	$\Upsilon(2S)$	$\Upsilon(3S)$	$\Upsilon(4S)$	$\chi_b(1P)$	$\chi_b(2P)$	$\chi_b(3P)$
<i>m</i> [GeV]	9.4603	10.023	10.355	10.569	9.931	10.273	10.534
m ^{PDG} [GeV]	9.4603	10.023	10.355	10.579	9.888	10.252	10.534
$\langle r \rangle$ [fm]	0.2918	0.5878	0.8697	1.0999	0.48	0.786	1.017
$\bar{m}_{B\bar{B}}^{PDG} - m$ [GeV]	1.1	0.535	0.203	-0.011	0.627	0.286	0.024

Table 4

Vacuum properties of relevant charmonium particles based on the best fit parameters of Eq. (213) and the best estimate of the charm mass of Eq. (214).

	J/ψ	ψ'	$\chi_c(1P)$	$\chi_c(2S)$
<i>m</i> [GeV]	3.0969	3.6632	3.5079	3.775
m^{PDG} [GeV]	3.0969	3.6861	3.4939	3.9228
$\langle r \rangle$ [fm]	0.565	1.249	0.672	1.109
$\bar{m}_{D\bar{D}}^{PDG} - m \text{ [GeV]}$	0.642	0.076	0.231	-0.036

effectively canceling the two and in turn leading to a well defined Schrödinger equation. For bottom quarks the renormalon subtracted mass provided in Tab.4 of Ref. [70] takes on the value

$$m_{b}^{
m RS'} = 4.882 \pm 0.041~{
m GeV}$$

(212)

Note that this value is different from both the often deployed bottom pole mass $m_b^{\text{pole}} = 4.93$ GeV, as well as the conventionally perturbatively defined \overline{MS} mass $m_b^{\overline{MS}}(m_b^{\overline{MS}}) = 4.18$ GeV (for a relation between the latter two see e.g. Refs. [282,283]). Indeed we find that $m_b^{RS'}$ among the three different masses provides the best χ^2 for the vacuum parameter fit.

This mass now enters the tuning procedure for the vacuum parameters of the Gauss-law parametrization that allows one to successfully reproduce the masses of the four low lying S-wave states $\Upsilon(1S) - \Upsilon(4S)$. By manually introducing a flattening of the string-like part of the Cornell potential at a characteristic string-breaking scale r_{SB} also the location of the B meson threshold can be reproduced. The consistency of the tuning procedure has been checked by subsequent comparison to the spin averaged mass of the P-wave states $\chi_{b0}(1P) - \chi_{b0}(3P)$ not included in the original fit. The best fit values obtained in the most recent study in Ref. [235] are given by

$$\alpha_{\rm S} = 0.513 \pm 0.0024 \text{ GeV}, \quad \sqrt{\sigma} = 0.412 \pm 0.0041 \text{ GeV}, \quad c = -0.161 \pm 0.0025 \text{ GeV}, \quad r_{\rm SB} = 1.25 \pm 0.05 \text{fm} (213)$$

and the resulting vacuum properties of bottomonium states are listed in Table 3^3 .

Once the values for the static vacuum potential are fixed, only the charm mass remains to be set. Since its physical value lies much closer to the relevant $A_{\overline{MS}}^{(3)} = 332$ MeV (quoted here for three light flavors from Ref. [3]) compared to the bottom mass, a similar robust perturbative renormalon subtracted mass is not available. Instead one may use the fact that the static potential in pNRQCD is universal among different flavors and thus the parameters of Eq. (213) may also be used to compute the charmonium vacuum states. This allows us to find the optimal charm quark mass by fitting to the PDG masses of the S-wave states (J/ψ , ψ'). As expected finite velocity corrections do already play a role for charmonium and thus the masses are less accurately reproduced than in the bottomonium case using just the static potential. The corresponding best fit value is

$$m_{\rm c}^{\rm lit} = 1.4692 \; {\rm GeV}.$$
 (214)

and the vacuum properties of the resulting states are given in Table 4.

With the vacuum sector set up, the focus turns to the question of how to translate the Debye masses extracted at finite lattice spacing to values representative of continuum physics. The discretization leads to two main effects: first, since the masses of light quarks do not yet take their physical values the crossover temperature also lies above its physical value. Secondly, the vacuum parameters of the Cornell potential contain a small lattice spacing dependence and also are not yet at their physical value. In Refs. [219,235] these artifacts are counteracted by considering the dimensionless ratio of the lattice Debye mass and the square root of the lattice string tension. It is multiplied by the square root of the physical string tension and then evaluated at a rescaled temperature where T_c lies at 155 MeV

$$m_D^{\text{phys}}(t = T/T_c^{\text{lat}}) = \frac{m_D^{\text{lat}}(t)}{\sqrt{\sigma^{\text{phys}}}}.$$
(215)

³ Note the phenomenological character of this procedure: we do not deploy a short distance Coulombic part in the potential computed in the same scheme as used for the determination of $m_b^{\text{RS'}}$. This leads to a total quark rest mass given by $m_b^{\text{RS'}} + c/2$. In case that a consistent scheme were deployed for the potential, the term *c* should vanish.



Fig. 38. The continuum corrected Debye mass parameter for the Gauss-law parametrization of the in-medium static interquark potential (points). The band denotes the best fit from a HTL inspired interpolation formula for the Debye mass. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [235].

The values of the continuum corrected Debye mass with errorbars including both uncertainties from the lattice extraction and those from the correction procedure itself are shown in Fig. 38. The characteristic bending down of the ratio around the (now physical) crossover temperature is visible. In order to clearly expose the strength of the in-medium modification in the spectral functions, a temperature scan needs to be carried out for which an interpolation of the Debye mass will be a prerequisite. Amending the NLO expression for the Debye mass in Eq. (152) by a second non-perturbative correction term one ends up with the following expression

$$m_D^{\text{phys}} = Tg(\Lambda) \sqrt{\frac{N_c}{3} + \frac{N_f}{6}} + \frac{N_c Tg(\Lambda)^2}{4\pi} \log\left[\sqrt{\frac{N_c}{3} + \frac{N_f}{6}} \frac{1}{g(\Lambda)}\right] + \kappa_1 Tg(\Lambda)^2 + \kappa_2 Tg(\Lambda)^3,$$
(216)

taking here $\Lambda = 2\pi T$ as renormalization scale. The four loop results from Ref. [284] have been used to implement the running of the strong coupling *g*. For evaluating *g*, a value of $\Lambda_{QCD} = 0.2145$ GeV is deployed, initializing the renormalization group flow downwards from energies, where $N_f = 5$ flavors are active. The two non-perturbative parameters κ_1 and κ_2 may now be fitted to the continuum corrected values of m_D . Ref. [235] reports best fit values of

$$\kappa_1 = 0.686 \pm 0.221, \qquad \kappa_2 = -0.317 \pm 0.052.$$
 (217)

which implement the deviation from the perturbative result, needed to describe the downward trend of m_D/T around T_c .

All ingredients have thus been collected for the evaluation of the Schrödinger equation of Eq. (207), using a lattice vetted parametrization of the static in-medium potential via the Gauss-law parametrization. The latest results for the S-wave spectral functions are shown in Fig. 39. Characteristic in-medium effects are clearly visible. The bound state peaks at T = 0 are delta-peaks, as here only the strong interaction contribution to the physics is included. The peaks start to broaden at finite temperature and move to lower frequencies, indicating that the particles become lighter in-medium. Since at the same time the continuum also moves to lower energies, the in-medium binding energy actually reduces. Eventually bound state remnants will merge with the continuum leading to a threshold enhancement, which reflects remnant correlations between the quark–antiquark pair even if no genuine bound state structure is discernible. The in-medium modifications are found to be ordered hierarchically with the vacuum binding energy of each individual state.

For a more quantitative exploration of the in-medium properties, the peak structures can be fitted to extract the corresponding particle mass and thermal width. Scattering theory suggests [285] to use a skewed Breit–Wigner of the following form

$$\rho(\omega \approx E) = C \frac{(\Gamma/2)^2}{(\Gamma/2)^2 + (\omega - E)^2} + 2\delta \frac{(\omega - E)\Gamma/2}{(\Gamma/2)^2 + (\omega - E)^2} + C_1 + C_2(\omega - E) + \mathcal{O}(\delta^2),$$
(218)

with a skewing fit parameter δ , as well as possible background terms C_i . The values for the in-medium mass and width according to the spectral functions of Fig. 39 are shown in Fig. 40. The left column corresponds to bottomonium, the right column to charmonium. In the top row the in-medium masses for the different states that are bound in vacuum are shown as colored solid lines, with the error bands being dominated by the uncertainty in the Debye mass determination. The lines end at the temperature where the in-medium peak remnant becomes too washed out for a fit to succeed. The gray line denotes the onset of the continuum.

The reduction in the in-medium quarkonium mass at first may appear counter intuitive, as perturbative pNRQCD computations in Refs. [68,201] based on a Coulombic potential, predicted an opposite behavior. The sign of the mass shift one encounter however depends on the scale hierarchy present. If one considers instead pNRQCD in a strongly coupled



Fig. 39. The in-medium heavy quarkonium spectral functions in the S-wave channel for (top panel) bottomonium and (bottom panel) charmonium evaluated at different temperatures. The computation is based on the lattice vetted Gauss-law parametrization for the static in-medium potential. *Source*: Figures adapted from Ref. [235].



Fig. 40. The in-medium properties of (left column) bottomonium and (right column) charmonium extracted via Breit–Wigner fits from spectral functions, computed from the lattice vetted Gauss-law parametrization of the complex in-medium static potential. The top row shows the in-medium masses, the bottom row the thermal widths. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [235].



Fig. 41. The in-medium heavy quarkonium spectral functions in the P-wave channel for (top panel) bottomonium and (bottom panel) charmonium evaluated at different temperatures. The computation is based on a legacy implementation of the Gauss-law parametrization for the static in-medium potential.

Source: Figures adapted from Ref. [281].

medium at temperatures larger than the binding energy as e.g. in Refs. [17,286,287] a change towards lighter masses arises.

Non-perturbatively, from the viewpoint of the static potential, the reduction emerges from the subtle interplay of the medium modification of the string part and the Coulombic part of the vacuum Cornell potential. In addition one may ask how the lowering of the in-medium quarkonium mass compares to the mass gain δm_Q for an individual parton, which takes place at finite temperature. That effect enters as a first correction to the static limit, i.e. it is suppressed with the heavy quark mass. As argued in [219] using perturbation theory, the expected values at T = 200 MeV would be $\delta m_c \approx 7$ MeV and $\delta m_b \approx 2$ MeV, which are insignificant compared to the shifts of tens to hundreds of MeV observed in Fig. 40. (Recently a prescription to compute the in-medium mass shift non-perturbatively from a Euclidean correlators has been put forward in Ref. [288].)

Note that the mass shifts observed here for the ground state particles are in agreement, within the relatively large errorbands, with those extracted from direct lattice QCD determinations of the spectral function using the NRQCD discretization of the heavy quarks in Fig. 36. This is reassuring, as it signals consistency between the two different non-relativistic approaches.

For the P-wave states, spectral functions have been computed using a legacy version of the Gauss-law parametrization in Ref. [281] and the results are shown in Fig. 41. The main difference to the S-wave case is the presence of the centrifugal term in the underlying Schrödinger equation. It was found that the centrifugal barrier, which it induces, leads to a slightly different pattern of weakening of the in-medium states. In the S-wave case the continuum approaches the in-medium peaks with increasing temperature and eventually swallows them, leaving only a threshold enhancement. For P-waves, bound state remnant features persist after being engulfed by the continuum, before they also wash out eventually.

Summary. The computation of in-medium quarkonium spectral functions from a Schrödinger equation with the static potential at finite temperature provides precise information on not only ground state properties but also those of in-medium excited states and the continuum. The price to pay is reduced accuracy in that so far no finite velocity corrections have been included. The values of the potential available in lattice QCD can be incorporated via the Gauss-law parametrization vetted on appropriately continuum corrected numerical data. The in-medium effects manifest themselves in a characteristic manner: the delta-like vacuum state peaks broaden and shift to lower energies, before being swallowed by the continuum, which even more quickly moves downward in energy as temperature rises. This behavior is qualitatively in agreement with pNRQCD in the presence of a strongly coupled medium with a scale hierarchy, where the temperature is of the order of the binding energy but it is opposite to the predictions from weakly coupled perturbative pNRQCD. The observed mass shift arises in the language of the static potential from an interplay of the medium modification of the string and Coulombic part of the Cornell potential. The values for the resulting negative in-medium mass shift are compatible with those obtained recently in direct lattice NRQCD studies, signaling consistency between different non-relativistic approaches.

Further approaches to in-medium quarkonium

Having focused on direct lattice QCD and effective field theory based strategies in the previous subsections, let us briefly touch on other related approaches which have contributed to improving our understanding of in-medium quarkonium.

The first approach to mention is based on finite temperature QCD sum rules, developed in their modern form in Refs. [289–291], which generalize the well established sum rules in vacuum (see e.g. Ref. [292]). By combining the operator product expansion of the in-medium meson current correlation function with a Borel transformation, this approach allows to probe differently weighted convolutions of the in-medium spectral functions. Non-perturbative information enters e.g. via the (quenched) lattice QCD determination of the matrix elements constituting the OPE. In particular the scalar and twist-2 gluon condensates, derived from the Lorentz decomposition of the field strength tensor play a role, which in practice are extracted via thermodynamic relations.

In the past decade, progress has been achieved by further combining the sum rule approach with Bayesian reconstruction methods, such as the MEM, in Ref. [293]. This in turn allows to determine charmonium in-medium spectral function and provides insight into the ground state in-medium modification. In addition sum rules have been instrumental in deriving constraints on the in-medium spectral function in Refs. [294,295], which may be used as prior information in studies of spectral functions directly in lattice QCD. The sum rule approach has been used to study the real-part of the in-medium heavy quark potential in Ref. [296] indicating preference for a value close to the color singlet free energies in agreement with findings in direct lattice QCD. A sum rule approach valid in the presence of strong magnetic fields has been introduced in Ref. [297] with a special focus on the mixing of the S-wave hyperfine doublet η_c and J/ψ as discussed in Ref. [298]. Extending the parameter of the Borel transformation, the Borel mass, into the complex plane, the sum rule approach has been generalized in Ref. [299], making possible to also extract spectral information on the excited charmonium states at finite temperature [300]. The sum rule approach at T = 0 reproduces the ground and excited state vacuum masses within 50 – 150 MeV. In addition, consistent with the non-relativistic approaches discussed before, it is found that the vacuum peaks move to lower energies as temperature is increased, the magnitude of the shift being a bit weaker than that found from the lattice QCD potential.

In the second approach, the T-matrix formalism is used to compute bottomonium in-medium spectra from a realvalued interaction potential that enters a local interaction kernel of a Bethe–Salpeter equation. As the potential is provided as external input and it is not uniquely determined by comparisons with lattice data of e.g. the system free energies, two scenarios, the weak-binding and the strong-binding one are considered. In earlier studies (see e.g. Ref. [301]) a temperature dependent renormalization of the potential had been deployed which leads to significant in-medium mass shift to higher energies, incompatible with the results from the non-perturbative EFT potential. In the most recent stateof-the-art realization of the T-matrix approach reviewed in Ref. [244] the potential is renormalized such that it agrees in the short distance regime at all temperatures. In turn the resulting charmonium spectra for both the weak and strong binding scenario are in qualitative agreement with the EFT potential computations, showing negative mass shifts at finite temperature. The authors conclude that the strong coupling scenario, in which the potential governing the interactions among both light and heavy degrees of freedom is significantly larger than the color singlet free energies is preferred by their results. Since this potential is not directly related to the EFT potential derived for static quarks, there is a priori no tension between these results.

The third approach we mention here is based on the AdS/CFT correspondence. While we had briefly mentioned that the real-time potential from the Wilson loop may be computed in this approach it is also possible to directly compute the in-medium spectral functions. The challenge here lies in the fact that as discussed in Ref. [251] by adding heavy quark analogues to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang–Mills theory one obtains heavy-light meson states, that would be bound so deeply that it is instead favorable to produce light quark pairs to shield the charge of the heavy constituent. In addition the spatial extent of quarkonium analogues appears to be independent (at least in order of magnitude) of their radial excitation. It is difficult to identify these bound states with actual QCD quarkonium particles. In order to overcome these limitations of the top-down approach, instead AdS/CFT models, such as the soft-wall model (see e.g. [302,303]) have been constructed from the bottom up (see also [304]) to incorporate e.g. additional scales that allow to produce a more realistic quarkonium behavior.

The computation of spectral functions may be implemented via the identification of a vector field in the bulk with the vector meson current on the gauge theory side. Some model computations in the holographic approach, such as in Ref. [305] produce in-medium modifications of quarkonium spectral functions that are qualitatively compatible with the QCD results, in that the in-medium peaks move to lower energies as temperature is increased. On the other hand there are also computations found in the literature, which produce opposite behavior, such as in Ref. [306]. It appears that there is not yet a final consensus reached on the in-medium modification of quarkonium within the holography community.

Summary. The development of QCD sum rules in thermal equilibrium has opened a complementary route to investigating quarkonium in-medium properties. The approach has matured over the past two decades and its results on in-medium modification are consistent with those obtained directly from lattice QCD and effective field theory. The improved renormalization of the interaction potential in the T-matrix approach has allowed to obtain in-medium quarkonium spectral functions that are also in qualitative agreement with the EFT potential based results. The apparent discrepancy between the larger values of the T-matrix potential and the EFT potential is partially related to the fact that the two quantities are not the same, the former also governing the physics of the light degrees of freedom. In the bottom-up

approach to the holographic description of QCD, quarkonium in-medium spectral functions have been computed. Different implementations of the bulk physics produce opposite in-medium modifications of the bound state features and it appears that a consensus in the community is still outstanding.

3.4. Quarkonium melting

In the preceding sections we have compiled a wealth of insight into the in-medium behavior of quarkonium immersed in a heat bath at finite temperature by studying the in-medium spectral functions and associated Euclidean correlation functions. This preparation in turn allows us to approach the question of quarkonium melting in this section.

Historically the theoretically well posed question of the stability of quarkonium states at finite temperature has been intimately connected to the experimental measurements of quarkonium yields in relativistic heavy-ion collisions. Starting with the seminal work by Matsui and Satz in Ref. [13] on quarkonium suppression by QGP formation (see also Ref. [307]), as well as through the proposal of the sequential suppression scenario in Ref. [14] this has led to an unfortunate entangling of the question of quarkonium in-medium binding in equilibrium with the intricacies related to quarkonium production in a highly non-equilibrium environment, such as present in a heavy-ion collisions.

Without diminishing the important role played by quarkonium in the study of heavy-ion collisions, we shall try to disentangle the two, by clearly distinguishing between *quarkonium melting* and *quarkonium suppression*. The former we will discuss in this section the latter we will return to in the context of heavy-ion collisions in Section 5.3.

For more than 20 years, intuition surrounding the question of in-medium quarkonium stability has been acquired in terms of real-valued potential models (for an overview see e.g. [279] and references therein). In these models the thermal environment leads to a monotonous weakening of the potential, which was used to compute the eigenfunctions and energies of a non-relativistic Hamiltonian. Instead of the bound stationary states of the vacuum Hamiltonian, at T > 0 one considered stationary states of the in-medium Hamiltonian. At low temperatures these states remain bound but, at well defined thresholds T_{melt} , one by one go over into unbound states, as can be cleanly identified e.g. using the *complex scaling method* reviewed in Ref. [308]. This entirely static setup has given rise to the intuitively appealing idea of *sequential melting*, i.e. vacuum states that are more deeply bound will dissociate more easily at finite temperatures than those that are more weakly bound at T = 0. In addition a strong focus was placed on determining the stability parameters of quarkonium states in this model approach, the melting temperatures T_{melt} .

In the following we argue that the concept of sequential melting, interpreted as a dynamical statement, remains a valid guiding principle in a modern understanding of in-medium quarkonium. On the other hand the concept of melting temperature turns out to be less informative than originally anticipated.

Our understanding of in-medium quarkonium changed fundamentally with the realization that the in-medium interquark potential is complex valued. It forced the research community to acknowledge that the $Q\bar{Q}$ system is far from stationary and instead should be understood as inherently dynamical. It also reinforced the fact that the potential computed in the effective field theory pNRQCD does not govern the time evolution of the $Q\bar{Q}$ wavefunction but instead that of the unequal time point-split meson correlator. As we saw in Section 3.3.3 the complex static interquark potential hence allows us to compute an approximation of the T > 0 spectral function, from which in-medium properties of individual states can be read off. It is this information that QCD theory brings to the table and from which vital insight into the stability and eventual melting of heavy quarkonium in thermal equilibrium is deduced.

An important feature at finite temperature is the presence of thermal broadening, induced by $Im[V] \neq 0$. The width Γ of an in-medium spectral peak represents the finite probability for that state to transition into some other state over a characteristic time scale $\sim 1/\Gamma$. While the lattice simulation may provide insight into the values of Γ , it does not tell us about the processes involved in generating it. On the other hand perturbative studies (see Ref. [17]) have revealed that depending on the hierarchy of energy scales e.g. Landau damping and gluon absorption may contribute to the thermal broadening. Unfortunately, from the spectral function alone one cannot determine into which state the quarkonium transitions, i.e. whether it stays in the singlet channel as a more highly excited (or de-excited) state or whether it turns into an unbound color octet. This information is hidden in higher order correlation functions, similar to the density matrix of the quarkonium system, which only recently has been studied starting from first principles. In Section 4 we will discuss how the changes in occupancies of individual states can be described in real-time and will find that the phenomenon of decoherence is an essential ingredient in understanding the survival of heavy quarkonium in medium. It is clear that the question of quarkonium stability cannot be answered in a static picture and quarkonium melting is an inherently time dependent process.

The stability of in-medium quarkonium of course is closely related with its in-medium binding energy, defined from the distance between the in-medium peak and the continuum threshold. Qualitatively similar to what had been observed in the historic potential models, we found in Section 3.3.3 that screening of Re[V] leads to a decrease of the in-medium binding energy from an interplay of a reduction in the bound-state mass and the onset of the continuum threshold. As the formerly long lived quarkonium state is heated up its binding is weakened. The associated increase in spatial extent leads to a higher chance of scattering with medium partons that in turn may kick it into a different state. I.e. the reduction in E_{bind} goes hand in hand with an increase of Γ .

What the computations based on the lattice vetted complex potential show, supported by the consistent correlator ratios in NRQCD, is that the weakening of the in-medium quarkonium states indeed proceeds hierarchically ordered with

Table 5

Melting temperatures for S-wave quarkonium states estimated from the spectral functions of Fig. 39 and Ref. [235].

	J/ψ	ψ'	$\Upsilon(1S)$	$\Upsilon(2S)$	$\Upsilon(3S)$	$\Upsilon(4S)$
T _{melt} [GeV]	$0.267^{+0.033}_{-0.036}$	< 0.147	$0.440\substack{+0.080\\-0.055}$	$0.250\substack{+0.050\\-0.035}$	$0.200\substack{+0.045\\-0.053}$	$< 0.147^{+0.068}$

Table 6

Melting temperatures for P-wave quarkonium states estimated from the spectral functions of Fig. 39 and Ref. [235].

	$\chi_{c0}(1P)$	$\chi_{c0}(2P)$	$\chi_{b0}(1P)$	$\chi_{b0}(2P)$	$\chi_{b0}(3P)$
T _{melt} [GeV]	$0.183\substack{+0.009\\-0.09}$	<0.147	$0.264\substack{+0.030\\-0.078}$	$0.210\substack{+0.033\\-0.024}$	$0.191\substack{+0.011\\-0.021}$

the vacuum binding energy. The more weakly bound states start to broaden first, while the more deeply bound vacuum states remain as narrow structures up to high temperatures. In this dynamical sense quarkonium melting is a sequential process.

The fact that the in-medium peaks are broadened and smoothly go over into the continuum structure at high temperatures also tells us that the concept of melting temperature in this dynamical picture is not uniquely defined. For historic reasons one may still wish to single out where melting happens, selecting a single temperature at which individual quarkonium states are already highly susceptible to transitions due to kicks from the medium. To this end it has been suggested in e.g. Ref. [15] to choose a T_{melt} , where the in-medium binding energy is equal to the thermal width. This represents a situation where the correlations between a meson state identified at time t_0 have diminished by a factor 1/e after having evolved by a time $\sim 1/E_{\text{bind}}^{\text{med}}$. For the latest estimates based on this criterion and the spectral functions computed in Ref. [235] see Tables 5 and 6. These values may be compared to estimates for the Upsilon melting temperature from a purely weak-coupling treatment presented in Ref. [309], which lead to the same value of $T_{\text{melt}} = 440$ MeV.

It is important to note that as of yet only studies based on an in-medium potential are able to provide melting temperatures defined in this quantitative manner, as it requires knowledge of the onset of the continuum structure. In other words, melting temperatures quoted in studies based on lattice NRQCD and relativistic lattice QCD may take on different values, as they are based solely on a visual inspection of the disappearance of discernible peak structures.

One of the main reasons underlying the interest in melting temperatures was related to phenomenological modeling. In e.g. rate equation based approaches to heavy quarkonium in heavy ion collisions, melting temperatures provided a convenient way to incorporate non-perturbative information from QCD. In an era, where reliable access to the full spectral function is available and where genuine real-time descriptions of quarkonium are developed that directly interface with EFTs and lattice QCD, as discussed in Section 4, the concept of melting temperature thus has become less and less relevant.

The interplay of scattering and screening also complicates stability estimates, which had been common in the era of real-valued potential models. The inverse of the Debye mass of the QCD medium still represents the characteristic length scale beyond which color sources do not communicate with each other. I.e. if the spatial extent of the quark–antiquark pair becomes similar to this distance, it can be considered fully decorrelated. At the same time the kicks of the medium partons already at closer separation distances may have induced a transition to an unbound configuration. Stability arguments based on the Debye mass alone are thus understood to provide only upper limits. In Section 4 we will show in more detail how the effect of in-medium kicks can be understood in terms of decoherence of the quarkonium system.

The appearance of the thermal width in the quarkonium spectral function is a clear indication that we are dealing with a truly dynamical problem even in thermal equilibrium. While access to spectral functions has helped to shed light on the overall stability of kinetically equilibrated quarkonium, it does not yet allow us to answer even the simple straight forward questions of what happens to a vacuum quarkonium state as it is thrown into a thermal QCD bath. A comprehensive understanding of quarkonium stability and quarkonium melting thus requires a genuine real-time description, which will be the focus of the next section.

4. Quarkonium in-medium real-time evolution

The study of meson spectral functions and the in-medium heavy quark potential has revealed the dynamical nature of in-medium quarkonium, even in an idealized setting such as in thermal equilibrium. The first task at hand thus is to develop a description that is capable of shedding light on how individual quarkonium states evolve in real-time in the presence of a QCD medium. This will allow us to form a more detailed picture of dynamical quarkonium melting. The second step will be to use such a framework to support the interpretation of heavy quarkonium measurements in a heavy-ion collision.

Phenomenological modeling of heavy quarkonium real-time dynamics has a long history. For charmonium the method of choice is to consider Boltzmann type transport equations from which, under additional time scale separation assumptions, coupled rate equations for the different quarkonium states are obtained (see Refs. [199,310–313] and Refs. [314–316], for application to bottomonium see e.g. Ref. [317]). In this approach the dissociation of quarkonium and recombination of individual quarks is both included. Arguments based on detailed balance, potential model computations



Fig. 42. Relationship between QCD and the different real-time approaches to heavy quarkonium currently deployed or in development. *Source:* Flowchart adapted and expanded from Ref. [324].

for quarkonium binding and perturbative insight on dissociation provide the input values for the strength of each term. A step towards a more systematic treatment of the individual contributions was taken in Refs. [318,319] and Ref. [202], where screening, dissociation and recombination contributions have been elucidated based on the effective field theory pNRQCD.

For Bottomonium, where an in-medium potential picture is expected to provide an accurate description, the most common approach to date is to solve some form of Schrödinger equation. Either one considers a deterministic linear equation to which a complex model potential is supplied (see e.g. Refs. [230,320–322]) or one implements the dynamics via a non-linear stochastic Schrödinger equation as in Ref. [323].

For both charmonium and bottomonium the above strategies have been successfully applied to reproduce the experimental measurements of quarkonium states in heavy-ion collisions.

Developing a genuine first principles based understanding of quarkonium real-time evolution thus serves multiple roles. On the one hand it will lead to an intrinsically better understanding of quarkonium stability in idealized situations, such as in thermal equilibrium, but it will also reduce the amount of modeling input necessary when describing quarkonium in complex scenarios such as a heavy-ion collision.

A genuine real-time description of quarkonium forces us to amend the theoretical guiding principle based on separation of *energy scales* by taking into account the different *time scales* present in the system under consideration. As discussed in Section 2.5 the open quantum systems approach offers a promising road towards a systematic treatment of heavy quarkonium in this respect. In thermal equilibrium a non-perturbative understanding of various aspects of heavy quarkonium has been achieved, by connecting first principles lattice QCD and effective field theories. However an equally non-perturbative implementation of the real-time dynamics is not available yet. Since the sign problem prevents direct real-time simulations on the lattice, one central focus of theory today lies in establishing how to non-perturbatively match effective field theories, such as pNRQCD to QCD. This in turn may then be used as a starting point to derive quarkonium real-time evolution equations formulated in the language of open quantum systems. More concretely, it needs to be established whether and, if so, how a master equation for the $Q\bar{Q}$ density matrix can be derived which systematically incorporates the information on the proper real-time heavy-quark potential, as well as the other non-local Wilson coefficients of pNRQCD.

The past five years have already seen major progress in the context of an open quantum systems description of heavy quarkonium. Indeed it is now possible to derive from QCD, using a well controlled set of approximations, a non-linear stochastic Schrödinger equation describing the quantum dissipative evolution of the quark–antiquark pair in a hot thermal medium (see Fig. 42). This for the first time provides a field theoretical basis to phenomenological models of this type. It is further understood how computations based on deterministic Schrödinger equations can be systematically improved to become more accurate. At the same time first proposals have been put forward to derive the Boltzmann equation in a weakly coupled medium directly from QCD via the open quantum systems approach, not only providing insight on the range of validity of transport approaches for quarkonium but opening up new venues for eventually deriving a fully non-perturbative equation of motion for quarkonium distribution functions.

In the following we briefly survey the current activities in the field from which we will highlight two types of studies that both make close contact to the effective field theory concepts encountered previously in equilibrium and offer concrete paths to the improvement of current phenomenological real-time approaches to in-medium quarkonium.

Open quantum system based approaches

The first steps in the direction of an open quantum systems based understanding of in-medium quarkonium were inspired by the Caldeira–Leggett model in Ref. [325], but did not yet attempt to derive a real-time description. Subsequently Refs. [326,327] explored the role played by transitions induced between different quarkonium states by the medium and suggested that an open quantum systems approach (called a quantum dissipative system in their paper) would be most appropriate to capture the relevant physics. Independently Ref. [328] proposed the first open quantum systems description to real-time heavy quarkonium that made direct connection with the complex real-time potential. It suggested an interpretation of the imaginary part of the in-medium potential in terms of decoherence induced by the medium kicks on the quarkonium particle. The paper proposed that the values of Im[V] manifest themselves in the local correlations of a real valued noise term added to an otherwise real-valued potential, in turn leading to a unitary stochastic time evolution. This early stochastic potential approach has been subsequently used to take a first look at bottomonium evolution as open quantum system in Ref. [329].

The next decisive step was achieved by Akamatsu in Ref. [330] in deriving a master equation for quarkonium at high temperatures directly from the QCD path integral via the Feynman–Vernon influence functional. In turn he showed that, based on single gluon exchange, the dynamics in the recoilless limit can be reduced to a stochastic potential, corresponding to the first order in a systematic gradient expansion of the equation of motion. It also clarified how the non-local correlations of the stochastic noise are related to the imaginary part of the potential. Note that this colored stochastic potential does not simply reduce to the color singlet version introduced in Ref. [328], since singlet to singlet transitions are only possible via multi-gluon exchanges.

A refined analysis, with a particular focus on the implementation of time coarse graining presented in Ref. [331] then delivered for the first time a genuine Lindblad master equation for quarkonium at high temperatures. Having established that the in-medium real-time evolution of quarkonium can be captured in the well established open quantum systems framework using a clearly defined set of approximations, the community took notice and concerted efforts arose to explore the dynamical aspects of in-medium quarkonium.

Recently several research groups are actively exploring the open quantum systems approach to heavy quarkonium. Two of these (see Refs. [286,287,332] and Ref. [333]) take as starting point directly the effective field theory pNRQCD. The benefit of this approach is that the effective field theory is systematically derived from QCD based on matching with the intermediate effective theory NRQCD. On the other hand a drawback for phenomenology is that pNRQCD is derived for a certain scale hierarchy. Often this hierarchy is taken to apply to the S-wave ground state but excited states and P-wave states may not adhere to the same hierarchy, thus complicating a concurrent treatment of all the states present in a heavy-ion collision. A central difference between the two sets of studies is that in the former the medium degrees are treated as strongly coupled $m_D \sim T$ and the information on the in-medium dynamics is formulated in terms of non-perturbative transport-coefficients, possibly accessible on the lattice [287]. In the latter, pNRQCD is matched to NRQCD perturbative Boltzmann equation is obtained. Such a systematic derivation of the Boltzmann equation from QCD is an important contribution to putting phenomenological modeling on a solid footing, by exposing the underlying chain of required approximations.

Other groups approach the derivation of the quarkonium real-time evolution from a weakly coupled perspective without direct reference to pNRQCD. A central aspect of the works of Refs. [334,335] is to explore the effects of dynamical dissociation and recombination in a semi-classical language, reducing the master equation further to an effective Langevin form. The first paper considers the effects common to Abelian and non-Abelian plasmas, while the second focuses on the additional effects played by the color degrees of freedom present in QCD. Ref. [336] also investigated the classicalization of the heavy quark dynamics. While the dynamics of quarkonium can become classical if decoherence acts efficiently, it needs to be ascertained in each case whether remnant quantum superpositions among quarkonium state can be neglected on the timescales under consideration. The authors of Ref. [337] have taken first steps beyond the Markovian approximation in this context, which may e.g. be relevant for the description of quarkonium at intermediate temperatures. Ref. [324] attempted an alternative derivation of the e.o.m. at high temperature, but since no explicit Lindblad operators could be constructed, doubts remain whether this study has produced a genuine Lindblad master equation. A thorough reinvestigation of the stochastic potential approximation to the full dynamics has been presented in Ref. [338] focusing on the role of decoherence played on the stability of quarkonium. Fig. 42 attempts to summarize the currently available open quantum systems based approached to quarkonium.

4.1. The Feynman–Vernon influence functional at high temperature

In Section 2.5 we considered two iconic models of open quantum systems, the quantum optical master equation, as well as quantum Brownian motion at high temperature. While the latter model appears at first to be well suited to the description of heavy quarkonium it needs to be kept in mind that its evolution equation was derived for a single particle, i.e. for a system whose extent is smaller than the correlation length of the medium. This is in general not the case for heavy quarkonium, where depending on the interplay of temperature and binding energy the extent of the in-medium state may easily be of the same order or larger than the medium correlation length.

In Ref. [331] a Lindblad master equation for in-medium quarkonium has been derived based on the Feynman–Vernon influence functional. It rests on three sets of approximations, which have been justified apriori using the scales present in Coulombically bound quarkonium states. The first refers to the non-relativistic limit, requiring that both $\sqrt{T/m_Q} \ll 1$ as well as $\alpha_S \ll 1$. The second requires the medium to be weakly coupled so that $g \ll 1$ and the third is related to how the coarse graining in time is implemented, assuming $1/gT \ll 1/M\alpha^2$. This last relation is nothing but the condition $\tau_E \ll \tau_S$ also used in the quantum Brownian motion master equation. If fulfilled it tells us that the acceleration of the heavy quarks, i.e. the change in the relative velocity \dot{v} induced by the individual interactions with the medium is small.

Starting from the Schwinger–Keldysh path integral for the system of gauge fields *A*, light fermions *q* and heavy quarks *Q*, summarized as $\phi = (A, q, Q)$ with ϕ_1 on the forward branch and ϕ_2 on the backward branch, one may write down the generating functional with external source terms η_1 and η_2 as

$$Z[\eta_1, \eta_2] = \int d\phi_1(0) d\phi_2(0) \langle \phi_1(0) | \rho_{\text{tot}} | \phi_2(0) \rangle$$
(219)
$$\int_{0}^{\phi_2(0)} e^{f_1(0)} d\phi_2(0) \langle \phi_1(0) | \rho_{\text{tot}} | \phi_2(0) \rangle$$
(219)

$$\times \int_{\phi_1(0)}^{\phi_2(0)} \mathcal{D}[\phi_1, \phi_2] \exp\left[i \int d^4 x \left(\mathcal{L}_{tot}[\phi_1] - \phi_1 \eta_1\right)\right] \exp\left[i \int d^4 x \left(\mathcal{L}_{tot}[\phi_2] - \phi_2 \eta_2\right)\right].$$
(220)

Assuming the factorization of the initial density matrix, defining the heavy quark color current $j^{a\mu} = \bar{Q}T^a\gamma^{\mu}Q$ and setting the external sources to zero one arrives at the partition function

$$Z = \int dQ_1(0)dQ_2(0)\langle Q_1(0)|\rho_{Q\bar{Q}}|Q_2(0)\rangle \int_{Q_1(0)}^{Q_2(0)} \mathcal{D}[Q_1, Q_2] \exp[iS_{kin}[Q_1] - iS_{kin}[Q_2] + iS_{FV}[j_1, j_2]],$$
(221)

where the all terms that couple the heavy fields with the gauge fields are contained within

$$e^{iS_{FV}[j_1,j_2]} = \int d[A_1(0), A_2(0), q_1(0), q_2(0)] \langle A_1(0), q_1(0) | \rho_{med}^{eq} | A_2(0), q_2(0) \rangle$$

$$\times \int_{A_1(0),q_1(0)}^{A_2(0),q_2(0)} \mathcal{D}[A_1, A_2, q_1, q_2] \exp\left[i \int d^4x \left(\mathcal{L}_{med}[A_1, q_1] - gj_1^{a\mu} A_{1,\mu}^a\right)\right] \exp\left[i \int d^4x \left(\mathcal{L}_{med}[A_2, q_2] - gj_2^{a\mu} A_{2,\mu}^a\right)\right].$$
(222)

Note that the medium is assumed to be in thermal equilibrium at this point and that the currents j_1 and j_2 are not external currents but represent the heavy color sources to which the gauge field couples dynamically.

By performing the non-relativistic approximation first, the coupling between the heavy quarks and the gauge fields is simplified to only include the heavy quark color density, i.e. an interaction term of the form $gj^{a0}A_0^a$. The subsequent perturbative expansion of Eq. (223) to second order in the strong coupling allows one to relate the interactions between quarkonium and the medium in terms of the different gluon propagators *G* defined on the Schwinger–Keldysh contour

$$iS_{FV}[j_1, j_2] = -\frac{g}{2} \int d^4x d^4y (j_1^{0a}(x), j_2^{0a}(x)) \begin{bmatrix} G_{ab,00}(x-y) & -G_{ab,00}^<(x-y) \\ -G_{ab,00}^>(x-y) & \tilde{G}_{ab,00}(x-y) \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} j_1^{0b}(y) \\ j_2^{0b}(y) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(g^3).$$
(224)

One of the important contributions of Ref. [331] is to identify that with a particular choice of time variables, i.e. $t = \max(x^0, y^0)$ in addition to the relative time $s = |x^0 - y^0|$, coarse graining of the influence functional in time leads to interaction terms that only contain the retarded correlator G^R and the related gluon spectral function denoted here by ρ_G . In particular this means that all in-medium information is contained in three quantities

$$V(\mathbf{r})\delta_{ab} = -g^2 \operatorname{Re} G^R_{ab,00}(\omega = 0, \mathbf{r}), \tag{225}$$

$$D(\mathbf{r})\delta_{ab} = -g^2 T \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega} \rho_{G,ab,00}(\omega = 0, \mathbf{r}), \quad A(\mathbf{r})\delta_{ab} = -\frac{g^2}{6T} \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega} \rho_{G,ab,00}(\omega = 0, \mathbf{r}).$$
(226)

The first one, related to the Fourier transform of the retarded gluon correlator at vanishing frequencies, is nothing but the real-part of the proper real-time potential evaluated perturbatively. The second and third one is related to the gluon spectral function, which in the perturbative language is given by the appropriately shifted imaginary part of the real-time potential, i.e. $D(\mathbf{r}) = \text{Im}[V](r) - \text{Im}[V](r = \infty)$. Combining the weak coupling expansion and time coarse graining together with the Markovian approximation the influence functional may be rewritten as

$$S_{FV} = S_{\text{fluct}}[D] + S_{\text{diss}}[D] + S_{\text{L}}[A].$$
(227)

In order to make the coupling between gluons and heavy quarks local, one must neglect possible overlap of interactions, similar to taking the ladder approximation in the Bethe–Salpeter equation. The individual terms have been suggestively named from an analogy with the quantum Brownian motion case. S_{fluct} encodes the effects of fluctuations, where e.g. kicks of the medium particles transfer energy into the quarkonium system. $S_{\text{diss}}[D]$ on the other hand describes the physics of dissipation, by which the quarkonium state may release energy back to the medium. The combination of the two makes it possible for the quarkonium system to eventually thermalize with its environment. Only thanks to the additional term $S_L[A]$, a genuine Lindblad master equation emerges, that preserves all relevant properties of the density matrix under time evolution. Note that here in contrast to the Caldeira–Leggett model this last term is not added by hand but arises due to a careful choice of the coarse graining procedure.

At this point the influence functional is formulated in terms of actions and heavy quark fields, while we are ultimately interested in an evolution equation for the density matrix operator for the two-body system in the position basis. To this end the strategy put forward in Ref. [331] is based on using the properties of coherent states as generating functionals for heavy quarkonium particles. Using the same notation for the quark and antiquark field operators as in NRQCD, i.e. $\hat{\psi}$ and $\hat{\chi}$, the matrix elements of the reduced density matrix in the coherent state basis can be written as

$$\sigma_{Q\bar{Q}}[t, J^{1}_{\psi}, J^{1}_{\chi}, J^{2}_{\psi}, J^{2}_{\chi}] = \langle J^{1}_{\psi}, J^{1}_{\chi} | \sigma_{Q\bar{Q}}(t) | J^{2}_{\psi}, J^{2}_{\chi} \rangle,$$
(228)

$$\langle J_{\psi}^{1}, J_{\chi}^{1} \rangle = \langle \Omega | \exp\left[-\int d^{3}x \left(\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{x}) J_{\psi}^{1}(\mathbf{x}) + \hat{\chi}(\mathbf{x}) J_{\chi}^{1}(\mathbf{x})\right)\right],$$
(229)

$$|J_{\psi}^{2}, J_{\chi}^{2}\rangle = \exp\left[-\int d^{3}x \left(J_{\psi}^{2}(\mathbf{x})\hat{\psi}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}) + J_{\chi}^{2}(\mathbf{x})\hat{\chi}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x})\right)\right]|\Omega\rangle,$$
(230)

where the sources J^i are just complex numbers. Using the path integral representation of $\sigma_{Q\bar{Q}}[t, J^1_{\psi}, J^1_{\chi}, J^2_{\psi}, J^2_{\chi}]$ the position space basis density matrix can be obtained via functional differentiation

$$\sigma_{Q\bar{Q}}^{abcd}(t, \mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2) = \langle \mathbf{x}_1, a; \mathbf{x}_2, b | \hat{\rho}_{Q\bar{Q}}(t) | \mathbf{y}_1, c; \mathbf{y}_2, d \rangle \propto \langle \Omega | \hat{Q}^a(\mathbf{x}_1) \bar{Q}^b(\mathbf{x}_2) \hat{\rho}_{Q\bar{Q}}(t) \bar{Q}^{d\dagger}(\mathbf{y}_2) \hat{Q}^{c\dagger}(\mathbf{y}_1) | \Omega \rangle$$

$$(231)$$

$$= \frac{\delta}{\delta J^a_{\psi}(\mathbf{x}_1)} \frac{\delta}{\delta J^b_{\chi}(\mathbf{x}_2)} \frac{\delta}{\delta J^c_{\chi}(\mathbf{y}_2)} \frac{\delta}{\delta J^c_{\psi}(\mathbf{y}_1)} \sigma_{Q\bar{Q}} \left[t, J^1_{\psi}, J^1_{\chi}, J^2_{\psi}, J^2_{\chi} \right] \Big|_{J=0}.$$
(232)

Collecting all the terms obtained in the evolution equation for the position basis density matrix, these can be summarized as a Lindblad equation with two distinct Lindblad operators. Using the constituent heavy quark position $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ and momentum operator $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$, as well as the antiquark operators $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{q}}$, the Lindblad operators and their coefficients take the form

$$\hat{L}_{\mathbf{k},a}^{1} = e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}/2} \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{p}}}{4MT}\right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}/2} (T^{a} \otimes 1) - e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{y}}/2} \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{q}}}{4MT}\right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{y}}/2} (1 \otimes T^{a*}), \quad \gamma_{\mathbf{k},a}^{1} = -\frac{D(\mathbf{k})}{L^{3}} > 0,$$
(233)

$$\hat{L}_{\mathbf{k},a}^{2} = e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}/2} \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{p}}}{4MT}\right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}/2} (T^{a} \otimes 1) - e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{y}}/2} \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{q}}}{4MT}\right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{y}}/2} (1 \otimes T^{a*}), \quad \gamma_{\mathbf{k},a}^{2} = -\frac{1}{L^{3}} \left(8T^{2}A(\mathbf{k}) - D(\mathbf{k})\right) > 0, \quad (234)$$

where $V = L^3$ refers to a large but finite volume of the combined system of heavy quarks and medium. In addition to the Lindblad operators, a non-trivial Hamiltonian for the reduced quarkonium system is obtained

$$\hat{H}_{Q\bar{Q}} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}^2 + \hat{\mathbf{q}}^2}{2m_Q} - V(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y})(T^a \otimes T^{a*}) + \frac{1}{8MT} \left\{ (\hat{\mathbf{p}} - \hat{\mathbf{q}}), \nabla D(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}) \right\} (T^a \otimes T^{a*}).$$
(235)

Several remarks are in order. Similar to assigning physical roles to the individual terms in S_{FV} we can identify the corresponding contributions in the Lindblad operators. The physics of fluctuations is encoded in the terms independent of the heavy quark momentum, while the effects of dissipation reside in those that carry an explicit **p** or **q** dependence. Interestingly this tells us that the center of mass motion and relative motion both influence dissipation. It turns out that in case that dissipative effects are non-negligible, the physics of relative and finite center of mass momenta cannot be fully separated. Note that the coefficients of the Lindblad operators depend on the gluon spectral function and thus on the imaginary part of the potential. They are both positive, as required for the Lindblad formalism to be valid. In case of γ^2 this is only possible due to the contributions of the A term arising from S_L in the expansion of the influence functional. In practice it is often assumed that the term $8T^2A - D$ is small so that only L^1 remains active. It is important to recognize that the Hamiltonian features both the familiar term containing the screened potential V but also harbors another contribution which arises from the fluctuation part and which may not be neglected a priori. It is interesting to contemplate how and under which circumstances such an additional term can be related to the concept of entropic force (discussed in detail in Refs. [229,339]) which too is understood as an emergent phenomenon induced by medium fluctuations.

With the derivation of the Lindblad operators and the Hamiltonian for a system at high temperature, it is now possible to state, how the real- and imaginary part of the in-medium potential govern the microscopic evolution of the quarkonium state. The latter encodes the physics of fluctuations and dissipation and, together with the real part, determines the stability of the quarkonium state. Establishing these roles in a genuine non-perturbative fashion however remains a central open research question.

Note that the Lindblad equation explicitly takes into account the physics of both constituent quark and antiquark. This in turn means that the corresponding density matrix not only contains information about possible color singlet bound states but also captures the physics of (possibly decorrelated) individual color charged quarks. In other words it possesses the necessary knowledge to not only answer questions about dynamical melting of quarkonium but also to eventually answer how probable the recombination of individual quarks and antiquarks is. (As has been explicitly pointed out in the related works of Refs. [335,337] the recombination probability actually becomes zero in an infinite volume, but since the fireball of a heavy-ion collision is finite, also the probabilities are.)

Solving the equation of motion defined by Eqs. (234) and (235) head on is still too costly. There are however efforts underway to derive a reduced equation of motion [340] focusing on the relative coordinates (see also Ref. [324]). Preliminary findings suggest that as anticipated above, relative and center of mass momentum cannot be fully decoupled

in the dissipative terms, the latter however appears simply as an external parameter. Even such a reduced density matrix carries a dependence on six spatial dimensions, i.e. the direct simulation of the corresponding partial differential equation is very demanding. On the other hand the quantum state diffusion approach discussed in Section 2.5 has already been successfully implemented for the description of the Lindblad equation of single heavy quarks in Ref. [341] and promises a viable path towards unraveling the evolution of the quarkonium density matrix in terms of an ensemble of wavefunctions. Including both fluctuation and dissipation effects, such a simulation in principle will be able to implement genuine thermalization of a heavy quarkonium state with its surrounding. Conceptually the QSD approach for the first time provides a QCD derived non-linear stochastic Schrödinger equation for in-medium quarkonium, which so far has only been introduced based on phenomenological modeling.

Since the thermalization of quarkonium states can be captured with the Lindblad equation based on Eqs. (234) and (235), the resulting late time behavior will provide a direct connection to the equilibrium results discussed in Section 3.3. These may then e.g. function as a benchmark of the real-time evolution.

4.2. Decoherence and dynamical quarkonium melting

After discussing that quarkonium melting is an inherently dynamical process in Section 3.4, we are now able to shed light on some of its details by using the open quantum systems approach. And even though simulations of the full dissipative Lindblad dynamics are still work in progress, we can already consider what has been learned about the in-medium evolution from truncations of Eqs. (234) and (235). In particular this has led to insight into the role played by the phenomenon of decoherence on the stability of in-medium quarkonium and its melting.

As it allows us to identify already many relevant aspects of quarkonium stability, we start out by considering the recoilless limit, which corresponds to neglecting all dissipative contributions. In turn this amounts to setting $S_{FV} = S_{fluct}$ or simply taking the momentum independent terms of Eq. (234). At this first order in the gradient expansion of the influence functional one can completely integrate out the center of mass coordinates. This leads to a stochastic linear Schrödinger equation coupling the color singlet and octet sector. For the purpose of this section one may consider an even simpler scenario, where only transitions from the color singlet to singlet sector are implemented. This is nothing but the stochastic potential description originally proposed in [328]. Note that while the absence of dissipation will prevent the thermalization of the quarkonium system at late times, this approximation is expected to work well, even quantitatively, for tightly localized states at early times.

Let us follow the exposition given in Ref. [338], where one considers a quark located at $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{R} + \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}$ and an antiquark at $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{R} - \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}$. At this level of the approximation, the dynamics can be written in terms of a real-valued in-medium potential $V(\mathbf{r})$ and two noise terms η , whose spatial correlations are intimately connected to the imaginary part of the potential

$$H(\mathbf{r},t) = -\frac{\nabla_{\mathbf{r}}^{2}}{m_{Q}} + V(\mathbf{r}) + \eta(\mathbf{R} + \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}, t) - \eta(\mathbf{R} - \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}, t).$$
(236)

The origin of the two noise terms lies in the separate fluctuation contributions to the quark and antiquark, similar to the two fluctuation terms present in the high temperature Lindblad equation. These also carry opposite color, which leads to a relative minus sign in the singlet sector. Since the Markovian approximation has been used, the noise is Gaussian but carries non-trivial spatial structure given by

$$\eta(\mathbf{x},t)\rangle = \mathbf{0}, \quad \langle \eta(\mathbf{x},t)\eta(\mathbf{x}',t')\rangle = D(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')\delta(t-t'), \tag{237}$$

keeping in mind that at high temperature $D(r) = \text{Im}[V](r) - \text{Im}[V](r = \infty)$. Consistent with Ito calculus, one finds that the noise terms scale with $\eta \sim dt^{-1/2}$. This requires one to take into account one additional term, absent for deterministic variables, when deriving the wavefunction evolution equation from the time evolution operator. The following stochastic differential equation ensues

$$\psi_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r},t+\Delta t) = 1 - i\Delta t \left(-\frac{\nabla_{\mathbf{r}}^{2}}{m_{Q}} + V(\mathbf{r}) + \Theta(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t) - \frac{i\Delta t}{2}\Theta(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t)^{2}\right)\psi_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r},t).$$
(238)

Since the time evolution operator $U = \exp[-i\Delta tH]$ is unitary, the above equation of motion also preserves the norm of the evolving microscopic wavefunction. Nevertheless considering the ensemble average of the wavefunction, one obtains the following Schrödinger equation

$$i\frac{d}{dt}\langle\psi_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle = \left(-\frac{\nabla_{\mathbf{r}}^{2}}{m_{Q}} + V(\mathbf{r}) - i\left[\frac{D(\mathbf{0}) - D(\mathbf{r})\right]}{|\mathbf{p}||\mathbf{V}||}\right)\langle\psi_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle.$$
(239)

This simple example shows that the presence of an imaginary part in the potential governing the time evolution of a thermally averaged correlation function (corresponding to $\langle \psi_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r}, t)\psi^*_{Q\bar{Q}}(\mathbf{r}, 0)\rangle$) does not automatically reflect a dampening of the underlying microscopic wavefunction. (Note that the full dissipative dynamics are on the other hand irreversible and can indeed lead to a dampening of the microscopic wavefunction.)



Fig. 43. The function $D(r) = \text{Im}[V](r) - \text{Im}[V](r = \infty)$ evaluated in thermal equilibrium in the hard thermal loop approximation. Note its peaked shape around the origin, which invites the definition of the medium correlation length ℓ_{med} .

The effect of Im[V] here instead is a manifestation of the phenomenon of *wavefunction decoherence*, where the fluctuations of the medium successively perturb the individual realizations of the wave function so that after a characteristic time τ_D there is only faint resemblance among each other and the average washes out. While decoherence does not necessarily imply a decay of occupations, in the case of in-medium quarkonium, destabilization of formerly stable bound states is one of its central effects. Interestingly there is an additional scale hiding in plain sight in the imaginary part of the potential that determines the strength of decoherence and its role in heavy quarkonium stability.

As an example consider the function *D* evaluated in HTL perturbation theory, as shown in Fig. 43. Its spatial dependence exhibits a well defined peak around the origin, which allows to define a characteristic scale ℓ_{med} governing the spatial extend of the noise correlations in Eq. (237). While in perturbation theory at high temperatures the correlation length and temperature are closely related $\ell_{med}^{PT} \sim 1/gT$, in a non-perturbative setting e.g. close to the crossover transition in QCD the relation may be quite different. In other words ℓ_{med} represents an independent additional scale in the system.

Depending on the size of the quarkonium system under consideration (denoted in the following by $\ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$) and the size of the correlation length ℓ_{med} the effects on the bound state are quite different, as has been discussed in detail in Refs. [324,338]. Indeed based on how well the medium is able to resolve the internal structure of the quarkonium system three distinct regimes can be identified.

If the correlation length $\ell_{\text{med}} \gg \ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$ is large compared to the intrinsic length scale of the $Q\bar{Q}$ system it corresponds to very soft momentum kicks $\Delta p_{\text{med}} \sim h/\ell_{\text{med}}$ on the small subsystem. Viewed as a color rotation on the quark and antiquark, both the particle and antiparticle undergo essentially the same change. In the limit of negligible momentum transfer one simply ends up with reversible dynamics, described by the von-Neumann like part of the master equation. Decoherence in this case is inefficient in destroying the quantum superposition present in the system.

Once the correlation length $\ell_{med} \lesssim \ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$ becomes of the same order of the size of the quarkonium system or smaller the full dissipative dynamics of quantum Brownian motion sets in. I.e. the color rotations on the quark and anti-quark now differ from each other. This entails that decoherence becomes efficient, which in turn means that superpositions of quantum states in the system are gradually transferred into a probabilistic mixture of classical states. After a characteristic decoherence time scale τ_D the system may then be described by semi-classical means.

Up to now we have only considered one characteristic scale for the quarkonium system $\ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$. However different states, due to their separated values of the binding energy, exhibit quite different spatial extends and therefore are affected differently by the medium kicks underlying decoherence. An appropriate analogy suggested in Ref. [324] is that a medium with ℓ_{med} acts as a quarkonium sieve: easily destabilizing those states with $\ell_{med} \ll \ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$ and only weakly affecting those with $\ell_{med} \gg \ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$.

At very high temperatures the correlation length will become smaller than all of the quarkonium states and thus the medium is able to resolve even the most deeply bound ones. Taken to the asymptotic limit, all states will thus be destabilized equally efficiently.

Numerical simulations support the conclusions drawn above. In the left panel of Fig. 44 a simple 1+1 dimensional computation has been performed, where the in-medium stationary ground state of a Hamiltonian with a Debye screened potential is evolved using the stochastic potential prescription. The noise correlations are given by a Gaussian function *D* with characteristic scale ℓ_{med} . In such a scenario in the absence of medium induced fluctuations the survival probability $\langle 1S|\sigma_{Q\bar{Q}}(t)|1S\rangle$ of a subsystem eigenstate would remain unity (for details see Ref. [338]). Keeping the temperature and thus the strength of the screening fixed and only changing the correlation length of the medium fluctuations leads to the different curves shown. As the radius of the initial state is around $\ell_{Q\bar{Q}} = 0.2$ fm we expect and also find that a correlation length of $\ell_{med} = 0.96$ fm is unable to efficiently destabilize the bound state. A much more rapid decay (note the log scale) sets in once the correlation length drops below $\ell_{med} = 0.32$ fm, becoming equal to the bound state size. While not plotted here, the excited states in the system will be populated more and more strongly, the shorter the correlation length is.

Note that survival probabilities with values much smaller than unity ensue, not only for the ground but also for the excited states, signaling that a large admixture of the system is actually made up of unbound states in the continuum. An



Fig. 44. (left) the survival probability for the lowest stationary state of \tilde{H}_5 , evolved via the stochastic potential prescription for different values of the medium correlation length. Note the transition from inefficient to efficient decoherence as $\ell_{med} \approx \ell_{Q\bar{Q}}$. (right) Comparison of the ground state survival probability for the stochastic potential and the adiabatic approximation. The latter systematically underestimates the in-medium survival. *Source:* Figures adapted from Ref. [338].

interesting aspect of these dynamics is that continuously excitations and de-excitations are taking place between different states. Such a reshuffling of states will lead to the emergence of a thermalized fixed point of the (full dissipative) dynamics at late times. The availability of transitions between bound and scattering states also entails that if one were to start out from an unbound initial state, efficient decoherence can also lead to a re-population of bound states over time. The probability for this inverse process however is volume dependent, since only in a finite volume the number of unbound states remains finite and thus a non-vanishing probability exists to return into one of the few bound states. By treating explicitly the dynamics between all accessible states the open quantum systems approach naturally incorporates the physics of recombination. It is important to note however that this form of recombination only considers the two quarks of the initially prepared quarkonium bound state. In order to understand what happens in the presence of multiple $Q\bar{Q}$ pairs a higher order density matrix, such as $\sigma_{Q\bar{Q}Q\bar{Q}}$ needs to be considered, which, while in principle possible, will be a challenge for future studies.

At this point it is informative to consider how the approximate stochastic evolution differs from the adiabatic approximation often employed in phenomenological modeling. In that case the Schrödinger equation Eq. (239) is used to solve for the microscopic wavefunction. In the right hand panel of Fig. 44 the two different computations are shown for a 1+1 dimensional setup at two distinct values for ℓ_{med} . What is found is that the adiabatic approximation works better for cases where the influence of noise is weak. In addition the adiabatic result systematically underestimates the stochastic result, a fact that needs to be kept in mind when such simulations are compared to actual experimental data. Currently first steps are taken to incorporate the insight gained from the open quantum systems approach into phenomenological simulations of quarkonium, going beyond the adiabatic approximation [342].

Access to the (approximate) real-time dynamics of heavy-quarkonium has thus already provided vital insight into their dynamical melting process, in which wavefunction decoherence plays an important role. The historic intuition of sequential melting is elevated to a genuine real-time picture, where depending on the size of individual states, medium fluctuations can efficiently resolve the bound state and induce transitions into higher excited bound or scattering states. The phenomenon of quarkonium melting thus can only be formulated as an initial value problem, inquiring how many of an initial collection of quarkonium states will survive in a medium after a given time.

In the study of single heavy quarks in the open quantum systems approach it has been pointed out e.g. in Ref. [336] that the dynamics in phase space, i.e. governed by the momentum operator, in general cannot be disentangled from those in color space and that their interplay under decoherence is essential to understanding of the classicalization of the quarkonium evolution. Thus for a more comprehensive understanding of dynamical quarkonium melting it is paramount that master equations are derived and simulated, which incorporate the dynamics of color degrees of freedom explicitly. This challenge is currently taken on by several groups. For a selection of published master equations including color degrees of freedom see Refs. [331–333,335].

4.3. Open quantum systems and pNRQCD

In Section 4.2 we discussed the derivation of a Lindblad master equation from QCD at high temperature. It both provided insight into the range of validity of simple Schrödinger equation based descriptions of in-medium quarkonium and offered possible routes for their improvement. In this section we will review two other open quantum systems based approach to quarkonium, which instead make close connection with the effective field theory of pNRQCD. The first is based on a scenario, where the medium itself is weakly coupled and the matching between QCD and the EFT can be carried out perturbatively. The dominant physics it incorporates is that of gluo-dissociation. The second study considers a

different scale hierarchy, in which the medium is not weakly coupled $T \sim m_D$. By focusing on the subset of Coulombically bound quarkonium states it is shown that their dynamics are governed by two transport coefficients amenable to a lattice QCD evaluation.

The Boltzmann transport equation

In the first study originally presented in Ref. [333] one starts from perturbatively matched pNRQCD and translates the operators, states and Wilson coefficients of that EFT into the language of a Lindblad equation. Introducing a Wigner transform of the density matrix, the quarkonium distribution functions are defined, for which transport equations of Boltzmann type are derived under certain time scale separation assumptions.

Starting point of the derivation is pNRQCD considered in thermal equilibrium under the particular scale hierarchy

$$m_{\rm Q} \gg m_{\rm Q} v \gg m_{\rm Q} v^2 \gtrsim T \gtrsim m_D,\tag{240}$$

which corresponds to a scenario where the medium still allows for a well defined bound state to exist (c.f. also Ref. [343]). Taking the S-wave ground state charmonium binding energy as ultrasoft scale $Mv^2 \sim E_{\text{bind}}(1S) = 600$ MeV, one finds that it is indeed larger than the temperatures currently reached in heavy-ion experiments. (Note that in this direct comparison, we assume that the relevant energy scale in the medium is indeed T and not πT .) As made explicit in Eq. (52) the interactions between heavy quarkonium states and the ultrasoft gluons in pNRQCD is to lowest order mediated via a dipole interaction. In a perturbative matching to NRQCD it can be shown (see Ref. [344,345]) that the corresponding Wilson coefficient $V_A(r)$ does not run in the renormalization group sense and thus at the matching scale can be set to unity $V_A(r; \mu = m_0 v) = 1 + O(\alpha_s^2)$ to leading order.

In order to connect to the open quantum systems picture formulated in terms of states in a Hilbert space, we need to consider what degrees of freedom are present in such a perturbative pNRQCD setup. Since the color singlet potential is attractive there may be either bound or unbound singlet states present, while due to the repulsive octet potential only unbound colored states exist. Their time evolution in the absence of coupling to ultrasoft gluons can be cast into the form of a Schrödinger equation governed by the Hamiltonians

$$H_{s,o} = \frac{\mathbf{P}^2}{4m_Q} + \frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{m_Q} + V_{s,o}^{(0)} + \frac{V_{s,o}^{(1)}}{m_Q} + \frac{V_{s,o}^{(2)}}{m_Q^2} + \mathcal{O}(v^3),$$
(241)

arising from the terms in the first and second lines of the pNRQCD Lagrangian in Eq. (52). Note that here $V_{5,0}$ are purely real and can be perturbatively computed from QCD. Under the present scale separation the kinetic terms $\mathbf{P}^2/4m_Q$ related to the center of mass motion are subdominant. We can thus compute the single particle stationary states of the Hilbert space for the relative motion, by solving the following Schrödinger equations

$$H_{s}^{\text{rel}}|\psi_{nl}\rangle = E_{nl}|\psi_{nl}\rangle, \quad H_{s}^{\text{rel}}|\psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle = \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{m_{Q}}|\psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle, \quad H_{o}^{\text{rel}}|\Psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle = \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{m_{Q}}|\Psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle.$$
(242)

Ref. [333] now considers creation (\dagger) and annihilation operators for all three distinct composite particle entities with given center of mass momentum **P**

$$a_{nl}^{(\dagger)}(\mathbf{P})$$
: bound singlet, $b_{\mathbf{p}}^{(\dagger)}(\mathbf{P})$: unbound singlet, $c_{\mathbf{p}}^{a(\dagger)}(\mathbf{P})$: unbound octet, (243)

which fulfill canonical commutation relations. Since here the Hilbert spaces of relative and center of mass motion factorize, a single particle state is given by a direct product of one of the wavefunctions of Eq. (243) and a plain wave with momentum **P**. The Fock space is populated by applying the above creation operators

$$\mathbf{K}, nl, 1\rangle = a_{nl}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{K})|0\rangle, \quad |\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{p}, 1\rangle = b_{\mathbf{p}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{P})|0\rangle, \quad |\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{p}, a\rangle = c_{\mathbf{p}}^{a\dagger}(\mathbf{P})|0\rangle, \tag{244}$$

where the kets $|\mathbf{K}, nl, 1\rangle$, $|\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{p}, 1\rangle$, $|\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{p}, a\rangle$ are a shorthand notation for the single particle direct product states mentioned above.

The set of wavefunctions and particle operators allows the authors to write an explicit representation of the singlet and octet wavefunctions as

$$|S(\mathbf{R},t)\rangle = \int \frac{d^3P}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i(Et-\mathbf{P}\cdot\mathbf{R})} \left(\sum_{nl} a_{nl}(\mathbf{P}) \otimes |\psi_{nl}\rangle + \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} b_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}) \otimes |\psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle \right),$$
(245)

$$|O^{a}(\mathbf{R},t)\rangle = \int \frac{d^{3}P}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{-i(Et-\mathbf{P}\cdot\mathbf{R})} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} c^{a}_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}) \otimes |\Psi_{\mathbf{p}}\rangle.$$
(246)

Defining the matrix elements in the relative position space for the singlet and octet sector as

$$\langle \mathbf{r}|S(\mathbf{R},t)\rangle \equiv S(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t), \quad \langle \mathbf{r}|O^{a}(\mathbf{R},t)\rangle \equiv O^{a}(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t), \tag{247}$$

$$\langle S(\mathbf{R},t)|f(\mathbf{r})|O^{a}(\mathbf{R},t)\rangle \equiv \int d^{3}r S^{\dagger}(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t)f(\mathbf{r})O^{a}(\mathbf{R},\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (248)$$



Fig. 45. (left) The pNRQCD self energy diagram responsible for the correction of the real-part of the in-medium potential, as well as for (left) inducing quarkonium dissociation and recombination via mediating of transitions between the singlet and octet sector.

the interaction terms of the pNRQCD Lagrangian can be reexpressed (see Ref. [346]) in an alternative form, which directly invites the connection to the open quantum systems formulation. Take for example the singlet to octet term

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int},so} = \sqrt{\frac{T_F}{N_C}} \Big(\langle O^a(\mathbf{R},t) | \mathbf{r} \cdot g \mathbf{E}^a(\mathbf{R},t) | S(\mathbf{R},t) \rangle + \text{h.c.} \Big).$$
(249)

It can be reinterpreted according to a $H_{int} = \sum_m \Sigma_m \otimes \Xi_m$ as defining

$$\Sigma_m \equiv \langle S(\mathbf{R},t) | r_i | O^a(\mathbf{R},t) \rangle + \langle O^a(\mathbf{R},t) | r_i | S(\mathbf{R},t) \rangle, \quad \Xi_m \equiv \sqrt{\frac{T_F}{N_C}} g E_i^a(\mathbf{R},t), \tag{250}$$

where the subscript m refers to the center of mass coordinate **R**, the vector components i and the color degrees of freedom a.

It is at this point that the Markovian approximation is invoked. In the scale hierarchy considered here, it is justified by comparing the characteristic medium time scale 1/T with the inverse of the dissociation rate, in turn allowing one to neglect all memory integrals in the master equation. (For technical details see the appendices of Ref. [333])

As we saw e.g. in the derivation of the quantum optical master equation in Eq. (123), the two-point correlation functions of the Ξ operators can be split into two contributions. One S_{mn} will lead to a modification of the subsystem Hamiltonian and the other γ_{mn} provides the prefactors of the Lindblad operators.

It turns out that the former can be straight forwardly evaluated in pNRQCD as it arises from the self energy Feynman diagram where a singlet state via interaction with an ultrasoft gluon turns into an intermediate octet state and eventually returns to the singlet by a second interaction (see Fig. 45). The real part of this contribution enters as a loop correction to the otherwise real-valued potential and can be used to define the effective subsystem Hamiltonian \tilde{H}_s . I.e. we are considering a system where part of the genuine field theoretical interactions between the quarkonium and the remaining dynamical gluons can be summarized in a correction to a time independent potential. (For a similar treatment see also Ref. [286])

Before continuing to a more detailed discussion of the contributions from fluctuations onto the quarkonium dynamics one can connect to the language of transport equations. To this end a distribution function for the heavy quarkonium states needs to be defined. Since the main interest lies in the evolution of bound states this may be achieved by taking the Wigner transform of the corresponding matrix elements of the reduced system density matrix in the singlet basis

$$f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t) \equiv \int \frac{d^3 K'}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{K}' \cdot \mathbf{X}} \langle \mathbf{K} + \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1|\hat{\sigma}_S(t)|\mathbf{K} - \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1\rangle .$$
(251)

The strategy here is to derive explicit expressions for $f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t)$ at finite time *t* given by terms that possess a linear dependence on time, so that taking the time derivative results in the evolution equation of interest. Essentially one sandwiches many independent small time evolution steps after each other. This trick is applicable due to the Markovian approximation, where e.g. the explicit t dependence of possible integral terms has been removed by setting the upper boundaries to infinity.

The first step is to consider the effect of the von-Neumann like term in the Lindblad equation on the time evolution of the distribution function. The commutator with \tilde{H}_S leads to

$$f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t) = -it \int \frac{d^{3}K'}{(2\pi)^{3}} e^{i\mathbf{K}\cdot\mathbf{X}} \langle \mathbf{K} + \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1| (\hat{\tilde{H}}_{S}\hat{\sigma}_{S} - \hat{\sigma}_{S}\hat{\tilde{H}}_{S})|\mathbf{K} - \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1\rangle + \cdots$$
(252)

$$= f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, 0) - it \int \frac{d^3 K'}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{K}' \cdot \mathbf{X}} (E_{\mathbf{K} + \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}} - E_{\mathbf{K} - \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}}) \langle \mathbf{K} + \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1|\hat{\sigma}_S(0)|\mathbf{K} - \frac{\mathbf{K}'}{2}, nl, 1\rangle + \cdots$$
(253)

where the additional terms from the Lindblad operators are not shown explicitly. In conjunction with the Wigner transform this expression can be used as the starting point of a gradient expansion, leading eventually to

$$f_{nl}(\mathbf{X},\mathbf{K},t) = f_{nl}(\mathbf{X},\mathbf{K},0) - t\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla_{\mathbf{X}} f_{nl}(\mathbf{X},\mathbf{K},0) + \cdots, \qquad (254)$$

where for notational purposes the center of mass velocity is defined as $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{K}/2m_0$.

The terms involving Lindblad operators can be divided into two sets. The one including $L^{\dagger}L\sigma$ and $\sigma L^{\dagger}L$ is directly related to the perturbative dissociation rate, as it is defined from the dipole transition between the singlet to octet. I.e. here the imaginary part of the pNRQCD self energy contribution implements the process depicted on the right hand side of Fig. 45. This finding is consistent with previous results of Ref. [343], where the same diagram was reinterpreted to give an imaginary part to the in-medium heavy quark potential. Note that to this order in the approximation, the potential in the pNRQCD Lagrangian is completely real and that it is the loop corrections from the interaction with the ultrasoft gluons in the scale hierarchy present that induce an imaginary part.

The last missing term is the one involving $L\sigma L^{\dagger}$, which is shown to be related to the regeneration of quarkonium states in this scale hierarchy. This can be intuitively understood from the fact that it contains the distribution function of color octet quarkonium states, as well as the dipole transition probability between the singlet and octet sector.

Combined into one expression a Boltzmann equation emerges

$$\frac{\sigma}{\partial t} f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t) + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla_{\mathbf{X}} f_{nl}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t) = \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{(+)}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t) - \mathcal{C}_{nl}^{(-)}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t), \qquad (255)$$

where $C_{nl}^{(+)}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t)$ encodes the recombination and $C_{nl}^{(-)}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{K}, t)$ the dissociation processes arising from the Lindblad operators. In the computation of the recombination term often additional approximations are employed. One of these is the so called molecular chaos approximation, where the distribution of the octet quarkonium states is written as a simple product of distribution functions for the individual quark and antiquark degrees of freedom. One may argue from a comparison of the decorrelation rate of the heavy quarks with the relaxation rate of the quarkonium system that such a simplification is justified.

A detailed comparison of the involved time scales, finally allows Ref. [333] to recover in addition to the dissociation term also a regeneration term of the same form as used in previous implementation of the Boltzmann equation in e.g. Ref. [318]. This completes the systematic derivation of the transport approach to heavy quarkonium from the underlying microscopic theory of QCD for a medium, in which the temperature is low enough for well defined bound states to exist.

We find that the open quantum systems approach based on perturbative pNRQCD incorporates in a consistent manner the relevant processes for the S-wave ground state dynamics: (1) screening of a real-valued microscopic potential, (2) the effects of scatterings which both include the dissociation of quarkonium due to excitation into octet states (3) recombination from the inverse process where a colored quark–antiquark pair can emit a gluon and coalesce back into a bound state.

Note that Ref. [333] also considered the annihilation of heavy quark–antiquark pairs via the four-fermion interactions of the NRQCD Lagrangian, adding their contributions as additional Lindblad operators. It is found that for phenomenologically relevant temperatures and accessible time scales this effect is indeed negligible. This finding reinforces the point that the dileptons measured in a heavy-ion collision are not those emitted from in-medium quarkonium states but actually from vacuum states decaying long after the QGP has ceased to exist.

In many applications of transport theory to heavy quarkonium, instead of the Boltzmann equation, a simpler rate equation is deployed [347]. In light of the systematic derivation of the Boltzmann equation from QCD it is an interesting question to ask under which conditions such a rate equation can be subsequently derived as well. Since usually the regeneration term in such an approach is determined from arguments based on detailed balance, the system needs to have had enough time to approach thermal equilibrium for that setup to be valid.

Quarkonium dynamics from transport coefficients

The second approach we consider here and which has been put forward in Refs. [286,287,332] explores how the quarkonium dynamics within pNRQCD can be extended towards a strongly coupled medium. To this end one wishes to relax the condition $\pi T \gg m_D$, which is e.g. employed in the derivation of the Boltzmann equation (see Eq. (240)) and implies that the physics of the medium is weakly coupled. Instead one considers the following scale hierarchy

$$m_Q \gg \frac{1}{a_0} \sim m_Q v \gg \pi T \sim m_D \gg E_{\text{bind}}, \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}.$$
(256)

The first inequality in Eq. (256) amounts to a scenario where the extent of the quarkonium state (given by its Bohr radius a_0) is small enough that its inverse lies at the soft scale and significantly above the temperature scale πT . In practice this restricts us to the ground state of bottomonium for which $1/a_0 \approx 1.5$ GeV, while for charmonium, if considered Coulombicallly bound, $1/a_0 \approx 0.84$ GeV limits this approach to temperatures below $2T_c$. With the quarkonium relaxation scale approximated as $\tau_R \sim 1/(a_0^2(\pi T)^3)$, the assumption of Coulombic binding further leads to $\tau_R \gg \tau_E$, which hints at the dynamics to be Markovian. On the other hand, since $\pi T \gg E_{\text{bind}}$ also the quantum Brownian motion conditions is fulfilled $\tau_S \gg \tau_E$ for this system.

In the scale hierarchy of Eq. (256) the pNRQCD Lagrangian does take the same form as in Eq. (52)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{pNRQCD}} = \int d^3 r \, \text{Tr} \left[S^{\dagger} \left(i\partial_0 - h_s \right) S + O^{\dagger} \left(iD_0 - h_o \right) O \right] + \text{Tr} \left[\left(O^{\dagger} \mathbf{r} \cdot g \mathbf{E} S + \text{H.c.} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(O^{\dagger} \mathbf{r} \cdot g \mathbf{E} O + \text{c.c.} \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(r^2), \tag{257}$$

where the singlet and octet Hamiltonians h_s and h_o are governed by Coulombic potentials

$$V_{s}(r) = -C_{F}\alpha_{s}/r, \quad V_{o}(r) = \alpha_{s}/(2N_{c}r), \quad C_{F} = (N_{c}^{2} - 1)/(2N_{c}) = 4/3.$$
(258)

Note that here the theory convention is adopted, in which the Casimir C_F of SU(3) is not absorbed in the definition of α_s . Let us consider the leading order self energy corrections to the singlet propagation arising in pNRQCD from the diagram on the left of Fig. 45, which in an isotropic system may be expressed as the following correlator of electric fields.

$$\Sigma_{s}(t) = \frac{g^{2}}{6N_{c}} r^{2} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{2} \langle E^{a,i}(t, \mathbf{0}) E^{a,i}(t_{2}, \mathbf{0}) \rangle, \quad \Sigma_{s}^{\text{eq.}} \approx \frac{g^{2}}{6N_{c}} r^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \, \langle \mathcal{T}E^{a,i}(s, \mathbf{0}) E^{a,i}(0, \mathbf{0}) \rangle. \tag{259}$$

If in addition the electric field correlator is approximately time-translation invariant, as is the case in thermal equilibrium the expression simplifies further and one may replace Σ_s with the time-independent expression $\Sigma_s^{eq.}$. Note that the latter also encompasses the situation where the medium temperature is slowly changing, which in the context of a heavy-ion collision may be fulfilled at late times but correction become relevant at early times.

The self energy can be split into a real- and imaginary part, each of which possess a well defined physical interpretation as transport coefficients of the quarkonium system (i.e. they can be written as a zero frequency limit of an appropriate spectral function, in the spirit of a Kubo formula)

$$\kappa = \frac{g^2}{6N_c} \operatorname{Re} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds \left\langle \operatorname{T} E^{a,i}(s, \mathbf{0}) E^{a,i}(0, \mathbf{0}) \right\rangle, \quad \gamma = \frac{g^2}{6N_c} \operatorname{Im} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds \left\langle \operatorname{T} E^{a,i}(s, \mathbf{0}) E^{a,i}(0, \mathbf{0}) \right\rangle.$$
(260)

The real part κ turns out to be the heavy-quark diffusion coefficient, a quantity under intense scrutiny by the theory community. (See e.g. Ref. [348] for a holographic, Ref. [349] perturbative, Ref. [350] phenomenological and Ref. [351] for a lattice QCD perspective). In the scale hierarchy considered here pNRQCD connects κ to the spectral width of the 1S ground state as $\Gamma = -2\langle \text{Im}(-i\Sigma_s) \rangle = 3a_0^2 \kappa$. The second quantity γ , corresponding to the imaginary part, has been evaluated in a weakly coupled setting in e.g. Ref. [17] and a first proposal how to extract it from the lattice has been put forward in Ref. [287,288]. In pNRQCD it is related to the mass shift δm , the quarkonium experiences in the medium $\delta m = \langle \text{Re}(-i\Sigma_s) \rangle = \frac{3}{2}a_0^2 \gamma$.

As was shown in detail in Section 3 of Ref. [286] one can translate the language of color singlet and color octet fields living on the Schwinger-Keldysh contour (forward path fields denoted with subscript 1, backward path fields with 2) into a language of the corresponding density matrix in coordinate space via the identifications

$$\langle \mathbf{r}' | \rho_{s}(t;t) | \mathbf{r} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \{ \rho \, S^{\dagger}(t,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{R}) S(t,\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{R}) \} = \langle S_{1}(t,\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{R}) S_{2}^{\dagger}(t,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{R}) \rangle, \langle \mathbf{r}' | \rho_{o}(t;t) | \mathbf{r} \rangle \delta^{ab} / (N_{c}^{2}-1) = \operatorname{Tr} \{ \rho \, O^{a\dagger}(t,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{R}) O^{b}(t,\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{R}) \} = \langle O_{1}^{b}(t,\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{R}) O_{2}^{a\dagger}(t,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{R}) \rangle.$$
(261)

The evolution equations for the singlet and octet density matrices following from Eqs. (257) and (261) appear to contain memory integrals. However a careful consideration of the power counting reveals that these non-Markovian contributions are subdominant at the current order of the multipole expansion. The equations one obtains can be interpreted in terms of a quantum jump model. It considers the evolution of the density matrix based on the singlet or octet potential, which is amended by stochastically distributed transitions induced by the pNRQCD self energies. This dynamics is represented by the following closed set of master equations for the singlet and octet component

$$\frac{d\rho_{s}(t;t)}{dt} = -i[h_{s}, \rho_{s}(t;t)] - \Sigma_{s}(t)\rho_{s}(t;t) - \rho_{s}(t;t)\Sigma_{s}^{\dagger}(t) + \Xi_{so}(\rho_{o}(t;t),t),
\frac{d\rho_{o}(t;t)}{dt} = -i[h_{o}, \rho_{o}(t;t)] - \Sigma_{o}(t)\rho_{o}(t;t) - \rho_{o}(t;t)\Sigma_{o}^{\dagger}(t) + \Xi_{os}(\rho_{s}(t;t),t) + \Xi_{oo}(\rho_{o}(t;t),t),$$
(262)

which are fully specified by the potentials and the electric field correlator. The time dependent self energies

$$\Sigma_{s}(t) = \frac{r^{2}}{2} \left[\tilde{\kappa}(t) + i\tilde{\gamma}(t) \right], \quad \Sigma_{o}(t) = \frac{N_{c}^{2} - 2}{2(N_{c}^{2} - 1)} \frac{r^{2}}{2} \left[\tilde{\kappa}(t) + i\tilde{\gamma}(t) \right], \tag{263}$$

are expressed in terms of their real- $\tilde{\kappa}(t)$ and imaginary part $\tilde{\gamma}(t)$. Note that these expressions may be replaced by their static counterparts, the transport coefficients $\kappa = \tilde{\kappa}(\infty)$ and $\gamma = \tilde{\gamma}(\infty)$, discussed above, if the electric fields are approximately time translation invariant and the medium is sufficiently close to thermal equilibrium. The operators related to the interactions with the electric fields, which induce transitions between the singlet and octet sector, as well as within the octet sector read

$$\Xi_{so}(\rho_o, t) = \frac{1}{N_c^2 - 1} r^i \rho_o r^i \tilde{\kappa}(t), \quad \Xi_{os}(\rho_s, t) = r^i \rho_s r^i \tilde{\kappa}(t), \quad \Xi_{oo}(\rho_o, t) = \frac{N_c^2 - 4}{2(N_c^2 - 1)} r^i \rho_o r^i \tilde{\kappa}(t). \tag{264}$$

Since the mixing terms considered in Eq. (262) are linear in the density matrix, one may recast the equation of motion in Lindblad form. Absorbing the relaxation rate into appropriately defined collapse operators C_n it can be written as

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = -i[H,\rho] + \sum_{n} \left(C_n \rho C_n^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \{ C_n^{\dagger} C_n, \rho \} \right).$$
(265)

The density matrix consists of a direct product of singlet and octet sector and the Hamiltonian correspondingly takes on a block-diagonal form

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_s & 0\\ 0 & \rho_o \end{pmatrix}, \quad H = \begin{pmatrix} h_s & 0\\ 0 & h_o \end{pmatrix} + \frac{r^2}{2} \tilde{\gamma}(t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{N_c^2 - 2}{2(N_c^2 - 1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(266)

One finds that in a thermal medium the potential receives a correction due to the transport coefficient γ , while the collapse operators are governed by the heavy-quark diffusion constant

$$C_i^0 = \sqrt{\frac{\tilde{\kappa}(t)}{N_c^2 - 1}} r^i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ \sqrt{N_c^2 - 1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad C_i^1 = \sqrt{\frac{(N_c^2 - 4)\tilde{\kappa}(t)}{2(N_c^2 - 1)}} r^i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(267)

Note the similarity with the Lindblad operators of Eq. (234) derived in Ref. [331] under a weak coupling quantum Brownian motion assumption. There it is the function *D*, defined via the gluon spectral function and related to the imaginary part of the heavy-quark potential, which mediates the transitions between the singlet and octet sector.

Limiting oneself to states with small spatial extent compared to the temperature of the system, i.e. those that may be considered Coulombically bound, one finds that their dynamics can be cast in form of a Lindblad equation even if the medium is strongly coupled. The ensuing coupled equations of motion for a medium close to thermal equilibrium depend on the singlet and octet potentials (which in this scale hierarchy are simply the vacuum potentials) and two transport coefficients, the heavy quark diffusion coefficient κ and the quantity γ related to a mass shift of the quarkonium system. This finding has invigorated the ongoing efforts for a high precision determination of κ from lattice QCD and jumpstarted work on the extraction of the mass shift from Euclidean time correlation functions.

Summary. Significant progress in our understanding of the real-time evolution of heavy quarkonium has been achieved over the past years. With quarkonium in a medium naturally inviting the distinction between a small system and the environment, the open quantum systems approach has been a vital tool in this regard. It provides a versatile theoretical framework to account for the different timescales present in the system and has led to an improved understanding of quarkonium melting as a genuine dynamical process. Decoherence induced by the medium fluctuations is found to play an important role in addition to static screening, allowing the medium to act as a bound state sieve. An improved theory understanding of quarkonium real-time evolution has also allowed to put current approaches to phenomenological modeling of quarkonium dynamics on a more solid footing by exposing their underlying assumption. Not only has the stochastic Schrödinger equation been derived from a Lindblad equation via the quantum state diffusion method but also the Boltzmann transport equations have been systematically obtained from a pNRQCD based master equation. The quest for a genuine non-perturbative implementation of the open quantum systems master equations is ongoing and first results based on pNRQCD revealed that the dynamics in certain scale hierarchies may be represented in terms of transport coefficients amenable to a lattice QCD evaluation.

5. Heavy quarkonium in relativistic heavy-ion collisions

In the previous sections we have developed an improved theoretical understanding of the properties of kinetically equilibrated heavy quarkonium, as well as its real-time evolution in the background of a thermal medium. It is now time to ask how this insight can help us in shedding light on quarkonium production in heavy-ion collisions.

While the focus of this review is the theoretical understanding of in-medium quarkonium it pertains to only but one part of the puzzle in understanding quarkonium production in heavy-ion collisions (for a recent review including also an extended survey of experimental measurements see Ref. [352]). Indeed such collisions encompass many complex aspects, from the production of the heavy quark-antiquark pairs, the evolution of the bulk medium consisting of light partons, to the physics of hadronization, as well as the evolution within the hadronic phase. Even in the context of heavy quarkonium alone many open questions remain, some of the most pressing are listed below:

- How do the energetic partons inside the projectile nuclei interact to form heavy quark-antiquark pairs?
- Do heavy quarkonium states form in the early stages of the collision, which are dominated by the strong coherent fields of the glasma and if so what are the time scales involved?
- If a quarkonium state has formed early on, how does it react to the emergent quark-gluon plasma it is immersed in?
- How does the interaction with a locally thermalized but steadily cooling medium affect the stability of existing bound states? How efficient is recombination of color octet pairs into singlet bound states in such a setting?
- Depending on the flavor of the constituent quark and the lifetime of the fireball, to what degree does quarkonium and in turn the heavy quarks equilibrate?
- What happens at the crossover transition, where individual colored partons need to come together to form color neutral hadrons?
- How do the bound states formed at the crossover transition propagate in the hadronic phase, how are their stability properties modified?



Fig. 46. (left) Example of inclusive J/ψ production consisting of both prompt and non-prompt contributions. The former arises from J/ψ particles formed in the collision region, either directly or as end products of feed-down processes from $\psi(2S)$ and χ_c states. The latter contribution originates in the decay of B mesons outside of the initial scattering event. (second from left) Typical production probabilities for charmed hadrons in a proton–proton collision. Note the minute share ~2% of charmonium on the overall production yield. (right) Typical values of prompt J/ψ production in p + p collisions at high and low transverse momentum, sorted according to their origin from direct production or feed-down. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [352].

A true theory understanding of quarkonium in HICs requires a QCD based reply to all of the above, which at the same time should provide an efficient prescription to compute quantitative postdictions of the measured yields in current experiments. Vital insight has been already achieved and further progress is on the horizon based on the steady development of an effective field theory based real-time understanding of heavy-icon collisions. Combining a description of the initial stages of the collisions based on the color glass condensate, of thermalization and evolution of the light degrees of freedom via classical statistical simulations, kinetic theory and relativistic hydrodynamics, of the physics of heavy quarks via NRQCD and that of heavy quarkonium in the open quantum systems approach, all orchestrated in conjunction with the non-perturbative predictive power of lattice QCD bodes well for such an ambitious task to succeed in the next decade.

5.1. Preliminaries: quarkonium in p + p collisions

As a first step one can consider the process of quarkonium production in the absence of a hot medium (for details see e.g. Chap. 2 of Ref. [352]). This area of study has a long history and is still actively pursued both experimentally and theoretically in proton–proton and proton–nucleus collisions at current collider facilities. Quarkonium in p + p collisions constitutes a fascinating subject by itself which allows us to learn e.g. about the complex inner structure of nucleons, as well as the intricate dynamics of hadronization. Its understanding also forms the basis for developing insight into the production process in more complex scenarios such as proton–nucleus and nucleus–nucleus collisions.

Let us clarify what one actually refers to when talking about quarkonium production. The so called inclusive production contains two independent contributions, prompt and non-prompt. As sketched on the leftmost panel of Fig. 46, for the example of the charmonium ground state J/ψ . The prompt contribution consists of both directly produced J/ψ and those that follow from feed-down from excited states ψ' as well as P-wave states χ_c . On the other hand the non-prompt contribution refers to J/ψ that results from the decay of B mesons that initially formed in the collision.

In general the production of quarkonium only constitutes a small fraction of all mesons that arise from the production of a heavy quark–antiquark pair. As indicated in the second panel from the left in Fig. 46 mostly open heavy flavor mesons emerge from the collision. Even the formation of Baryons with one heavy quark component constitutes a larger share than that of actual quarkonium. If one wishes to understand the yields of the quarkonium ground states, one further needs to understand the feed-down contributions from excited states, which, depending on the transverse momentum involved, actually differ significantly as illustrated in the two right panels of Fig. 46. The corresponding charts for Bottomonium including in particular the recent measurements by the LHCb collaboration can be found in Ref. [352].

The theory understanding of the physics of the production process benefits from the presence of a separation of scales between the hard scale of the heavy quark rest mass and the correspondingly large momenta of the partons in the projectiles, as well as lower scales, such as Λ_{QCD} and the binding energies of quarkonium states. In turn the overall production process can be considered as *factorized* between individual subprocesses, i.e. the production of a heavy quark and the subsequent formation of color neutral hadrons as indicated in Fig. 47. Theory has seen significant progress and success in studying quarkonium production over the past decades, the question of quarkonium polarization however remains a challenging topic.

The first step consists of understanding how the heavy quarks come into being. The main ingredient is the presence of highly energetic partons in the proton projectiles, which may scatter off of each other to produce a heavy quark–antiquark pair. The four most relevant processes in this regard are shown in Fig. 48, consisting of s-channel and t-channel flavor production, as well as gluon splitting and flavor excitation. At the end of the interaction a $Q\bar{Q}[n]$ pair in any of *n* possible states emerges, which may possess large relative, as well as center of mass momentum.



Fig. 47. The two stages of the production process of prompt quarkonium: production of the color bearing heavy quark-antiquark pair from hard partons and the subsequent formation of either open heavy flavor or quarkonium states. As indicated by the thickness of the arrows, open heavy flavor constitutes the overwhelming majority of produced particles.



Fig. 48. Relevant scattering processes in the production of heavy quark-anti-quark pairs at current proton-proton colliders.

Due to the heavy quark mass being much larger than Λ_{QCD} it might appear that the production of the heavy quark pair is a purely perturbative issue. However we must not forget that the gluons were actually part of a proton, whose highly non-perturbative parton distribution functions $F_i^p(q)$ tell us how probable it is that a gluon with a certain momentum takes part in the scattering process. The cross section $\sigma^{pp \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X}$ to produce the $Q\bar{Q}$ from a p + p collision, can actually be approximated to a good degree as a product over the genuinely perturbative cross-section for each of the gluon scattering processes and the gluon distribution functions $F_g^p(q)$

$$\sigma^{pp \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X}(q_1, q_2) \overset{q \gg \Lambda_{QCD}}{\approx} \sum_{X'} F_g^{p_1}(q_1^2) F_g^{p_2}(q_2^2) \cdot \sigma^{gg \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X'}(q_1, q_2).$$
(268)

The information about the distribution of momenta among the partons within a proton has been studied thoroughly via deep inelastic scattering. Its computation from first principles lattice QCD on the other hand is an active field of research.

The second step is to consider how the in general color charged $Q\bar{Q}$ pair actually forms a color neutral quarkonium meson denoted here by *H* [36]. Again one benefits from an approximate factorization between the production and the formation stage

$$\sigma^{pp \to H+X} \approx \sum_{n} \int d\Pi_{Q\bar{Q}} \sigma^{pp \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X}(\Pi) \cdot M(Q\bar{Q}[n] \to H),$$
(269)

where Π denotes an appropriate integration over the phase space of the quark–antiquark pair and *M* refers to the matrix element of producing the hadron

$$M(Q\bar{Q}[n] \to H) = \sum_{\chi} \langle 0|\chi^{\dagger} \mathcal{K}_{n} \psi | H + \chi \rangle \langle H + \chi | \psi^{\dagger} \mathcal{K}_{n}' \chi \rangle.$$
(270)

Here X denotes any other hadron and \mathcal{K} appropriate combinations of color and spin matrices, depending on the state $Q\bar{Q}[n]$.

Modeling the formation process has a long history starting from the color singlet model (CSM) and the more recent color evaporation model (CEM). In the former one assumes that a color neutral quarkonium can only arise from an originally color singlet quark–antiquark pair. Further, one neglects the relative momentum between the heavy quarks essentially considering the $Q\bar{Q}$ being born at rest on top of each other. Then the radial wavefunction of the quarkonium at the origin $R_H(0)$ can be used to estimate the production cross section

$$\sigma_{\text{CSM}}^{pp \to H+X} \propto \sigma^{pp \to QQ[n]+X}(v=0) \otimes |R_H(0)|^2.$$
(271)

In this form the CSM, when applied to S-wave states, corresponds to the lowest order approximation of NRQCD, i.e. to the leading order in the heavy quark velocity v.

In the CEM on the other hand each $Q\bar{Q}$ pair is assigned the same probability to form a quarkonium, as long as the invariant mass of the quark pair is less than that of the meson H. The probability for each meson is contained in a model parameter F_H

$$\sigma_{\rm CEM}^{pp \to H+X} = F_H \int_{4m_0}^{4m_H^2} dm_{Q\bar{Q}}^2 \frac{d}{dm_{Q\bar{Q}}} \sigma^{pp \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X} \cdot 1.$$
(272)

The CEM is able to provide a reasonably good reproduction of e.g. J/ψ production at LHC and it is actively further developed to improve quantitative agreement with data, also in the case of bottomonium. For recent developments see e.g. Refs. [353–355], where both the agreement with the measured p_T dependence of J/ψ as well as an improved postdiction of the ψ' yields have been achieved. In turn the first computation of the explicit p_T dependence of the ψ' to J/ψ ratio in the context of the CEM was presented.

The NRQCD approach is based on a systematic power counting in terms of the heavy quark velocity v, which includes contributions in particular from color octet states. At large enough transverse momenta, where the NRQCD scale separation is expected to be valid, one can write the cross section as a sum

$$\sigma_{\text{NRQCD}}^{pp \to H+X} = \sum_{n} \sigma^{pp \to Q\bar{Q}[n]+X} \cdot \langle \mathcal{O}_{H}^{n} \rangle, \tag{273}$$

where the operators \mathcal{O}_{H}^{n} are obtained from the four fermion interactions of NRQCD

$$\mathcal{O}_{h}^{n} = \chi^{\dagger} \mathcal{K}_{n} \psi(a_{h}^{\dagger} a_{h}) \psi^{\dagger} \mathcal{K}_{n}^{\prime} \chi \tag{274}$$

and contain the creation and annihilation operators of the hadron, as well as the NRQCD heavy quark ψ and antiquark fields χ . For a more detailed discussion and the explicit form of the operators in NRQCD the reader is referred to Refs. [36,356,357].

One recent interesting development in the context of quarkonium production is the extension of the NRQCD approach to transverse momenta lower than 5 GeV. Ref. [358] proposes to combine heavy quark effective field theory matrix elements with a color glass condensate model to approximate the gluon distributions in the proton projectiles, leading to good agreement with data also for the challenging subject of quarkonium polarization [359]. One finds a smooth overlap region of these new results with the standard NLO NRQCD at high p_T .

5.2. Cold nuclear matter effects

After gaining a first taste of quarkonium production in p + p collisions let us touch on the next more complex scenario of proton–nucleus collisions. Here one wishes to learn about so called *cold nuclear matter* effects, which may affect quarkonium production also in a heavy-ion collision. A comprehensive overview of this topic may be found in Refs. [360–362] and chapter 3 of Ref. [352], a collection of recent results in Ref. [363].

Experimentally one expresses the deviations in measured yields between a p+p collision and any other type of collision involving a nucleus, be it p + A or A + A, with the nuclear modification factor

$$R_{xA}(p_T) = \frac{1}{\langle N_{\text{coll}} \rangle} \frac{dN_{xA}/dp_T}{dN_{pp}/dp_T},$$
(275)

where the prefactor including the number of binary collisions simply acts as a normalization. If the physics in a collision involving a nucleus were simply that of a large number individual p + p collisions this ratio would stay at unity.

A natural distinction lies between effects which affect the initial-state and the final state. The former are related to differences in the parton composition of nuclei as compared to protons. The latter on the other hand arise from the fact that quarkonium states produced in p + A and A + A collisions may find themselves within a nuclear environment or surrounded by collision fragments, which destabilize the quark-antiquark bound state.

The study of parton distribution functions in nuclei is an active research area (for a recent brief overview see e.g. Ref. [365]), which to date relies on an interplay between theory and experiment to extract from measured yields constraints on the momentum fraction carried by quarks and gluons in nucleons embedded in a nucleus. As shown in Fig. 49 three generic features emerge: at small values of the parton momentum fraction $x < 10^{-2}$ the ratio of nuclear to free parton distribution function $R_i^A = F_i^{\text{p}\in A}(x, Q^2)/F_i^p(x, Q^2)$ takes on values smaller than unity, a feature referred to as small-*x* shadowing. At intermediate $x \leq 0.1$ on the other hand the ratio shows a hump-like structure, which is simply called *anti-shadowing*, followed by a dip at $x \approx 0.6$ which was first identified by the EMC collaboration and thus has been christened the *EMC effect*. There are many different nuclear PDFs on the market that differ in the theory input, as well as the fitting procedure to experimental data, among them EPS09, nCTEQ15 or EPPS16.

We may now ask how the modification of the nuclear PDF's affects the production of the individual quarkonium states. I.e. we ask how the nuclear modification factor R_{pA} differs from unity. When evaluating J/ψ and Υ production in p - Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5$ TeV the modified PDF's predict [360] a *suppression* of around 10% for $b\bar{b}$ and 20% for $c\bar{c}$. It is here that we encounter for the first time the notion of *quarkonium suppression*. At this point this suppression is not related to the presence of a hot medium and simply reflects changes in the initial projectile. Obviously these numbers need to be kept



Fig. 49. The three generic features of nuclear parton distribution functions showcased with the example of EPPS16. The clear suppression below unity at small *x* is followed by an intermediate anti-shadowing hump, before encountering the EMC minimum at $x \approx 0.6$. *Source:* Figure reproduced from Ref. [364].

in mind when investigating production patterns observed in nucleus-nucleus collisions, in order to correctly disentangle the possible effects of a hot QCD medium from those arising from cold-nuclear matter.

On the theory side, the color glass condensate approach [366] is used to explore how the phenomenon of *parton* saturation affects the dynamics of partons within nuclei [367–370]. Already in an individual proton, the parton distribution function at large Q^2 but small x is expected not to grow indefinitely but to eventually saturate at the eponymous saturation scale Q_s , due to nonlinear effects of many self interacting gluons. As the saturation effect depends on the number A of nucleons present, it is expected that its physics needs to be accounted for in detail if quarkonium production is to be understood in a heavy-ion collision. Eventually the goal for theory has to be to compute nuclear parton distribution functions from first principles, which at the moment however is still computationally unfeasible.

There are many different phenomenological approaches proposed to describe the final state interactions. At low enough energies, where quarkonium formation may actually take place within the projectile nucleus volume, the bound state may interact with remnants of the nuclear environment leading to its destabilization. Such a scenario, which is considered for SPS beam energies but due to the Lorentz contraction of the nuclei at LHC is unlikely to be of relevance there, is referred to as *nuclear absorption* or nuclear break-up. On the other hand for LHC energies the effects of coherent energy loss have been discussed originally in Ref. [371], which lead to a suppression of yields compatible with the data and which do not require any modification on the nuclear PDFs. It remains an interesting question of how to reconcile these final state results with the present understanding of nuclear PDFs.

Interestingly the above mentioned initial state effects, as well as coherent energy loss are expected to affect the ground state and final state in an equal fashion. It has however been observed that the excited states of bottomonium and charmonium in p + A collisions suffer from a stronger suppression than the ground states. While at low energies this might be explained by nuclear absorption effects, at LHC energies the comover interaction model [372,373] has been proposed and successfully describes this phenomenon. The idea is that the quarkonium state scatters with particles that possess a similar rapidity traveling in its vicinity. Their effects is modeled by a rate equation, which is similar to the treatment in terms of a transport model in [313] and the final-state interactions in recent computations based on the color-glass condensate and improved color evaporation model in Ref. [374].

It is important to note that while theory progress has been made in regards to understanding initial state effects in proton–nucleus collisions the question of how cold nuclear matter affects quarkonium production in a nucleus–nucleus collision remains a central open question. Vital insight will be gained on the experimental side with the arrival of electron– ion colliders, which will be able to shed light on the parton distribution functions within nuclei with unprecedented precision. On the theory side the question for saturation based computations is how elevate the computations currently carried out for a dilute–dense scenario into the dense–dense sector, relevant for heavy-ion collisions. At the same time it needs to be understood whether and if so how the factorization of subprocesses, a vital tool to make quarkonium production tractable in p + p and p + A collisions, survives in a nucleus–nucleus collision.

Besides the modification of how partons in nuclei interact to form a $Q\bar{Q}$ pair, the evolution of such a colored state in the background of highly occupied soft gauge fields in the initial glasma phase of a heavy-ion collisions needs to be elucidated. Classical statistical simulations of the gauge field sector in conjunction with kinetic theory have proven insightful to understand the emergence of hydrodynamical behavior of the bulk matter (see e.g. Refs. [375–377]). Combining such a glasma inspired real-time framework with the effective field theory NRQCD is currently considered, to gain new insight how quarkonium formation in the early stages of a nucleus–nucleus collision proceeds.

The goal of this and the preceding subsection is to serve as a reminder that a comprehensive understanding of quarkonium in a heavy-ion collisions relies on an interplay of many different physical mechanisms, many of which are not

directly related to quarkonium in a hot medium, but still offer ample opportunity for first principle theory to contribute. At the same time some of the effects discussed above may directly affect e.g. the initial conditions from which a real-time simulation of heavy-quarkonium in a hot environment commences. Hence a lively exchange between the communities working on cold and hot nuclear matter effects will be essential to progress towards a genuine microscopic understanding of the physics involved in producing quarkonium states in a heavy-ion collision.

5.3. Quarkonium production in A + A collisions

In this section we arrive at the ultimate challenge for current studies of quarkonium in extreme conditions, i.e. gaining a truly microscopic understanding of its production in relativistic heavy-collisions. As we have discussed in the previous sections, this task consists of many elements besides describing quarkonium dynamics in a hot medium. Both the real-time evolution of quarkonium states discussed in Section 4 and their properties in equilibrium discussed in Section 3 constitute central pieces of the puzzle without which no comprehensive picture of their production can arise. At the same time a more detailed knowledge about the partonic make-up of the incoming projectile nuclei and a dynamical picture of hadronization are required to fully account for the observed phenomenology.

5.3.1. Charmonium in A + A collisions

Let us start with a discussion of charmonium. Its study in heavy-ion collisions presents an instructive tale about how only a comprehensive understanding of all stages of the collision can provide us with a full account of the physics of quarkonium production. The first steps towards elucidating charmonium in a heavy-ion collision were made in the context of quarkonium melting. I.e. the classic work of Matsui and Satz [13] considered the stability properties of charmonium in a thermal medium, concluding in a first step that the presence of a deconfined QGP will prevent the formation of in-medium bound states. Their arguments at that time were based on a static picture of quarkonium melting, its modern dynamical viewpoint has been discussed in Section 3.4. In general the higher the energy density of the medium, the more efficient the melting will be. At the same time the more weakly the charmonium state is bound in vacuum the more easily the medium will be able to dissolve it. We presented support for this concept of hierarchical ordering of in-medium effects from first principles computations in Section 3.3. Ref. [13] then goes on to argue in a second step that such a failure of binding will translate into a reduction of charmonium yields, i.e. into quarkonium suppression that follows a similar pattern as that of the in-medium melting. This scenario is known as *sequential suppression* and has been laid out in detail in [14]. From it follows that in central collisions and at small rapidities, i.e. where the density of medium scatterers is highest, the suppression should be strongest.

The first conclusion on the hierarchical nature of quarkonium melting in its dynamical form remains valid also today, however it is now understood that suppression, especially at high beam energies does not follow automatically. The reason, as we understand it today, lies in both what happens before and what happens at the end of quark–gluon–plasma phase originally considered by Matsui and Satz. Indeed due to the cross section for charm anti-charm pairs rising steeply with collision energy a hotter plasma in practice is accompanied also with a higher abundance in $c\bar{c}$ pairs. Primordial bound states formed from these $c\bar{c}$ pairs due to the destabilizing effects of the plasma can melt. At the same time either already during the QGP phase or at hadronization different $c\bar{c}$ pairs can recombine again into charmonium pairs, thus replenishing the yields. This effect had been discussed by Matsui early on (see e.g. Ref. [20]) but at that time was discarded due to the small charm cross section accessible experimentally. Several years later with the advent of high energy machines, such as RHIC, on the horizon, regeneration was considered in more detail and it turns out to provide an important piece of the puzzle to understand charmonium production. It is important to note that for collision systems where the effects of regeneration are less important, e.g. at moderate to large p_T , the R_{AA} of different quarkonium species do follow a suppression pattern that is ordered with their in-medium binding energy. We will come back to this issue in the context of bottomonium later on.

In Fig. 50 we showcase a selection of experimental measurements of charmonium from heavy ion collision history, which have been instrumental in pushing forward our understanding of quarkonium production, as well as to spur advances in the development of phenomenological approaches. The quantity we show is the nuclear modification factor R_{AA} for the J/ψ particle. In the leftmost panel R_{AA} from the NA60 and NA49 experiments at SPS and from the PHENIX experiment at RHIC are compared. Note that *x*-axis shows the charged particle multiplicity, which is used instead of the historic choice of number of participants to indicate the activity in the collision center (allowing us to make sense of e.g. signals for bulk collectivity even in *pp* collisions at high multiplicity). The values plotted are divided by the predictions for cold nuclear matter effects. While in In + In collisions at SPS with $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 158$ GeV only relatively small multiplicities are reached that do not show any suppression beyond cold nuclear matter effects, with the advent of Pb + Pb at SPS a clear additional suppression has been registered. Extending the energy range to $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV at RHIC with Au + Au collisions even higher multiplicities are reached and the suppression trend continues. Historically the expectation was that the suppression at RHIC should be stronger than that at SPS, due to the higher beam energies and thus temperatures involved. The question is, can we find indications why the suppression might not increase further?

To this end let us take a look at the center panel of Fig. 50, where the rapidity dependence of R_{AA} (without division by the CNM baseline) is plotted as measured by the PHENIX collaboration at RHIC. In non-central collisions (bottom row) we find a pattern consistent with both arguments from comovers and medium induced melting. I.e. at y = 0 where the



Fig. 50. (left) comparison of measurements of the nuclear modification factor for J/ψ in terms of charged particle multiplicities from the NA50 and NA60 experiment at SPS, as well as PHENIX at RHIC. Figure reproduced from Ref. [1]. (center) The measurements of the J/ψ R_{AA} in terms of rapidity measured by PHENIX at RHIC. Figure reproduced from Ref. [378]. (right) Comparison of the J/ψ R_{AA} versus multiplicity as measured from the STAR and PHENIX collaboration at RHIC and the ALICE collaboration at LHC. Source: Figure adapted from Ref. [379].



Fig. 51. Measurements of elliptic flow of J/ψ at RHIC from Ref. [381] in the left panel and at LHC from Ref. [382] on the right. While the STAR collaboration at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 0.2$ GeV did not observe a significant v_2 more recent measurements by the ALICE collaboration at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV show clear signs for a finite elliptic flow of around 50% of that of D mesons.

density of potential scatterers is highest the R_{AA} is lowest. On the other hand in more central collisions (top row) the pattern inverts and R_{AA} takes on the largest value at y = 0. As we will discuss in more quantitative detail below, this effect is what one would expect when regeneration plays a role in the production dynamics. I.e. at y = 0 the largest number of $c\bar{c}$ pairs is created and will thus lead to the largest recombination probability, in effect overcoming the effects from melting of primordial charmonium pairs.

That regeneration plays an important role to describe the measured yields at increasing beam energies is further supported by the measurements of R_{AA} by the ALICE collaboration at LHC, shown in the right most panel of Fig. 50. Compared along multiplicities, we see that at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV the values of R_{AA} take on significantly larger values than those at measured by STAR and PHENIX at RHIC. A consideration based only on quarkonium melting would suggest that much less quarkonium states should be measured at LHC, while the abundance of $c\bar{c}$ pairs provides a natural explanation of why the values of R_{AA} may even rise compared to RHIC. Indeed the trend continues if one considers the R_{AA} at the highest LHC energies $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, where, as shown in Ref. [380], it takes on slightly larger value than at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV.

As a lot of intuition on quarkonium production originally arose from considering idealized settings in kinetic thermal equilibrium. The question of how efficiently the charm quarks exchange energy and momentum with their surrounding is e.g. of central interest. One possibility to infer this is to look for signs of the produced charmonium to participate in the collective motion of the bulk matter, expressed e.g. in a finite value of *elliptic flow* v_2 for J/ψ . Finite values of v_2 would indicate that the charm quarks are in at least partial kinetic equilibrium with their surroundings, which in turn entails a loss of memory of the initial conditions their evolution. In Fig. 51 we show measurements of said v_2 by the STAR collaboration at RHIC $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 0.2$ GeV from Ref. [381] on the left and from the ALICE collaboration at LHC $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV from Ref. [382] on the right. While at the lower beam energies no significant deviation of v_2 from Zero was observed by STAR, the situation significantly changes at LHC, where an elliptic flow of around 50% of that of D-mesons has been reported by the ALICE collaboration. In turn we expect that arguments based on thermal equilibrium are a reasonable starting point to develop an understanding of charmonium at LHC.

After this very rough survey of charmonium measurements and their qualitative discussion let us turn to more quantitative means of describing charmonium production. While the ultimate goal for theory is to provide a microscopic description from the initial $c\bar{c}$ pair production over their real-time evolution to dynamical hadronization, such an

ambitious framework has yet to be developed. In the meantime it is very instructive to consider what already has been learned about charmonium from describing its production using phenomenological models.

As starting point we can return to the question of why we distinguish heavy quarkonium production from the physics of other lighter flavors. The reason lies in the separation of scales present. In the collider experiments conducted so far, starting at SPS, followed by RHIC and currently at LHC, the temperatures reached in the collision center, as deduced by modeling of the hydrodynamic expansion of the bulk medium, are at maximum $T_{max} \approx 600$ MeV and thus much smaller than the charm quark mass. In turn it is consensus that heavy quark pairs are created only in the early stages of the collision and their number remains approximately constant over the short time scales in which a hot medium may form in the collision center. I.e. in a contemporary heavy-ion collision heavy quarks are not chemically equilibrated and their production yields must be understood with this fact in mind.

Experimental data backs up this reasoning when scrutinized through the lens of hadron resonance gas based models, most prominently the *statistical hadronization model* first introduced in Refs. [18,19] and reviewed in Ref. [383]. Let us take a closer look what this model can tell us about equilibration of light and heavy degrees of freedom in heavy-ion collisions (see e.g. Refs. [379,384]). The model is based on the grand canonical partition function expressed in terms of an ideal, i.e. non-interacting, gas of hadronic degrees of freedom. Remember that for an ideal quantum gas in the occupation number representation the partition function factorizes

$$Z[T, V, \mu] = \sum_{\{n_{\mathbf{p}}\}} \exp\left[-\beta \sum_{\mathbf{p}} n_{\mathbf{p}} \left(\epsilon(\mathbf{p}) - \sum_{j} \mu_{j} Q_{j}\right)\right] = \sum_{n_{\mathbf{p}_{1}}} \sum_{n_{\mathbf{p}_{2}}} \dots \prod_{i} e^{-\beta n_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}(\epsilon(\mathbf{p}_{i}) - \sum_{i} \mu_{i} Q_{i})}$$
(276)

$$=\sum_{n_{\mathbf{p}_{1}}} e^{-\beta n_{\mathbf{p}_{1}}(\epsilon(\mathbf{p}_{1})-\sum_{i}\mu_{i}Q_{i})} \sum_{n_{\mathbf{p}_{2}}} e^{-\beta n_{\mathbf{p}_{2}}(\epsilon(\mathbf{p}_{2})-\sum_{i}\mu_{i}Q_{i})} \dots =\prod_{\mathbf{p}}\sum_{n_{\mathbf{p}}} e^{-\beta n_{\mathbf{p}}(\epsilon(\mathbf{p})-\sum_{i}\mu_{i}Q_{i})}$$
(277)

$$=\prod_{\mathbf{p}} \left(1 \mp e^{-\beta(\epsilon(\mathbf{p}) - \mu_i Q_i)} \right)^{\mp 1}, \tag{278}$$

with the upper sign for bosons and the lower ones for fermions. Here $\epsilon(\mathbf{p})$ denotes the energy of the eigenmodes of the Hamiltonian *H* with momentum \mathbf{p} and $n_{\mathbf{p}}$ refers to the corresponding occupation number of that mode. The chemical potentials μ_i refer to possible conserved charges q_i that the modes carry. In our case what we call modes of the Hamiltonian will be the different hadrons and their excitations that are present in the low temperature phase of QCD

with $\epsilon(\mathbf{p}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m_i^2}$. Here m_i is taken to be the vacuum mass of these states, as temperature effects are implemented via the trace over the thermal density matrix. The conserved charges to which a chemical potential is assigned are strangeness (S, μ_s) , baryon number (B, μ_B) and the third component of the isospin charge (I_3, μ_{I_3}) . In a heavy ion collision with projectiles consisting of protons and neutrons, the overall system has to follow the constraints

$$V \sum_{i} n_{i}B_{i} = N_{B}, \quad V \sum_{i} n_{i}I_{3i} = I_{3}^{\text{tot}}, \quad V \sum_{i} n_{i}S_{i} = 0.$$
(279)

The power of hadron resonance gas models lies in the fact that all the non-perturbative information on the strong interactions is included in the values of the masses of the individual contributing hadrons, which one usually takes from measurements cataloged by the PDG, amended by lattice QCD spectroscopy results. Below the crossover transition temperature it has been shown that the equation of state, i.e. the dependence of pressure on temperature arising from the hadron resonance gas model is in good agreement with first principles computations from lattice QCD, lending support to its construction (see e.g. Ref. [8]).

The logarithm of the full partition function becomes a sum over all modes $\log[Z] = \sum_i \log[Z_i]$, each individual one, after accounting for spin degeneracies with a factor g_i , contributes with

$$\log[Z_i] = \frac{Vg_i}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty dp(\pm p^2) \log\left[1 \pm \lambda_i \exp\left[-\beta\epsilon_i\right]\right], \quad \lambda_i = \exp\left[\frac{B_i\mu_B + S_i\mu_S + q_i\mu_q}{T}\right], \tag{280}$$

where the λ_i takes on the role of a fugacity. This expression can be further rewritten by expanding the logarithm via its Taylor series and carrying out the momentum integral

$$\log[Z_i] = \frac{VTg_i}{2\pi^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\pm 1)^{k+1}}{k^2} \lambda_i^k m_i^2 K_2(\frac{km_i}{T}), \quad n_i(T, V\mu) = \langle N \rangle / V = \frac{Tg_i}{2\pi^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\pm 1)^{k+1}}{k} \lambda_i^k m_i^2 K_2(\frac{km_i}{T}).$$
(281)

The function K_2 refers to the modified Bessel function.

To arrive at the particle number densities at constant temperature and volume one exploits the equivalent definition of $\langle N \rangle$ from a derivative with respect to chemical potential $\langle N \rangle = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mu} \log[Z_i]$ or fugacity $\langle N \rangle = \lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \log[Z_i]$. Taking into account the physical constraints, the model thus predicts the particle number densities given three adjustable parameters, the temperature of the system, its volume and Baryo-chemical potential.

This basic formulation of the model can be amended to use another piece of non-perturbative information, which is the decay width of resonance hadronic states, that also contribute to the partition function. Their physics may be incorporated

by translating the spectral width into a convolution over different masses in Eq. (280)

$$n_i^R = \frac{g_i}{2\pi^2} \frac{1}{N_{BW}} \int_{M_R}^{\infty} dm \int_0^{\infty} dp \frac{\Gamma_i^2}{(m-m_i)^2 + \Gamma_i^2/4} \frac{p^2}{\exp\left[-\beta(\sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m^2} - \mu_i Q_i)\right] \pm 1},$$
(282)

where N_{BW} normalizes the integral over the Breit–Wigner to unity. The total number of particles measured in experiment furthermore needs to take into account decays of resonances so that

$$\langle N_i^{\text{tot}} \rangle [T, V, \mu] = \langle N_i^{\text{therm}} \rangle [T, V, \mu] + \sum_j \Gamma_{j \to i} \langle N_j^{R, \text{therm}} \rangle [T, V, \mu].$$
(283)

Note that once the Baryo-chemical potential becomes large with respect to the temperature, some form of repulsive interactions are often included via an excluded volume prescription.

A priori it is not clear, whether such a model will be able to describe the yields of hadrons composed of the light quarks u, d and s. It however has been shown in detailed comparisons with measurements ranging from AGS energies around $\sqrt{s_{NN}} \approx 5$ MeV to current LHC energies $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV that in central heavy-ion collisions a remarkable agreement with a wide variety of particle and antiparticle yields can be achieved, ranging from pions up to Helium and anti-Helium (for a more detailed discussion, in particular also of the aspect of strangeness production see Refs. [379,384]). At lower beam energies some particle species seem to deviate from the model predictions, among them the proton and some kaons. At LHC energies only the protons show slightly less yields than predicted. Interestingly the parameter values with which the yields are reproduced are found to start at values around $T \approx 130$ MeV and $\mu_B \approx 540$ MeV at AGS energies and quickly saturate from $\sqrt{s_{NN}} \approx 15$ MeV onward at $T^{\text{max}} \approx 158$ MeV. The Baryo-chemical potential parameter at RHIC energies $\sqrt{s_{NN}} \approx 2.00$ MeV has reduced significantly to $\mu_B \approx 30$ MeV but becomes indistinguishable from zero only at LHC energies $\sqrt{s_{NN}} \approx 2.76$ TeV.

Irrespective of the history of the matter in the collision center, at some point it must be possible to describe the end products of the collision in terms of a collection of hadrons, as these are the final measured degrees of freedom. The abundances of these hadrons are fixed at the so called chemical freezeout (see e.g. [385] and references therein) after which they may still change their momentum and energy via number preserving reactions such as e.g. $\pi\pi \rightarrow \rho \rightarrow \pi\pi$. In comparison, number changing processes in a hadron gas are expected to occur on much longer timescales (up to 100s of fm). Therefore the results by the statistical model are interesting as they tell us that the hadrons at freezeout already exhibit the abundances expected from a chemically equilibrated ensemble, even though the time passed since the collision would not allow for such equilibration to take place in a simple hadron gas. Therefore it has been suggested that the mechanism of hadron production itself can generate such abundances. The fact that hadron yields in $p\bar{p}$ and e^+e^- collisions can also be captured by essentially the same statistical model supports such a statistical picture of hadron formation at least for low energy heavy-ion collisions. (Recently ideas have been put forward that relate the thermal distribution of produced particles in elementary collisions to the entanglement between observable and non-observable patches of the light cone in Ref. [386].)

The freezeout temperature as determined from the model fits rises with the beam energy until it saturates around a temperature that is suggestively close to the crossover transition temperature computed from first principles lattice QCD. Hence also from the point of view of the statistical model in current heavy-ion collisions at RHIC and LHC it is very likely that the matter in the collision center has actually persisted in a state of even higher temperatures shortly after the collision. The presence of deconfined quarks and gluons at that point would allow the bulk to more efficiently (locally) chemically and kinetically thermalize, so that at hadronization the grand canonical abundances are reached.

What about heavy quarks? If we simply extend the hadron resonance gas by including charmed hadrons, i.e. the D mesons, charmed baryons and charmonium states, would we also be able to reproduce the experimental abundances? The answer regarding the absolute yields is a clear no, as first discussed in Ref. [18]. However inspection of the ratio of excited state charmonium to ground state charmonium revealed that for central collisions its value became close to the prediction of the statistical model. I.e. while the overall number of $c\bar{c}$ pairs produced in the earliest stages of the collision does not correspond to the value expected in chemical equilibrium at the freezeout temperature it appears that relative abundances produced at freezeout are again in agreement with chemical equilibration. How can this be accommodated in the language of the hadron gas? What is needed is to enhance the yields of charmed hadrons relative to their chemical equilibrium levels by introducing an additional charm conservation constraint and the enhancement factor g_c

$$N_{c\bar{c}}^{\text{direct}} = \frac{1}{2} g_c V \left[\sum_i \left(n_{D_i}^{\text{therm}} + n_{\Lambda_i}^{\text{therm}} \right) \right] \frac{I_1 \left[g_c V \sum_i \left(n_{D_i}^{\text{therm}} + n_{\Lambda_i}^{\text{therm}} \right) \right]}{I_0 \left[g_c V \sum_i \left(n_{D_i}^{\text{therm}} + n_{\Lambda_i}^{\text{therm}} \right) \right]} + g_c^2 V \sum_i n_{\psi_i}^{\text{therm}},$$
(284)

$$g_c V \sum_i \left(n_{D_i}^{\text{therm}} + n_{A_i}^{\text{therm}} \right) \gg 1 \frac{1}{2} g_c V \left[\sum_i \left(n_{D_i}^{\text{therm}} + n_{A_i}^{\text{therm}} \right) \right] + g_c^2 V \sum_i n_{\psi_i}^{\text{therm}}.$$
(285)

Here the only relevant terms are those for open heavy flavor mesons, singly charmed Baryons and the charm anti-charm mesons. For a small number of singly charmed hadrons the exact conservation of the charm quantum number needs to be correctly treated in the canonical formalism, which leads to additional correction factor involving the Bessel functions I_1

and I_2 , the ratio of which reduces to unity for large overall number of produced $c\bar{c}$. The total number of charm anti-charm pairs for a particular collision centrality is computed by using the total charm cross section taken from pp collisions and scaled with the nuclear overlap factor T_{AA} , i.e. $N_{c\bar{c}}^{direct} = \sigma_{c\bar{c}}^{pp}T_{AA}$. The charm cross section grows rapidly with $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ so that as shown in Ref. [387] at SPS $g_c \leq 5$ while at RHIC it is already $g_c \approx 10$ and for LHC it takes on even larger values $17 < g_c < 30$. Note that g_c in this model is a function of rapidity and the number of participants are closely related to the total charm cross section, which due to the challenging nature of the underlying measurements unfortunately still to this day carries relatively large uncertainties.

Combining the fact that heavy quark pair production takes place in the early stages of a collision with the thermal hadron resonance gas model at freezeout enables an efficient description of the measured charmonium data. The interplay of the production yields of singly charmed mesons and baryons together with the overall number of $c\bar{c}$ pairs set by the charm cross section allows one to reproduce the decrease of R_{AA} of J/ψ with increasing number of activity in the collision center at RHIC. At the same time it provides a mechanism to explain why the values of R_{AA} at LHC take on significantly larger values, as shown in the left panel of Fig. 52. The rapidity dependence of the total charm cross section, being largest at mid rapidity, furthermore provides an explanation to the measurements in the middle panel of Fig. 50 showing that the suppression at RHIC is weakest for small values of *y*.

The success of the statistical model combined with the fact that charmonium at LHC shows clear signs of partial kinetic equilibration may be taken as indication that the idealization of full kinetic equilibrium employed in first principles lattice QCD based computations is indeed a good starting point. One possible route then to connect QCD results to the measured yields was explored in Refs. [219,235] where the ψ' to J/ψ ratio has been estimated using thermal spectral functions, computed using a lattice QCD vetted potential. The reason to focus on the ratio of excited to ground state is that it is independent of the enhancement factor g_c related to the actual number of $c\bar{c}$ pairs produced. Remember that the area under the peak structures in the in-medium spectral function encodes the dilepton emission rate from that quarkonium state in a fully equilibrated setting. This however is not what is measured in experiment, which is instead the decay of vacuum guarkonium states long after the OGP has ceased to exist. Thus the guestion is how to translate the spectral features around the crossover transition into abundances of vacuum states produced at hadronization. Ref. [219] proposed to use an instantaneous freezeout scenario, where the number of produced vacuum particles are estimated from the spectral functions in units of dilepton emission. I.e. one takes the weighted area under in-medium peak for e.g. I/ψ and divides it by the area of the peak in the vacuum spectral function, which is directly related to the radial wavefunction of the $T = 0 J/\psi$ at the origin. This value is then used as estimate for the number of vacuum states produced. Carrying out the same procedure for ψ' and dividing the two results has then been taken as estimate for the ψ' to J/ψ ratio. It is found that the value obtained in this fashion lies quite close to the statistical model and using a conservative error estimate is currently compatible within the combined theory uncertainties. Such an agreement bodes well for future studies trying to explore guarkonium production from genuine first principle thermal OCD computations.

The ability of the statistical model to reproduce the production yields of light hadrons and charmonium is intriguing and has been instrumental in revealing the role played by regeneration in the production of charmonium at RHIC and LHC. At the same time, being formulated in terms of a hadron gas, this model can only make statements about the physics at and after freezeout. Therefore the next step towards a fully dynamical understanding of charmonium production is to consider phenomenological models that allow us to describe the physics within the QGP realm and to see how they compare to the statistical model. One question, which is of particular interest is to what degree charmonium states produced early on in a heavy-ion collision, so called primordial charmonium, survive until the end of the QGP phase or whether they are efficiently melted on the way.

Two groups, one based at Texas A & M and the other at Tsinghua university have developed transport models based on the Boltzmann equation, respectively on a corresponding averaged rate equation. Both approaches have in common that they implement the possibility for dissociation of primordial charmonium particles, as well as the dynamical recombination of such states throughout the QGP evolution. Feed-down from excited state is included at the end of the medium evolution. Non-perturbative information on quarkonium dissociation is implemented in the former approach by computing their stability properties via the T-matrix approach or via melting temperatures in the latter. As we discussed in Section 3.2, the definition of the potential used in a Bethe–Salpeter based approach and its relation to the EFT based potential remain an active area of research and constitute one significant source of uncertainty. On the other hand we have seen that the definition of a melting temperature in the presence of a thermal width is not uniquely defined and especially difficult when using direct lattice QCD results, which in turn contributes to the overall systematic uncertainty. The recombination probability in these models is constructed using arguments of detailed balance, which are expected to work well close to equilibrium but may require corrections at early times far from equilibrium. More details on the construction of loss and gain terms can be found in Ref. [388] and Ref. [389]. The medium evolution is treated somewhat differently among the two models. In the former the concept of entropy conservation in conjunction with the measured particle multiplicities is used to model a temperature profile within an isotropically expanding fireball. The latter model on the other hand computes a temperature profile directly based on 2 + 1 dimensional Bjorken expansion in the QGP phase. In each case a first order transition like regime is used to connect the QGP with a hadron resonance gas phase at lower temperatures.

Both models are able to describe the R_{AA} in terms of centrality and transverse momentum at RHIC and LHC in an equally good fashion, as shown for the example of its centrality dependence in the center panel of Fig. 52, see also Ref. [352] (in



Fig. 52. A selection of comparisons of measurements of the J/ψ nuclear modification factor and phenomenological models. (left) Measurements from RHIC and LHC (colored points) together with the post- ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 0.2$ TeV) and predictions ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV) from the statistical model of hadronization. Figure reproduced from Ref. [379]. (center) Example of various models with different underlying physics mechanism being able to reproduce the $J/\psi R_{AA}$ at LHC. Figure reproduced from Ref. [352]. (right) Decomposition of the transport model computation from Ref. [389] into its regeneration and primordial survival component. *Source:* Figure reproduced from Ref. [352].



Fig. 53. Measurements of the ψ' to J/ψ ratio from the NA50 [393], ALICE [392] and CMS [390,391] collaborations in Pb + Pb collisions. The pp baseline is given as orange datapoints [379,394]. The green solid line denotes the prediction of the statistical model of hadronization [379], while the purple line corresponds to a computation based on pNRQCD spectral functions combined with an instantaneous freezeout scenario from [235].

non-central collisions the model of Ref. [388] seems to somewhat underestimate the actual R_{AA}). For the p_t dependence we select here for better readability in the right panel of Fig. 52 a single results from Ref. [389] compared to the measurements by the ALICE collaboration at $\sqrt{s_{AA}} = 2.76$ TeV. As indicated by the two different black lines referring to the primordial and the regeneration component of the total R_{AA} there are two different regimes present, which are smoothly connected. At large p_t primordial charmonium appears to contribute a majority of the yield, while at small p_t a significant fraction of produced J/ψ arises from recombination effects. Similar behavior for the R_{AA} dependence on centrality is observed: in non-central collisions primordial J/ψ dominates but for central collisions regeneration plays an almost equally important role. The effects of regeneration at LHC are pronounced but also at RHIC the transport model computations indicate that dissociation of primordial charmonium alone cannot account for the observed patterns in R_{AA} .

From considerations of the nuclear modification factor of the charmonium ground state J/ψ we have so far learned that dissociation and regeneration are leading to an intricate pattern of charmonium suppression requiring insight into all stages of the collision. While in the transport models a partial equilibration of the charmonium states occurs, equilibration is assumed to be complete in the statistical model. The question thus remains: is there a way how to distinguish between these two scenarios even though both reproduce the R_{AA} well. This question becomes even more pressing when realizing that also models with a very different physics content are able to reproduce the R_{AA} at LHC, as seen in the green dashed lines in the center panel of Fig. 52, which corresponds to a model based solely on shadowing, comovers and the possibility for $c\bar{c}$ pairs to recombine [372].

Two paths forward are possible. On the one hand one can look for other experimental observables, which are more discriminatory among the different models. One such quantity of current interest is the ratio of ψ' to J/ψ . It is a particularly challenging observable due to the small signal to noise ratio in the measurements of the excited state yields. At the LHC there exist currently measurements by the CMS collaboration (see Refs. [390,391]), however published only as double ratios with respect to *pp* collisions and upper limits by the ALICE collaboration [392]. These values together with the *pp* baseline and earlier measurements at lower beam energies by the NA50 experiment are listed in Fig. 53 together with the predictions from the statistical hadronization model from Ref. [379] as well as the computations of Ref. [235] modeled based on pNRQCD spectral functions combined with an instantaneous freezeout scenario.

On the other hand one needs to develop further first principles based real-time descriptions of heavy quarkonium in order to reduce the need for model assumptions. As we discussed in Section 4, the open quantum systems approach

appears to be a viable candidate allowing one e.g. to derive evolution equations via pNRQCD from underlying QCD. In the weak-coupling scenario even the Boltzmann equation that forms the basis for the transport model computations has been derived in that fashion. In general in such a setup the dynamical evolution of the quarkonium states is governed by low energy matching coefficients, be it the complex heavy quark potential or other non-perturbative transport coefficients. However all the approaches developed so far make extensive use of a separation of scales between the heavy quark rest mass and other relevant scales, which means that their application to charmonium in current heavy-ion collisions does not rest on as solid foundations as one would like. E.g. the complex in-medium potential currently available corresponds only to the lowest order contribution of the full in-medium potential without finite velocity corrections. For charmonium in heavy-ion collisions such corrections are expected to be relevant, as already at T = 0 the static potential alone is not able to reproduce the vacuum charmonium bound states in an equally accurate fashion as is possible for bottomonium. The theory community thus needs to develop further the effective field theory based approaches to heavy quarkonium, on the one hand to establish their validity in the non-perturbative regime (one recent example being Refs. [287,288]) and furthermore for masses in which the separation of scales is not as pronounced, i.e. to higher order in their respective expansion schemes.

5.3.2. Bottomonium in A + A collisions

Let us now turn to the heavier flavor, bottomonium, which due to its larger mass and the correspondingly smaller $b\bar{b}$ cross section requires higher luminosities or more sensitive detectors at the same beam energies than charmonium. The absence of significant non-prompt contributions to their production on the other hand simplifies the analysis. The most comprehensive results to date, including individual measurements of the R_{AA} for the bottomonium ground state, as well as the first and second excited states, stem from the CMS collaboration at LHC (for the most recent installment see e.g. Ref. [395], for a review see Ref. [396]). More recently the ALICE collaboration has also published first measurements of the ground state R_{AA} in Ref. [397]. At RHIC, the STAR collaboration has presented recent measurements [398] of the ground state R_{AA} as well as the combined R_{AA} of ground and excited states.

In Fig. 54 we showcase a selection of recent and characteristic measurements from LHC run2 at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV. The left and center panel contain measurements of the R_{AA} of the ground and excited states from the CMS collaboration [395] plotted versus the centrality of the collision and versus transverse momentum respectively. The values show clear and consistent suppression patterns. The more central the collision becomes the stronger the suppression. At the same time, the excited states are more strongly suppressed than the more deeply bound ground state. While the uncertainties are still significant at small p_t there appears to be a trend at least for the ground state that the suppression is stronger close to $p_T = 0$ than for those at the largest momenta. A similar trend for the first excited state is not visible at the moment. This behavior is decidedly different from that found for charmonium (see e.g. Fig. 52) and at first sight is reminiscent of what a scenario based primarily on quarkonium melting would suggest. The hot medium in the collision center destabilizes the more weakly bound states more thoroughly and this suppression is most pronounced where the quarkonium spends most time in the hot environment. This conclusion is supported by the fact that by going from $\sqrt{s_{AA}} = 2.76$ TeV to $\sqrt{s_{AA}} = 5.02$ TeV the suppression in bottomonium is found to become slightly stronger, while it becomes weaker in charmonium.

While equilibration with the environment has been an important part of the dynamics of charmonium no significant signs of participation in the collective motion of the bulk have so far been observed for bottomonium, as shown in recent measurements of v_2 by the ALICE collaboration in the right panel of Fig. 54. One should however keep in mind that the errorbars on these first measurements are quite large and are compatible with small values of v_2 predicted by some models (see e.g. Ref. [399]).

The naive visual inspection of the experimental results suggest that bottomonium, in contrast to charmonium at LHC, behaves as a genuine non-equilibrium probe of the collision center, for which regeneration effects do not play a major role. Since the $b\bar{b}$ cross section at RHIC is even smaller and the lifetime of the medium produced shorter than at LHC, this conclusion is expected to remain equally valid at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 0.2$ TeV.

On the theory side Bottomonium, due to its larger mass, is a promising candidate for a direct application of effective field theory based approaches. In particular descriptions utilizing the static in-medium potential are expected to provide a reasonable description of the relevant physics. While the large bottom mass $m_b \gg \Lambda_{QCD}$ allows the partonic processes in $b\bar{b}$ production to be described in a fully perturbative manner, the in-medium evolution may still require non-perturbative insight. Remember that only the binding energy of the ground state Upsilon lies well above the characteristic QCD scale $E_{\text{bind}}^{\gamma(15)} \gg \Lambda_{QCD}$, while for others this separation is less well pronounced.

From the point of view of the dynamical description of heavy quarkonium discussed in Section 4, bottomonium modeling has recently entered an phase of rapid evolution. The open quantum systems approach has led to new avenues to implement the real-time evolution of this quarkonium species leading to Lindblad-type master equations derived systematically from QCD. While many of these approaches still use weak-coupling arguments in intermediate steps first fully non-perturbative formulations are under development. At high temperature we discussed in Section 4.1 that when one remains within the language of wavefunctions, a non-linear stochastic Schrödinger equation needs to be solved to account for the full dissipative dynamics of the quarkonium system in a QCD medium. In terms of distribution functions for the quarkonium states, we have seen in Section 4.3 that a Boltzmann equation can be derived based on a set of clearly specified assumption. Note that all the derivations of real-time dynamics in Section 4 were based on a fully thermal



Fig. 54. (left) The nuclear modification factor for the ground, first and second excited states of vector channel bottomonium versus collisions centrality measured by the CMS collaboration at LHC at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV. Note the ordering of the strength of the suppression with the binding energy of the individual states. (center) The same R_{AA} now plotted as a function of transverse momentum. Figures reproduced from Ref. [395]. (right) Recent measurements of the ALICE collaboration of the elliptic flow of $\Upsilon(1S)$ (red) versus transverse momentum at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV. The values for J/ψ at the same beam energy are given as blue symbols. *Source:* Figure adapted from Ref. [400].

background. When considering an evolving medium, as is present in the case of a heavy-ion collision a new timescale, describing the cooling process enters. If that scale is large enough compared to the other relevant timescales we may regard the temperature of the medium as external parameter, governing the values of e.g. the potential of the stochastic Schrödinger equation, an approximation that is used in most models today.

Historically the most common approach to bottomonium modeling is to resort to solving a deterministic Schrödinger equation which is governed by an in-medium potential. From our discussion in Section 4.2 we saw in Eq. (239) that such an ansatz amounts to a truncation of the dynamics, neglecting dissipative effects, and in addition to an adiabatic approximation that averages over the fluctuations. From the numerical tests within the stochastic potential model, we learned that in such an adiabatic truncation the survival of quarkonium states may be underestimated if the effects of decoherence are relevant. I.e. the R_{AA} computed in that way may underestimate the correct physical value.

The Kent State University group has explored the suppression of bottomonium in heavy-ion collisions in detail, combining the deterministic Schrödinger equation with an anisotropic hydrodynamic description of the medium background evolution. They use a Glauber model based initial distribution of primordial states and take into account the decays from feed-down after hadronization. A full description of the framework is found in Ref. [230], where in particular the implementation of the potential in an anisotropic background is discussed. Note that no recombination contribution enters in this framework. (A similar model based on isotropic hydrodynamics has been used in Refs. [401,402])

The potential used in the Schrödinger equation itself is an input of the model and so far two ansätze have been deployed. Both of these models feature a Debye screened Coulombic in-medium part. For the in-medium string part either Eq. (180) or the similar legacy Gauss law parametrization is used. The main difference between them lies the form of the imaginary part, which is taken to be the purely Coulombic HTL one in the former [230,320,321,403], while in the latter it contains both contributions from the Coulombic and string in-medium potential [322].

A prescription of how to initialize the Schrödinger equation for a mixed ensemble of bottomonium states in agreement with the scale separation of NRQCD has been put forward in Ref. [404]. Its proposal for efficient evolution of such an ensemble however remains restricted to unitary time evolution, i.e. when dissipation effects are small.

Let us start with Bottomonium at STAR, since there the separation of scales between the medium temperature created in the collision center and the bottom mass is most pronounced. In addition bottomonium is expected to act as a true non-equilibrium probe, without reaching any significant degree of kinetic thermalization. In such a scenario, one may speculate that decoherence is not yet very effective and thus the adiabatic approximation may prove already satisfactory. In the left panel of Fig. 55 we plot a comparison of the Bottomonium ground state R_{AA} from recent measurements of the STAR collaboration together with the computed values from Refs. [230,322]. The gray curve denotes the computation based on the potential using only the Coulombic imaginary part, while the blue shaded curve denotes the outcome from using a lattice vetted Gauss-law potential. One finds that the R_{AA} is well reproduced from the Gauss-law potential whose stronger Im[V] leads to more efficient bottomonium destabilization and brings the computed values into agreement with experiment. One important difference between the two results is that the computation based on the Gauss-law potential is much less sensitive to differences in the values of the shear viscosity governing the hydrodynamics back ground evolution. I.e. while the gray band denotes the difference between changing the values for the shear viscosity over entropy ratio η/S in the background hydrodynamics from $1/4\pi - 3/4\pi$, such a change has virtually no effect on the blue curve. There the error band stems instead from the uncertainty in determining the Debye mass parameter from lattice QCD simulations.

In contrast to fully perturbative description of the in-medium evolution, where the contributions from e.g. Landau damping and gluo-dissociation can be explicitly disentangled, here the values of the imaginary part represent the



Fig. 55. A selection of comparisons of the R_{AA} for bottomonium with recent phenomenological model studies. (left) The $\Upsilon(1S)$ nuclear modification factor as measured by STAR compared to a model based on a deterministic Schrödinger equation and anisotropic hydrodynamics background. The gray curve denotes the outcome using a perturbative Im[V] while the blue curve uses a Gauss-law based complex potential. Figure reproduced from Ref. [322]. (center) Comparison of the CMS measurements for the bottomonium R_{AA} 's at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV with the combined Boltzmann–Langevin approach of Ref. [405], from where this figure is reproduced. (right) The $\Upsilon(1S)R_{AA}$ as measured by the ALICE collaboration compared to transport models either including or excluding a regeneration component. *Source:* Figure reproduced from Ref. [397].

aggregate of all these effects. I.e. the bottomonium state may be excited into another singlet state, bound or unbound or may go over to an unbound octet state. The suppression of e.g. the ground state contains two elements. On the one hand the ground state itself may be destabilized by the medium. On the other hand as argued in e.g. Ref. [401] the melting of excited state quarkonium leads to a diminished contribution from feed-down, already reducing the R_{AA} in the presence of an otherwise stable ground state.

What happens then at LHC, where bottomonium spends a significantly longer time in a much hotter medium? Comparing the predictions for LHC at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV based on the potential with Coulombic Im[V] from Refs. [321,403] with the postdictions using the Gauss law potential in Ref. [322] an interesting trend emerges. The potential that led to overestimation of R_{AA} at RHIC now manages to describe the yields with very good accuracy at LHC. On the other hand the Gauss-Law model already at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV starts to show signs of underestimating R_{AA} which it clearly does at the highest LHC energies. There are several possible mechanism at play here. On the one hand the imaginary part of the potential in the Gauss-law parametrization has only been vetted to tentative values of the lattice Im[V] at relatively low temperatures T < 300 MeV. Whether the Gauss law potential describes the imaginary part accurately at higher temperatures still needs to be ascertained, which is work in progress. On the other hand if the Gauss-law potential is indeed the appropriate potential to use then two sources for the underestimation of the R_{AA} come to mind. The first one is related to the effects of fluctuations and dissipation that have been discarded in the adiabatic approximation. Indeed the stochastic potential computations suggest that when these effects are included the R_{AA} should increase. Ongoing efforts towards developing and implementing fully dissipative dynamics in the open quantum systems language promise to provide the necessary tools to do so in the near future. At the same time one has to investigate whether regeneration effects have already set in at the accessible LHC energies.

The last question has been investigated in the context of transport models to Bottomonium evolution. Among the used models are variants of the two approaches [317,406,407] we have already met in the study of charmonium, as well as a new approach, which is a combined transport model based on the Boltzmann equation derived from pNRQCD [319] and a Langevin evolution [408] for individual bottom quarks in order to allow for dynamical regeneration. Due to the explicit treatment of the heavy quarks it does not rely on detailed balance to implement recombination while still being able to reach equilibrium distributions in the late time limit. For a partial non-perturbative approach based on pNRQCD see also Ref. [286].

All transport models manage to describe the measured ground and first excited state R_{AA} 's for bottomonium at LHC in a satisfactory manner, one example from Ref. [405] is shown in the center panel of Fig. 55. In general a small but non-vanishing regeneration component is found to be required when considering the measurements from CMS. For the latest results from the ALICE collaboration on the $\Upsilon(1S)$ suppression, the situation is not as clear, as shown in the right panel of Fig. 55. There the experimental data is better reproduced with regeneration in one and without regeneration in another model. It would be interesting in this context to see the results of Ref. [405] divided into their dissociation and regeneration contributions.

The path forward for bottomonium studies is clear. On the one hand the potential based studies need to incorporate the effects of dissociation via a genuine stochastic evolution prescription for the wavefunction of the quarkonium system. This will remove a significant source of systematic uncertainty currently inherent in the adiabatic approximation. The explicit coupling of color singlet and color octet sectors, which is work in progress, will eventually allow to self-consistently treat the effects of recombination in the wavefunction language. It will also allow to disentangle the different effects currently summarized in the imaginary part of the singlet potential. In addition the determination of the potential, especially of its imaginary part in non-perturbative lattice QCD needs to be improved, to reduce extrapolation artifacts at high

temperatures relevant in the beginning of the QGP evolution. All of these aspects are in principle feasible and are on the agenda of the theory community.

On the side of transport models the derivation of the Boltzmann equation from pNRQCD via the open quantum systems approach has been a major step forward. The next step has to be to compute the matching coefficients required in this context from lattice QCD with high precision. The Langevin based approach to heavy quark evolution will eventually require precision knowledge of e.g. the heavy quark diffusion constant whose extraction from the lattice is also actively pursued.

In both cases efforts need to be intensified to put the derivation of the underlying evolution equations on a nonperturbative footing. The dissipative dynamics of the wavefunction approach currently relies on a Feynman–Vernon influence functional, derived at weak coupling, while the Boltzmann equation was obtained with weakly coupled pNRQCD in mind. These are exciting challenges that have the potential elevate phenomenological modeling even closer to first principles theory as has already been possible over the past decade.

Summary. Heavy quarkonium in heavy-ion collisions constitutes a rich and challenging field of study. A microscopic understanding of quarkonium production requires insight not only into the evolution of quark-antiquark pairs in a hot environment but also into the non-perturbative composition of the incoming projectiles and the dynamics of hadronization. Such an all-encompassing view of quarkonium production has already led to a significantly improved understanding of the phenomenon of quarkonium suppression. It arises from an intricate interplay of quarkonium destabilization due to the environment present in the collision center, as well as from recombination of heavy guarkantiquark pairs, when produced in ample numbers in the earliest moments of the collision. One current focus of the community is to hone in on the quantitative details of the production mechanism for charmonium, shedding light e.g. on the role of primordial versus regenerated yields. This task requires to more strongly discriminate between the various models currently able to reproduce the experimental J/ψ , i.e. ground state R_{AA} . Both the experimental efforts to measure excited states, such as ψ' and the overall charm cross section, as well as theory efforts to reduce the modeling input by bringing transport models closer to first principles QCD, will be essential in this regard. For bottomonium direct effective field theory based approaches either in the language of wavefunctions or distribution functions have already been quite successful in reproducing the hierarchical suppression patterns observed at LHC. With a much more pronounced separation of scales at hand for bottomonium, theory is looking ahead to using the open quantum systems framework to systematically derive non-perturbative evolution equations treating both the color singlet and octet sector explicitly. With the dynamics of these degrees of freedom governed by non-perturbative matching coefficients, such as transport coefficients and potentials, efficient extraction procedures from QCD are being investigated. Bottomonium thus appears to provide a unique opportunity to develop a genuine non-perturbative and first principles based real-time formalism for a system of strongly interacting matter, eventually capable of connecting microscopic QCD and experimental measurements of heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions.

Conclusion

It is an exciting time to work on heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions (for a recent community perspective see e.g. Ref. [409]). Experiment has amassed a wealth of high precision data on quarkonium production in relativistic heavyion collisions at RHIC and LHC in different kinematical regimes that provides a challenging testing ground for theory and phenomenology. These include the nuclear modification factors of the charmonium ground state, as well as those of the bottomonium ground and excited states. Measurements of both J/ψ and Υ elliptic flow are by now also available. Experiments are currently taking aim at even more challenging measurements, such as a detailed study of the excited state of charmonium ψ' . The determination of the overall charm and bottom cross section is equally high up on the agenda. Hopefully luminosities and detector performance in the future will allow us to also capture the P-wave states in heavy-ion collisions, which so far have only been studied in proton–proton collisions.

We have seen that charmonium at RHIC and LHC behaves quite differently with regeneration taking on a more and more important role at higher energies. In order to learn in more quantitative detail how this change in production mechanism proceeds, and also to prepare for bottomonium at future higher energy colliders, where it is expected to behave very similarly to charmonium at LHC, a series of lower energy collisions at LHC would be very instructive. The planned electron–ion colliders on the other hand will in the near future provide unprecedented insight into the internal make-up of the nuclear projectiles allowing to much better constrain the initial conditions from which heavy-quarkonium production proceeds in a heavy-ion collision.

This report discussed several aspects in which the theory understanding of quarkonium in thermal equilibrium has improved over the last decade. Better access to ground state spectral properties from combined lattice QCD and effective field theory studies, as well as the development of a QCD derived and non-perturbatively evaluated in-medium potential are two examples. While progress has been made, a lot of challenging work remains. First principles access to the excited state spectral properties in direct lattice QCD studies will require both advances in simulation algorithms and data analysis strategies. At the same time extending the in-medium potential beyond the lowest order in pNRQCD asks for both conceptual and numerical work on the effective field theory and lattice QCD side.

When it comes to quarkonium real-time descriptions the community is in a state of heightened activity. Several groups concurrently explore complementary ways to derive and implement an open quantum systems treatment of heavy quarkonium. Some of these efforts in the context of weak-coupling approaches and a recent proposal towards a non-perturbative treatment have been highlighted in this report. The central task at hand for the near future is to further our understanding on how the real-time description can be put on a genuine non-perturbative footing that encompasses all phenomenologically relevant states. This will entail connecting the transport coefficients and potentials governing the evolution with first principles lattice QCD simulations. Similarly the transport properties of individual heavy quarks, such as the heavy quark diffusion coefficient need to be determined with much higher precision than is possible today. These challenges will require a close collaboration between practitioners in the fields of open quantum systems, effective field theory and lattice QCD.

Theory is also making inroads into a first principles understanding of the initial conditions of proton–proton collisions. Recent developments in defining and extracting parton distribution functions of nucleons from lattice QCD simulations (the current status is discussed in Ref. [410]) promise to provide novel complementary constraints to the momentum and spin distributions of partons in the proton projectiles compared to those that are currently extracted from experimental scattering data. Taking a step further, with the arrival of the proposed electron–ion collider (EIC, see e.g. Ref. [411]) the three-dimensional structure of the parton content not only of nucleons but also of nuclei will become accessible in unprecedented precision (note that quarkonium also plays a central role in the study of transverse momentum dependent gluon distributions [412–415]). While only on the horizon, the goal for theory would be to eventually understand at least partially the changes induced in the parton distribution functions in a nuclear environment from first principle. With the rapid pace of advances in lattice QCD simulations over the past decade such insight might not be out of reach in the next decade.

There are many aspects of heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions that did not find their way into this report. One is the physics at finite baryon chemical potential, whose study from first principles is still hindered by lattice QCD simulations suffering from the sign problem. Future collider facilities such as NICA and FAIR, as well as the beam energy scan at RHIC set out to explore this region of the QCD phase diagram in more detail, offering additional motivation for theory to develop novel computational approaches for this regime.

Another topic is the physics of quarkonium at large external magnetic fields (for a review on magnetic fields in heavyion collision see e.g. Refs. [416–418]), which recently has attracted attention in the community (see e.g. Refs. [419–421]). With first principles computations possible, the question to answer is whether or how such large fields can exert an influence on quarkonium formation in the early stages of collisions.

This bring us to the third topic which is the formation dynamics of quarkonium at early time. Currently only simple estimates based on the uncertainty principle are used to argue why some quarkonium stated may form early on in the prethermal phase. To gain a true first principles understanding of quarkonium production we will however need to develop genuine real-time descriptions for heavy quark pairs in the presence of strong coherent glasma fields. First steps in that direction are being taken at the moment by combining classical statistical simulations of gauge fields with a real-time implementation of the effective field theory of NRQCD [422].

The study of heavy quarkonium in extreme conditions hence remains an active field of research with many challenging facets for both experiment and theory. The start-up of new colliders in the near future and the continuation of successful programs at current facilities, all with quarkonium on the agenda, promises continued research funding opportunities in the field for the next decade. This support will help the theory community to sustain its activities in the quest for a truly microscopic QCD based understanding of quarkonium in extreme conditions.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Alexander Rothkopf: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks Y. Akamatsu and P. Petreczky for insightful discussions and the nuclear theory group at the University of Tokyo for their hospitality, where part of this manuscript has been composed. The author also would like to thank the referees of Physics Report for valuable suggestions and comments that have contributed to improving the quality of this manuscript. Funding from the Research Council of Norway under the FRIPRO Young Research Talent grant 286883 and grant 295310 is gladly acknowledged.

References

- N. Brambilla, et al., Heavy quarkonium: Progress, puzzles, and opportunities, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1534, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-010-1534-9, arXiv:1010.5827.
- [2] M.D. Harpen, Positronium: Review of symmetry, conserved quantities and decay for the radiological physicist, Med. Phys. 31 (2004) 57–61, http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.1630494.

- [3] M. Tanabashi, et al., Particle Data Group Collaboration, Review of particle physics, Phys. Rev. D 98 (3) (2018) 030001, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.98.030001.
- [4] E. Eichten, K. Gottfried, T. Kinoshita, K.D. Lane, T.-M. Yan, Charmonium: The model, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 3090, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.17.3090; Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 313, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/physrevd.21.313.2 (erratum);
- [5] R.J. Dowdall, et al., HPQCD Collaboration, The Upsilon spectrum and the determination of the lattice spacing from lattice QCD including charm quarks in the sea, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 054509, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.85.054509, arXiv:1110.6887.
- [6] K. Yagi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Miake, Quark-gluon plasma: From big bang to little bang, Camb. Monogr. Part. Phys. Nucl. Phys. Cosmol. 23 (2005) 1-446.
- [7] S. Borsanyi, Z. Fodor, C. Hoelbling, S.D. Katz, S. Krieg, C. Ratti, K.K. Szabo, Wuppertal-Budapest Collaboration, Is there still any T_c mystery in lattice QCD? Results with physical masses in the continuum limit III, J. High Energy Phys. 09 (2010) 073, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP09(2010) 073, arXiv:1005.3508.
- [8] A. Bazavov, et al., HotQCD Collaboration, Equation of state in (2+1)-flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 094503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.90.094503, arXiv:1407.6387.
- [9] A. Bazavov, et al., HotQCD Collaboration, Chiral crossover in QCD at zero and non-zero chemical potentials, Phys. Lett. B 795 (2019) 15–21, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019.05.013, arXiv:1812.08235.
- [10] C. Gattringer, K. Langfeld, Approaches to the sign problem in lattice field theory, Internat. J. Modern Phys. A 31 (22) (2016) 1643007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0217751X16430077, arXiv:1603.09517.
- [11] M. Martinez, R. Ryblewski, M. Strickland, Boost-invariant (2+1)-dimensional anisotropic hydrodynamics, Phys. Rev. C 85 (2012) 064913, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.85.064913, arXiv:1204.1473.
- [12] C. Shen, The Standard Model for Relativistic Heavy-Ion Collisions and Electromagnetic Tomography (Ph.D. thesis), The Ohio State University, 2014.
- [13] T. Matsui, H. Satz, J/ψ suppression by quark-gluon plasma formation, Phys. Lett. B 178 (1986) 416–422, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(86)91404-8.
- [14] F. Karsch, D. Kharzeev, H. Satz, Sequential charmonium dissociation, Phys. Lett. B 637 (2006) 75–80, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2006. 03.078, arXiv:hep-ph/0512239.
- [15] M. Laine, O. Philipsen, P. Romatschke, M. Tassler, Real-time static potential in hot QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2007) 054, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2007/03/054, arXiv:hep-ph/0611300.
- [16] A. Beraudo, J.P. Blaizot, C. Ratti, Real and imaginary-time Q anti-Q correlators in a thermal medium, Nuclear Phys. A 806 (2008) 312–338, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2008.03.001, arXiv:0712.4394.
- [17] N. Brambilla, J. Ghiglieri, A. Vairo, P. Petreczky, Static quark-antiquark pairs at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 014017, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.78.014017, arXiv:0804.0993.
- [18] P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Stachel, (Non)thermal aspects of charmonium production and a new look at J/psi suppression, Phys. Lett. B 490 (2000) 196–202, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(00)00991-6, arXiv:nucl-th/0007059.
- [19] P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Stachel, On charm production near the phase boundary, Nuclear Phys. A 690 (2001) 119–126, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/S0375-9474(01)00936-8, arXiv:nucl-th/0012064.
- [20] T. Matsui, J/psi suppression by plasma formation, Z. Phys. C 38 (1988) 245, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01574543.
- [21] A. Bazavov, P. Petreczky, A. Velytsky, Quarkonium at finite temperature, in: R.C. Hwa, X.-N. Wang (Eds.), Quark-Gluon Plasma, Vol. 4, 2010, pp. 61–110, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/9789814293297_0002, arXiv:0904.1748.
- [22] A. Mocsy, P. Petreczky, M. Strickland, Quarkonia in the quark gluon plasma, Internat. J. Modern Phys. A 28 (2013) 1340012, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1142/S0217751X13400125, arXiv:1302.2180.
- [23] S. Datta, Quarkonia at finite temperature in relativistic heavy ion collisions, Pramana 84 (5) (2015) 881–899, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12043-015-0975-y, arXiv:1403.8151.
- [24] K.-c. Chou, Z.-b. Su, B.-l. Hao, L. Yu, Equilibrium and nonequilibrium formalisms made unified, Phys. Rep. 118 (1985) 1–131, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/0370-1573(85)90136-X.
- [25] N.P. Landsman, C.G. van Weert, Real and imaginary time field theory at finite temperature and density, Phys. Rep. 145 (1987) 141, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(87)90121-9.
- [26] J. Berges, Introduction to nonequilibrium quantum field theory, AIP Conf. Proc. 739 (1) (2004) 3–62, http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.1843591, arXiv:hep-ph/0409233.
- [27] E.A. Calzetta, B.-L.B. Hu, Nonequilibrium Quantum Field Theory, in: Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 2008, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511535123, URL http://www.cambridge.org/mw/academic/subjects/physics/theoretical-physicsand-mathematical-physics/nonequilibrium-quantum-field-theory?format=AR.
- [28] M.L. Bellac, Thermal Field Theory, in: Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 2011, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511721700, URL http://www.cambridge.org/mw/academic/subjects/physics/theoretical-physics-and-mathematicalphysics/thermal-field-theory?format=AR.
- [29] A. Kamenev, Field Theory of Non-Equilibrium Systems, Cambridge University Press, 2011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139003667.
- [30] M. Laine, A. Vuorinen, Basics of thermal field theory, Lecture Notes in Phys. 925 (2016) 1–281, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31933-9, arXiv:1701.01554.
- [31] L.M. Sieberer, M. Buchhold, S. Diehl, Keldysh field theory for driven open quantum systems, Rep. Progr. Phys. 79 (9) (2016) 096001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/79/9/096001, arXiv:1512.00637.
- [32] J.J. Dudek, R.G. Edwards, M.J. Peardon, D.G. Richards, C.E. Thomas, Toward the excited meson spectrum of dynamical QCD, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 034508, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.034508, arXiv:1004.4930.
- [33] C.E. Thomas, R.G. Edwards, J.J. Dudek, Helicity operators for mesons in flight on the lattice, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 014507, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.85.014507, 10.1103/PhysRevD.85.039901, arXiv:1107.1930.
- [34] A. Rothkopf, T. Hatsuda, S. Sasaki, Proper heavy-quark potential from a spectral decomposition of the thermal Wilson loop, PoS LAT2009 (2009) 162, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1.091.0162, arXiv:0910.2321.
- [35] M.A. Shifman, Snapshots of hadrons or the story of how the vacuum medium determines the properties of the classical mesons which are produced, live and die in the QCD vacuum, Progr. Theoret. Phys. Suppl. 131 (1998) 1–71, http://dx.doi.org/10.1143/PTPS.131.1, arXiv:hepph/9802214, [111 (1998)].
- [36] G.T. Bodwin, E. Braaten, G.P. Lepage, Rigorous QCD analysis of inclusive annihilation and production of heavy quarkonium, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 1125–1171, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.51.1125, arXiv:hep-ph/9407339; Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 5853, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.55.5853 (erratum).
- [37] L.D. McLerran, T. Toimela, Photon and dilepton emission from the quark gluon plasma: Some general considerations, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 545, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.31.545.
- [38] E. Braaten, R.D. Pisarski, T.-C. Yuan, Production of soft dileptons in the quark gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 2242, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.64.2242.

- [39] H.A. Weldon, Reformulation of finite temperature dilepton production, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 2384–2387, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 42.2384.
- [40] A.L. Fetter, J.D. Walecka, Quantum Theory of Many-Particle Systems, McGraw-Hill, 1971.
- [41] J.I. Kapusta, C. Gale, Finite-Temperature Field Theory: Principles and Applications, in: Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 2011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511535130.
- [42] P. Petreczky, D. Teaney, Heavy quark diffusion from the lattice, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 014508, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.73.014508, arXiv:hep-ph/0507318.
- [43] F. Karsch, E. Laermann, P. Petreczky, S. Stickan, Infinite temperature limit of meson spectral functions calculated on the lattice, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 014504, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.68.014504, arXiv:hep-lat/0303017.
- [44] G. Aarts, J.M. Martinez Resco, Continuum and lattice meson spectral functions at nonzero momentum and high temperature, Nuclear Phys. B 726 (2005) 93–108, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.08.012, arXiv:hep-lat/0507004.
- [45] S. Weinberg, Phenomenological Lagrangians, Physica A 96 (1-2) (1979) 327-340, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-4371(79)90223-1.
- [46] W.E. Caswell, G.P. Lepage, Effective Lagrangians for bound state problems in QED, QCD, and other field theories, Phys. Lett. 167B (1986) 437–442, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(86)91297-9.
- [47] N. Brambilla, A. Pineda, J. Soto, A. Vairo, Potential NRQCD: An effective theory for heavy quarkonium, Nuclear Phys. B 566 (2000) 275, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00693-8, arXiv:hep-ph/9907240.
- [48] A.V. Manohar, Introduction to effective field theories, in: Les Houches Summer School: EFT in Particle Physics and Cosmology Les Houches, Chamonix Valley, France, July 3–28, 2017, 2018, arXiv:1804.05863.
- [49] B. Grinstein, A modern introduction to quarkonium theory, Internat. J. Modern Phys. A 15 (2000) 461–496, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/ S0217751X00000227, arXiv:hep-ph/9811264.
- [50] N. Brambilla, A. Pineda, J. Soto, A. Vairo, Effective field theories for heavy quarkonium, Rev. Modern Phys. 77 (2005) 1423, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/RevModPhys.77.1423, arXiv:hep-ph/0410047.
- [51] B.A. Thacker, G.P. Lepage, Heavy quark bound states in lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 196-208, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.43.196.
- [52] P.B. Arnold, Quark-gluon plasmas and thermalization, Internat. J. Modern Phys. E 16 (2007) 2555–2594, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/ S021830130700832X, arXiv:0708.0812.
- [53] L.L. Foldy, S.A. Wouthuysen, On the Dirac theory of spin 1/2 particle and its nonrelativistic limit, Phys. Rev. 78 (1950) 29–36, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.78.29.
- [54] S. Tani, Connection between particle models and field theories, I: The case spin 1/2, Progr. Theoret. Phys. 6 (3) (1951) 267–285, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1143/ptp/6.3.267.
- [55] A. Barchielli, E. Montaldi, G.M. Prosperi, On a systematic derivation of the quark anti-quark potential, Nuclear Phys. B 296 (1988) 625, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(88)90036-3; Nucl. Phys. B 303 (1988) 752 (erratum).
- [56] N. Isgur, M.B. Wise, Weak decays of heavy mesons in the static quark approximation, Phys. Lett. B 232 (1989) 113-117, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/0370-2693(89)90566-2.
- [57] N. Isgur, M.B. Wise, Weak transition form-factors between heavy mesons, Phys. Lett. B 237 (1990) 527–530, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(90)91219-2.
- [58] H. Georgi, An effective field theory for heavy quarks at low-energies, Phys. Lett. B 240 (1990) 447-450, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(90)91128-X.
- [59] M. Neubert, Heavy quark symmetry, Phys. Rep. 245 (1994) 259–396, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(94)90091-4, arXiv:hep-ph/9306320.
- [60] A.G. Grozin, Heavy quark effective theory, Springer Tracts Mod. Phys. 201 (2004) 1–213, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/b79301.
- [61] K.G. Wilson, The renormalization group: Critical phenomena and the kondo problem, Rev. Modern Phys. 47 (1975) 773, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/RevModPhys.47.773.
- [62] M.E. Luke, A.V. Manohar, Reparametrization invariance constraints on heavy particle effective field theories, Phys. Lett. B 286 (1992) 348–354, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(92)91786-9, arXiv:hep-ph/9205228.
- [63] A.V. Manohar, The HQET/NRQCD Lagrangian to order alpha/m-3, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 230-237, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.56.230, arXiv:hep-ph/9701294.
- [64] N. Brambilla, D. Gromes, A. Vairo, Poincare invariance constraints on NRQCD and potential NRQCD, Phys. Lett. B 576 (2003) 314–327, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2003.09.100, arXiv:hep-ph/0306107.
- [65] J. Heinonen, R.J. Hill, M.P. Solon, Lorentz invariance in heavy particle effective theories, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 094020, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.86.094020, arXiv:1208.0601.
- [66] M. Berwein, N. Brambilla, S. Hwang, A. Vairo, Poincaré invariance in NRQCD and potential NRQCD revisited, Phys. Rev. D 99 (9) (2019) 094008, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.094008, arXiv:1811.05184.
- [67] A.H. Hoang, T. Teubner, Top quark pair production close to threshold: Top mass, width and momentum distribution, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 114027, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.60.114027, arXiv:hep-ph/9904468.
- [68] Y. Burnier, M. Laine, M. Vepsalainen, Heavy quarkonium in any channel in resummed hot QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2008) 043, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2008/01/043, arXiv:0711.1743.
- [69] G. Aarts, C. Allton, S. Kim, M.P. Lombardo, M.B. Oktay, S.M. Ryan, D.K. Sinclair, J.I. Skullerud, What happens to the Upsilon and *eta_b* in the quark-gluon plasma? Bottomonium spectral functions from lattice QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2011) 103, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP11(2011)103, arXiv:1109.4496.
- [70] A. Pineda, Determination of the bottom quark mass from the Upsilon(1S) system, J. High Energy Phys. 06 (2001) 022, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1088/1126-6708/2001/06/022, arXiv:hep-ph/0105008.
- [71] K. Heikkila, S. Ono, N.A. Tornqvist, Heavy c anti-c and b anti-b quarkonium states and unitarity effects, Phys. Rev. D 29 (1984) 110, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.29.110; Phys. Rev. D 29 (1984) 2136, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.29.2136 (erratum).
- [72] E. Eichten, F. Feinberg, Spin dependent forces in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 2724, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.23.2724.
- [73] A. Pineda, A. Vairo, The QCD potential at O (1/m²): Complete spin dependent and spin independent result, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 054007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.63.054007, arXiv:hep-ph/0009145; Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 039902, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 64.039902 (erratum).
- [74] Y. Koma, M. Koma, H. Wittig, Nonperturbative determination of the QCD potential at O(1/m), Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 122003, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.122003, arXiv:hep-lat/0607009.
- [75] Y. Koma, M. Koma, Spin-dependent potentials from lattice QCD, Nuclear Phys. B 769 (2007) 79–107, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2007.01.033, arXiv:hep-lat/0609078.
- [76] O. Philipsen, M. Wagner, On the definition and interpretation of a static quark anti-quark potential in the colour-adjoint channel, Phys. Rev. D 89 (1) (2014) 014509, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.014509, arXiv:1305.5957.
- [77] I. Montvay, G. Munster, Quantum Fields on a Lattice, in: Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 1997, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511470783, URL http://www.cambridge.org/uk/catalogue/catalogue.asp?isbn=0521404320.
- [78] H.J. Rothe, Lattice gauge theories: An Introduction, World Sci. Lecture Notes Phys. 43 (1992) 1–381; World Sci. Lect. Notes Phys. 82 (2012) 1.
- [79] C. Gattringer, C.B. Lang, Quantum chromodynamics on the lattice, Lecture Notes in Phys. 788 (2010) 1–343, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-01850-3.
- [80] S. Borsanyi, Z. Fodor, C. Hoelbling, S.D. Katz, S. Krieg, K.K. Szabo, Full result for the QCD equation of state with 2+1 flavors, Phys. Lett. B 730 (2014) 99–104, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2014.01.007, arXiv:1309.5258.
- [81] K.G. Wilson, Confinement of quarks, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 2445–2459, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.10.2445, [319 (1974)].
- [82] T.R. Klassen, The Anisotropic Wilson gauge action, Nuclear Phys. B 533 (1998) 557-575, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00510-0, arXiv:hep-lat/9803010.
- [83] Y. Iwasaki, Renormalization group analysis of lattice theories and improved lattice action: Two-dimensional nonlinear O(N) sigma model, Nuclear Phys. B 258 (1985) 141-156, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(85)90606-6.
- [84] K. Symanzik, Continuum limit and improved action in lattice theories. 1. Principles and phi^{**}4 theory, Nuclear Phys. B 226 (1983) 187–204, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(83)90468-6.
- [85] K. Symanzik, Continuum limit and improved action in lattice theories. 2. O(N) nonlinear sigma model in perturbation theory, Nuclear Phys. B 226 (1983) 205–227, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(83)90469-8.
- [86] M. Luscher, P. Weisz, On-shell improved lattice gauge theories, Comm. Math. Phys. 97 (1985) 59, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01206178; Commun. Math. Phys. 98 (1985) 433 (erratum).
- [87] E. Follana, Q. Mason, C. Davies, K. Hornbostel, G.P. Lepage, J. Shigemitsu, H. Trottier, K. Wong, HPQCD, UKQCD Collaboration, Highly improved staggered quarks on the lattice, with applications to charm physics, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 054502, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.75. 054502, arXiv:hep-lat/0610092.
- [88] Y. Aoki, Z. Fodor, S.D. Katz, K.K. Szabo, The Equation of state in lattice QCD: With physical quark masses towards the continuum limit, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2006) 089, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2006/01/089, arXiv:hep-lat/0510084.
- [89] A. Ali Khan, et al., CP-PACS Collaboration, Equation of state in finite temperature QCD with two flavors of improved Wilson quarks, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 074510, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.64.074510, arXiv:hep-lat/0103028.
- [90] A. Shindler, Twisted mass lattice QCD, Phys. Rep. 461 (2008) 37-110, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2008.03.001, arXiv:0707.4093.
- [91] M. Luscher, S. Sint, R. Sommer, P. Weisz, Chiral symmetry and O(a) improvement in lattice QCD, Nuclear Phys. B 478 (1996) 365–400, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(96)00378-1, arXiv:hep-lat/9605038.
- [92] A.X. El-Khadra, A.S. Kronfeld, P.B. Mackenzie, Massive fermions in lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 3933–3957, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.55.3933, arXiv:hep-lat/9604004.
- [93] P. Chen, Heavy quarks on anisotropic lattices: The charmonium spectrum, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 034509, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 64.034509, arXiv:hep-lat/0006019.
- [94] A.D. Kennedy, Algorithms for dynamical fermions, 2006, arXiv:hep-lat/0607038.
- [95] C.T.H. Davies, G.G. Batrouni, G.R. Katz, A.S. Kronfeld, G.P. Lepage, K.G. Wilson, P. Rossi, B. Svetitsky, Fourier acceleration in lattice gauge theories. I. Landau gauge fixing, 37 (6) (1987) 1581–1588, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.37.1581, URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevD.37.1581.
- [96] S. Aoki, et al., Flavour Lattice Averaging Group Collaboration, FLAG review 2019, 2019, arXiv:1902.08191.
- [97] R.C. Johnson, Angular momentum on a lattice, Phys. Lett. 114B (1982) 147-151, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(82)90134-4.
- [98] J.J. Dudek, R.G. Edwards, M.J. Peardon, D.G. Richards, C.E. Thomas, Highly excited and exotic meson spectrum from dynamical lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 262001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.262001, arXiv:0909.0200.
- [99] M. Gockeler, R. Horsley, E.-M. Ilgenfritz, H. Perlt, P.E.L. Rakow, G. Schierholz, A. Schiller, Perturbative renormalization of lattice bilinear quark operators, Nuclear Phys. B 472 (1996) 309–333, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(96)00217-9, arXiv:hep-lat/9603006.
- [100] P. de Forcrand, M. Garcia Perez, H. Matsufuru, A. Nakamura, I. Pushkina, I.-O. Stamatescu, T. Takaishi, T. Umeda, QCD-TARO Collaboration, Contribution of disconnected diagrams to the hyperfine splitting of charmonium, J. High Energy Phys. 08 (2004) 004, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1088/1126-6708/2004/08/004, arXiv:hep-lat/0404016.
- [101] R. Sommer, Scale setting in lattice QCD, PoS LATTICE2013 (2014) 015, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1.187.0015, arXiv:1401.3270.
- [102] S. Borsanyi, et al., High-precision scale setting in lattice QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 09 (2012) 010, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP09(2012)010, arXiv:1203.4469.
- [103] M. Lüscher, Properties and uses of the Wilson flow in lattice QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 08 (2010) 071, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP08(2010) 071, arXiv:1006.4518;
 J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2014) 092, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2014)092 (erratum).
- [104] M. Fukugita, N. Ishizuka, H. Mino, M. Okawa, A. Ukawa, Pion decay constant in full lattice QCD, Phys. Lett. B 301 (1993) 224–230, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(93)90693-C.
- [105] G.P. Lepage, L. Magnea, C. Nakhleh, U. Magnea, K. Hornbostel, Improved nonrelativistic QCD for heavy quark physics, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 4052–4067, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.46.4052, arXiv:hep-lat/9205007.
- [106] E. Eichten, B.R. Hill, An effective field theory for the calculation of matrix elements involving heavy quarks, Phys. Lett. B 234 (1990) 511–516, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(90)92049-0.
- [107] C.T.H. Davies, B.A. Thacker, Renormalization of bilinears in nonrelativistic QCD, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 1329–1336, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.48.1329.
- [108] A. Hart, G.M. von Hippel, R.R. Horgan, E.H. Muller, Automated generation of lattice QCD Feynman rules, Comput. Phys. Comm. 180 (2009) 2698–2716, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2009.04.021, arXiv:0904.0375.
- [109] C.T.H. Davies, J. Harrison, C. Hughes, R.R. Horgan, G.M. von Hippel, M. Wingate, Improving the kinetic couplings in lattice nonrelativistic QCD, Phys. Rev. D 99 (5) (2019) 054502, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.054502, arXiv:1812.11639.
- [110] G.P. Lepage, P.B. Mackenzie, On the viability of lattice perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 2250–2264, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.48.2250, arXiv:hep-lat/9209022.
- [111] C.T.H. Davies, B.A. Thacker, Heavy quark renormalization parameters in nonrelativistic QCD, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 915–923, http://dx.doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.45.915.
- [112] A. Lehmann, A. Rothkopf, Stable Crank-Nicholson solver for real- and imaginary time NRQCD, in preparation.
- [113] G. Aarts, C. Allton, T. Harris, S. Kim, M.P. Lombardo, S.M. Ryan, J.-I. Skullerud, The bottomonium spectrum at finite temperature from $N_f = 2+1$ lattice QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 07 (2014) 097, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2014)097, arXiv:1402.6210.
- [114] G. Aarts, C. Allton, J. Foley, S. Hands, S. Kim, Spectral functions at small energies and the electrical conductivity in hot, quenched lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 022002, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.022002, arXiv:hep-lat/0703008.
- [115] A. Rothkopf, Bayesian techniques and applications to QCD, in: 13th Conference on Quark Confinement and the Hadron Spectrum (Confinement XIII) Maynooth, Ireland, July 31-August 6, 2018, 2019, arXiv:1903.02293.
- [116] A. Gelman, J.B. Carlin, H.S. Stern, D.B. Rubin, Bayesian Data Analysis, second ed., Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2004.
- [117] R. McElreath, Statistical Rethinking: A Bayesian Course with Examples in R and Stan, in: Chapman & Hall/CRC Texts in Statistical Science, CRC Press, 2016, URL https://books.google.no/books?id=mDo0CwAAQBAJ.

- [118] D.J.C. MacKay, Information Theory, Inference, and Learning Algorithms, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [119] C.M. Bishop, Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning, in: Information Science and Statistics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006.
- [120] A. Rothkopf, Bayesian inference of nonpositive spectral functions in quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. D 95 (5) (2017) 056016, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95.056016, arXiv:1611.00482.
- [121] M. Hansen, A. Lupo, N. Tantalo, On the extraction of spectral densities from lattice correlators, 2019, arXiv:1903.06476.
- [122] R.-A. Tripolt, I. Haritan, J. Wambach, N. Moiseyev, Threshold energies and poles for hadron physical problems by a model-independent universal algorithm, Phys. Lett. B 774 (2017) 411–416, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2017.10.001, arXiv:1610.03252.
- [123] R. Bryan, Maximum entropy analysis of oversampled data problems, Eur. Biophys. J. 18 (1990) 165–174, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02427376.
- [124] M. Jarrell, J.E. Gubernatis, Bayesian inference and the analytic continuation of imaginary-time quantum Monte Carlo data, Phys. Rep. 269 (1996) 133–195, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(95)00074-7.
- [125] J. Skilling, S.F. Gull, Bayesian maximum entropy image reconstruction, in: A. Possolo (Ed.), Spatial Statistics and Imaging, in: Lecture Notes-Monograph Series, vol. 20, Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, CA, 1991, pp. 341–367, http://dx.doi.org/10.1214/lnms/ 1215460511.
- [126] M. Asakawa, T. Hatsuda, Y. Nakahara, Maximum entropy analysis of the spectral functions in lattice QCD, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 46 (2001) 459–508, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0146-6410(01)00150-8, arXiv:hep-lat/0011040.
- [127] D. Nickel, Extraction of spectral functions from Dyson-Schwinger studies via the maximum entropy method, Ann. Physics 322 (2007) 1949–1960, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2006.09.002, arXiv:hep-ph/0607224.
- [128] Y. Burnier, A. Rothkopf, Bayesian approach to spectral function reconstruction for Euclidean quantum field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 182003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.182003, arXiv:1307.6106.
- [129] C.S. Fischer, J.M. Pawlowski, A. Rothkopf, C.A. Welzbacher, Bayesian analysis of quark spectral properties from the Dyson–Schwinger equation, Phys. Rev. D 98 (1) (2018) 014009, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.014009, arXiv:1705.03207.
- [130] B. Carpenter, A. Gelman, M. Hoffman, D. Lee, B. Goodrich, M. Betancourt, M. Brubaker, J. Guo, P. Li, A. Riddell, Stan: A probabilistic programming language, J. Stat. Software 76 (1) (2017) 1–32, http://dx.doi.org/10.18637/jss.v076.i01, Articles, URL https://www.jstatsoft.org/v076/i01.
- [131] H.-T. Ding, O. Kaczmarek, S. Mukherjee, H. Ohno, H.T. Shu, Stochastic reconstructions of spectral functions: Application to lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 97 (9) (2018) 094503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.094503, arXiv:1712.03341.
- [132] A. Jakovac, P. Petreczky, K. Petrov, A. Velytsky, Quarkonium correlators and spectral functions at zero and finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 014506, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.75.014506, arXiv:hep-lat/0611017.
- [133] A. Rothkopf, Improved maximum entropy analysis with an extended search space, J. Comput. Phys. 238 (2013) 106–114, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcp.2012.12.023, arXiv:1110.6285.
- [134] A. Rothkopf, Improved maximum entropy method with an extended search space, PoS LATTICE2012 (2012) 100, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1. 164.0100, arXiv:1208.5162.
- [135] G. Cuniberti, E. De Micheli, G.A. Viano, Reconstructing the thermal green functions at real times from those at imaginary times, Comm. Math. Phys. 216 (2001) 59–83, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s002200000324, arXiv:cond-mat/0109175.
- [136] Y. Burnier, M. Laine, L. Mether, A test on analytic continuation of thermal imaginary-time data, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1619, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-011-1619-0, arXiv:1101.5534.
- [137] R.-A. Tripolt, P. Gubler, M. Ulybyshev, L. Von Smekal, Numerical analytic continuation of Euclidean data, Comput. Phys. Comm. 237 (2019) 129–142, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2018.11.012, arXiv:1801.10348.
- [138] L. Schlessinger, Use of analyticity in the calculation of nonrelativistic scattering amplitudes, Phys. Rev. 167 (1968) 1411–1423, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.167.1411, URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.167.1411.
- [139] A.K. Cyrol, J.M. Pawlowski, A. Rothkopf, N. Wink, Reconstructing the gluon, SciPost Phys. 5 (2018) 065, http://dx.doi.org/10.21468/SciPostPhys. 5.6.065, arXiv:1804.00945.
- [140] W. Pauli, Festschrift zum 60. Geburtstage A. Sommerfeld, Hirzel, Leipzig, 1928, Pauli master equation; p. 30.
- [141] S. Nakajima, On quantum theory of transport phenomena: Steady diffusion, Progr. Theoret. Phys. 20 (6) (1958) 948–959, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1143/PTP.20.948, arXiv:http://oup.prod.sis.lan/ptp/article-pdf/20/6/948/5440766/20-6-948.pdf.
- [142] R. Zwanzig, Ensemble method in the theory of irreversibility, J. Chem. Phys. 33 (5) (1960) 1338–1341, http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.1731409, arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1731409.
- [143] F. Haake, On a non-Markoffian master equation, Z. Phys. A 223 (4) (1969) 364–377, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01392866.
- [144] H.P. Breuer, F. Petruccione, The Theory of Open Quantum Systems, Oxford University Press, 2002.
- [145] V. Gorini, A. Kossakowski, E.C.G. Sudarshan, Completely positive dynamical semigroups of N level systems, J. Math. Phys. 17 (1976) 821, http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.522979.
- [146] G. Lindblad, On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups, Comm. Math. Phys. 48 (1976) 119, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01608499. [147] R.P. Feynman, F.L. Vernon Jr., The theory of a general quantum system interacting with a linear dissipative system, Ann. Physics 24 (1963)
- 118–173, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(63)90068-X, [257 (1963)]. [148] A.O. Caldeira, A.J. Leggett, Path integral approach to quantum Brownian motion, Physica 121A (1983) 587–616, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-
- 4371(83)90013-4.
- [149] N. Gisin, I.C. Percival, The quantum-state diffusion model applied to open systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 25 (21) (1992) 5677–5691, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0305-4470/25/21/023.
- [150] E. Hückel, P. Debye, The theory of electrolytes: I. lowering of freezing point and related phenomena, Phys. Z 24 (1923) 185–206.
- [151] P.B. Arnold, L.G. Yaffe, The NonAbelian Debye screening length beyond leading order, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 7208–7219, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.52.7208, arXiv:hep-ph/9508280.
- [152] A.D. Linde, Infrared problem in thermodynamics of the Yang-Mills Gas, Phys. Lett. 96B (1980) 289-292, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(80)90769-8.
- [153] E. Braaten, Solution to the perturbative infrared catastrophe of hot gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 2164–2167, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.74.2164, arXiv:hep-ph/9409434.
- [154] A.K. Rebhan, The NonAbelian Debye mass at next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) R3967–R3970, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 48.R3967, arXiv:hep-ph/9308232.
- [155] A.K. Rebhan, NonAbelian Debye screening in one loop resummed perturbation theory, Nuclear Phys. B 430 (1994) 319–344, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/0550-3213(94)90253-4, arXiv:hep-ph/9408262.
- [156] L.D. McLerran, B. Svetitsky, Quark liberation at high temperature: A Monte Carlo study of SU(2) gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 450, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.24.450.
- [157] A. Hart, M. Laine, O. Philipsen, Static correlation lengths in QCD at high temperatures and finite densities, Nuclear Phys. B 586 (2000) 443–474, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00418-1, arXiv:hep-ph/0004060.
- [158] S. Nadkarni, Nonabelian debye screening. 1. The color averaged potential, Phys. Rev. D 33 (1986) 3738, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 33.3738.

- [159] Y. Maezawa, S. Aoki, S. Ejiri, T. Hatsuda, N. Ishii, K. Kanaya, N. Ukita, T. Umeda, WHOT-QCD Collaboration, Electric and magnetic screening masses at finite temperature from generalized Polyakov-line correlations in two-flavor lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 091501, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.81.091501, arXiv:1003.1361.
- [160] E. Braaten, A. Nieto, Asymptotic behavior of the correlator for Polyakov loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 3530–3533, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.74.3530, arXiv:hep-ph/9410218.
- [161] S. Borsányi, Z. Fodor, S.D. Katz, A. Pásztor, K.K. Szabó, C. Török, Static QQ pair free energy and screening masses from correlators of Polyakov loops: continuum extrapolated lattice results at the QCD physical point, J. High Energy Phys. 04 (2015) 138, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP04(2015)138, arXiv:1501.02173.
- [162] A. Bazavov, N. Brambilla, P. Petreczky, A. Vairo, J.H. Weber, TUMQCD Collaboration, Color screening in (2+1)-flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 98 (5) (2018) 054511, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.054511, arXiv:1804.10600.
- [163] J. Bulava, B. Hörz, F. Knechtli, V. Koch, G. Moir, C. Morningstar, M. Peardon, String breaking by light and strange quarks in QCD, Phys. Lett. B 793 (2019) 493–498, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019.05.018, arXiv:1902.04006.
- [164] N. Brambilla, J. Ghiglieri, P. Petreczky, A. Vairo, The Polyakov loop and correlator of Polyakov loops at next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 074019, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.074019, arXiv:1007.5172.
- [165] M. Berwein, N. Brambilla, P. Petreczky, A. Vairo, Polyakov loop correlator in perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 96 (1) (2017) 014025, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.014025, arXiv:1704.07266.
- [166] A. Irback, P. LaCock, D. Miller, B. Petersson, T. Reisz, The heavy quark potential in SU(2) gauge theory at high temperature, Nuclear Phys. B 363 (1991) 34-64, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(91)90233-N.
- [167] P. LaCock, D.E. Miller, T. Reisz, Dimensional reduction of SU(2) gauge theory beyond the perturbative horizon, Nuclear Phys. B 369 (1992) 501–515, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(92)90396-S.
- [168] S. Datta, S. Gupta, Screening masses in SU(2) pure gauge theory, Phys. Lett. B 471 (2000) 382–387, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(99)01404-5, arXiv:hep-lat/9906023.
- [169] R. Fiore, A. Papa, P. Provero, The Spectrum of screening masses near T(c): Predictions from universality, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 114508, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.67.114508, arXiv:hep-lat/0302004.
- [170] S. Digal, S. Fortunato, P. Petreczky, Heavy quark free energies and screening in SU(2) gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 034008, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.68.034008, arXiv:hep-lat/0304017.
- [171] A. Bazavov, P. Petreczky, A. Velytsky, Static quark anti-quark pair in SU(2) gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 114026, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.78.114026, arXiv:0809.2062.
- [172] L. Karkkainen, P. Lacock, D.E. Miller, B. Petersson, T. Reisz, Dimensional reduction in SU(3) gauge theory, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 121–126, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(92)90489-Q.
- [173] O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, E. Laermann, M. Lutgemeier, Heavy quark potentials in quenched QCD at high temperature, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 034021, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.62.034021, arXiv:hep-lat/9908010.
- [174] P. Petreczky, O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, E. Laermann, S. Stickan, I. Wetzorke, F. Zantow, Lattice calculation of medium effects at short and long distances, Nuclear Phys. A 698 (2002) 400–403, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(01)01389-6, arXiv:hep-lat/0103034.
- [175] O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, P. Petreczky, F. Zantow, Heavy quark anti-quark free energy and the renormalized Polyakov loop, Phys. Lett. B 543 (2002) 41–47, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(02)02415-2, arXiv:hep-lat/0207002.
- [176] A. Nakamura, T. Saito, Long-distance behavior of qq color dependent potentials at finite temperature, Progr. Theoret. Phys. 111 (5) (2004) 733–743, http://dx.doi.org/10.1143/PTP.111.733, arXiv:http://oup.prod.sis.lan/ptp/article-pdf/111/5/733/5303286/111-5-733.pdf.
- [177] T. Umeda, S. Ejiri, S. Aoki, T. Hatsuda, K. Kanaya, Y. Maezawa, H. Ohno, Thermodynamics of SU(3) gauge theory at fixed lattice spacing, PoS LATTICE2008 (2008) 174, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1.066.0174, arXiv:0810.1570.
- [178] O. Akerlund, P. de Forcrand, Scale hierarchy in high-temperature QCD, PoS LATTICE2013 (2014) 144, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1.187.0144, arXiv:1312.1543.
- [179] C.E. Detar, O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, E. Laermann, String breaking in lattice quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 031501, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.59.031501, arXiv:hep-lat/9808028.
- [180] F. Karsch, E. Laermann, A. Peikert, Quark mass and flavor dependence of the QCD phase transition, Nuclear Phys. B 605 (2001) 579–599, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00200-0, arXiv:hep-lat/0012023.
- [181] O. Kaczmarek, F. Zantow, Static quark anti-quark interactions in zero and finite temperature QCD. I. Heavy quark free energies, running coupling and quarkonium binding, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 114510, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.114510, arXiv:hep-lat/0503017.
- [182] V.G. Bornyakov, et al., DIK Collaboration, Finite temperature QCD with two flavors of nonperturbatively improved Wilson fermions, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 114504, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.114504, arXiv:hep-lat/0401014.
- [183] M. Doring, S. Ejiri, O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, E. Laermann, Screening of heavy quark free energies at finite temperature and non-zero baryon chemical potential, Eur. Phys. J. C 46 (2006) 179–189, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s2005-02462-y, arXiv:hep-lat/0509001.
- [184] Y. Maezawa, N. Ukita, S. Aoki, S. Ejiri, T. Hatsuda, N. Ishii, K. Kanaya, WHOT-QCD Collaboration, Heavy-quark free energy, debye mass, and spatial string tension at finite temperature in two flavor lattice QCD with Wilson quark action, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 074501, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.75.074501, arXiv:hep-lat/0702004.
- [185] S. Ejiri, Y. Maezawa, N. Ukita, S. Aoki, T. Hatsuda, N. Ishii, K. Kanaya, T. Umeda, WHOT-QCD Collaboration, Equation of state and heavyquark free energy at finite temperature and density in two flavor lattice QCD with Wilson quark action, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 014508, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.014508, arXiv:0909.2121.
- [186] P. Petreczky, K. Petrov, Free energy of a static quark anti-quark pair and the renormalized Polyakov loop in three flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 054503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.70.054503, arXiv:hep-lat/0405009.
- [187] Y. Burnier, M. Laine, M. Vepsalainen, Dimensionally regularized Polyakov loop correlators in hot QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2010) 054, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2010)054, arXiv:0911.3480; J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2013) 180, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2013) 180 (erratum).
- [188] J. Takahashi, K. Nagata, T. Saito, A. Nakamura, T. Sasaki, H. Kouno, M. Yahiro, Color screening potential at finite density in two-flavor lattice QCD with Wilson fermions, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 114504, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.88.114504, arXiv:1308.2489.
- [189] M. Andreoli, C. Bonati, M. D'Elia, M. Mesiti, F. Negro, A. Rucci, F. Sanfilippo, Gauge-invariant screening masses and static quark free energies in $N_f = 2+1$ QCD at nonzero baryon density, Phys. Rev. D 97 (5) (2018) 054515, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.054515, arXiv:1712.09996.
- [190] F. Karsch, M. Kitazawa, Quark propagator at finite temperature and finite momentum in quenched lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 056001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.80.056001, arXiv:0906.3941.
- [191] O. Oliveira, P.J. Silva, Finite temperature landau gauge lattice quark propagator, 2019, arXiv:1903.00263.
- [192] E.-M. Ilgenfritz, J.M. Pawlowski, A. Rothkopf, A. Trunin, Finite temperature gluon spectral functions from $N_f = 2 + 1 + 1$ lattice QCD, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2) (2018) 127, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-018-5593-7, arXiv:1701.08610.
- [193] P.J. Silva, O. Oliveira, D. Dudal, M. Roelfs, Finite temperature gluon propagator in Landau gauge: non-zero Matsubara frequencies and spectral densities, EPJ Web Conf. 175 (2018) 07038, http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/epjconf/201817507038, arXiv:1711.02584.
- [194] R.D. Pisarski, Scattering amplitudes in hot gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 1129, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.63.1129.

- [195] M. Laine, How to compute the thermal quarkonium spectral function from first principles? Nuclear Phys. A 820 (2009) 25C-32C, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2009.01.015, arXiv:0810.1112.
- [196] E. Gava, R. Jengo, Perturbative evaluation of the thermal wilson loop, Phys. Lett. 105B (1981) 285-289, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(81)90890-X.
- [197] Y. Burnier, A. Rothkopf, A hard thermal loop benchmark for the extraction of the nonperturbative QQ
 potential, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 114019, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.114019, arXiv:1304.4154.
- [198] L. Grandchamp, R. Rapp, Thermal versus direct J/Psi production in ultrarelativistic heavy ion collisions, Phys. Lett. B 523 (2001) 60–66, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(01)01311-9, arXiv:hep-ph/0103124.
- [199] L. Grandchamp, R. Rapp, Charmonium suppression and regeneration from SPS to RHIC, Nuclear Phys. A 709 (2002) 415–439, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0375-9474(02)01027-8, arXiv:hep-ph/0205305.
- [200] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Ghiglieri, A. Vairo, Thermal width and quarkonium dissociation by inelastic parton scattering, J. High Energy Phys. 05 (2013) 130, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2013)130, arXiv:1303.6097.
- [201] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Ghiglieri, J. Soto, A. Vairo, Heavy Quarkonium in a weakly-coupled quark-gluon plasma below the melting temperature, J. High Energy Phys. 09 (2010) 038, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP09(2010)038, arXiv:1007.4156.
- [202] J. Hong, S.H. Lee, Quarkonium dissociation in perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. C 99 (3) (2019) 034905, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99. 034905, arXiv:1811.07607.
- [203] D. Kharzeev, H. Satz, Quarkonium interactions in hadronic matter, Phys. Lett. B 334 (1994) 155–162, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(94)90604-1, arXiv:hep-ph/9405414.
- [204] X.-M. Xu, D. Kharzeev, H. Satz, X.-N. Wang, J/psi suppression in an equilibrating parton plasma, Phys. Rev. C 53 (1996) 3051–3056, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.53.3051, arXiv:hep-ph/9511331.
- [205] Y. Burnier, A. Rothkopf, Disentangling the timescales behind the non-perturbative heavy quark potential, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 051503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.051503, arXiv:1208.1899.
- [206] A. Rothkopf, T. Hatsuda, S. Sasaki, Complex heavy-quark potential at finite temperature from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 162001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.162001, arXiv:1108.1579.
- [207] A.M. Polyakov, Gauge fields as rings of glue, Nuclear Phys. B 164 (1980) 171-188, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(80)90507-6.
- [208] R.A. Brandt, F. Neri, M.-a. Sato, Renormalization of loop functions for all loops, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 879, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 24.879.
- [209] M. Berwein, N. Brambilla, J. Ghiglieri, A. Vairo, Renormalization of the cyclic Wilson loop, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2013) 069, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2013)069, arXiv:1212.4413.
- [210] M. Berwein, N. Brambilla, A. Vairo, Renormalization of loop functions in QCD, Phys. Part. Nucl. 45 (4) (2014) 656-663, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1134/S1063779614040029, arXiv:1312.6651.
- [211] M. Luscher, P. Weisz, Locality and exponential error reduction in numerical lattice gauge theory, J. High Energy Phys. 09 (2001) 010, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2001/09/010, arXiv:hep-lat/0108014.
- [212] A. Rothkopf, From complex to stochastic potential: Heavy quarkonia in the quark-gluon plasma, Modern Phys. Lett. A 28 (2013) 1330005, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S021773231330005X, arXiv:1302.6195.
- [213] Y. Burnier, O. Kaczmarek, A. Rothkopf, Static quark-antiquark potential in the quark-gluon plasma from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (8) (2015) 082001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.082001, arXiv:1410.2546.
- [214] M. Asakawa, T. Hatsuda, J/psi and eta(c) in the deconfined plasma from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 012001, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.92.012001, arXiv:hep-lat/0308034.
- [215] A. Bazavov, et al., The chiral and deconfinement aspects of the QCD transition, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 054503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.85.054503, arXiv:1111.1710.
- [216] H. Matsufuru, T. Onogi, T. Umeda, Numerical study of O(a) improved Wilson quark action on anisotropic lattice, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 114503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.64.114503, arXiv:hep-lat/0107001.
- [217] Y. Burnier, A. Rothkopf, Complex heavy-quark potential and Debye mass in a gluonic medium from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 95 (5) (2017) 054511, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95.054511, arXiv:1607.04049.
- [218] O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, P. Petreczky, F. Zantow, Heavy quark free energies, potentials and the renormalized Polyakov loop, Nuclear Phys. Proc. Suppl. 129 (2004) 560–562, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0920-5632(03)02641-0, arXiv:hep-lat/0309121, [560 (2003)].
- [219] Y. Burnier, O. Kaczmarek, A. Rothkopf, Quarkonium at finite temperature: Towards realistic phenomenology from first principles, J. High Energy Phys. 12 (2015) 101, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/[HEP12(2015)101, arXiv:1509.07366.
- [220] P. Petreczky, A. Rothkopf, J. Weber, Realistic in-medium heavy-quark potential from high statistics lattice QCD simulations, Nuclear Phys. A 982 (2019) 735–738, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.10.012, arXiv:1810.02230.
- [221] A. Bazavov, P. Petreczky, J.H. Weber, Equation of state in 2+1 flavor QCD at high temperatures, Phys. Rev. D 97 (1) (2018) 014510, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.014510, arXiv:1710.05024.
- [222] A. Bazavov, Y. Burnier, P. Petreczky, Lattice calculation of the heavy quark potential at non-zero temperature, Nuclear Phys. A 932 (2014) 117-121, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2014.09.078, arXiv:1404.4267.
- [223] P. Petreczky, J. Weber, TUMQCD Collaboration, Lattice calculations of heavy quark potential at finite temperature, Nuclear Phys. A 967 (2017) 592–595, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2017.04.011, arXiv:1704.08573.
- [224] D. Bala, S. Datta, Non perturbative study of the heavy QQ potential at finite temperature, in: Proceedings, 37th International Symposium on Lattice Field Theory, Lattice 2019, PRC, Wuhan, 2019, June 16–21.
- [225] D. Bala, S. Datta, Nonperturbative potential for study of quarkonia in QGP, 2019, arXiv:1909.10548.
- [226] F. Karsch, M.T. Mehr, H. Satz, Color screening and deconfinement for bound states of heavy quarks, Z. Phys. C 37 (4) (1988) 617–622, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01549722.
- [227] E. Megias, E. Ruiz Arriola, LL. Salcedo, Dimension two condensates and the Polyakov loop above the deconfinement phase transition, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2006) 073, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2006/01/073, arXiv:hep-ph/0505215.
- [228] Y. Guo, L. Dong, J. Pan, M.R. Moldes, Modelling the non-perturbative contributions to the complex heavy-quark potential, 2018, arXiv: 1806.04376.
- [229] H. Satz, Quarkonium binding and entropic force, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (5) (2015) 193, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-015-3424-7, arXiv:1501.03940.
- [230] M. Strickland, D. Bazow, Thermal bottomonium suppression at RHIC and LHC, Nuclear Phys. A 879 (2012) 25–58, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. nuclphysa.2012.02.003, arXiv:1112.2761.
- [231] V.V. Dixit, Charge screening and space dimension, Modern Phys. Lett. A 05 (1990) 227-235, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0217732390000275.
- [232] S. Digal, O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, H. Satz, Heavy quark interactions in finite temperature QCD, Eur. Phys. J. C 43 (2005) 71–75, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s2005-02309-7, arXiv:hep-ph/0505193.
- [233] L. Thakur, U. Kakade, B.K. Patra, Dissociation of quarkonium in a complex potential, Phys. Rev. D 89 (9) (2014) 094020, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.89.094020, arXiv:1401.0172.

- [234] Y. Burnier, A. Rothkopf, A gauge invariant Debye mass and the complex heavy-quark potential, Phys. Lett. B 753 (2016) 232–236, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2015.12.031, arXiv:1506.08684.
- [235] D. Lafferty, A. Rothkopf, Improved Gauss-law model and in-medium heavy quarkonium at finite density and velocity, 2019, arXiv:1906.00035.
- [236] P. Petreczky, J.H. Weber, Strong coupling constant and heavy quark masses in 2 + 1 flavor QCD, 2019, arXiv:1901.06424.
- [237] N. Nakanishi, A general survey of the theory of the bethe–salpeter equation, Progr. Theoret. Phys. Suppl. 43 (1969) 1–81, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1143/PTPS.43.1, arXiv:http://oup.prod.sis.lan/ptps/article-pdf/doi/10.1143/PTPS.43.1/5401659/43-1.pdf.
- [238] S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, N. Ishii, K. Murano, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, HAL QCD Collaboration, Lattice QCD approach to nuclear physics, PTEP 2012 (2012) 01A105, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ptep/pts010, arXiv:1206.5088.
- [239] K. Nochi, T. Kawanai, S. Sasaki, Bethe–Salpeter wave functions of $\eta_c(2S)$ and $\psi(2S)$ states from full lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 94 (11) (2016) 114514, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.114514, arXiv:1608.02340.
- [240] T. Kawanai, S. Sasaki, Heavy quarkonium potential from Bethe–Salpeter wave function on the lattice, Phys. Rev. D 89 (5) (2014) 054507, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.054507, arXiv:1311.1253.
- [241] T. Kawanai, S. Sasaki, Interquark potential with finite quark mass from lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 091601, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.107.091601, arXiv:1102.3246.
- [242] T. Kawanai, S. Sasaki, Charmonium potential from full lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 091503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.85. 091503, arXiv:1110.0888.
- [243] Y. Ikeda, H. Iida, Quark-anti-quark potentials from Nambu-Bethe-Salpeter amplitudes on lattice, Progr. Theoret. Phys. 128 (2012) 941–954, http://dx.doi.org/10.1143/PTP.128.941, arXiv:1102.2097.
- [244] S.Y.F. Liu, R. Rapp, T-matrix approach to quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. C 97 (3) (2018) 034918, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.034918, arXiv:1711.03282.
- [245] S.Y.F. Liu, M. He, R. Rapp, Probing the in-medium QCD force by open heavy-flavor observables, Phys. Rev. C 99 (5) (2019) 055201, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.055201, arXiv:1806.05669.
- [246] X. Du, S.Y.F. Liu, R. Rapp, Extraction of the heavy-quark potential from bottomonium observables in heavy-ion collisions, 2019, arXiv: 1904.00113.
- [247] H. lida, Y. Ikeda, Inter-quark potentials from NBS amplitudes and their applications, PoS LATTICE2011 (2011) 195, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/ 1.139.0195.
- [248] C. Allton, W. Evans, P. Giudice, J.-I. Skullerud, The charmonium potential at non-zero temperature, 2015, arXiv:1505.06616.
- [249] W.M. Serenone, A. Cucchieri, T. Mendes, Heavy-quarkonium potential from lattice gluon propagator, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 706 (5) (2016) 052038, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/706/5/052038, arXiv:1505.06720.
- [250] J. Casalderrey-Solana, H. Liu, D. Mateos, K. Rajagopal, U.A. Wiedemann, Gauge/string duality, hot QCD and heavy ion collisions, 2011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CB09781139136747, arXiv:1101.0618.
- [251] S. Hong, S. Yoon, M.J. Strassler, Quarkonium from the fifth-dimension, J. High Energy Phys. 04 (2004) 046, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2004/04/046, arXiv:hep-th/0312071.
- [252] A. Karch, E. Katz, N. Weiner, Hadron masses and screening from AdS Wilson loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 091601, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.90.091601, arXiv:hep-th/0211107.
- [253] S.-J. Rey, S. Theisen, J.-T. Yee, Wilson-Polyakov loop at finite temperature in large N gauge theory and anti-de Sitter supergravity, Nuclear Phys. B 527 (1998) 171–186, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00471-4, arXiv:hep-th/9803135.
- [254] A. Brandhuber, N. Itzhaki, J. Sonnenschein, S. Yankielowicz, Wilson loops in the large N limit at finite temperature, Phys. Lett. B 434 (1998) 36-40, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(98)00730-8, arXiv:hep-th/9803137.
- [255] J. Noronha, A. Dumitru, Thermal width of the Υ at large t' Hooft coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 152304, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.103.152304, arXiv:0907.3062.
- [256] T. Hayata, K. Nawa, T. Hatsuda, Time-dependent heavy-quark potential at finite temperature from gauge-gravity duality, Phys. Rev. D 87 (10) (2013) 101901, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.101901, arXiv:1211.4942.
- [257] C. Ewerz, O. Kaczmarek, A. Samberg, Free energy of a heavy quark-antiquark pair in a thermal medium from AdS/CFT, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2018) 088, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2018)088, arXiv:1605.07181.
- [258] H.-T. Ding, Momentum dependences of charmonium properties from lattice QCD, Nuclear Phys. A 904–905 (2013) 619c–622c, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2013.02.092, arXiv:1210.5442.
- [259] B.B. Brandt, A. Francis, H.B. Meyer, D. Robaina, Pion quasiparticle in the low-temperature phase of QCD, Phys. Rev. D 92 (9) (2015) 094510, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.094510, arXiv:1506.05732.
- [260] S. Ryan, D. W. H. Collaboration, Spectroscopy of mesons with bottom quarks an exploratory study, in: Proceedings, 37th International Symposium on Lattice Field Theory, Lattice 2019, PRC, Wuhan, 2019, June 16–21.
- [261] T. Umeda, H. Matsufuru, O. Miyamura, K. Nomura, Charmonium near the deconfining transition on the lattice, Nuclear Phys. A 721 (2003) 922–925, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(03)01243-0, arXiv:hep-lat/0212007.
- [262] S. Datta, F. Karsch, P. Petreczky, I. Wetzorke, Behavior of charmonium systems after deconfinement, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 094507, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.69.094507, arXiv:hep-lat/0312037.
- [263] H.T. Ding, A. Francis, O. Kaczmarek, F. Karsch, H. Satz, W. Soeldner, Charmonium properties in hot quenched lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 014509, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.014509, arXiv:1204.4945.
- [264] A. Ikeda, M. Asakawa, M. Kitazawa, In-medium dispersion relations of charmonia studied by maximum entropy method, Phys. Rev. D 95 (1) (2017) 014504, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95.014504, arXiv:1610.07787.
- [265] Y. Burnier, H.T. Ding, O. Kaczmarek, A.L. Kruse, M. Laine, H. Ohno, H. Sandmeyer, Thermal quarkonium physics in the pseudoscalar channel, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2017) 206, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2017)206, arXiv:1709.07612.
- [266] G. Aarts, C. Allton, M.B. Oktay, M. Peardon, J.-I. Skullerud, Charmonium at high temperature in two-flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 094513, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.76.094513, arXiv:0705.2198.
- [267] S. Borsanyi, et al., Charmonium spectral functions from 2+1 flavour lattice QCD, J. High Energy Phys. 04 (2014) 132, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP04(2014)132, arXiv:1401.5940.
- [268] A. Kelly, A. Rothkopf, J.-I. Skullerud, Bayesian study of relativistic open and hidden charm in anisotropic lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 97 (11) (2018) 114509, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.114509, arXiv:1802.00667.
- [269] T. Umeda, A constant contribution in meson correlators at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 094502, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.75.094502, arXiv:hep-lat/0701005.
- [270] R. Quinn, J. Glesaaen, A. Rothkopf, J.-I. Skullerud, Spectral properties of light and charm mesons from $N_f = 2 + 1$ anisotropic lattice QCD, in: 13th Conference on Quark Confinement and the Hadron Spectrum (Confinement XIII) Maynooth, Ireland, July 31-August 6, 2018, 2019, arXiv:1903.11006.
- [271] M. Kitazawa, A. Ikeda, M. Asakawa, Dispersion relations of charmonia above *T_c*, EPJ Web Conf. 175 (2018) 07006, http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/epjconf/201817507006.

- [272] J. Fingberg, Heavy quarkonia at high temperature, Phys. Lett. B 424 (1998) 343–354, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(98)00205-6, arXiv:hep-lat/9707012.
- [273] G. Aarts, C. Allton, S. Kim, M.P. Lombardo, S.M. Ryan, J.I. Skullerud, Melting of P wave bottomonium states in the quark-gluon plasma from lattice NRQCD, J. High Energy Phys. 12 (2013) 064, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP12(2013)064, arXiv:1310.5467.
- [274] G. Aarts, C. Allton, S. Kim, M.P. Lombardo, M.B. Oktay, S.M. Ryan, D.K. Sinclair, J.-I. Skullerud, S wave bottomonium states moving in a quark-gluon plasma from lattice NRQCD, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2013) 084, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2013)084, arXiv:1210.2903.
- [275] G. Aarts, S. Kim, M.P. Lombardo, M.B. Oktay, S.M. Ryan, D.K. Sinclair, J.I. Skullerud, Bottomonium above deconfinement in lattice nonrelativistic QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 061602, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.061602, arXiv:1010.3725.
- [276] S. Kim, P. Petreczky, A. Rothkopf, Lattice NRQCD study of S- and P-wave bottomonium states in a thermal medium with $N_f = 2 + 1$ light flavors, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 054511, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.054511, arXiv:1409.3630.
- [277] S. Kim, P. Petreczky, A. Rothkopf, Quarkonium in-medium properties from realistic lattice NRQCD, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2018) 088, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2018)088, arXiv:1808.08781.
- [278] R. Larsen, S. Meinel, S. Mukherjee, P. Petreczky, Thermal broadening of bottomonia: Lattice nonrelativistic QCD with extended operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (7) (2019) 074506, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.074506, arXiv:1908.08437.
- [279] H. Satz, Colour deconfinement and quarkonium binding, J. Phys. G 32 (2006) R25, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/32/3/R01, arXiv:hep-ph/0512217.
- [280] A. Mocsy, P. Petreczky, Color screening melts quarkonium, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 211602, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.211602, arXiv:0706.2183.
- [281] Y. Burnier, O. Kaczmarek, A. Rothkopf, In-medium P-wave quarkonium from the complex lattice QCD potential, J. High Energy Phys. 10 (2016) 032, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2016)032, arXiv:1606.06211.
- [282] K. Melnikov, T.v. Ritbergen, The Three loop relation between the MS-bar and the pole quark masses, Phys. Lett. B 482 (2000) 99–108, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(00)00507-4, arXiv:hep-ph/9912391.
- [283] P. Marquard, L. Mihaila, J.H. Piclum, M. Steinhauser, Relation between the pole and the minimally subtracted mass in dimensional regularization and dimensional reduction to three-loop order, Nuclear Phys. B 773 (2007) 1–18, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2007.03.010, arXiv:hepph/0702185.
- [284] J.A.M. Vermaseren, S.A. Larin, T. van Ritbergen, The four loop quark mass anomalous dimension and the invariant quark mass, Phys. Lett. B 405 (1997) 327–333, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(97)00660-6, arXiv:hep-ph/9703284.
- [285] J.R. Taylor, Scattering Theory: The quantum Theory on Nonrelativistic Collisions, Wiley, New York, 1972.
- [286] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Soto, A. Vairo, Heavy quarkonium suppression in a fireball, Phys. Rev. D 97 (7) (2018) 074009, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.074009, arXiv:1711.04515.
- [287] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, A. Vairo, P. Vander Griend, Transport coefficients from in medium quarkonium dynamics, 2019, arXiv:1903.08063.
- [288] A.M. Eller, J. Ghiglieri, G.D. Moore, Thermal quarkonium mass shift from Euclidean correlators, Phys. Rev. D 99 (9) (2019) 094042, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.094042, arXiv:1903.08064.
- [289] T. Hatsuda, S.H. Lee, QCD sum rules for vector mesons in the nuclear medium, Phys. Rev. C 46 (1) (1992) R34, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.46.R34.
- [290] T. Hatsuda, Y. Koike, S.-H. Lee, Finite temperature QCD sum rules reexamined: rho, omega and A1 mesons, Nuclear Phys. B 394 (1993) 221–266, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(93)90107-Z.
- [291] S.H. Lee, Vector mesons in-medium with finite three momentum, Phys. Rev. C 57 (1998) 927–930, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.57.927, arXiv:nucl-th/9705048; Phys. Rev. C 58 (1998) 3771, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.58.3771 (erratum).
- [292] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein, V.I. Zakharov, QCD and resonance physics. Theoretical foundations, Nuclear Phys. B 147 (1979) 385–447, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(79)90022-1.
- [293] P. Gubler, K. Morita, M. Oka, Charmonium spectra at finite temperature from QCD sum rules with the maximum entropy method, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 092003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.092003, arXiv:1104.4436.
- [294] P. Gubler, D. Satow, Exact vector channel sum rules at finite temperature and their applications to lattice QCD data analysis, Phys. Rev. D 94 (9) (2016) 094042, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.094042, arXiv:1602.08265.
- [295] P. Gubler, D. Satow, Finite temperature sum rules in the vector channel at finite momentum, Phys. Rev. D 96 (11) (2017) 114028, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.114028, arXiv:1710.02256.
- [296] S.H. Lee, K. Morita, T. Song, C.M. Ko, Free energy versus internal energy potential for heavy quark systems at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 89 (9) (2014) 094015, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.094015, arXiv:1304.4092.
- [297] S. Cho, K. Hattori, S.H. Lee, K. Morita, S. Ozaki, QCD sum rules for magnetically induced mixing between η_c and J/ψ , Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (17) (2014) 172301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.172301, arXiv:1406.4586.
- [298] S. Cho, K. Hattori, S.H. Lee, K. Morita, S. Ozaki, Charmonium spectroscopy in strong magnetic fields by QCD sum rules: S-wave ground states, Phys. Rev. D 91 (4) (2015) 045025, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.045025, arXiv:1411.7675.
- [299] K.-J. Araki, K. Ohtani, P. Gubler, M. Oka, QCD sum rules on the complex Borel plane, PTEP 2014 (2014) 073B03, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ ptep/ptu092, arXiv:1403.6299.
- [300] K.-J. Araki, K. Suzuki, P. Gubler, M. Oka, Charmonium ground and excited states at finite temperature from complex Borel sum rules, Phys. Lett. B 780 (2018) 48–53, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.01.072, arXiv:1703.01438.
- [301] F. Riek, R. Rapp, Quarkonia and heavy-quark relaxation times in the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. C 82 (2010) 035201, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.82.035201, arXiv:1005.0769.
- [302] Y. Kim, J.-P. Lee, S.H. Lee, Heavy quarkonium in a holographic QCD model, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 114008, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 75.114008, arXiv:hep-ph/0703172.
- [303] M. Fujita, K. Fukushima, T. Misumi, M. Murata, Finite-temperature spectral function of the vector mesons in an AdS/QCD model, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 035001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.80.035001, arXiv:0903.2316.
- [304] H.R. Grigoryan, P.M. Hohler, M.A. Stephanov, Towards the gravity dual of quarkonium in the strongly coupled QCD plasma, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 026005, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.026005, arXiv:1003.1138.
- [305] M. Fujita, T. Kikuchi, K. Fukushima, T. Misumi, M. Murata, Melting spectral functions of the scalar and vector mesons in a holographic QCD model, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 065024, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.81.065024, arXiv:0911.2298.
- [306] N.R.F. Braga, L.F. Ferreira, A. Vega, Holographic model for charmonium dissociation, Phys. Lett. B 774 (2017) 476–481, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.physletb.2017.10.013, arXiv:1709.05326.
- [307] T. Hashimoto, K. Hirose, T. Kanki, O. Miyamura, Mass shift of charmonium near deconfining temperature and possible detection in lepton pair production, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 2123, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.57.2123.
- [308] N. Moiseyev, Quantum theory of resonances: calculating energies, widths and cross-sections by complex scaling, Phys. Rep. 302 (5) (1998) 212–293, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0370-1573(98)00002-7, URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370157398000027.
- [309] M.A. Escobedo, J. Soto, Non-relativistic bound states at finite temperature (II): the muonic hydrogen, Phys. Rev. A 82 (2010) 042506, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.82.042506, arXiv:1008.0254.

- [310] L. Grandchamp, R. Rapp, G.E. Brown, In medium effects on charmonium production in heavy ion collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 212301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.212301, arXiv:hep-ph/0306077.
- [311] R. Rapp, D. Blaschke, P. Crochet, Charmonium and bottomonium production in heavy-ion collisions, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 65 (2010) 209–266, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2010.07.002, arXiv:0807.2470.
- [312] X. Zhao, R. Rapp, Charmonium in medium: From correlators to experiment, Phys. Rev. C 82 (2010) 064905, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC. 82.064905, arXiv:1008.5328.
- [313] X. Du, R. Rapp, In-medium charmonium production in proton-nucleus collisions, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2019) 015, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP03(2019)015, arXiv:1808.10014.
- [314] K. Zhou, N. Xu, Z. Xu, P. Zhuang, Medium effects on charmonium production at ultrarelativistic energies available at the CERN Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. C 89 (5) (2014) 054911, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.054911, arXiv:1401.5845.
- [315] B. Chen, T. Guo, Y. Liu, P. Zhuang, Cold and hot nuclear matter effects on charmonium production in p+Pb collisions at LHC energy, Phys. Lett. B 765 (2017) 323–327, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2016.12.021, arXiv:1607.07927.
- [316] K. Zhou, Z. Chen, C. Greiner, P. Zhuang, Thermal charm and charmonium production in quark gluon plasma, Phys. Lett. B 758 (2016) 434–439, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2016.05.051, arXiv:1602.01667.
- [317] X. Du, R. Rapp, M. He, Color screening and regeneration of bottomonia in high-energy heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 96 (5) (2017) 054901, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.054901, arXiv:1706.08670.
- [318] X. Yao, B. Müller, Approach to equilibrium of quarkonium in quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. C 97 (2018) 014908, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.97.014908; Phys. Rev. C 97 (4) (2018) 049903, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.049903 (erratum).
- [319] X. Yao, B. Müller, Quarkonium inside the quark-gluon plasma: Diffusion, dissociation, recombination, and energy loss, Phys. Rev. D 100 (1) (2019) 014008, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.014008, arXiv:1811.09644.
- [320] B. Krouppa, R. Ryblewski, M. Strickland, Bottomonia suppression in 2.76 TeV Pb-Pb collisions, Phys. Rev. C 92 (6) (2015) 061901, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.92.061901, arXiv:1507.03951.
- [321] B. Krouppa, M. Strickland, Predictions for bottomonia suppression in 5.023 TeV Pb-Pb collisions, Universe 2 (3) (2016) 16, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.3390/universe2030016, arXiv:1605.03561.
- [322] B. Krouppa, A. Rothkopf, M. Strickland, Bottomonium suppression using a lattice QCD vetted potential, Phys. Rev. D 97 (1) (2018) 016017, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.016017, arXiv:1710.02319.
- [323] R. Katz, P.B. Gossiaux, The Schrödinger-Langevin equation with and without thermal fluctuations, Ann. Physics 368 (2016) 267–295, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2016.02.005, arXiv:1504.08087.
- [324] D. De Boni, Fate of in-medium heavy quarks via a Lindblad equation, J. High Energy Phys. 08 (2017) 064, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP08(2017) 064, arXiv:1705.03567.
- [325] C. Young, K. Dusling, Quarkonium above deconfinement as an open quantum system, Phys. Rev. C 87 (6) (2013) 065206, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.87.065206, arXiv:1001.0935.
- [326] N. Borghini, C. Gombeaud, Dynamical evolution of heavy quarkonia in a deconfined medium, 2011, arXiv:1103.2945.

[327] N. Borghini, C. Gombeaud, Heavy quarkonia in a medium as a quantum dissipative system: Master equation approach, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2000, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-012-2000-7, arXiv:1109.4271.

- [328] Y. Akamatsu, A. Rothkopf, Stochastic potential and quantum decoherence of heavy quarkonium in the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 105011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.85.105011, arXiv:1110.1203.
- [329] A. Rothkopf, A first look at bottomonium melting via a stochastic potential, J. High Energy Phys. 04 (2014) 085, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP04(2014)085, arXiv:1312.3246.
- [330] Y. Akamatsu, Real-time quantum dynamics of heavy quark systems at high temperature, Phys. Rev. D 87 (4) (2013) 045016, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.87.045016, arXiv:1209.5068.
- [331] Y. Akamatsu, Heavy quark master equations in the Lindblad form at high temperatures, Phys. Rev. D 91 (5) (2015) 056002, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.91.056002, arXiv:1403.5783.
- [332] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Soto, A. Vairo, Quarkonium suppression in heavy-ion collisions: an open quantum system approach, Phys. Rev. D 96 (3) (2017) 034021, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.034021, arXiv:1612.07248.
- [333] X. Yao, T. Mehen, Quarkonium in-medium transport equation derived from first principles, Phys. Rev. D 99 (9) (2019) 096028, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.096028, arXiv:1811.07027.
- [334] J.-P. Blaizot, D. De Boni, P. Faccioli, G. Garberoglio, Heavy quark bound states in a quark-gluon plasma: Dissociation and recombination, Nuclear Phys. A 946 (2016) 49–88, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2015.10.011, arXiv:1503.03857.
- [335] J.-P. Blaizot, M.A. Escobedo, Quantum and classical dynamics of heavy quarks in a quark-gluon plasma, J. High Energy Phys. 06 (2018) 034, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06(2018)034, arXiv:1711.10812.
- [336] Y. Akamatsu, Langevin dynamics and decoherence of heavy quarks at high temperatures, Phys. Rev. C 92 (4) (2015) 044911, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.92.044911, arXiv:1503.08110.
- [337] J.-P. Blaizot, M.A. Escobedo, Approach to equilibrium of a quarkonium in a quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 98 (7) (2018) 074007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.074007, arXiv:1803.07996.
- [338] S. Kajimoto, Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa, A. Rothkopf, Dynamical dissociation of quarkonia by wave function decoherence, Phys. Rev. D 97 (1) (2018) 014003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.014003, arXiv:1705.03365.
- [339] D.E. Kharzeev, Deconfinement as an entropic self-destruction: a solution for the quarkonium suppression puzzle? Phys. Rev. D 90 (7) (2014) 074007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.90.074007, arXiv:1409.2496.
- [340] T. Miura, Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa, A. Rothkopf, Quantum Brownian motion of a heavy quark pair in the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D101 (3) (2020) 034011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101.034011, arXiv:1908.06293.
- [341] Y. Akamatsu, M. Asakawa, S. Kajimoto, A. Rothkopf, Quantum dissipation of a heavy quark from a nonlinear stochastic Schrödinger equation, J. High Energy Phys. 07 (2018) 029, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2018)029, arXiv:1805.00167.

[342] J. Boyd, T. Cook, A. Islam, M. Strickland, Heavy quarkonium suppression beyond the adiabatic limit, 2019, arXiv:1905.05676.

- [343] N. Brambilla, M.A. Escobedo, J. Ghiglieri, A. Vairo, Thermal width and gluo-dissociation of quarkonium in pNRQCD, J. High Energy Phys. 12 (2011) 116, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP12(2011)116, arXiv:1109.5826.
- [344] A. Pineda, J. Soto, The Renormalization group improvement of the QCD static potentials, Phys. Lett. B 495 (2000) 323–328, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/S0370-2693(00)01261-2, arXiv:hep-ph/0007197.
- [345] N. Brambilla, X. Garcia i Tormo, J. Soto, A. Vairo, The logarithmic contribution to the QCD static energy at N**4 LO, Phys. Lett. B 647 (2007) 185–193, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2007.02.015, arXiv:hep-ph/0610143.
- [346] S. Fleming, T. Mehen, Doubly heavy baryons, heavy quark-diquark symmetry and NRQCD, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 034502, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.73.034502, arXiv:hep-ph/0509313.
- [347] R. Rapp, X. Du, Theoretical perspective on quarkonia from SPS via RHIC to LHC, Nuclear Phys. A 967 (2017) 216–224, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.nuclphysa.2017.05.097, arXiv:1704.07923.

- [348] J. Casalderrey-Solana, D. Teaney, Heavy quark diffusion in strongly coupled N = 4 Yang-Mills, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 085012, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.74.085012, arXiv:hep-ph/0605199.
- [349] S. Caron-Huot, G.D. Moore, Heavy quark diffusion in perturbative QCD at next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 052301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.052301, arXiv:0708.4232.
- [350] Y. Xu, J.E. Bernhard, S.A. Bass, M. Nahrgang, S. Cao, Data-driven analysis for the temperature and momentum dependence of the heavy-quark diffusion coefficient in relativistic heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 97 (1) (2018) 014907, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.014907, arXiv:1710.00807.
- [351] A. Francis, O. Kaczmarek, M. Laine, T. Neuhaus, H. Ohno, Nonperturbative estimate of the heavy quark momentum diffusion coefficient, Phys. Rev. D 92 (11) (2015) 116003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.116003, arXiv:1508.04543.
- [352] A. Andronic, et al., Heavy-flavour and quarkonium production in the LHC era: from proton-proton to heavy-ion collisions, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (3) (2016) 107, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epic/s10052-015-3819-5, arXiv:1506.03981.
- [353] V. Cheung, R. Vogt, Polarization of prompt J/ψ and Υ(1S) production in the color evaporation model, Phys. Rev. D 96 (5) (2017) 054014, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.054014, arXiv:1706.07686.
- [354] V. Cheung, R. Vogt, Production and polarization of prompt J/ψ in the improved color evaporation model using the k_T-factorization approach, Phys. Rev. D 98 (11) (2018) 114029, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.114029, arXiv:1808.02909.
- [355] V. Cheung, R. Vogt, Production and polarization of prompt $\Upsilon(nS)$ in the improved color evaporation model using the k_T -factorization approach, Phys. Rev. D 99 (3) (2019) 034007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.034007, arXiv:1811.11570.
- [356] N. Brambilla, et al., Quarkonium Working Group Collaboration, Heavy quarkonium physics, 2004, arXiv:hep-ph/0412158.
- [357] G.T. Bodwin, E. Braaten, E. Eichten, S.L. Olsen, T.K. Pedlar, J. Russ, Quarkonium at the frontiers of high energy physics: A snowmass white paper, in: Proceedings, 2013 Community Summer Study on the Future of U.S. Particle Physics: Snowmass on the Mississippi, CSS2013: Minneapolis, MN, USA, July 29-August 6, 2013, 2013, arXiv:1307.7425, URL http://www.slac.stanford.edu/econf/C1307292/docs/submittedArxivFiles/1307. 7425.pdf.
- [358] Y.-Q. Ma, R. Venugopalan, Comprehensive description of J/ψ production in proton-proton collisions at collider energies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (19) (2014) 192301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.192301, arXiv:1408.4075.
- [359] Y.-Q. Ma, T. Stebel, R. Venugopalan, J/ψ polarization in the CGC+NRQCD approach, J. High Energy Phys. 12 (2018) 057, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP12(2018)057, arXiv:1809.03573.
- [360] J.L. Albacete, et al., Predictions for p + Pb collisions at sqrt $s_N N = 5$ TeV, Internat. J. Modern Phys. E 22 (2013) 1330007, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1142/S0218301313300075, arXiv:1301.3395.
- [361] J.L. Albacete, et al., Predictions for p+Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5$ TeV: comparison with data, Internat. J. Modern Phys. E 25 (9) (2016) 1630005, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0218301316300058, arXiv:1605.09479.
- [362] J.L. Albacete, et al., Predictions for cold nuclear matter effects in p+Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.16$ TeV, Nuclear Phys. A 972 (2018) 18–85, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2017.11.015, arXiv:1707.09973.
- [363] E.G. Ferreiro, Quarkonium: a theory overview, Nuclear Phys. A 982 (2019) 127–133, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.12.002, arXiv: 1810.00477.
- [364] K.J. Eskola, P. Paakkinen, H. Paukkunen, C.A. Salgado, EPPS16: Nuclear parton distributions with LHC data, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (3) (2017) 163, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-4725-9, arXiv:1612.05741.
- [365] P. Paakkinen, Nuclear parton distribution functions, in: Proceedings, Old and New Strong Interactions from LHC to Future Colliders, LFC17: Trento, Italy, September 11–15, 2017, 2017, pp. 33–40, arXiv:1802.05927.
- [366] F. Gelis, E. Iancu, J. Jalilian-Marian, R. Venugopalan, The color glass condensate, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 60 (2010) 463-489, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nucl.010909.083629, arXiv:1002.0333.
- [367] H. Fujii, K. Watanabe, Heavy quark pair production in high energy pA collisions: Open heavy flavors, Nuclear Phys. A 920 (2013) 78–93, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2013.10.006, arXiv:1308.1258.
- [368] H. Fujii, K. Watanabe, Heavy quark pair production in high energy pA collisions: Quarkonium, Nuclear Phys. A 915 (2013) 1–23, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2013.06.011, arXiv:1304.2221.
- [369] Z.-B. Kang, Y.-Q. Ma, R. Venugopalan, Quarkonium production in high energy proton-nucleus collisions: CGC meets NRQCD, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2014) 056, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2014)056, arXiv:1309.7337.
- [370] Y.-Q. Ma, R. Venugopalan, H.-F. Zhang, J/ψ production and suppression in high energy proton-nucleus collisions, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 071901, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.071901, arXiv:1503.07772.
- [371] F. Arleo, S. Peigne, T. Sami, Revisiting scaling properties of medium-induced gluon radiation, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 114036, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.83.114036, arXiv:1006.0818.
- [372] E.G. Ferreiro, Charmonium dissociation and recombination at LHC: Revisiting comovers, Phys. Lett. B 731 (2014) 57-63, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.physletb.2014.02.011, arXiv:1210.3209.
- [373] E.G. Ferreiro, Excited charmonium suppression in proton-nucleus collisions as a consequence of comovers, Phys. Lett. B 749 (2015) 98–103, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2015.07.066, arXiv:1411.0549.
- [374] Y.-Q. Ma, R. Venugopalan, K. Watanabe, H.-F. Zhang, ψ(2S) versus J/ψ suppression in proton-nucleus collisions from factorization violating soft color exchanges, Phys. Rev. C 97 (1) (2018) 014909, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.014909, arXiv:1707.07266.
- [375] J. Berges, K. Boguslavski, S. Schlichting, R. Venugopalan, Universal attractor in a highly occupied non-Abelian plasma, Phys. Rev. D 89 (11) (2014) 114007, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.114007, arXiv:1311.3005.
- [376] A. Kurkela, A. Mazeliauskas, J.-F. Paquet, S. Schlichting, D. Teaney, Matching the nonequilibrium initial stage of heavy ion collisions to hydrodynamics with QCD kinetic theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (12) (2019) 122302, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.122302, arXiv: 1805.01604.
- [377] A. Kurkela, A. Mazeliauskas, J.-F. Paquet, S. Schlichting, D. Teaney, Effective kinetic description of event-by-event pre-equilibrium dynamics in high-energy heavy-ion collisions, Phys. Rev. C 99 (3) (2019) 034910, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.034910, arXiv:1805.00961.
- [378] A. Adare, et al., PHENIX Collaboration, J/ψ production vs centrality, transverse momentum, and rapidity in Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 232301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.232301, arXiv:nucl-ex/0611020.
- [379] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Decoding the phase structure of QCD via particle production at high energy, Nature 561 (7723) (2018) 321–330, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0491-6, arXiv:1710.09425.
- [380] J. Adam, et al., ALICE Collaboration, J/ ψ suppression at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, Phys. Lett. B 766 (2017) 212–224, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2016.12.064, arXiv:1606.08197.
- [381] C.B. Powell, STAR Collaboration, Quarkonium production at STAR, PoS EPS-HEP2011 (2011) 485, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/1.134.0485, arXiv: 1111.6944.
- [382] S. Acharya, et al., ALICE Collaboration, Study of J/ ψ azimuthal anisotropy at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, J. High Energy Phys. 02 (2019) 012, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2019)012, arXiv:1811.12727.
- [383] P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Particle production in heavy ion collisions, 2003, pp. 491–599, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/ 9789812795533_0008, arXiv:nucl-th/0304013.

- [384] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Stachel, Hadron production in central nucleus-nucleus collisions at chemical freeze-out, Nuclear Phys. A 772 (2006) 167–199, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2006.03.012, arXiv:nucl-th/0511071.
- [385] D. Teaney, Chemical freezeout in heavy ion collisions, 2002, arXiv:nucl-th/0204023.
- [386] J. Berges, S. Floerchinger, R. Venugopalan, Dynamics of entanglement in expanding quantum fields, J. High Energy Phys. 04 (2018) 145, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP04(2018)145, arXiv:1712.09362.
- [387] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Statistical hadronization of heavy quarks in ultra-relativistic nucleus-nucleus collisions, Nuclear Phys. A 789 (2007) 334–356, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2007.02.013, arXiv:nucl-th/0611023.
- [388] Y.-p. Liu, Z. Qu, N. Xu, P.-f. Zhuang, J/psi transverse momentum distribution in high energy nuclear collisions at RHIC, Phys. Lett. B 678 (2009) 72–76, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2009.06.006, arXiv:0901.2757.
- [389] X. Zhao, R. Rapp, Medium modifications and production of charmonia at LHC, Nuclear Phys. A 859 (2011) 114-125, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.nuclphysa.2011.05.001, arXiv:1102.2194.
- [390] A.M. Sirunyan, et al., CMS Collaboration, Relative modification of prompt $\psi(2S)$ and J/ψ yields from pp to PbPb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (16) (2017) 162301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.162301, arXiv:1611.01438.
- [391] V. Khachatryan, et al., CMS Collaboration, Measurement of prompt $\psi(2S) \rightarrow J/\psi$ yield ratios in Pb-Pb and p p collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (26) (2014) 262301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.262301, arXiv:1410.1804. [392] J. Adam, et al., ALICE Collaboration, Differential studies of inclusive J/ψ and $\psi(2S)$ production at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at
- [392] J. Adam, et al., ALICE Collaboration, Differential studies of inclusive J/ψ and $\psi(2S)$ production at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76$ TeV, J. High Energy Phys. 05 (2016) 179, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2016)179, arXiv:1506.08804.
- [393] B. Alessandro, et al., NA50 Collaboration, psi-prime production in Pb-Pb collisions at 158-GeV/nucleon, Eur. Phys. J. C 49 (2007) 559-567, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-006-0153-y, arXiv:nucl-ex/0612013.
- [394] A. Drees, PHENIX Collaboration, Relative yields and nuclear modification of ψ' to J/ψ mesons in p+p, p(³He)+A collisions at √s_{NN} = 200 GeV, measured in PHENIX, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. 289–290 (2017) 417–420, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2017.05.097.
- [395] A.M. Sirunyan, et al., CMS Collaboration, Measurement of nuclear modification factors of $\Upsilon(1S)$, $\Upsilon(2S)$, and $\Upsilon(3S)$ mesons in PbPb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, Phys. Lett. B 790 (2019) 270–293, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019.01.006, arXiv:1805.09215.
- [396] Z. Hu, N.T. Leonardo, T. Liu, M. Haytmyradov, Review of bottomonium measurements from CMS, Internat. J. Modern Phys. A 32 (19n20) (2017) 1730015, http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0217751X17300150, arXiv:1708.02913.
- [397] S. Acharya, et al., ALICE Collaboration, Υ suppression at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, Phys. Lett. B 790 (2019) 89–101, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.11.067, arXiv:1805.04387.
- [398] Z. Ye, STAR Collaboration, γ measurements in p+p, p+Au and Au+Au collisions from the STAR experiment, 2017, https://goo.gl/XgqSgG, Quark Matter 2017.
- [399] P.P. Bhaduri, N. Borghini, A. Jaiswal, M. Strickland, Anisotropic escape mechanism and elliptic flow of bottomonia, Phys. Rev. C100 (5) (2019) 051901, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.051901, arXiv:1809.06235.
- [400] S. Acharya, et al., ALICE Collaboration, Measurement of $\Upsilon(1S)$ elliptic flow at forward rapidity in Pb-Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, 2019, arXiv:1907.03169.
- [401] F. Nendzig, G. Wolschin, Υ suppression in PbPbs collisions at energies available at the CERN Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. C 87 (2013) 024911, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.87.024911, arXiv:1210.8366.
- [402] F. Nendzig, G. Wolschin, Bottomium suppression in PbPb collisions at LHC energies, J. Phys. G 41 (2014) 095003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/41/9/095003, arXiv:1406.5103.
- [403] B. Krouppa, R. Ryblewski, M. Strickland, Bottomonium suppression in heavy-ion collisions, Nuclear Phys. A 967 (2017) 604-607, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2017.05.073, arXiv:1704.02361.
- [404] J. Casalderrey-Solana, Dynamical quarkonia suppression in a QGP-brick, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2013) 091, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP03(2013)091, arXiv:1208.2602.
- [405] X. Yao, W. Ke, Y. Xu, S. Bass, B. Müller, Quarkonium production in heavy ion collisions: coupled Boltzmann transport equations, Nucl. Phys. A 982 (2019) 755–758, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.10.005, arXiv:1807.06199.
- [406] K. Zhou, N. Xu, P. Zhuang, T production in heavy ion collisions at LHC, Nuclear Phys. A 931 (2014) 654–658, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. nuclphysa.2014.08.104, arXiv:1408.3900.
- [407] X. Du, M. He, R. Rapp, In-medium bottomonium production in heavy-ion collisions, Nuclear Phys. A 967 (2017) 904–907, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2017.05.079, arXiv:1704.04838.
- [408] W. Ke, Y. Xu, S.A. Bass, Linearized Boltzmann-Langevin model for heavy quark transport in hot and dense QCD matter, Phys. Rev. C 98 (6) (2018) 064901, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.98.064901, arXiv:1806.08848.
- [409] G. Aarts, et al., Heavy-flavor production and medium properties in high-energy nuclear collisions What next? Eur. Phys. J. A 53 (5) (2017) 93, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2017-12282-9, arXiv:1612.08032.
- [410] H.-W. Lin, et al., Parton distributions and lattice QCD calculations: a community white paper, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 100 (2018) 107–160, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2018.01.007, arXiv:1711.07916.
- [411] A. Accardi, et al., Electron ion collider: The next QCD frontier, Eur. Phys. J. A 52 (9) (2016) 268, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2016-16268-9, arXiv:1212.1701.
- [412] D. Kharzeev, Quarkonium interactions in QCD, Proc. Int. Sch. Phys. Fermi 130 (1996) 105–131, http://dx.doi.org/10.3254/978-1-61499-215-8-105, arXiv:nucl-th/9601029.
- [413] D. Kharzeev, H. Satz, A. Syamtomov, G. Zinovjev, J/psi photoproduction and the gluon structure of the nucleon, Eur. Phys. J. C 9 (1999) 459–462, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s100529900047, arXiv:hep-ph/9901375.
- [414] S.R. Klein, J. Nystrand, Photoproduction of quarkonium in proton proton and nucleus nucleus collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 142003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.142003, arXiv:hep-ph/0311164.
- [415] S. Joosten, Z.E. Meziani, Heavy quarkonium production at threshold: from JLab to EIC, PoS QCDEV2017 (2018) 017, http://dx.doi.org/10.22323/ 1.308.0017, arXiv:1802.02616.
- [416] K. Hattori, X.-G. Huang, Novel quantum phenomena induced by strong magnetic fields in heavy-ion collisions, Nucl. Sci. Tech. 28 (2) (2017) 26, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s41365-016-0178-3, arXiv:1609.00747.
- [417] J.O. Andersen, W.R. Naylor, A. Tranberg, Phase diagram of QCD in a magnetic field: A review, Rev. Modern Phys. 88 (2016) 025001, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.88.025001, arXiv:1411.7176.
- [418] N. Sadooghi, F. Taghinavaz, Dilepton production rate in a hot and magnetized quark-gluon plasma, Ann. Physics 376 (2017) 218–253, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2016.11.008, arXiv:1601.04887.
- [419] C. Bonati, M. D'Elia, A. Rucci, Heavy quarkonia in strong magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. D 92 (5) (2015) 054014, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 92.054014, arXiv:1506.07890.
- [420] M. Hasan, B. Chatterjee, B.K. Patra, Heavy quark potential in a static and strong homogeneous magnetic field, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (11) (2017) 767, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-5346-z, arXiv:1703.10508.
- [421] K. Fukushima, K. Hattori, H.-U. Yee, Y. Yin, Heavy quark diffusion in strong magnetic fields at weak coupling and implications for elliptic flow, Phys. Rev. D 93 (7) (2016) 074028, http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.93.074028, arXiv:1512.03689.
- [422] A. Lehmann, A. Rothkopf, Real-time-evolution of heavy-quarkonium bound states, in: Proceedings, 37th International Symposium on Lattice Field Theory, Lattice 2019, PRC, Wuhan, 2019, June 16–21, URL https://bit.ly/2YeB121.